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Crisis as Opportunity.

The serious financial crisis has shown how complex the
world has become. How closely the financial markets
and the wider economy are connected. And how a lack
of transparency can threaten the system as a whole.

Deutsche Bank, too, was affected by turbulence on the
financial markets, which exposed weaknesses in our plat-
form. Despite this, we maintained our capital strength.
This gives us a firm foundation from which to focus on
our responsibilities: responsibilities to our clients, who
continue to look to us as a dependable business partner;
responsibilities to our shareholders and staff, to whom we
offer a fair perspective, and to whom we seek to remain
attractive in future; and finally, our responsibilities to the
financial system, of which we are a part, and which now
needs to be rigorously analysed and re-engineered.

Of one thing, we are certain: all those who learn from this
crisis can emerge stronger. Times of crisis are also times
of renewal and opportunity.

We discussed our annual topic “Crisis as Opportunity.” with the artist Julie Mehretu, Berlin (pages 52/53);
our customer lan K. Karan, Hamburg (pages 22/23); our colleague Leigh Knowles, Deutsche Bank
Securities Limited, Toronto (pages 46/47); andYoshinobu Tsutsui, Managing Director of our shareholder
Nippon Life Insurance Company, Tokyo (pages 08/09).



Deutsche Bank

The Group at a Glance

2008 2007
Basic earnings per share €(7.61) €13.65
Diluted earnings per share’ €(7.61) €13.05
Average shares outstanding, in m., basic 504 474
Average shares outstanding, in m., diluted 504 496
Return on average shareholders’ equity (post tax) (11.1)% 17.9%
Pre-tax return on average shareholders’ equity (16.5) % 24.1 %
Pre-tax return on average active equity? (17.7)% 29.0%
Book value per basic share outstanding® €52.59 €79.32
Cost/income ratio* 134.6% 69.6 %
Compensation ratio® 71.2% 42.7%
Noncompensation ratio® 63.4% 26.9%
in €m. 2008 2007
Total net revenues 13,490 30,745
Provision for credit losses 1,076 612
Total noninterest expenses 18,155 21,384
Income (loss) before income taxes (5,741) 8,749
Net income (loss) (3,896) 6,510

in € bn. Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Total assets 2,202 1,925
Shareholders’ equity 30.7 37.9
Tier 1 capital ratio” 10.1% 8.6 %

Number Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Branches 1,981 1,889
thereof in Germany 981 989
Employees (full-time equivalent) 80,456 78,291
thereof in Germany 27,942 27,779

Long-term rating

Dec 31, 2008

Dec 31, 2007

Moody's Investors Service Aal Aal
Standard & Poor’s A+ AA
Fitch Ratings AA- AA-

"Including numerator effect of assumed conversions.

2\We calculate this adjusted measure of our return on average shareholders equity to make it easier to compare us to our competitors.
We refer to this adjusted measure as our “Pre-tax return on average active equity”. However, this is not a measure of performance
under IFRS and you should not compare our ratio to other companies’ ratios without considering the difference in calculation of the
ratios. The item for which we adjust the average shareholders’ equity of € 34,442 million for 2008 and € 36,134 million for 2007 are
the average unrealized net gains on assets available for sale/average fair value adjustment on cash flow hedges, net of applicable tax
of € 619 million for 2008 and € 3,841 million for 2007 and the average dividend accruals of € 1,743 million for 2008 and € 2,200 mil-
lion for 2007. The dividend payment is paid once a year following its approval by the general shareholders’ meeting.

3Book value per basic share outstanding is defined as shareholders’ equity divided by the number of basic shares outstanding (both
at period end).

4Total noninterest expenses as a percentage of total net interest income before provision for credit losses plus noninterest income.

5Compensation and benefits as a percentage of total net interest income before provision for credit losses plus noninterest income.

5Noncompensation noninterest expenses which is defined as total noninterest expenses less compensation and benefits, as a per-
centage of total net interest income before provision for credit losses plus noninterest income.

’The Tier 1 capital ratio shown for 2008 is pursuant to the German Banking Act (“KWG") and the Solvency Regulation (“Solvabilitats-
verordnung”) which adopted the revised capital framework presented by the Basel Committee in 2004 (“Basel II”) into German law,
while the ratio presented for 2007 is based on the Basel | framework. Basel Il Tier 1 capital excludes transitional items pursuant to
KWG section 64h (3).



The Deutsche Bank Share

Useful information on the Deutsche Bank share

2008

Change in total return’

Share in equities trading (Xetra and Frankfurt Floor Trading)
Average daily trading volume?

Share price high

Share price low

Dividend per share (proposed for 2008)

As of December 31, 2008

Issued shares

Outstanding shares

Share capital

Market capitalization

Share price?

Weighting in the DAX

Weighting in the Dow Jones STOXX 50

Securities identification codes

Deutsche Borse New York Stock Exchange
Type of issue Registered share Type of issue

Symbol DBK Currency

WKN 514 000 Symbol

ISIN DE0005140008 CINS

Reuters DBKGn.DE Bloomberg

'Share price based on Xetra.
2Qrderbook statistics (Xetra).
3Xetra — closing price.

(66.8) %

5.6%

9.1 million shares
€89.80

€18.59

€0.50

570,859,015
562,666,955
€1,461,399,078.40
€15.89 billion
€27.83

3.6%

0.82%

Global Registered Share
us.$

DB

D 18190898

DBK GR
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Letter from the Chairman of the Management Board

Hacs %46’6&»;

2008 was the most difficult year our industry has experienced in recent times.
The credit crisis, which began in the second half of 2007, continued to affect
our environment during 2008, and in September entered a new and more
severe phase with the collapse of a large U.S. investment bank. This event
triggered a sudden and significant deterioration in market conditions. The
global financial system came under extreme stress, with acute shortages of
liquidity, sharp reductions in interbank lending, and further pressure on credit
markets. Equity markets experienced heavy falls and extreme volatility. In
response, governments and central banks in the worlds’ major economies
intervened on an unprecedented scale to support both markets and individual
financial institutions.

These extraordinary conditions severely impacted the banking industry,

and Deutsche Bank was no exception. After remaining profitable throughout
the earlier part of the crisis, Deutsche Bank reported a net loss of €4.8 billion for
the fourth quarter, and consequently a full-year net loss of €3.9 billion. These
results were driven primarily by weaknesses in particular business areas which
were exposed by the extreme conditions of the fourth quarter. As always, we
were conservative in our election of the 'fair value’ option on our own debt. If
we had elected to use this option on all own debt, we would have booked an
additional €5.8 billion of profit before taxes in the year 2008. We succeeded in
maintaining a solid capital ratio, and our funding and liquidity position also
remains strong; however, in the light of the weak 2008 results we have initiated
comprehensive corrective measures in the areas concerned.

The Corporate and Investment Bank recorded a loss before income taxes of
€7.4 billion in 2008, driven by a pre-tax loss of €8.5 billion in our Corporate
Banking & Securities business. This result principally reflects the impact on our
business model of the market conditions in the fourth quarter. The relationships
between assets and corresponding hedging instruments broke down, volatility
and correlation across asset classes reached exceptionally high levels, and
liquidity became very scarce, leading to distortions in pricing. In our Sales & Tra-
ding businesses, we recorded significant losses in credit trading, equity
derivatives, and equities proprietary trading. These losses were in large part
attributable to substantial proprietary trading activity, the absolute size of some
positions, and the complexity of some highly-structured products. Losses in
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Letter from the Chairman of the Management Board

these areas more than offset strong results in more liquid, ‘flow’ trading businesses including
foreign exchange, money markets and commodities. Our Corporate Finance business was
impacted by write-downs in leveraged loans and loan commitments, and lower market activity
in M &A and equity origination, but significantly reduced legacy exposures in leveraged finance
and commercial real estate during the year, and gained market share in global M &A. Our Global
Transaction Banking business turned in a pre-tax profit of € 1.1 billion, up 17 %, reflecting record
results in trade finance and cash management, and underlining the strength and resilience of this
business even in challenging conditions.

Private Clients and Asset Management was also affected by the difficult market conditions.
Pre-tax profit for 2008 was €420 million, substantially down from 2007. This decline principally
reflects a loss of €525 million in our Asset and Wealth Management business, driven by
significant specific charges in Asset Management, including impairments on certain assets and
cash injections into European money market funds. Lower equity market valuations negatively
affected revenues from performance fees while sharp declines in the real estate market impacted
our alternative asset management business. Despite a very difficult environment, Private Wealth
Management remained profitable for the year, and attracted net new client money of € 10 billion.

Private & Business Clients produced profits of €945 million for the year, down 18% compared to
2007. This decline principally reflects lower customer activity in brokerage and portfolio manage-
ment products in the fourth quarter, coupled with a rise in loan loss provisions driven by a more
difficult credit environment. Nevertheless, we will strengthen our private clients business with the
recently closed acquisition of a minority stake in Deutsche Postbank, together with the exclusive
option to acquire a majority holding. This gives us an option to create one of Europe'’s leading retail
banking platforms, which would reach nearly 30 million clients, and enjoy a position of clear leader-
ship in Germany. In order to capture near-term opportunities, we have also sealed a co-operation
agreement with Deutsche Postbank, which aims to unlock cost and revenue synergies worth over
€100 million across our two platforms.

Faced with the described exceptional conditions, we have moved swiftly to reposition our platform.
In our Sales & Trading businesses, we have closed proprietary trading desks and significantly
reduced our overall exposure to proprietary activity. We have scaled back resources dedicated to
highly illiquid businesses, and sharpened our focus on liquid, ‘flow’ businesses which have
continued to perform very well. We also significantly reduced balance sheet in key areas, cutting
non-derivative trading assets by €319 billion during the fourth quarter alone. In Corporate Finance,
we have repositioned our Leveraged Finance and Commercial Real Estate businesses, while
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Letter from the Chairman of the Management Board

making selective investments in certain industry segments and advisory capabilities which will be in
demand as financial institutions and corporate clients seek to recapitalise and restructure in tougher
economic conditions. We remain firmly committed to advising and financing our mid-cap clients in
Germany. In Asset Management, we are reengineering our platform to restore operating leverage in
response to the pressure on asset valuations which continue to impact revenues. In Private Wealth
Management, we will launch productivity and efficiency measures while also continuing to grow
our business organically in a focused manner. In Private & Business Clients, we will continue to imple-
ment our Growth and Efficiency Program across Germany and other European markets, and pursue
our co-operation agreement with Deutsche Postbank.

As we look forward in 2009, our industry continues to face significant challenges. A global economic
downturn affects all our client segments, and financial markets remain under pressure. Nevertheless,
we are confident that Deutsche Bank is correctly positioned to weather these difficult conditions.
We were able to increase our Tier 1 capital by nearly €3 billion in the course of 2008. Therewith, at
the end of the year, our BIS Tier 1 ratio was 10.1 % — higher than at the beginning of the credit crisis.
Our funding and liquidity position was very strong at the end of the year, with the result that our 2009
capital market funding requirements are well below the amounts we raised in 2007 or 2008. We made
progress in reducing our balance sheet leverage ratio, which stood at 28 at the end of the year, thanks
to substantial reductions in non-derivative trading assets. We significantly reduced legacy exposures
in our trading book, including positions in leveraged finance and commercial real estate. At this stage,
we do not see any requirement for raising new capital from whatever external source.

Our business model remains valid. The capital markets remain essential to the functioning of the
global financial system, and investment banking therefore remains an essential service for corporations
and institutions. Furthermore, the same fundamental long-term trends continue to support the
investment management business: private retirement planning remains essential for ageing populations
in mature economies, and wealth creation continues, albeit more slowly, in the world’s emerging
economies. We remain firmly convinced that Deutsche Bank's identity — a leading global investment
bank with a strong private clients franchise — positions us well to emerge stronger from this crisis. At
the time of writing, | am pleased to report that we have made a good start to 2009.

As a sign of our confidence in Deutsche Bank's future, and of our commitment to our shareholders,

the Management Board and Supervisory Board recommend a dividend of 50 cents per share to this
year's AGM.
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Letter from the Chairman of the Management Board

We are very disappointed at our loss in 2008, but absolutely determined to take all necessary measures
to restore Deutsche Bank to the path of profitability and performance for shareholders. We are
convinced that the decisive action we have taken, and the strength of our platform, combined with
the right business model, enable Deutsche Bank to face the future with confidence. Thank you for
your continued support.

Yours sincerely,

bty (drecins

Dr. Josef Ackermann
Chairman of the Management Board and
the Group Executive Committee

Frankfurt am Main, March 2009
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Group Executive Committee

Group Executive Committee

1
Stefan Krause, born 1962

Management Board member since 2008.

Chief Financial Officer, responsible for
Finance, Tax, Corporate Insurance,
Investor Relations, Audit and Operations
of Securities Settlement according to
MaRisk*.
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2
Rainer Neske, born 1964
Head of Private & Business Clients.

6

Dr. Hugo Banziger, born 1956

Management Board member since 2006.
Chief Risk Officer, responsible for Risk
Management, Legal, Compliance, Corporate
Security, Treasury and Corporate Governance.

*Minimum requirements for risk management according to

Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin).

3

Dr. Josef Ackermann, born 1948
Management Board member since 1996.
Chairman of the Management Board and the
Group Executive Committee, responsible
for Corporate and Investment Bank, Private
Clients and Asset Management, Corporate
Investments, Regional Management as
well as Communications & Corporate Social
Responsibility, Corporate Development and
Economics.

7
Anshu Jain, born 1963
Head of Global Markets.



1

Hermann-Josef Lamberti, born 1956
Management Board member since 1999.
Chief Operating Officer, responsible for
Human Resources, Information Technology,
Operations (excluding Securities Settlement
according to MaRisk*), Cost and Infrastruc-
ture Management, Building and Facilities
Management as well as Purchasing.

8
Michael Cohrs, born 1956
Head of Global Banking.

i

5
Kevin Parker, born 1959
Head of Asset Management.

9
Pierre de Weck, born 1950

Head of Private Wealth Management.

10

Jiirgen Fitschen, born 1948

Global Head of Regional Management.
Chairman of the Management
Committee Germany.

Members of the Management Board
of Deutsche Bank AG.
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We have been a shareholder of Deutsche Bank for more than 20 years.
We believe that Deutsche Bank will emerge stronger from the crisis and is
committed to sharing its long-term success equitably with all stakeholders.

Yoshinobu Tsutsui, Managing Director, Nippon Life Insurance Company, Tokyo
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Corporate profile and overview

Comparatively stable
in a time of crisis

Deutsche Bank's business model combines global investment banking activities with a
strong, profitable and growing retail business, especially in Europe and Asia. In the light
of the most severe financial crisis experienced in decades, this broad base is the key to
securing a certain level of stability in the development of the company.

Management structure

The Management Board of Deutsche Bank AG has as its prime responsibility the Group's
strategic management, resource allocation, financial accounting and controlling, capi-
tal and risk management, and internal controls. The Management Board is supported in
the performance of its leadership and oversight duties by functional committees which
are chaired by Management Board members, and by the Corporate Center.

In April 2008, Stefan Krause joined the Management Board of Deutsche Bank AG; with
effect from 1 October 2008, he assumed the position of Chief Financial Officer as suc-
cessor to Anthony Di lorio, who retired, as planned, on this date.

The Group Executive Committee (GEC) is made up of the members of the Management
Board, the heads of the five core businesses, and the head of Regional Management.
The GEC supports the Management Board in its decision-making. At regular meetings,
it reviews developments within the businesses, discusses matters of Group strategy
and formulates recommendations for the Management Board. Josef Ackermann chairs
both the Management Board and the GEC.

Functional Committees

Group Executive Committee
Management Board
Business Heads/Regional Head

Corporate and Corporate Private Clients and
Investment Bank Investments Asset Management

Regional Committees

Group Divisions
Deutsche Bank’s Group Divisions are: the Corporate and Investment Bank (CIB), Private
Clients and Asset Management (PCAM) and Corporate Investments (Cl).

Corporate and Investment Bank

CIB is responsible for Deutsche Bank's capital markets business, comprising the origi-
nation, sales and trading of capital markets products including debt, equity, and other
securities, together with our corporate advisory, corporate lending and transaction
banking businesses. Our clients are institutions, both public sector, including sovereign
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Corporate profile and overview

states and supranational bodies, and private sector entities, from medium-sized busi-
nesses to large multinational corporations.

CIB is subdivided into two Corporate Divisions: Corporate Banking & Securities (CB&S)
and Global Transaction Banking (GTB).

Corporate Banking & Securities comprises our Global Markets and Corporate Finance
businesses, and covers Deutsche Bank's origination, sales and trading of securities,
corporate advisory and M &A businesses, together with other corporate finance activ-
ities.

Global Transaction Banking covers Deutsche Bank'’s trade finance, cash management
and trust&securities services businesses and serves both financial institutions and
corporate clients.

Corporate Finance and Global Transaction Banking are together named Global Banking.

Private Clients and Asset Management
PCAM comprises two Corporate Divisions: Asset and Wealth Management and Private &
Business Clients.

Asset and Wealth Management comprises two Business Divisions: Asset Management
and Private Wealth Management. Asset Management provides retail clients across
the globe with mutual fund products through our DWS and DWS Scudder franchis-
es. Asset Management also provides institutional clients, including pension funds and
insurance companies, with a broad range of services such as traditional asset manage-
ment, alternative assets, sophisticated absolute return strategies and real estate asset
management. Private Wealth Management serves high net worth individuals and fami-
lies worldwide. We provide these very discerning clients with a fully-integrated wealth
management service, encompassing portfolio management, tax advisory, inheritance
planning and philanthropic advisory services.

Private & Business Clients (PBC) provides private individuals and small to medium-sized
businesses with a full range of traditional banking products, including current accounts,
deposits and loans, investment management products and business banking services.
Outside Germany, PBC has for some years operated in Italy, Spain, Belgium and Por-
tugal, and more recently in Poland. We are also making focused investments in fast-
growing Asian markets, for example in China and India.

Corporate Investments
The Corporate Investments Group Division covers our industrial shareholdings, certain
bank-occupied real estate assets and other non-strategic holdings.

Impact of financial crisis

2008 was characterised by the escalating financial crisis. Conditions in the credit mar-
kets, which were already very difficult in the second half of 2007, deteriorated further
as did the overall liquidity situation in the financial system. In September, market con-

12



Corporate profile and overview

fidence was deeply shaken by the collapse of a major U.S. investment bank. Equity
markets suffered some of the steepest falls on record, and liquidity was severely reduced.

Governments and central banks responded to the crisis with interventions on an unprec-
edented scale to recapitalize major banks, inject ample liquidity into the markets, drasti-
cally reduce interest rates, improve protection for depositors or provide state guaran-
tees, as well as stimulate inter-bank lending and purchase troubled assets.

In an extremely difficult market environment, Deutsche Bank suffered substantial
losses. Although they were serious, at no point did they jeopardize Deutsche Bank's
existence. We closed 2008 with net losses of €3.9 billion. However, we were able to
increase our regulatory Tier 1 capital by almost 3 billion to €31.1 billion. In this respect,
Deutsche Bank has demonstrated its strength and stability compared with many of its
competitors.

We initiated immediate countermeasures to expand our capital and funding base: our tar-
get BIS Tier 1 ratio has been raised to 10 %, key parts of our balance sheet and our balance
sheet leverage ratio have been reduced and we have diversified and improved the quality
of our funding base. In addition, we have cut our risk exposure in key legacy positions.

Medium-term growth strategy

We regard the current financial crisis as very serious, but we are convinced that
Deutsche Bank can emerge stronger. Our business model remains fundamentally intact.
Our medium-term strategy remains committed to exploiting the growth potential in all
of our core businesses, while also making adjustments to our platform to take account
of the market upheavals we have recently witnessed. To this end, we aim to build on our
broad-based business model.

Corporate Banking & Securities will be recalibrated. Investment banking remains one of
Deutsche bank’s core businesses. However, we will withdraw resources from areas in
which a recovery seems unlikely in the near future. At the same time, we will be invest-
ing in growth areas, including some ‘flow’ trading businesses and commodities trading,
corporate finance in certain industry sectors, and our German mid-cap business.

Global Transaction Banking, which has delivered strong growth, will step up the pace
of its activities. We are concentrating mainly on new and growing markets, for example
by continuing to expand the local trust & securities services businesses and the devel-
opment of new products and solutions for our clients. Our aim is to achieve organic
growth while monitoring acquisition opportunities.

Asset Management is focusing strongly on re-positioning its core business areas: retalil,
alternative investments, institutional investors and insurance asset management. In
all core businesses, we are re-engineering in order to restore operating leverage in
changed market circumstances. As a large provider with an extensive range of ser-
vices, Deutsche Bank is also benefitting from the crisis-driven “flight to quality”. We
will also continue to globalise our DWS brand. PWM will take measures to improve its
cost efficiency, while also capturing selective expansion opportunities.
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01 Deutsche Bank Group Corporate profile and overview

In Private & Business Clients, the focus is on rolling out our growth and efficiency pro-
gram. We are expanding the branch network in Germany and other European countries
and increasing efficiency in the mid and back-office. Our minority share in Deutsche
Postbank offers considerable immediate-term opportunities for co-operation, which
we are already taking advantage of.

Relatively robust business model

The current crisis has exposed weaknesses in some parts of our business model, which
we have addressed with focused and decisive actions. Furthermore, our fundamen-
tal business model remains sound. With its diversified business portfolio and global
franchise, its solid Tier1 capital ratio and funding base, Deutsche Bank in 2008 has
managed to increase its share in many businesses even in shrinking markets. However,
revenues often were lower in absolute terms compared with 2007.

Global presence

Frankfurt Singapore

London Tokyo

@ Regional major hub.
@ Capital of country in which we are represented.



Corporate Governance

Responsible and
transparent management and
control of Deutsche Bank

Effective corporate governance is an important part of our identity. The essential frame-
work for this is provided first and foremost by the German Stock Corporation Act and
the German Corporate Governance Code, which was last amended in June 2008. Fur-
thermore, since our shares are also listed on the New York Stock Exchange, we are sub-
ject to the relevant U.S. capital market legislation as well as the rules of the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) and New York Stock Exchange.

We ensure the responsible, value-driven management and control of Deutsche Bank
through our system of corporate governance. It has four key elements: good relations
with shareholders; effective cooperation between the Management Board and Super-
visory Board; a system of performance-related compensation; and transparent, timely
reporting.

Shareholders

Our shareholders are involved in decisions that are of material importance to the bank,
as is legally required, including amendments to the Articles of Association, the appropri-
ation of profit, the authorization to issue new shares and important structural changes.
Deutsche Bank has only one class of share, with each share carrying the same voting
right. To make it easier for our shareholders to exercise their voting rights, we support
the use of electronic media for the Annual General Meeting. For example, shareholders
can issue authorizations and their voting instructions to Deutsche Bank proxies via the
internet.

Management Board

The Management Board is responsible for managing the company and exercises control
over Deutsche Bank Group companies. It ensures that all provisions of law and com-
pany internal policies are abided by. The members of the Management Board together
with the heads of Deutsche Bank'’s five core businesses, as well as the Head of Region-
al Management, form the Group Executive Committee. This committee analyzes the
development of the business divisions, discusses matters of Group strategy and makes
recommendations for decisions to be taken by the Management Board.

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board oversees and advises the Management Board in its manage-
ment of the business. It appoints the members of the Management Board, and together
with the Management Board, draws up its long-term succession plans. Major deci-
sions affecting the bank require Supervisory Board approval. The Supervisory Board
has specified the information and reporting duties of the Management Board. In addi-
tion to the Mediation Committee, which is to be formed as a legal requirement, the
Supervisory Board has established a Chairman’s Committee, an Audit Committee, a
Risk Committee and a Nomination Committee. The committees’ tasks are described in
the Corporate Governance Report, which forms part of the 2008 Financial Report.

Performance-Related Compensation

The compensation of members of the Management Board is primarily aligned to their
contribution to business performance and international industry standards. Part of the
Management Board’'s compensation is equity-based, and this is driven by the perfor-
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Corporate Governance

mance of our share price relative to that of our peers. Compensation for members of
the Supervisory Board comprises a fixed component as well as a variable component
related to the dividend and earnings per share (based on a 3-year average). The chair
and deputy chair of the Supervisory Board as well as the chair and members of the
Chairman’s, Audit and Risk Committees receive additional compensation.

In light of the global financial crisis, the members of the Management Board, the other
members of the Group Executive Committee as well as the members of the Supervisory
Board decided to voluntarily forgo their variable compensation components for the year
2008.

The compensation of each member of the Management Board and the Supervisory
Board, as well as the structure of our remuneration system, are published in the Com-
pensation Report (please refer to the Financial Report 2008, page 51 ff.).

Financial Reporting according to International Standards

Shareholders and the public are regularly kept up to date, above all, through the Annu-
al Report, including the Consolidated Financial Statements, and the Interim Reports.
Deutsche Bank Group's reporting is in accordance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS). This provides for a high degree of transparency and facilitates
comparability with our international peers.

Declaration of Conformity

On October 29, 2008, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board issued the
annual Declaration of Conformity in accordance with § 161 of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act. It states that Deutsche Bank complies with the recommendations of the
Government Commission’s German Corporate Governance Code with only one excep-
tion: the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy (D &O), specifically taken out
to also include the members of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board,
does not have a deductible.

Our complete Corporate Governance Report for 2008 can be found in our Financial
Report 2008 (page 291 ff.). This report and other documents relating to Deutsche Bank's
corporate governance, such as the terms of reference for the Management Board, the
Supervisory Board and its committees, are available on the Internet at www.deutsche-
bank.com/ir.

We continuously review our corporate governance in light of new events, statutory
requirements and developments in domestic and international standards, and make the
appropriate adjustments.
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In the interest of our stakeholders

In difficult times, strong
commitment to our shareholders,
clients, staff and the community

In 2008, the unprecedented financial crisis presented Deutsche Bank with unexpected
challenges, which called for innovative thinking and bold action. Our business model
proved robust relative to some of our peers. But we could not prevent our sharehold-
ers, clients, staff and the communities in which we operate from having to bear losses
and hardships, some of them heavy, as a consequence of extreme market turbulence.
Deutsche Bank regards it as our duty to analyze these adverse developments self-crit-
ically and to take the necessary steps to eliminate the problems that have arisen and
prevent them from recurring in the future.

Shareholders

One of Deutsche Bank's prime tasks on behalf of its owners is to address the very nega-
tive development of its share price by gaining the support of the market. We identify
the root causes of any losses and take corrective measures. The main objective is to
have strong capital resources as well as to safeguard sources of revenue in the future.
Risk management must also be refined so that we can recognize potential threats to our
business earlier.

Clients

In difficult economic conditions, a reliable and competent partner is crucially important
for our customers. This is what we aspire to be, with our well diversified business model
and our performance culture. With innovative solutions, we help our clients achieve
lasting success. In conditions of crisis, in which predicting the future is particularly
prone to error, we develop robust ideas aimed at safeguarding our clients’ future. In this
respect, our attention is devoted both to our private customers and to our corporate
and institutional clients.

Staff

Deutsche Bank's competence depends on the ability and commitment of its staff. We
invest much in their professional and personal training, and in a positive working envi-
ronment. Even in the present financial crisis, we have continued to recruit new talent.
In cases where personnel adjustments are unavoidable, we act fairly in devising social-
ly acceptable transitional arrangements and in searching for alternative employment
within and outside our company.

Community

Corporate social responsibility is part of Deutsche Bank’s mission and business model.
In particular, it does not depend on short-term fluctuations in revenues. Even in difficult
times, the community can rely on Deutsche Bank contributing more than just money
to finding solutions to social problems. This includes our commitment to combating
climate change as well as our unwavering support for our employees’ corporate volun-
teering activities.
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In the interest of our stakeholders

A dividend even in the difficult market environment.

Structural Data 2008 2007 2006

Number of shareholders 581,938 360,785 348,196

Shareholders by type in % of share capital’ Institutional (including banks) 71 86 86
Private 29 14 14

Regional breakdown in % of share capital’ Germany b5 45 54
European Union (excluding Germany) 25 31 30
Switzerland 7 9 5
U.S.A. 11 13 10
Other 2 2 1

Key Figures 2008 2007 2006

Change in total return of Deutsche Bank share? (66.8) % (8.6)% 27.4%

Share in equities trading (Xetra and Frankfurt Floor Trading) 5.6% 5.7% 55%'

Dividend per share for the financial year (in €) 0.503 450 4.00

Special Projects

Capital increase Placement of 40 million Deutsche Bank shares at €55 per share with institutional investors to acquire
a minority stake in Deutsche Postbank AG.

Investor surveys Regular analyses of institutional investors’ perception of Deutsche Bank to gauge the Deutsche Bank
share’s attractiveness as an investment.

Request to shareholders In conjunction with a prize competition, we asked shareholders for their permission to send them all

AGM documents by electronic media.

Share buyback program Share buyback program 2007/08 completed.

"Figures rounded.
2Share price based on Xetra.
3Proposal for the Annual General Meeting on May 26, 2009.



In the interest of our stakeholders

Strong client relationships: more important than ever.

Structural Data

Number of clients (rounded)
Corporate and Investment Bank
Private Clients and Asset Management

Key Figures
Corporate and Investment Bank

Private Clients and Asset Management

Special Projects

Corporate and Investment Bank

Private Clients and Asset Management

"Number of accounts.

Private & Business Clients

Asset&Wealth Management
Retail Asset Management'
(Germany/Luxembourg)
Institutional Asset Management
Private Wealth Management?

Euromoney Poll of Polls, ranking
Euromoney Primary Debt Poll, ranking
Euromoney FX Poll, ranking
Euromoney Awards for Excellence,
number of awards won
Risk awards
Fund Awards?® for DWS Investments
as group winner

Germany

Austria

Switzerland

Advisory services for the UK Treasury on the restructuring of the UK banking system.

2008

53,100
14,600,000

3,410,000
2,300
92,000

2008
2
1

2007

56,900
13,800,000

2,926,000
2,400
92,000

2007
1
2
1

31

Acquisition of HedgeWorks, a full service hedge fund administrator in the U.S.A.

2006

54,200
14,100,000

2,530,000
2,300
90,000

2006
1
1

Launch of Deutsche Card Services, which offers corporate clients card business services.

Launch of innovative FX4Cash platform offering a broad range of foreign exchange and cash

management services.

Acquisition of Taiwan Asset Management completed.

Launch of a mutual fund distribution platform in India together with iFAST.

Private Wealth Management offices opened in Kolkata, India, and St. Petersburg, Russia.

Launch of a substantial growth and efficiency program within Private & Business Clients.

2Number of relationships excluding Private Client Services (U.S.A.).
32008: Morningstar and Lipper, 2007 and 2006: Standard & Poor's.
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In the interest of our stakeholders

A solid employer during turbulent times.

Structural Data
Staff (full time equivalents)’
Divisions

Regions

Qualifications?®

Age®

Key Figures

Employee Commitment Index

Employees leaving the bank for a new job
Training (expenses in € million)

Apprenticeship programs (expenses in € million)

Special Projects

Deutsche Knowledge Institute (DKI)

Maternity Coaching Program
in the UK and U.S.A.

Preventive health care program

Private Clients and Asset Management
Corporate and Investment Bank?
Infrastructure/Regional Management
Germany

Europe (excluding Germany),

Middle East and Africa

Americas

Asia/Pacific

University degree

High school certificate

Other school degrees

up to 24 years

25-34 years

35-44 years

45-54 years

over 54 years

2008
80,456
40.2%
18.7%
41.1%
34.7%

28.7%
15.3%
21.3%
64.0%
17.3%
18.7%

9.9%
35.5%
31.7%
17.9%

5.0%

2008
74
7.3%
127
41

2007
78,291
39.9%
21.1%
39.0%
36.5%

28.1%
17.2%
19.2%
64.4%
17.4%
18.2%
10.0%
35.2%
32.3%
17.9%

4.6%

2007
71
8.4%
129
41

2006
68,849
41.7%
21.0%
37.3%
38.3%

29.1%
17.0%
16.6%
59.7%
19.4%
20.9%

8.9%
34.7%
33.8%
18.3%

4.3%

2006
68
7.0%
130
40

Launch of a virtual university based in Singapore for the ongoing development of staff through

executive education.

Comprehensive program including workshops, individual coaching and educational resources

which focus on three distinct phases: prior to maternity leave, during maternity leave and

reintegration upon returning to work.

All employees in Germany over the age of 40 are eligible for a free medical check-up every three

years, every two years from the age of 50.

' Staff (full time equivalent) = total headcount adjusted proportionately for part-time staff, excluding apprentices and interns.

?Including Corporate Investments.
3Number of staff (headcount).

20



In the interest of our stakeholders

More than money: building social capital.

Structural Data 2008 2007 2006
Number of countries in which Deutsche Bank operates
(including offshore sites) 72 76 73
Key Figures (in € million) 2008 2007 2006
Spending by Deutsche Bank for social responsibility activities’ 75.9 86.2 85.9
thereof:
Deutsche Bank Americas Foundation 8.8 10.0 9.7
Deutsche Bank Corporate Social Responsibility UK 4.3 5.0 5.0
Deutsche Bank Asia Foundation 3.7 2.6 1.2
Spending by endowed Deutsche Bank foundations 6.4 6.6 10.2
Deutsche Bank Foundation 5.0 5.4 9.0
Other foundations 1.4 1.2 1.2
Total 82.3 92.8 96.1
Special Projects
Ensuring viability Renovation of Deutsche Bank's Head Office, transforming it into one of the world’s most environmentally friendly
high-rise buildings.
Committing ourselves Launch of the “Corporate Community Partnership” program that offers paid leave to employees who volunteer to
assist microfinance institutions with their professional know-how.
Creating opportunity Community development programs that create affordable housing and improve the infrastructure of low-income
urban neighbourhoods in the U.S.A.
Fostering creativity 600 works of art from the Deutsche Bank Collection given to the Staedel Museum in Frankfurt am Main on permanent
loan.
Enabling talent Support for the “Pratham India Education Initiative”, which aims to eliminate illiteracy among India’s children by 2010.

"New, more comprehensive calculation base; previous years restated.
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lan K. Karan, Hamburg
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Stakeholders

02

Statements relating to Deutsche Bank’s competitive position, market share or ranking are based largely on external sources, including industry
publications (e.g. Euromoney, the Banker, etc.) and specialist information providers (e.g. Thomson Reuters, Dealogic, Bloomberg, etc.).
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Significant falls in equity markets

Significant falls in equity markets

Trust deeply shaken in the international equity markets

The year 2008 was marked by a remarkable intensification of the financial market cri-
sis in the fourth quarter. Conditions in the credit markets, which had already become
very difficult in 2007, deteriorated further, and liquidity in the financial system became
scarcer than ever. The collapse of a major U.S. investment bank in September 2008
deeply affected market confidence. Equity markets, which had performed somewhat
better than credit markets up to this point, fell sharply around the world. Governments
and central banks responded with intervention on an unprecedented scale. Several
support measures and rescue packages were implemented, while central banks sought
to ensure liquidity for the wider economy. Furthermore, the prospect of a global reces-
sion steadily increased.

The Euro STOXX 50 index declined 44.3% over the course of 2008, while the leading
German index, the DAX, suffered a decline of 40.4%, after a five-year period of gains,
and closed the year at 4,810 points. In Germany, this was the largest percentage drop
since 1949, except for 2002, when the DAX lost 3.5 percentage points more. No sector
was spared from falling share prices in 2008, but the banking industry was affected the
most severely. Consequently the Deutsche Bank share price declined by 68.9% and
closed the year at €27.83. Numerous German and European bank shares dropped even
further in 2008.

Market turbulence impacts our share

In addition to the price declines in the wake of the financial crisis, the extreme share
price volatility, in particular, was without precedent. Thus the Deutsche Bank share
experienced its largest one-day gain in Xetra trading ever, a gain of nearly 24% on
November 24, while the biggest one-day loss on record was on October 10 at just over
16%. The year's high was on the very first day of trading at €89.80, while the low for
2008 was in November at €18.59. This degree of volatility in our share price has not
been seen for decades.

In this extraordinarily difficult market environment, Deutsche Bank's operating results
were negative. However, we have confidence in the bank’s future earnings potential and
will therefore recommend a dividend of €0.50 per share to the Annual General Meeting
2009. With this dividend, we also want to acknowledge the loyalty of our shareholders,
above all, of our many private investors.

Market deterioration reduces long-term return

Although the Deutsche Bank share price held up well compared to that of other interna-
tional peers, its very weak performance during the year significantly impaired the return
on investment, also from a long-term perspective. An investor who bought Deutsche
Bank shares for the equivalent of € 10,000 at the beginning of 1980, reinvested dividends
and subscribed to capital increases without injecting additional funds would have held
a portfolio worth €50,5633 at the end of 2008. This corresponds to an average annual
return of 5.7%. Above all due to the crisis year 2008, our share underperformed the
DAX, which has risen by 8.1 % per year on average since the start of 1980.
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Significant falls in equity markets

Lower market capitilization

Although the number of buy and sell transactions in our share increased by nearly 50 %
in 2008, this development has been outweighed by the decline in the share price and
consequently the volume of trading fell by around €50 billion to €277 billion, the second
highest among all shares in the DAX. At the end of 2008, our share capital was based on
570,859,015 no par value shares, nearly 40 million more than at the end of 2007. Due to
a much lower year-end closing price than in 2007, our market capitalization declined to
€15.9 billion (2007: €47.4 billion). The significant share price decline was also reflected
at the end of the year in a much lower weighting in the DAX of 3.6 %. All financial sector
stocks, which had been among the heavyweights in the DAX for years, were affected
by this development.

Private investors increase their participation

The number of our shareholders rose strongly during 2008, and by the end of the year
we had 581,938 shareholders. This corresponds to an increase of more than 60 % over
the year and sets a new record level. These new shareholders are almost exclusively
private investors based in Germany, and more than three-quarters of this increase took
place in the fourth quarter. The pending introduction of a flat-rate withholding tax start-
ing in 2009 probably played a role in this, along with the strong decline in the Deutsche
Bank share price during the last three months of 2008. At the end of the year, nearly
99% of our shareholders were private investors, holding 29 % of the share capital (2007:
14%) of €1,461,399,078. On the other hand, institutional investors (including banks)
reduced their holdings to just 71 % (2007: 86 %). Increased interest in our share on the

Long-term value

1,900
1,600
1,300
1,000
700
400

100

80 82 84 86 88 90 92 94 96 98 00 02 04 06 08

Total Return Index, beginning of 1980=100, quarterly figures.
= Deutsche Bank

= DAX

Source: Datastream
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Significant falls in equity markets

part of private investors was also reflected by the higher percentage of shares held in
Germany of nearly 55% (end of 2007: 45%). Abroad, institutional investors, above all,
based in Switzerland, the U.K. and U.S.A. sold our share on balance in 2008.

Deutsche Bank shares remain in almost complete free float. As of December 31, 2008,
the large shareholders known to us that are subject to the reporting threshold of 3%,
were AXA S.A. (France) with 5.36 % and Credit Suisse Group (Zurich) with 3.86 %.

Considerable interest in our Annual General Meeting

Six thousand shareholders attended our Annual General Meeting on May 29, 2008, in the
Frankfurt Festhalle, 1,000 more than in the year before. The Management Board Chair-
man’s customary report on the development of business was followed by an intensive
question-and-answer session between shareholders and management on Deutsche
Bank’s current position and prospects. The Annual General Meeting approved the reso-
lutions on the Agenda by large majorities. 33.2 % of the equity participated in the voting
versus 42.5% in 2007. This decline was partially due to the fact that fewer foreign share-
holders were able to participate in voting for technical reasons, following a change in
one agenda item at short notice.

Share buyback program concluded

At the Annual General Meeting on May 29, 2008, the shareholders again authorized us
to re-purchase our own shares in a volume equivalent to up to 10 % of the share capital.
As a result, this authorization replaced the one from 2007. The Management Board also
resolved to conclude the share buyback program 2007/08. To date, the bank has not
made use of the current buyback authorization.

As a result of the share buyback program implemented between May 30, 2007, and
May 29, 2008, Deutsche Bank repurchased a total of 7,155,200 shares or 1.4 percent of
the share capital. In total, this is equivalent to a value of €724 million. This also included
200,000 shares acquired through the sale of put options.

From the start of our first share buyback program in mid-2002 until the end of May 2008,
we repurchased a total of 223 million shares worth €14.8 billion and cancelled 118 mil-
lion Deutsche Bank shares with a value of €7.2 billion.

As of December 31, 2008, the number of shares held in Treasury from buybacks totalled
8 million. This figure stems from 29 million shares at the beginning of the year, plus 1
million shares from buybacks, less 6 million shares to cover share-based compensation
plans, and 16 million shares sold. Since our Annual General Meeting in 2007, we have
not cancelled any shares.

Capital increase

In the context of our acquisition of a minority shareholding in Postbank AG, we sold 40
million new shares to institutional investors through a private placement. At a price of €55
per share, the gross proceeds amounted to around €2.2 billion. In 2008, we enhanced our
Tier1 capital ratio by approximately €3.9 billion through the conversion of four subordi-
nated bonds categorized as supplementary capital that we issued in 2007 and 2008.
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Significant falls in equity markets

Internet service expanded

Following our highly successful campaign in 2007, again as part of a prize draw, we
asked our shareholders in 2008 to allow us to send them the Annual General Meeting
documents in electronic form in future. Through electronic delivery, we save costs and
help protect the environment. The response was very positive: we received around
13,600 new e-mail addresses, which means that we will be sending a combined total of
20,400 paperless invitations to the Annual General Meeting in 2009 through the inter-
net.

Furthermore, our shareholders increased their use of our convenient internet service
again in 2008 (7,900 versus 6,700 in 2007). Shareholders can take advantage of this
service to order admission tickets for the Annual General Meeting or issue powers of
attorney and their voting instructions to our company proxy.

Expanding our contact with investors

In 2008, the Investor Relations team fulfilled investors’ and analysts' greater demand
for information in connection with the financial crisis in numerous ways. We hosted
discussions with investors at more than twice as many individual and group meetings
(495 meetings versus 230 in 2007) as well as 11 international securities conferences, in
most cases with members of the Management Board. As part of analyst and telephone
conferences, we regularly reported on the development of Deutsche Bank's business
and its strategy. We intensified our discussions with fixed-income investors as well as
with investors who are increasingly making their investment decisions on the basis of
sustainability criteria.

We respond to the questions and suggestions of our private investors primarily through
our toll-free shareholder hotline and the internet. Anyone who is interested can obtain
comprehensive information about our company from our website and use our interac-
tive tools, for example, to analyze and compare the Deutsche Bank share price. All
investor relations events are announced in advance and then broadcast live and in full
through the internet. Furthermore, twice a year we discuss our financial results and
company strategy in an internet chat.

Adjustments to credit ratings

In the wake of the financial crisis and the losses connected with it in many cases, the
rating agencies reviewed and adjusted the ratings of all major banks worldwide. This
was also true for Deutsche Bank, although many of our peers were more significantly
impacted. Standard & Poor’s lowered Deutsche Bank's long-term rating in 2008 in two
steps to A+ with a stable outlook. On the other hand, our long-term rating was left
unchanged by Moody's (Aal) and Fitch Rating (AA-) in the reporting year, although the
outlook was reduced to negative and stable respectively.
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Global Markets:
maintaining leadership in
interest rate derivatives

Market share in %
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Corporate and Investment Bank

Market turmoil causes losses

For the Corporate and Investment Bank (CIB) Group Division, 2008 was an extremely
difficult year, with by far the most important influence being the intensifying global
financial crisis. Taken in total, the very substantial effects on our business were both
positive and negative; on balance, however, the effect was predominantly negative.

CIB comprises the two Corporate Divisions: Corporate Banking & Securities and Global
Transaction Banking. Corporate Banking & Securities consists of the Global Markets and
Corporate Finance Business Divisions. Corporate Finance and Global Transaction Bank-
ing are combined under the name Global Banking.

Corporate Banking & Securities

Global Markets undertakes trading and product structuring across a wide range of
financial products, including bonds, equities and equity-linked products, exchange
traded and over-the-counter derivatives, foreign exchange, money market instruments,
securitised instruments and commodities. The origination, underwriting and syndica-
tion of debt and equity securities are managed jointly by Global Markets and Corporate
Finance.

Although the majority of 2008 was characterized by challenging market conditions in
the aftermath of the subprime crisis, conditions changed suddenly and fundamentally
in September with the collapse of a major U.S. investment bank. This event had a sig-
nificant impact on financial markets throughout the world. Volatility reached unprec-
edented levels, hedging strategies became ineffective as interrelationships between
different asset classes broke down, and markets suffered an acute lack of liquidity. This
distorted market pricing and made reductions in risk exposures very difficult. Despite
rapid and significant intervention by governments and central banks across the world,
these exceptionally difficult conditions persisted throughout the rest of the year.

Excerpt from segment reporting (Corporate and Investment Bank')

The CIB Group Division ended the year 2008 with a loss before income taxes of €7.4 billion. The Corporate Banking & Secu-
rities Corporate Division reported a loss before income taxes of €8.5 billion, versus income before income taxes of

€4.2 billion in 2007. This dramatic reversal reflects, above all, large mark-downs on credit market-related assets,
significant losses in Sales & Trading businesses and falling revenues in the Origination and Advisory business. In contrast,
the Global Transaction Banking Corporate Division was able to increase its income before income taxes by €0.2 billion

to a record €1.1 billion. Cost discipline was sustained, while revenues rose by 7%, reaching a new peak.

in €m. 2008 2007
Net revenues 3,078 19,092
Total provision for credit losses 408 109
Noninterest expenses 10,090 13,802
Income before income taxes (7,371) 5,147
Return on equity (pre-tax) in % (36) 25
Risk positions 249,744 237,026
Assets 2,047,181 1,800,027

"Excerpt from segment reporting. For notes and other detailed information, see Financial Report 2008 (Management Report).
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Corporate and Investment Bank

Against this backdrop, Global Markets’ businesses enjoyed mixed results. Credit and
equity proprietary trading sustained considerable losses, as did other credit trading.
These losses reflected in part the size of our positions in an environment where hedging
techniques became ineffective. Equity derivatives, in which Global Markets has built a
leading position with both retail and institutional clients, was also severely impacted by
extreme market volatility and by sustained high levels of correlation.

By contrast, in other businesses, Global Markets performed extremely well and further
strengthened its franchise. Our foreign exchange business turned in a record year, and
was voted No.1 FX provider in Euromoney magazine's annual poll for the fourth year
running. Our market share increased to 22 %, the highest ever achieved by any bank.
In addition, we laid the foundations for future growth with the launch of some highly
innovative products.

Interest rate trading also performed well, with continued strong revenues. Besides the
positive performance of traditional interest rate products there was strong growth in
inflation derivatives and life and pension products.

The commodities business performed strongly in 2008, with growth in customer activ-
ity thanks to sustained investment in this business in recent years. We expanded our
range of investment products linked to commodities, launched some pioneering new
instruments, and in December were voted “World’'s No.1 Commodity Derivatives House"
in IFR magazine's highly-regarded annual awards.

Our prime services business also achieved notable success during the year, notwith-
standing very difficult conditions for the hedge fund industry. In a poll of end users by
Global Custodian magazine, we were voted the world’s best prime broker.

Global Markets' reputation as a provider of tailored solutions to clients’ problems was
reflected, in the latter part of this year, by our appointment as an advisor to the UK gov-
ernment on its recapitalization of the UK banking sector.

Global Markets also moved decisively to address the challenges of the unprecedented
market turbulence of the final quarter of 2008 and to recalibrate our business model to
meet the needs of a changed environment. The credit proprietary trading desk was
closed and we significantly reduced our exposure to equity proprietary trading. To
improve efficiency, we lowered headcount and costs and aggressively reduced our use
of balance sheet. Meanwhile we continued selectively to invest in key strategic areas
such as commodities, cash equities and prime brokerage. We ended the year having
made significant progress in our efforts to position ourselves for success in 2009.
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Awards 2008
Euromoney

“FX House of the Year”
“Risk Management House of the Year”

Financial News

“Corporate Bond House of the Year”
“Debt Capital Markets House of the Year”
“Investment Banking Team of the Year”

Global Finance

“FX House of the Year”

International Financing Review

“Commodity Derivatives House of the Year”

IFR Asia

“Bond House of the Year”
“Derivatives House of the Year”

International Securitisation Report

“International Securitisation House of the Year”

Global Markets:
world leader in foreign exchange

Market share in %
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[JRanking in peer comparison
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Corporate Finance:
strong market share increase
in global M&A

Market share in %*
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*Based on announced deals.
Source: Thomson Reuters

Awards 2008

Euromoney

“Best Equity House: North America; Sweden”
“Best Investment Bank: Western Europe;

Central &Eastern Europe; Germany; Greece; the UK”

Euroweek

“Best Lead Manager of High Yield Bonds”
Financial Times and Mergermarket
“Financial Advisor of the Year: Europe”
“Financial Advisor of the Year: Germany”
Global Finance

“Best Equity Bank: Central & Eastern Europe”
“Best Investment Bank: Western Europe”
“Best M&A Bank: Western Europe”

Risk

“Credit Portfolio Manager of the Year”
The Asset

“Best Mid-Cap Equity House”

Corporate and Investment Bank

Corporate Finance is comprised of Mergers and Acquisition Advisory (M &A), Equity
Capital Markets (ECM), Leveraged Debt Capital Markets (LDCM), Commercial Real
Estate (CRE), Asset Finance & Leasing (AFL) and corporate lending services. All prod-
ucts and services are delivered to clients through regional and industry-based client
coverage.

Thanks to its geographic diversity and strong client culture, Corporate Finance managed
to withstand the financial crisis in 2008. Despite a significant decline in the global fee
pool, we registered market share gains and growth in some key regions and products.

While M &A business declined considerably in 2008, we improved our market share in
Europe, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA), and maintained our No. 1 market ranking in
Germany. Our success in our home market is based on a client-focused structure and a
diversified customer base among “Mittelstand” companies. In the Americas, we main-
tained our top 10 status, executing a number of high profile transactions during 2008.
We improved our market position in Asia/Pacific, particularly in Australia and New Zea-
land. The region saw an increased focus on M &A transactions in 2008, predominantly
in the financial and natural resources sectors.

With clients looking to trusted partners for strategic advice in difficult and volatile mar-
kets, Corporate Finance advised on several of the year's most prominent M&A trans-
actions, including the largest UK transaction of 2008 and the largest consumer goods
transaction of all time. Overall in M&A advisory, we maintained our global ranking of
No.8. In Europe, we gained market share and climbed from No.7 to No.4, based on
the value of announced transactions. Our Americas advisory franchise continued to
strengthen, improving its ranking from No.8 to No. 5.

In 2008, ECM revenues were negatively impacted by lower issuance activity in the light
of record volatility in the equity markets. However, we were involved in a number of key
transactions, including the largest corporate rights issue of the year. DB continues to
be a leader in product innovation and this year launched Europe's first Special Purpose
Acquisition Company (SPAC) transaction. In the U.S., we executed the largest institu-
tional equity registered direct transaction for a real estate company. In Asia, our invest-
ments in emerging markets have helped deliver a No. 1 position in IPOs, up from No.5
last year and the No. 1 position in ECM in India, up from No. 11 last year.

Our LDCM franchise was significantly affected by credit market volatility in the wake of
the financial crisis in 2008. Despite these challenging conditions Deutsche Bank contin-
ued to underwrite selective new business for strategic transactions where the risks and
rewards made economic sense. Additionally, in a highly active secondary loan trading
market, Deutsche Bank remained one of the primary market makers. Highlights include
being a lead financier on the largest corporate acquisition in 2008. The dominant feature
of the market in 2008, however, was the sell down of unsyndicated leveraged buyout
transactions remaining on DB’s books, accompanied by a significant decrease in issue
volumes in Leveraged Finance.
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Corporate and Investment Bank

In 2008, CRE was significantly affected by the global credit crisis and turbulence in com-
mercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) markets. CRE successfully de-risked the
globally traded whole loan portfolio to minimize losses. Deutsche Bank Berkshire Mort-
gage, a multi-family loan origination and servicing platform, had another year of strong
results in 2008. In Japan, CRE became the No.1 Seller of CMBS and received several
awards including one from Euromoney and International Securitisation Report (ISR).

Our Asset Finance & Leasing (AFL) business remained stable in difficult market condi-
tions, and we continued to build our growth areas, in particular renewable energy and
infrastructure. In Spain, the world’s largest photovoltaic park was completed, where
Deutsche Bank assumed various responsibilities. We established a regional desk in
Moscow to offer project and capital advisory services to large-scale infrastructure pro-
jects within Deutsche Bank's franchise in Russia. Furthermore, AFL closed a significant
number of aircraft transactions and thus further strengthened our presence in this mar-
ket.

Global Transaction Banking

Global Transaction Banking (GTB) delivers commercial banking products and servic-
es for corporate clients and financial institutions, including domestic and cross-border
payments, professional risk mitigation and financing for international trade as well as
the provision of trust, agency, depositary, custody and related services. Business units
include Cash Management for Corporates and Financial Institutions, Trade Finance and
Trust& Securities Services.

Despite the financial crisis, 2008 was another record year for Global Transaction Banking.
The business grew across all regions, with particularly strong growth in our European
home market and the Asia-Pacific region alongside solid performance in the Americas,
even under difficult market conditions.

Our Cash Management franchise cemented its leading position in Europe whilst deliver-
ing growth in particular in Asia. Our competitive and high quality operations enabled us
to increase revenues. In terms of deposits, we benefited significantly from the “flight to
quality”. Innovative products such as FX4Cash in cross-currency payments, the launch
of Deutsche Card Services through which we are expanding into the merchant acquir-
ing business, our Single Euro Payments Area (SEPA) strategy and the introduction of a
high value payment platform in Germany contributed to GTB's success.

Trade Finance delivered exceptionally strong momentum in the year under review,
especially in Asia and Europe. The business was involved in structuring large deals from
Eastern Europe and Russia and is focused on further expansion in this region. Trade
Finance maintained its leading position as arranger of global trade finance loans. In
response to market demand, we focused on the combined cash management and trade
financing needs of our corporate customers, winning some notable financial supply
chain management mandates.
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Awards 2008

Asset Asian Awards

“Best Cash Management Specialist —
Corporates, Asia”

Euromoney

“Best at Cash Management in North America”
Euromoney Trade Finance

“Best Forfaiting Bank”

“Best Supply Chain Finance Bank”

Global Custodian

“Highest scoring regional cross-border custodian
in Asia and Central & Eastern Europe”

Global Finance

“Best Overall Bank for Cash Management
Western Europe”

“Best Overall Bank for Payments and Collections”
Global Trade Review

“Best Global Structured Commodity Trade
Finance Bank”

International Securitisation Report

“Trustee of the Year”

Trade and Forfaiting Review

“Best Export Finance Bank”



Global Transaction Banking:
increasing deposits from corporates
and institutions
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Corporate and Investment Bank

Trust&Securities Services expanded its product and geographic reach in 2008. We
acquired and integrated HedgeWorks LLC, a California-based hedge fund administra-
tion business, and opened new offices in Europe and Asia during the year. We com-
pleted the integration of the institutional custody business of Garanti Bank in the sec-
ond quarter, and thus became a leading custody provider in Turkey. In addition, we
extended our custody and related services to Portugal, Dubai and Abu Dhabi in 2008,
bringing the number markets where we operate in this segment to more than 30. A cus-
tody, clearing and settlement service for carbon credits was also introduced. We won a
number of American Depositary Receipt mandates and became a leading administrator
for Sharia-compliant financing.
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The financial crisis takes its toll

The Private Clients and Asset Management Group Division, or PCAM, comprises  Asset Management:

Deutsche Bank's investment management business for both private and institutional ~ No-1 non-affiliated global
) . . . o . T insurance asset manager

clients, together with our traditional banking activities for private individuals and small

and medium-sized businesses. In €bn. at year end 2007

2008 was not an easy year for PCAM. Total assets under management fell to €816 bil-

lion (from €952 billion at the end of 2007), primarily reflecting falling prices on securi- 100 109.0

ties markets worldwide and adverse currency effects. Despite deep-seated uncertainty

among clients, we were able to acquire new assets of € 3 billion. Ultimately, though,

we could not prevent the extremely difficult environment from impacting the division’s

results in various ways. Nevertheless, we are intent on strengthening PCAM as one of 50

our major core businesses by making further investments in future growth, and we

have taken corrective steps across all PCAM'’s businesses, repositioning our platform in

an environment of lower market values, and emphasizing cost efficiency. I

PCAM consists of two Corporate Divisions: Asset and Wealth Management and Pri-

vate & Business Clients.
M Deutsche Bank

M Peers
ASSGt and Wea|th Management Source: Insurance Asset Manager,

The Asset and Wealth Management Corporate Division comprises two business divi- fatest data avallable in US-$
sions: Asset Management and Private Wealth Management. Asset Management serves

retail clients with a full range of mutual fund and alternative investment products, and

institutional clients with a fully integrated asset management offering. Private Wealth

Management caters to wealthy individuals and families globally.

In 2008, the Asset Management Division continued to follow its strategy geared to
long-term trends which are shaping the investment management industry, notwith-
standing the negative impact of market turbulence in the near term. These long-term
trends include an expanding market for retirement products, a shift away from a car-
bon-based economy and increasing wealth creation in emerging economies.

Excerpt from segment reporting (Private Clients and Asset Management')

The PCAM Group Division recorded income before income taxes in 2008 of €0.4 billion, which is €1.6 billion less than in
2007. This reduction was primarily due to the loss before income taxes of €0.5 billion in the Asset and Wealth Manage-
ment Corporate Division. The decline reflects, in particular, the negative market developments in 2008, which led to signifi-
cantly lower performance and asset-based fees as well as charges due to the market dislocations. The Private & Business
Clients Corporate Division generated income before income taxes of €0.9 billion, with stable revenues versus 2007 and

a higher provision for credit losses in the consumer finance business.

in €m. 2008 2007
Net revenues 9,041 10,129
Total provision for credit losses 668 501
Noninterest expenses 7,972 7,560
Income before income taxes 420 2,059
Return on equity (pre-tax) in % 5 24
Risk positions 53,633 85,586
Assets 188,785 156,767

"Excerpt from segment reporting. For notes and other detailed information, see Financial Report 2008 (Management Report).
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DWS: leading mutual
fund company in Germany

Assets under management
at year end 2008 in € bn.

150

114.8*
0
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*Including fund products of Deutsche Bank.
W DWS

M Peers

Source: BVI

Private Clients and Asset Management

Asset Management comprises four businesses: the retail mutual funds business (DWS
Investments), alternatives (RREEF Alternative Investments), institutional asset manage-
ment (DB Advisors) and asset management for insurance companies (Deutsche Insur-
ance Asset Management). The Asset Management Division saw increasing outflows of
funds in the course of the year. Assets under management stood at €463 billion at the
end of 2008, down 17 % from the previous year’s figure of €555 billion. In line with the
escalating financial crisis, more than half of this decline occurred in the fourth quarter
alone.

Retail

Retail’s mutual fund business had assets under management of € 152 billion worldwide
at the end of 2008. The steep drop of 35% against the previous year was driven primar-
ily by the drastic declines in financial asset prices caused by the financial crisis and net
cash outflows. In our home market, Germany, DWS retained its long-standing No. 1
ranking in the retail mutual funds business in 2008. However, the exceptionally chal-
lenging market environment and the loss of confidence among investors left a deep
mark, especially on our money market and fixed-income funds, leaving DWS with net
outflows of €13.9 billion and €9.0 billion, respectively. Both in Germany and elsewhere,
DWS received numerous awards in 2008.

DWS established itself as the leading German provider of Riester products in 2008, sell-
ing over 554,000 new Riester contracts, accounting for a market share of nearly 34 %.
The DWS GO certificates platform registered inflows of €162 million in 2008 and won
several awards for its products. Thanks to a range of structured investment products
tailored to the needs of the market, we attracted €5.2 billion in net new money from
clients.

Our stake in joint venture partner Harvest Fund Management, China’s third largest
mutual fund company, was raised from 19.5% to 30% in 2008. In addition, we expand-
ed our partnership with Harvest across all four Asset Management business lines. In
the course of the reporting year we also acquired a 40 % stake in UFG Invest, a top-ten
asset manager in Russia.

Alternatives

Our alternative investments business was hit by the financial crisis in several ways. As a
leading real estate asset manager, we were exposed to difficult conditions in the global
real estate markets, while very challenging conditions in the hedge fund industry left
their mark on our business in the fourth quarter. At the end of the year, RREEF Alterna-
tive Investments managed assets of €50 billion (2007: €58 billion).

We broke new ground in Hong Kong through the launch of three real estate securities
funds for retail investors. In addition, RREEF launched its first real estate investment in
India via a stake in a company primarily involved in residential projects. In Australia, we
are a leading property securities manager, and two of our funds received top ratings in
2008. We strengthened our position in the U.S.A. through the acquisition of a minority
interest in Rosen Real Estate Securities LLC.
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Private Clients and Asset Management

Institutional Private Wealth Management:

In 2008, we introduced a new brand — DB Advisors — for our global institutional business. ~ Positive inflow of net new money

We saw net inflows in virtually all product lines in 2008, and thus managed €159 billion  Net new invested assets

at the end of the year, a slight increase over €158 billion at the end of 2007, despite falling in € bn.

equity market valuations during 2008. This satisfactory growth was achieved partly thanks 152

to personnel and organizational measures designed to strengthen sales.We focused par- 129

ticularly on relationships with independent financial consultants, who in many countries

are highly influential in advising institutional clients on their investment decisions. 9.1 20
6.3

Insurance 2

In 2008 this division also saw the launch of a new brand name — Deutsche Insurance I

Asset Management (Deutsche IAM). For the third year in a row, the division was named o4 05 06 07 08

the world’s leading manager of non-affiliated insurance assets by Insurance Asset Man-

ager, a leading industry publication. As of December 31, 2008, assets under manage-
ment amounted to €102 billion, compared to € 105 billion at the end of 2007.

15

As the long-term outsourcing trend among insurers gathers momentum, we continue
to see considerable potential for new partnerships with clients.

The Private Wealth Management Business Division (PWM) is one of the world's lead-
ing wealth managers, tailoring financial services to the individual needs of affluent and
wealthy clients around the globe. With approximately 1,000 wealth advisors and 500
investment managers in 31 countries, it is a market leader in Germany, strong through-
out Europe and growing rapidly in other regions, including Asia and the Middle East.
In 2008 we strengthened our global presence and client proximity by opening offices
in Kolkata, India and St. Petersburg, Russia. PWM now serves approximately 92,000
clients in 91 locations worldwide.

A strong focus on the needs of our clients is at the core of our business. Dedicated rela-
tionship managers use their investment expertise to meet the individual risk profile of
each client, helping them to protect and grow their assets.

We complement our broad range of in-house products with a selection of the best
third-party offerings. This means we can deliver a world-class, custom-tailored service
to wealthy individuals, their families and select institutions. We offer advice on matters
such as inheritance and estate planning, art and philanthropy, and also provide solu-
tions for family offices and financial intermediaries. Strategic asset allocation is always
at the center of our service.

Clients continued to place their trust in our business model throughout the financial cri-
sis — in fact, we took advantage of the “flight to quality” to attract new clients. Despite
difficult conditions in 2008, PWM attracted net new assets of € 10 billion after € 13 billion
in 2007, although lower asset valuations and foreign exchange effects led to a decline in
invested assets to € 164 billion. This is, measured against our peer group, a respectable
performance. Our focus on risk management allowed us to take advantage of the risk-
and-reward opportunities afforded by market dislocations.
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Private & Business Clients:
increasing number of clients
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Private Clients and Asset Management

In the Asia/Pacific region, PWM attracted net new asset inflows of €2 billion in 2008,
matching last year's result. We secured approval from the China Banking Regulatory
Commission for PWM in Shanghai to start providing Renminbi-denominated banking
services. This allowed us to benefit further from growing demand for financial services
in China. Our success was recognized externally when PWM topped the fourth annual
Asiamoney Private Banking Poll in numerous categories.

Thanks to the use of innovative investment solutions, we delivered a strong perfor-
mance in Germany. Successful strategies such as improving senior banker coverage
and focusing on family and entrepreneurial wealth powered the continued growth of
business. Individual tailored products that take account of the impact of the financial
crisis were crucial in cementing our position as market leader — a position further under-
lined by inflows of net new assets of €3 billion in 2008 and by PWM winning €uro Maga-
zine's Best Wealth Manager award for commercial and state banks.

Latin America, the Middle East, Africa and Europe together also attracted €3 billion
NNA, profiting from the growth of offshore markets. The integration of Tilney secured
a strong and valuable presence in the U.K., strengthening our business in the ultra high
net worth clients and contributing to net new asset growth of €1 billion.

In the world’s largest market for investment management, the U.S.A., PWM focused
on entrepreneurs who have already created wealth or are in the process of doing so. In
spite of a weakening U.S. dollar, we managed to achieve net new money of €1 billion.

In the face of a global market downturn, shaken confidence and a shortage of liquidity,
PWM performed relatively well. We are therefore confident that we will emerge even
stronger when market conditions improve.

Private & Business Clients

The Private & Business Clients Corporate Division (PBC) conducts business with pri-
vate customers as well as small and medium-sized business clients in eight countries in
Europe and Asia. PBC's range of products and services includes payment and current
account services, mutual funds and securities, loans and investment management.

PBC has a total of 1,852 branches in Germany, lItaly, Spain, Poland, Belgium, Portugal,
India and China. The fixed sales network is reinforced by more than 3,300 indepen-
dent financial advisors. We also work with numerous cooperation partners such as
Deutsche Vermaogensberatung (DVAG), the largest independent financial advisory firm
in Germany, and BancoPosta, the financial services division of the Italian post office.

PBC is one of the corporate divisions at Deutsche Bank with the strongest revenues in
2008. Despite the growing turbulence on the financial markets, PBC reported very sat-
isfactory annual results. In October, a comprehensive program was launched with the
aim of significantly increasing the number of branches and advisors in the key European
markets over the next four years and simultaneously improving the cost/income ratio.
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In Germany, we offer our customers products and services at 774 Deutsche Bank and  Private & Business Clients:

60 Berliner Bank branches. Both brands stand for competent and comprehensive finan-  1sing number of branches in Poland
cial advice. In addition, at the 96 norisbank branches, we sell mainly consumer loans At year end

and standard bank products at reasonable prices. This extended brand spectrum allows

us to pursue a differentiated approach towards our various client groups. In Germany,

PBC increased the number of clients by 420,000 to more than 10 million. Overall, the

number was up by 800,000 to 14.6 million. In addition, we acquired new client deposits 150

197*
totalling approximately € 19 billion. 129°
In February 2009, Deutsche Bank acquired a minority shareholding in Deutsche Post- 62 I
06 07 08

bank from Deutsche Post. A cooperation agreement has already been sealed and will 50 52
benefit both partners, particularly as their sales networks and client groups comple- 3 I
ment each other excellently and cost synergies can also be realized. E o
We also expanded our presence in our other European markets. In ltaly, we opened 12 *Including db kredyt shops
new Deutsche Bank branches, bringing the total to 261. The Prestitempo sales network ~ (consumer finance).
through which Deutsche Bank distributes consumer loans and mortgages for private

clients was extended to include 14 new branches.

In the fast-growing Polish market, we opened 14 new Deutsche Bank branches and 54
branches under the db kredyt brand, which means we now have 77 branches as well as
120 db kredyt shops in Poland.

In the Belgian market, we gained over 80,000 new clients and €3.2 billion in invested
assets over the financial year. In Portugal, we also experienced further growth and
opened 13 additional branches.

In India and China, too, PBC continued to grow in the year under review. We opened
three new branches in India, where we now operate at 13 locations. In the credit card
business, we increased our client figures to over 400,000. In September, PBC was
granted a license to do business with private clients in the local currency in China. We
increased our stake in Hua Xia Bank to 13.7% and strengthened our cooperation with
Hanoi Building Bank (Habubank) in Vietnam.
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Corporate Investments:
declining industrial holdings

Cost basis in € bn. at year end
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Corporate Investments

Reduction in non-core assets

The Corporate Investments Group Division, or Cl, covers our industrial shareholdings,
certain bank-occupied real estate assets and other non-strategic holdings.

In 2008 we continued to divest certain non-core assets. At the end of 2008, Corporate
Investments managed € 1.1 billion of assets related to industrial holdings and €0.7 billion
in other corporate investments. In November 2008, Corporate Investments participated
in a liquidity facility for Hypo Real Estate Group, acquiring € 12.0 billion of collateralized
notes.

Industrial holdings reduced
In 2008, we continued to reduce our remaining industrial holdings consisting largely of
quoted German financial and industrial companies.

We sold all of our remaining holding of 1.7 % in Allianz SE. We also reduced our invest-
ment in Daimler AG by 1.7% to 2.7 % and our investment in Linde AG by 2.8% to 2.4 %.
At the end of the year these stakes in Daimler AG and Linde AG represented our largest
remaining industrial holdings as measured by market value.

Other holdings reduced
In 2008 we sold our indirect 8.2 % investment in Arcor AG & Co. KG to Vodafone Group Plc.

At the end of 2008, our other equity holdings largely comprised our 9.1% stake in
Atradius N.V. and our indirect 70.6 % stake in Varta AG, together with our holdings in
Deutsche Venture Capital Funds and certain other fund investments.

Excerpt from segment reporting (Corporate Investments')

The Corporate Investments Group Division reported income before income taxes in 2008 of €1.2 billion (2007: €1.3 bil-
lion). Revenues included gains from the sale of industrial holdings, including Daimler AG, Allianz SE and Linde AG.

in€m. 2008 2007
Net revenues 1,290 1,517
Total provision for credit losses (1) 3
Noninterest expenses 95 220
Income before income taxes 1,194 1,299
Risk positions 2,677 4,891
Assets 18,297 13,005

"Excerpt from segment reporting. For notes and other detailed information, see Financial Report 2008 (Management Report).
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Corporate Center

Executive arm of the
Management Board

As an integral part of the bank'’s Infrastructure area, the Corporate Center, with its
strategy, risk management and control functions, supports the Management Board in
the fulfiiment of its executive duties for Deutsche Bank Group. The established set-up,
whereby the functions are for the most part globally integrated into the business divi-
sions but have their own, independent reporting lines, has proven successful over the
years.

The Corporate Center is comprised of the central functions Finance, Audit, Tax, Legal,
Risk & Capital, Investor Relations, Communications & Corporate Social Responsibility
(CSR), Human Resources, Corporate Development and DB Research.

Corporate social responsibility

During 2008 we realigned the CSR program under the motto “More than money: Build-
ing social capital” with the aim of integrating Deutsche Bank’'s CSR activities even
more closely into the core business. Numerous initiatives were then launched to further
increase the loyalty to the bank of staff, clients and shareholders.

Our claim “A Passion to Perform” became even more widely recognized in 2008. Our
staff identify very closely with the brand as well as with Deutsche Bank's corporate
social responsibility activities.

Energy security and global climate change are issues of increasing importance for
Deutsche Bank. Based on thorough research of these problems, DB Research pro-
posed measures to slow the pace of climate change and mitigate its negative impact.
In response to a proposal by the global Environmental Steering Committee, a decision
was taken in September 2008 to make Deutsche Bank a carbon neutral company by
2012.

Requirements in 2008

The central functions Legal, Risk&Capital, Finance, Tax, Investor Relations and Com-
munications faced particular challenges in 2008 due to the turbulence on the finan-
cial markets. These departments worked closely together supported by the economic
analyses and risk assessments supplied by DB Research.

Despite the extremely adverse market environment, our Treasury ensured that Deutsche
Bank had adequate liquidity reserves available at all times. Our stable funding base was
enhanced by increased private client deposits which grew from €124 billion to €148
billion by the end of 2008. We increased our longer-term capital market issuance from
€103 billion to €139 billion in the reporting year, to some extent already in anticipation
of our requirements in 2009.
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Staff numbers
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A solid employer in turbulent times

A solid employer in turbulent times

The major turbulence in the financial markets in 2008 had only a limited effect on the
employment situation at Deutsche Bank. With 80,456 staff at year-end, the number of
(full-time) employees worldwide was higher by 2,165 than 12 months earlier.

The biggest net increase in staff, of 2,535, came in our Infrastructure division which
provides services for internal requirements. In this area new employees were recruited
particularly in Asia. The continued expansion of our retail banking operations, above all
in Poland and India, saw the number of employees in PCAM rise by a net 1,114. By con-
trast, the number of Investment Banking (CIB) staff was reduced by 1,476. This primarily
affected those business areas in the UK and USA that are not expected to recover in the
near term.

In total, at the end of 2008, 32,310 staff were employed in PCAM, 15,055 in CIB, includ-
ing Corporate Investments, while 33,090 people worked in the Infrastructure division.

One of the most attractive employers

Competition for top talent continues even in the financial market crisis. In 2008 Deutsche
Bank continued to work at improving its status as an “employer of choice”. Compara-
tive surveys by a range of institutes prove the success of our efforts: Deutsche Bank
succeeded in increasing its attractiveness to university students in Germany, moving
up 5 places from its 2006 position to reach rank 7. In the USA, Deutsche Bank advanced
30 places in a single year to rank 35 (Business Week's survey on the “Best Places to
Launch a Career”). We also made it into the Top 10 of the “Vault Guide to the Top 50
Banking Employers” for the first time.

We continued to develop our award-winning career pages on the Internet, which has
become the most important contact medium for young talent seeking jobs, expanding
it to include interactive functions.

In an effort to strengthen our relationships with leading universities and to increase the
level of awareness of Deutsche Bank in the academic world, in 2008 we launched an
initiative through which Group Executive Committee members and senior members of
regional management become involved at selected universities around the world.

2008 saw us emphasizing the topic of sustainability at recruitment fairs in Germany
and Switzerland for the first time. In so doing, we aim to demonstrate to graduates
that social responsibility and sustainable economic activity are of central importance to
Deutsche Bank.

In addition, we introduced a special program in Germany enabling 79 students sched-
uled to graduate in about one year to obtain, through an eight week internship, insights
into our business divisions and participate in numerous intensive seminars, training
sessions and workshops. This gives the Bank the opportunity to gain the loyalty of the
best students before they have completed their studies.

The pattern of age and length of service of Deutsche Bank employees changed only
slightly in 2008. The number of apprentices was 1,462.
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A solid employer in turbulent times

A broad range of attractive benefits

In addition to performance-based compensation, we offer our staff members world-
wide a broad range of benefits. Particular attention was paid to maintaining and pro-
moting health, including illness prevention, during the year under review.

Since March 2008 Deutsche Bank has been offering all its staff members aged 40 and
over in Germany the opportunity to have an exclusive medical check-up, including an
individual consultation on physical health, fitness and nutrition, carried out every three
years. For staff aged 50 and over, the interval is reduced to every two years. Until the
end of the year under review approximately 2,000 employees had made use of this
benefit.

In many countries, staff experiencing problems in the professional and/or personal
lives can avail themselves of a confidential counselling service provided by professional
external advisors. This service is also open to our employees’ family members.

There are also seminars available to prevent and deal with stress as well as specific sport-
ing activities and physiotherapy. For many years, we have been assisting our employ-
ees in striking a balance between their professional and private lives. The options range
from the flexible arrangement of working hours to childcare and finding staff to look
after family members requiring care.

Investing in management staff

Staff development forms an essential part of our Human Resources activities. In addi-
tion to regional and divisional initiatives, we offer a Group-wide training program, cover-
ing topics dealing with banking and finance, management, personal and team develop-
ment as well as corporate culture.

We also invested substantially in further management training in 2008. Additional semi-
nars were introduced and the number of management training courses rose significant-
ly, especially in the Asia/Pacific region. Particular efforts were made to prepare new
internal management staff members for their additional responsibilities and to integrate
external recruits more quickly into Deutsche Bank.

The expansion of our global Leadership Curriculum (professional development program
for management staff) will be a priority in 2009. As Deutsche Bank's significant inter-
national presence requires the cooperation of many teams across countries and con-
tinents, we attach great importance to consistent, global training and to speaking the
same management language. The individual programs are carried out in the various
locations in line with the precept of “think global, act local”.

Success through promoting talent and diversity

In 2008, we started, with the support of staff representatives, to gradually extend our
“performance and potential” assessment in Germany, which previously had applied
to management staff only, to include all non-tariff employees. The aim is to regularly
review the performance and potential of all staff, develop strengths, and balance out
any possible weaknesses. The results of this assessment are explained to the employee
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In % at year end 2008™

35%  Germany

Europe (excl. Germany),
29%  Middle East and Africa

21%  Asia/Pacific

15%  Americas

*Full-time equivalent.
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A solid employer in turbulent times

and converted into a concrete development plan. Staff benefit from more frequent and
goal-oriented discussions with their managers as well as a defined career prospects.
This process helps Deutsche Bank to promote talent and plan succession as transpar-
ently as possible.

We also support a range of specific networks such as “Women in European Business”
in Frankfurt am Main and London, and “Women on Wall Street” in New York, which
are open to our female employees. In addition to mentoring programs and a range of
special training courses, our “Top Woman Initiative” was successful in the year under
review. This global initiative supports women promoted to senior management posi-
tions in 2008 in their new role.

Staff surveys conducted annually across the Group to measure employee satisfaction
with Deutsche Bank resulted in 2008 in the highest commitment index rating of 74
since we started the survey in 1999.

At Deutsche Bank, promoting diversity is an essential part of our corporate culture.
We focus on performance, regardless of nationality, religion, skin color or ethnic back-
ground. We firmly believe that in the long run, a company like Deutsche Bank can con-
tinue to hold its ground in international competition only with a culturally diverse work-
force working closely together across geographical borders. As an employer of people
from 145 countries, we provide a motivating working environment that promotes inclu-
sion, and as co-initiator of “The Charter for Diversity of Companies in Germany”, we
also foster diversity beyond Deutsche Bank.
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More than money:
building social capital

Deutsche Bank realigned its Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) program in 2008.
Our objective is to integrate social responsibility into Deutsche Bank's day-to-day oper-
ations and to make it part and parcel of the way we do business. It becomes particu-
larly clear in difficult times that corporate responsibility and business success belong
together.

At Deutsche Bank, we view corporate social responsibility as an investment in society
and our own future. Our goal as a responsible corporate citizen is to build social capital.
In doing so, our foremost social responsibility is to be internationally competitive, to be
profitable, to earn money in the most socially responsible way possible and to grow as
a company.

Sustainability: ensuring viability

The principles of the UN Global Compact have been firmly anchored in our corporate
guidelines for years. Within the framework of our Sustainability Management System,
certified in 1999, we always take account of environmental, social and ethical consid-
erations in our business activities. Certification according to ISO 14001 was extended
until 2011 during the year under review.

Climate change was a high priority for us in 2008. Currently, we are modernizing our
headquarters in Frankfurt and creating the “greenest” skyscrapers in the world. We
also launched a program to reduce the bank's carbon dioxide emissions by 20 percent
annually. Our goal is to be carbon neutral by 2012.

Corporate volunteering: committing ourselves

Employee volunteering is a cornerstone of our CSR activities. We continued to expand
our corporate volunteering program in 2008. As part of our global program Deutsche
Bank specialists spent several weeks advising microfinance institutions. Our employ-
ees have demonstrated “A Passion to Perform” in all areas: in the year under review,
they dedicated 35,738 days to volunteer work around the world, an increase of more
than 80% in just one year.

Social investments: creating opportunity

Our social initiatives primarily aim to help people mobilize their own strengths. For more
than 10 years, we have been developing microfinance instruments that enable people
in developing countries to improve their quality of life. To this end, an aggregate loan
volume of more than USD 1 billion has been granted to 2.2 million people so far. Fur-
thermore, we are committed to improving the infrastructure of low-income communi-
ties and fast-growing mega-cities worldwide. The U.S. government has rated our com-
munity development initiatives in the U.S. as “outstanding” since 1992. And in 2008,
the Alfred Herrhausen Society presented the “Deutsche Bank Urban Age Award” to a
housing project for low-income segments of the population in Sédo Paulo.

In 2008, Deutsche Bank established the Deutsche Bank Middle East Foundation in

order to create an independent anchor for its commitment in the Middle East/North
Africa region.
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SAM sustainability rating 2008
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More than money: building social capital

Art: fostering creativity

Deutsche Bank's art collection is one of the world’s largest and most significant corpo-
rate art collections and focuses on contemporary artworks on paper. Under the motto
“Art Works", we made our collection even more easily accessible to the general public
in 2008. We signed a contract for a permanent long-term loan of 600 pieces from our
collection to the Staedel Museum in Frankfurt, which will exhibit them in its new exten-
sion to be opened in 2011. Both in the United States and the United Kingdom, Deutsche
Bank was honored for its commitment to art. And in 2009, the Ethiopian artist Julie
Mehretu will be featured throughout the year as a representative for all the young artists
we support worldwide.

Education: enabling talent

The core focus of our education program is to promote equal opportunities and remove
barriers. The “Compass for Studies” (Studienkompass) program, jointly launched by
Deutsche Bank Foundation, Accenture Foundation and the Foundation of German Busi-
ness, meanwhile helped to pave the way to university for 375 young people whose
parents did not receive college education. Our cooperation with Deutsche Sporthilfe
contributes to further strengthening the spirit of fair competition in today's society.

Our exclusive partnership with the Berlin Philharmonic Orchestra will be raised to a new
level in 2009. Thanks to our support, the orchestra has been able to launch the “Digital
Concert Hall”, bringing a unique, global dimension to classical music: live concerts will
be broadcast and recorded for worldwide transmission in high-definition quality on the
internet (www.berliner-philharmoniker.de).

In 2008 Deutsche Bank again presented “365 Selected Landmarks in the Land of Ideas”
that showcase Germany's innovative, scientific, social and cultural potential. The initia-
tive focuses on individuals who challenge the status quo, have the courage to innovate,
and demonstrate leadership.

For more information on our corporate social responsibility program, please see our
CSR Report 2008.
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Leigh Knowles, Deutsche Bank Securities Limited, Toronto
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Statement of Income

Statement of Income

Statement of Income

in €m.

Interest and similar income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Provision for credit losses

Net interest income after provision for credit losses

Commissions and fee income

Net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale

Net income (loss) from equity method investments

Other income

Total noninterest income

Compensation and benefits

General and administrative expenses
Policyholder benefits and claims
Impairment of intangible assets
Restructuring activities

Total noninterest expenses

Income (loss) before income taxes

Income tax expense (benefit)

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) attributable to minority interest

Net income (loss) attributable to Deutsche Bank shareholders

Earnings per Common Share

in €

Basic

Diluted'

Number of shares in m.

Denominator for basic earnings per share —
weighted-average shares outstanding

Denominator for diluted earnings per share —

adjusted weighted-average shares after assumed conversions

"Includes numerator effect of assumed conversions.

2008
54,5649
42,096
12,453
1,076
11,377

9,749
(9,992)
666
46
568
1,037

9,606

8,216
(252)

585

18,155

(5,741)
(1,845)
(3,896)
(61)
(3,835)

2008
(7.61)
(7.61)

504.1

504.2

2007
64,675
55,826
8,849
612
8,237

12,289
7,175
793
3563
1,286
21,896

13,122
7,954
193
128
(13)
21,384

8,749
2,239
6,510

36
6,474

2007
13.65
13.06

4742

496.1

2006
58,275
51,267

7,008
298
6,710

11,195
8,892
591
419
389
21,486

12,498
7,069
67

31

192
19,857

8,339
2,260
6,079
6,070
2006
12.96
11.48

468.3

521.2
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Balance Sheet

Balance Sheet

Assets

in€m.

Cash and due from banks

Interest-earning deposits with banks

Central bank funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements

Securities borrowed

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
of which € 62 billion and € 179 billion were pledged to creditors and can be sold or repledged at
December 31, 2008, and December 31, 2007, respectively

Financial assets available for sale
of which € 464 million and € 17 million were pledged to creditors and can be sold or repledged at
December 31, 2008, and 2007, respectively

Equity method investments

Loans

Property and equipment

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Other assets

Assets for current tax

Deferred tax assets

Total assets

Liabilities and equity

in€m.

Deposits

Central bank funds purchased and securities sold under repurchase agreements
Securities loaned

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Other short-term borrowings

Other liabilities

Provisions

Liabilities for current tax

Deferred tax liabilities

Long-term debt

Trust preferred securities

Obligation to purchase common shares

Total liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Common shares, no par value, nominal value of € 2.56

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Common shares in treasury, at cost

Equity classified as obligation to purchase common shares

Net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement, net of tax
Unrealized net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale, net of applicable tax and other
Unrealized net gains (losses) on derivatives hedging variability of cash flows, net of tax
Foreign currency translation, net of tax

Total net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement, net of tax

Total shareholders’ equity

Minority interest

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity
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Dec 31, 2008
9,826

64,739

9,267

35,022

1,623,811

24,835
2,242
269,281
3,712
9,877
137,829
3,612
8,470
2,202,423

Dec 31, 2008
395,653
87,117
3,216
1,333,765
39,115
160,598
1,418
2,354
3,784
133,856
9,729

4
2,170,509

1,461
14,961
20,074

(939)
(3)

(882)
(349)
(3,620
(4,851)
30,703
1,211
31,914
2,202,423

Dec 31, 2007
8,632

21,615
13,597
55,961

1,378,011

42,294
3,366
198,892
2,409
9,383
183,638
2,428
4,777
1,925,003

Dec 31, 2007
457,946
178,741

9,565
870,085
53,410
171,444
1,295
4,221
2,380
126,703
6,345
3,653
1,885,688

1,358
15,808
26,051
(2,819)
(3,652)

3,635

(52)
(2,536)
1,047
37,893
1,422
39,315
1,925,003



Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Cash Flows

in€m. 2008
Net income (loss) (3,896)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Provision for loan losses 1,084
Restructuring activities -
Gain on sale of financial assets available for sale, equity method investments and other (1,732)
Deferred income taxes, net (1,525)
Impairment, depreciation and other amortization, and accretion 3,047
Share of net income from equity method investments (53)
Income (loss) adjusted for noncash charges and other items (3,075)
Adjustments for net increase/decrease/change in operating assets and liabilities:
Interest-earning time deposits with banks (3,964)
Central bank funds sold, securities purchased under resale
agreements, securities borrowed 24,363
Trading assets (472,203)
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 169,423
Loans (37,981)
Other assets 38,673
Deposits (56,918)
Trading liabilities 655,218
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (159,613)
Central bank funds purchased, securities sold under repurchase agreements, securities loaned (97,009)
Other short-term borrowings (14,216)
Other liabilities (15,482)
Senior long-term debt 12,769
Other, net (2,768)
Net cash provided by operating activities 37,117

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from:

Sale of financial assets available for sale 19,433

Maturities of financial assets available for sale 18,713

Sale of equity method investments 680

Sale of property and equipment 107
Purchase of:

Financial assets available for sale (37,819)

Equity method investments (881)

Property and equipment (939)
Net cash paid for business combinations/divestitures (24)
Other, net (39)
Net cash used in investing activities (769)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuances of subordinated long-term debt 523
Repayments and extinguishments of subordinated long-term debt (659)
Issuances of trust preferred securities 3,404
Repayments and extinguishments of trust preferred securities -
Common shares issued under share-based compensation plans 19
Capital increase 2,200
Purchases of treasury shares (21,736)
Sales of treasury shares 21,426
Dividends paid to minority interests (14)
Increase in minority interests 331
Cash dividends paid (2,274)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 3,220
Net effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (402)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 39,166
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 26,098
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 65,264
Net cash provided by operating activities includes

Income taxes paid (received), net (2,495)

Interest paid 43,724

Interest and dividends received 54,549
Cash and cash equivalents comprise

Cash and due from banks 9,826

Interest-earning demand deposits with banks (not included: time deposits of € 9,300 m. at

December 31, 2008, and € 4,149 m. and € 8,853 m. at December 31, 2007 and 2006) 55,438
Total 65,264

2007
6,510

651
(13)
(1,907)
(918)

1,731
(358)

5,696

7,588

5,146

12,470
8,179
1,331

987

(25,230)
(1,265)
(675)
(648)
463

(4,388)

429
(2,809)
1,874
(420)
389

(41,128)
39,729
(13)
585
(2,005)
(3,369)
(289)
8,744
17,354
26,098

2,806
55,066
64,675

8,632

17,466
26,098

2006
6,079

352
30
(913)
165
1,355
(207)

6,861

(3,318)

(11,394)
(23,301)
(19,064)
(14,403)
(30,083)
35,720
(38,865)
41,518
18,955
7,452
30,079
10,480
527
11,164

11,952
6,345
3,897

123

(22,707)
(1,668)
(606)
(1,120)
314
(3,470)

976
(1,976)
1,043
(390)
680

(38,830)
36,380
(26)

130
(1,239)
(3,252)
(510)
3,932
13,422
17,354

3,102
49,921
58,275

7,008

10,346
17,354

51



Crisis as Opportunity. Julie Mehretu

52



EA = 7 -:-.:.;‘-_3‘
e I T -

. - ¢
= s T e e

Julie Mehretu, Berlin

53



Further Information

04




Responsibility Statement

Responsibility Statement
by the Management Board

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting prin-
ciples, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group, and the Group management
report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and
risks associated with the expected development of the Group.

Frankfurt am Main, March 5, 2009

i fhnn

S:tefan Krause Hermann-Josef Lamberti
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Report of the Supervisory Board

The financial crisis has presented great challenges to the global financial system. The
insolvency of a large U.S. investment bank in September 2008 deeply affected the mar-
kets. Governments, central banks, supranational institutions and the financial industry
itself have reacted with a series of measures to the crisis, however, the markets have
still not fully recovered.

Deutsche Bank was also affected by this development. Unprecedented market condi-
tions revealed weaknesses in some of the bank’s businesses. For this reason, their stra-
tegic focus and structure were adjusted. Substantial steps were taken and are already
showing initial results. Deutsche Bank's strategy as a leading investment bank with a
strong private clients franchise has proven fundamentally sound during this difficult
period. We would like to thank the Management Board and all our staff very much for
their great personal dedication.

Last year, the Supervisory Board extensively discussed the bank’s economic and finan-
cial development, its operating environment, risk position, planning and internal con-
trol systems. We held in-depth discussions with the Management Board on the bank’s
strategy and continued implementation of the measures on the management agenda.
The Management Board reported to us regularly, without delay and comprehensively
on business policies and other fundamental issues relating to management and cor-
porate planning, the bank’s financial development and earnings situation, the bank’s
risk, liquidity and capital management as well as transactions and events that were of
significant importance to the bank. We advised the Management Board and monitored
its management of business. We were involved in decisions of fundamental importance.
To be noted here is our participation in Deutsche Postbank AG, with which we intend
to further strengthen our stable businesses. Between meetings, we were informed in
writing of important matters. Resolutions were passed, when necessary between the
meetings, by means of telephone conference or by circulation procedure. Important
topics and upcoming decisions were also dealt with in regular discussions between the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the Chairman of the Management Board. Sev-
eral telephone conferences took place on the respectively current situation as well as
two information events with the full Supervisory Board in September 2008 and January
2009 concerning the acquisition of the participation in Deutsche Postbank AG.

Meetings of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board held seven meetings in the 2008 financial year. At the meetings,
we were regularly informed of the most important risk positions and the development
of the bank’s business.

At the first meeting of the year on February 6, 2008, we discussed the development of
business in 2007, the key figures of the Annual Financial Statements for 2007, a compar-
ison of the plan-actual figures for 2007, the dividend proposal, the corporate planning
for the years 2008 to 2010 and the structure of the Management Board's compensation
system. Furthermore, following consultations, we approved the increase in our partici-
pation in Hua Xia Bank Company Ltd., China.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

At the financial statements meeting on March 19, 2008, we approved the Annual Finan-
cial Statements for 2007, which were thus established. Furthermore, the Corporate
Governance Report as well as the Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering Report were
discussed, and the corporate planning for the years 2008 to 2010 was reexamined. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee on the succession planning for the
shareholders’ representatives on the Supervisory Board were discussed, and the reso-
lution proposals for the Agenda of the General Meeting 2008 were approved. Based on
the recommendation of the Chairman’s Committee, Mr. Stefan Krause was appointed
member of the Management Board with effect from April 1, 2008. We obtained exten-
sive information on the Group’s risk management. Changes in the composition of the
Regional Advisory Boards and Advisory Councils in Germany were presented to us.

At the meeting the day before the General Meeting, we discussed the procedures for
the General Meeting as well as the announced counterproposals. As necessary, resolu-
tions were approved.

At the constitutive meeting of the Supervisory Board on May 29, 2008, directly follow-
ing the General Meeting, Dr. Borsig was reelected Chairman of the Supervisory Board.
Dr. Borsig thus also became Chairman of the Nomination, Chairman’s, Risk and Media-
tion Committees as well as member of the Audit Committee. Ms. Ruck was elected
Deputy Chairperson of the Supervisory Board and, as a result of this election, member
of the Chairman’s, Audit and Mediation Committees. Furthermore, Ms. Forster and Mr.
Todenhofer were elected members of the Chairman’s Committee, Professor Kagermann
and Sir Peter Job members of the Risk Committee and Ms. Labarge and Dr. Siegert
deputy members of the Risk Committee. Also at this meeting, Dr. Eick was reelected
Chairman and Sir Peter Job, Ms. Mark and Ms. Thieme were elected members of the
Audit Committee.

At the meeting on July 30, 2008, Mr. Neske reported on the positioning and strategy
of the Private and Business Clients Business Division, which he heads. In addition, the
Management Board informed us of the status of the planned acquisition of some of the
Dutch commercial banking activities of ABN AMRO and the significant aspects of the
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for the Supervisory Board members. Based on
the supplements to the German Corporate Governance Code approved by the Govern-
ment Commission in June 2008, amendments to the terms of reference for the Super-
visory Board and for the Chairman’s Committee were resolved, thus implementing all of
the new recommendations of the Code.

At an extraordinary meeting on October 14, 2008, we were informed of the effects on
the financial system from the insolvency of Lehman Brothers. The central banks’ vari-
ous strategic approaches as well as the different government rescue packages were
discussed in detail, along with the developments in connection with Hypo Real Estate
and their possible effects. Furthermore, the Management Board provided an up-to-
date overview of the bank’s most important risk exposures and their valuations as well
as its liquidity position.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

At the last meeting of the year on October 29, 2008, our discussions focused on an
outlook for the fourth quarter and, in particular, on the bank’s further strategic develop-
ment as well as the corresponding targets and planned measures. The appointments to
the Management Board of Dr. Banziger and Mr. Lamberti were both extended by five
years. In addition, the Chairman of the Audit Committee reported in detail on the Com-
mittee’s work, its responsibilities and their handling. The Management Board informed
us of the status of the acquisition of Deutsche Postbank AG, which the Supervisory
Board had approved in September. Furthermore, we discussed the Deutsche Bank
Human Resources Report on staff development and succession planning.

All members of the Supervisory Board participated in the Supervisory Board meetings
with only few exceptions in the year 2008.

The Committees of the Supervisory Board

The Chairman’s Committee met five times during the reporting period. In addition, two
telephone conferences took place. Between the meetings, the Chairman of the Chair-
man’s Committee spoke with the Committee members regularly about issues of major
importance. The Committee examined, in particular, the determination of the variable
compensation for the Management Board for the year 2007, the structure of the Man-
agement Board’s compensation, including a review of regulations relating to pensions,
the preparation of Management Board appointments, along with contract extensions,
issues of succession planning and adjustments to the Management Board’s Business
Allocation Plan. In addition, it prepared resolutions for the Supervisory Board and dis-
cussed the results of the Supervisory Board’s efficiency review. Where required, the
Committee gave its approval to Management Board members for their ancillary activi-
ties or to accept directorships at other companies. Furthermore, it approved the Man-
agement Board resolutions relating to the process of structuring the bank's capital
increase to finance the minority shareholding in Deutsche Postbank AG, which was
carried out in September 2008. Finally, it handled the implementation of the new rec-
ommendations and suggestions of the German Corporate Governance Code.

At its six meetings and two telephone conferences, the Risk Committee discussed the
bank's exposures subject to mandatory approval under German law and the Articles
of Association as well as all major loans and loans entailing increased risks. Where
necessary, the Risk Committee gave its approval. Apart from credit, liquidity, country,
market and operational risks, the Committee also discussed legal and reputational risks.
The Committee extensively discussed the bank’s risk position along with the develop-
ments of the global financial crisis and their impacts, which had intensified further. This
included the situation in proprietary trading, the development of the value-at-risk, the
risk management measures taken in the most severely affected portfolios and the most
important exposures in the financial institutions sector. Furthermore, global industry
portfolios were presented according to a specified plan and discussed at length.

The Audit Committee met six times in 2008. Representatives of the bank’s auditor
were also present at all of the meetings. Subjects covered were the audit of the Annual
Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statements, which were approved,
the quarterly financial statements, Forms 20-F and 6-K for the U.S. Securities and
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Exchange Commission (SEC), as well as the interim reports. The Committee dealt with
the proposal for the election of the auditor for the 2008 financial year, issued the audit
mandate, specified audit areas of focus, resolved on the auditor’'s remuneration and
verified the auditor’'s independence in accordance with the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code and the rules of the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB). The Audit Committee is convinced that, as in the previous years, there are
no conflicts of interest on the part of the bank’s auditor. We extensively checked to
what extent our internal control systems are in accordance with the requirements of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. When necessary, resolutions were passed or recommended
for the Supervisory Board’s approval. The Audit Committee had reports submitted to it
regularly on the engagement of accounting firms, including the auditor, with non-audit-
related tasks, on the work of Internal Audit, on issues relating to compliance as well as
on legal and reputational risks. Internal Audit’s plan for the year was noted with approv-
al. The Audit Committee did not receive any complaints in connection with accounting,
internal accounting controls and auditing matters. At the last meeting of the year, the
Committee obtained information from the Management Board and the auditor on the
audit areas of focus in planning for the Annual Financial Statements for 2008. This
included, in particular, the current capital and leverage ratios, the development of core
capital, credit and credit-related impairments, fair value accounting, assets for which
no market price is currently available, the bank’s approach to determining impairments
and various tax issues.

The Nomination Committee met once in 2008. To prepare for this meeting, an external
international consulting firm was engaged. In parallel, numerous individual discussions
took place. At its meeting, the Committee discussed potential candidates on the basis
of a defined profile of requirements and resolved to recommend that six previous mem-
bers and three new candidates be proposed to the Supervisory Board for election by
the General Meeting. Furthermore, as a result of Professor Dr. von Pierer’s withdrawal
from a renewed candidature, another candidate was recommended through circulation
procedure.

Meetings of the Mediation Committee, established pursuant to the provisions of
Germany's Co-Determination Act (MitbestG), were not necessary in 2008.

The committee chairmen reported regularly to the Supervisory Board on the work of
the committees.

Corporate Governance

The implementation of the three new recommendations and suggestions of the German
Corporate Governance Code was discussed at the meetings of the Supervisory Board
and Chairman’s Committee in July 2008. The Supervisory Board resolved to implement
the new recommendations of the Code and amended the terms of reference for the
Supervisory Board and Chairman’s Committee accordingly.

At its meeting in March 2008, the Supervisory Board discussed the results of the latest
review of its efficiency. A company-specific questionnaire had been drawn up for this

and sent to all Supervisory Board members at the end of 2007. The Supervisory Board
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Report of the Supervisory Board

determined that the suggestions and measures which had been proposed during the
preceding efficiency review had been effectively implemented and led to an increase
in the efficiency of the work of the Supervisory Board. The review identified individual
points for improvement.

The Supervisory Board determined that it has what it considers to be an adequate
number of independent members. It also determined that all members of the Audit
Committee are independent as such term is defined by the regulations of the Securi-
ties and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued pursuant to Section 407 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. Dr. Clemens Borsig and Dr. Karl-Gerhard Eick were determined
to be financial experts in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC).

The Declaration of Conformity pursuant to 8 161 German Stock Corporation Act (AktG),
last issued by the Supervisory Board and Management Board in October 2007, was
reissued at the meeting of the Supervisory Board on October 29, 2008.

A comprehensive presentation of the bank’s corporate governance, including the text of
the Declaration of Conformity issued on October 29, 2008, can be found in the Financial
Report 2008 on pages 291 ff. and on our internet website at www.deutsche-bank.com.
The terms of reference for the Supervisory Board and its committees as well as for the
Management Board are also published there.

Conflicts of Interest and their Handling

The Risk Committee dealt with the loan approvals required pursuant to 8 15 German
Banking Act (KWG). Supervisory Board members who were also board members of the
respective borrowing company when the resolutions were taken did not participate in
the discussion and voting.

Dr. Borsig did not participate in the voting on three resolutions of the Supervisory Board
on October 29, 2008, as they related to him personally. The resolutions were approved
by the Supervisory Board — under the direction of Mr. Todenhoéfer for these items.

Occasionally, there were latent conflicts of interest on the part of individual Supervisory
Board members. During the reporting period, for example, Ms. Platscher, Ms. Forster
and Ms. Ruck, representatives of the employees, were also members of the Supervi-
sory Board of Deutsche Bank Privat- und Geschaftskunden AG, and Mr. Hartmann was,
for a time, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of IKB Deutsche Industriebank AG. They
did not participate in the discussions of the relevant topics, which took place in some
cases in the committees they were not members of. Additional special measures to
address these latent and only occasional conflicts of interest were not required.

Litigation

As in the preceding years, the Supervisory Board was regularly informed of important
lawsuits and discussed further courses of action. This included the actions for rescis-
sion and to obtain information filed in connection with the General Meetings in 2003,
2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 as well as Dr. Kirch’'s lawsuits against Deutsche
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Bank and Dr. Breuer. The General Meeting's election of shareholder representatives on
May 29, 2008, was contested by several shareholders. A court decision is still pending.

The election of the shareholder representatives by the General Meeting on June 10,
2003, was confirmed, as in the lower courts, by Germany's Supreme Court, as the final
court of appeal, on February 16, 2009.

Furthermore, we had reports concerning important lawsuits presented to the Supervi-
sory Board on a regular basis and, in detail, to the Audit and Risk Committees.

Annual Financial Statements

KPMG Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, the
auditor of the Annual Financial Statements elected at last year's General Meeting, has
audited the accounting, the Annual Financial Statements and the Management Report
for 2008 as well as the Consolidated Financial Statements with the related Notes and
Management Report for 2008. The audits led in each case to an unqualified opinion.
The Audit Committee examined the documents for the Annual Financial Statements
and Consolidated Financial Statements along with the auditor’s report and discussed
these extensively with the auditor. The Chairman of the Audit Committee reported to
us on this at today’s meeting of the Supervisory Board. We agreed with the results
of the audits after inspecting the auditors’ reports as well as an extensive discussion
and agreed to the recommendation of the Audit Committee and determined that, also
based on the results of our inspections, there were no objections to be raised.

Today, we established the Annual Financial Statements prepared by the Management
Board and approved the Consolidated Financial Statements. We agree to the Manage-
ment Board's proposal for the appropriation of profits.

Personnel Issues

Mr. Di lorio left the Management Board on September 30, 2008. His tasks and func-
tional responsibilities were assumed by Mr. Krause, who had been appointed member
of the Management Board with effect from April 1, 2008. Before joining Deutsche Bank,
Mr. Krause had been a member of the Board of Management of BMW AG since May
2002, where he was Chief Financial Officer until September 2007 and subsequently
held functional responsibility for Sales and Marketing. We thank Mr. Di lorio for his suc-
cessful work for Deutsche Bank over many years, his great dedication as a member of
the Management Board and his consistently constructive cooperation with the Super-
visory Board.

At today’s meeting of the Supervisory Board, Michael Cohrs, Jurgen Fitschen, Anshu
Jain and Rainer Neske were appointed members of the Management Board of
Deutsche Bank AG for a period of three years with effect from April 1, 2009. Mr. Cohrs
came to Deutsche Bank in 1995 and has been member of the Group Executive Com-
mittee since 2002. On the bank’s Management Board, he will continue to have respon-
sibility for Global Banking, the division he presently heads. Mr. Fitschen has been with
Deutsche Bank since 1987, was already member of the Management Board from 2001
to the beginning of 2002 and has been a member of the Group Executive Committee
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since 2002. He is head of Regional Management. On the Management Board, he will
continue to be responsible for Regional Management. Mr. Jain joined Deutsche Bank
in 1995 and became head of Global Markets in 2001 as well as member of the Group
Executive Committee in 2002. He will continue to be responsible for Global Markets
as member of the Management Board. Mr. Neske came to Deutsche Bank in 1990 and
in 2000 was appointed member of the Management Board of Deutsche Bank Privat-
und Geschaftskunden AG. Since 2003 he has been member of the Group Executive
Committee and Spokesman of the Management Board of Deutsche Bank Privat- und
Geschaftskunden AG. On the Management Board of Deutsche Bank AG, he will be
responsible for the Private and Business Clients Division.

With the exception of the mandate of Dr. Theo Siegert, who had already been elected for
the period until the conclusion of the Ordinary General Meeting 2012, the term of office
of the Supervisory Board members ended upon conclusion of the General Meeting on
May 29, 2008. Ulrich Hartmann, Professor Dr. Heinrich von Pierer and Dr. Jurgen Weber,
representatives of the shareholders, as well as Sabine Horn, Rolf Hunk, Ulrich Kauf-
mann and Peter Kazmierczak, representatives of the employees, left the Supervisory
Board. The General Meeting 2008 reelected Dr. Clemens Borsig, Dr. Karl-Gerhard Eick,
Professor Dr. Henning Kagermann and Tilman Todenhofer to the Supervisory Board for
a term of office of five years. In light of the age limit set at 70, Sir Peter Job was reelected
for a shorter term of office of three years until the conclusion of the Ordinary General
Meeting 2011, and Maurice Lévy for four years until the conclusion of the Ordinary
General Meeting 2012. For the first time, Suzanne Labarge, Dr. Johannes Teyssen and
Werner Wenning were elected to the Supervisory Board by the General Meeting, for a
term of office of five years until the conclusion of the Ordinary General Meeting 2013.

Representatives of the employees on the Supervisory Board, Heidrun Forster,
Henriette Mark, Gabriele Platscher, Karin Ruck, Gerd Herzberg and Leo Wunderlich,
were confirmed by the delegates’ meeting on May 8, 2008. Elected for the first time
were Martina Klee, Marlehn Thieme, Wolfgang Bohr and Alfred Herling.

We thank all of the members who left the Supervisory Board for their dedicated work
and constructive assistance to the company and the Management Board during the
past years. We are convinced that the new Supervisory Board will keep up this suc-
cessful work.

Frankfurt am Main, March 17, 2009

The Supervisory Board
Va
”~

Dr.Clemens Borsig
Chairman
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Supervisory Board

Dr. Clemens Borsig
— Chairman,
Frankfurt am Main

Karin Ruck*

— Deputy Chairperson
from May 29, 2008
Deutsche Bank AG,
Bad Soden am Taunus

Wolfgang Bohr*
from May 29, 2008
Deutsche Bank AG,
Dusseldorf

Dr. Karl-Gerhard Eick
Deputy Chairman of the
Management Board of Deutsche

Telekom AG until February 28, 2009;

Chairman of the Management
Board of Arcandor AG

from March 1, 2009,

Cologne

Heidrun Forster*

— Deputy Chairperson

until May 29, 2008,
Deutsche Bank Privat- und
Geschaftskunden AG,
Berlin

Ulrich Hartmann

until May 29, 2008
Chairman of the Supervisory
Board of E.ON AG,
Dusseldorf

Alfred Herling*
from May 29, 2008
Deutsche Bank AG,
Wuppertal

Gerd Herzberg®

Vice President of

ver.di Vereinte Dienstleistungs-
gewerkschaft,

Hamburg

Sabine Horn*

until May 29, 2008
Deutsche Bank AG,
Frankfurt am Main

Rolf Hunck*

until May 29, 2008
Deutsche Bank AG,
Seevetal

Sir Peter Job
London

Prof. Dr. Henning Kagermann
Co-CEO of SAP AG,
Hockenheim

Ulrich Kaufmann*

until May 29, 2008

Deutscher Bankangestellten-
Verband, labor union for financial
services providers,

Ratingen

Peter Kazmierczak*
until May 29, 2008
Deutsche Bank AG,
Herne

Martina Klee*

from May 29, 2008
Deutsche Bank AG,
Frankfurt am Main

Suzanne Labarge
from May 29, 2008
Toronto

Maurice Lévy

Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, Publicis Groupe S.A.,
Paris

Henriette Mark*
Deutsche Bank AG,
Munich

Prof. Dr. jur. Dr.-Ing. E.h.
Heinrich von Pierer

until May 29, 2008
Erlangen

Gabriele Platscher*
Deutsche Bank Privat- und
Geschaftskunden AG,
Braunschweig

Dr. Theo Siegert

Managing Partner of

de Haen Carstanjen & Sohne,
Dusseldorf

Dr. Johannes Teyssen
from May 29, 2008

Chief Operating Officer and
Deputy Chairman

of the Management Board
of E.ON AG,

Oberding

Marlehn Thieme*
from May 29, 2008
Deutsche Bank AG,
Bad Soden am Taunus

Tilman Todenhofer

Managing Partner of

Robert Bosch Industrietreuhand KG,
Madrid

Dipl.-Ing. Dr.-Ing. E.h.

Jirgen Weber

until May 29, 2008

Chairman of the Supervisory
Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG,
Hamburg

Werner Wenning

from May 29, 2008

Chairman of the Management
Board of Bayer AG,
Leverkusen

Leo Wunderlich*

Deutsche Bank AG,
Mannheim

*Elected by our employees in Germany.
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Committees

Chairman’s Committee

Dr. Clemens Borsig
— Chairman

Heidrun Forster”

Ulrich Hartmann
until May 29, 2008

Ulrich Kaufmann*
until May 29, 2008

Karin Ruck”
from May 29, 2008

Tilman Todenhofer
from May 29, 2008

Mediation Committee

Dr. Clemens Borsig
— Chairman

Wolfgang Bohr*
from May 29, 2008

Heidrun Forster”
until May 29, 2008

Ulrich Hartmann
until May 29, 2008

Henriette Mark*
until May 29, 2008

Karin Ruck*
from May 29, 2008

Tilman Todenhofer
from May 29, 2008
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Supervisory Board

Audit Committee Nomination Committee
Dr. Karl-Gerhard Eick Dr. Clemens Borsig
— Chairman — Chairman

Dr. Clemens Borsig Ulrich Hartmann
until May 29, 2008
Heidrun Forster”
until May 29, 2008 Tilman Todenhofer
from May 29, 2008
Sabine Horn™
until May 29, 2008 Dipl.-Ing. Dr.-Ing. E.h.
Jurgen Weber
Rolf Hunck* until May 29, 2008
until May 29, 2008
Werner Wenning

Sir Peter Job from May 29, 2008

Henriette Mark*
from May 29, 2008

Karin Ruck”
from May 29, 2008

Marlehn Thieme*
from May 29, 2008

Risk Committee
Dr. Clemens Borsig
— Chairman

Sir Peter Job
Prof. Dr. Henning Kagermann

Suzanne Labarge
from May 29, 2008
— Substitute Member

Prof. Dr. jur. Dr.-Ing. E.h.
Heinrich von Pierer

until May 29, 2008

— Substitute Member

Dr. Theo Siegert
from May 29, 2008
— Substitute Member

Tilman Todenhofer

until May 29, 2008
— Substitute Member

“Elected by our employees in Germany.



Group Three-Year Record

Group Three-Year Record

Balance Sheet

in €m. Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 Dec 31, 2006
Total assets 2,202,423 1,925,003 1,520,580
Loans 269,281 198,892 178,524
Total liabilities 2,170,509 1,885,688 1,486,694
Total shareholders' equity 30,703 37,893 33,169
Minority interest 1,211 1,422 717
Tier 1 capital 31,094 28,320 23,539
Total regulatory capital 37,396 38,049 34,309

Income Statement

in €m. 2008 2007 2006
Net interest income 12,453 8,849 7,008
Provision for credit losses 1,076 612 298
Commissions and fee income 9,749 12,289 11,195
Net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (9,992) 7,175 8,892
Other noninterest income 1,280 2,432 1,399
Total noninterest income 1,037 21,896 21,486
Compensation and benefits 9,606 13,122 12,498
General and administrative expenses 8,216 7,954 7,069
Policyholder benefits and claims (252) 193 67
Impairment of intangible assets 58b 128 31
Restructuring activities - (13) 192
Total noninterest expenses 18,155 21,384 19,857
Income (loss) before income taxes (5,741) 8,749 8,339
Income tax expense (benefit) (1,845) 2,239 2,260
Net income (loss) (3,896) 6,510 6,079
Net income (loss) attributable to minority interest (61) 36 9
Net income (loss) attributable to Deutsche Bank shareholders (3,835) 6,474 6,070
Key figures 2008 2007 2006
Basic earnings per share £€(7.61) €13.65 €12.96
Diluted earnings per share £€(7.61) €13.05 €11.48
Dividends paid per share in period €4.50 €4.00 €2.50
Return on average shareholders’ equity (post tax) (11.1)% 17.9% 20.3%
Pre-tax return on average shareholders' equity (16.5)% 24.1% 27.9%
Cost/income ratio 134.6% 69.6 % 69.7%
Tier 1 capital ratio’ 10.1% 8.6% 8.5%
Total capital ratio’ 12.2% 11.6% 12.5%
Employees (full-time equivalent) 80,456 78,291 68,849
"Ratios presented for 2008 are pursuant to the revised capital framework presented by the Basel Committee in 2004 (“Basel 11”) as adopted into German law

by the German Banking Act and the Solvency Regulation (“Solvabilitatsverordnung”). Ratios presented for 2007 and 2006 are based on the Basel | framework
and thus calculated on a noncomparative basis.
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Alpha
Investment return in excess of the
benchmark return

Alternative assets/investments
Direct investments in > Private
equity, venture capital, mezzanine
capital, real estate capital invest-
ments and investments in lever-
aged buyout funds, venture capital
funds and » Hedge funds.

American Depositary Receipts
(ADRs)

Negotiable certificates issued by
U.S. banks and representing non-
American equities deposited with
them. ADRs simplify, reduce the
cost of and accelerate trading in
the American securities markets.

Asset-backed securities (ABS)
Particular type of securitized pay-
ment receivables in the form of
tradable securities. These securities
are created by the repackaging of
certain financial assets > Securiti-
zation.

Asset Finance & Leasing
Center of competence for offering
structured and innovative asset
financing solution for durable and
high value assets.

Average Active Equity

We calculate active equity to make it
easier to compare us to our compet-
itors and we refer to active equity
for serval ratios. However, active
equity is not a measure provided
for in » IFRS and you should not
compare our ratios based on aver-
age active equity to other compa-
nies’ ratios without considering the
differences in the calculation. The
items for which we adjust the aver-
age shareholders’ equity are aver-
age unrealized net gains on assets
available for sale, average fair value
adjustments on cash flow hedges
(both components net of applicable
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taxes), as well as average dividends,
for which a proposal is accrued on
a quarterly basis and for which pay-
ments occur once a year following
the approval by the Annual General
Meeting.

Basellll

Revised capital framework of the
Basel Committee which has
replaced the former Basell-regula-
tions especially on the calculation
of the regulatory risk position.

BIS
Bank for International Settlements
domiciled in Basel.

Broker/Brokerage

Brokers accept orders to buy and
sell securities from banks and pri-
vate investors and execute them on
behalf of the customer. For this
activity, the broker usually receives
a commission.

Buyout

Purchase (in full or in part) of a
company or specific corporate
activities.

Capital according to Basellll
Capital recognized from regulatory
purposes according to the new
Basel Capital Adequancy Accord of
2004 for banks.

Capital according to Baselll con-

sists of:

— Tier1 capital: primarily share capi-
tal, reserves and certain > Trust
Preferred Securities,

— Tier 2 capital: primarily participa-
tory capital, cumulative prefer-
ence shares, long-term subordi-
nated debt and unrealized gains
on listed securities,

— Tier3 capital: mainly short-term
subordinated debt and excess
Tier2 capital.

Tier?2 capital is limited to 10 % of

Tier 1 capital and the amount of

long-term subordinated debt that

can be recognized as Tier?2 capital
is limited to 50 % of Tier 1 capital.

Cash flow statement

Calculation and presentation of the
cash flow generated or consumed
by a company during a financial
year as a result of its business,
investing and financing activities,
as well as the reconciliation of
holdings of cash and cash equiva-
lents (cash reserve) at the begin-
ning and end of a financial year.

Cash management

Refers to the management of liquid
assets in dollars, euro and other
currencies for companies and
financial institutions to optimize
financial transactions.

Clearing

The process of transmitting,
reconciling and, in some cases,
confirming payment orders.

Coaching

Personalized, tailored developmen-
tal intervention aimed at improving
an employee’s performance (e.g.
management competence, com-
munication skills) as a rule with the
help of a coach.

Collateralized debt obligations
(CDOs)

Investment vehicles based on a
portfolio of assets that can include
bonds, loans or derivatives.

Commercial mortgage-backed
securities (CMBS)

> Mortgage-backed securties
(MBS), which are backed with
commercial mortgage loans.

Commitment

A firm’s employees have commit-
ment when they identify with their
company, its goals and values, are
willing to work hard for it and prefer
to stay in its employment.



Compliance

Entirety of measures adopted to
ensure that relevant laws, rules
and internal regulations are
adhered to and to prevent legal
or regulatory sanctions as well as
financial or reputational damage.

Corporate finance

General term for capital market-
related, innovative financing servic-
es to satisfy special consulting
requirements in business with cor-
porate customers.

Correlation

Reciprocal relationship between at
least two variables (e.g. assets). It
can be positive, in which case the
variables move in the same direc-
tion, or negative when they move
in opposite directions. However,
correlation says nothing about cau-
sality (i.e. cause/effect). Correlation
is an important tool used in asset
allocation to diversify and/or hedge
risks.

Cost/income ratio

In general: a ratio expressing a
company's cost effectiveness
which sets operating expenses in
relations to operating income.

Credit default swap

An agreement between two parties
whereby one party pays the other a
fixed coupon over a specified term.
The other party makes no payment

unless a specified credit event such
as a default occurs, at which time a
payment is made and the swap ter-
minates.

Credit trading
Trading in loan or credit-related
products.

Custody

Custody and administration of
securities as well as additional
securities services.

Glossary

Debt products

Tradable instruments representing a
liability or claim with respect to
assets of one or more private or
public sector entities. The phrase
also denotes a broader range of
instruments including foreign
exchange and commodity con-
tracts.

Derivatives

Products whose value derives
largely from the price, price fluctua-
tions and price expectations of an
underlying instrument (e.g. share,
bond, foreign exchange or index).
Derivatives include » Swaps, >
Options and » Futures.

DJSI

Dow Jones Sustainability Indexes
are an index family tracking the
member companies’ ecological and
social achievements. Deutsche
Bank has been listed in the DJSI
World and the DJSI STOXX ever
since they were first launched.
www.sustainability-index.com

Earnings per share

Key figure determined according to
> IFRS and expressing a company's
net income attributable to its share-
holders in relation to the average
number of common shares out-
standing. Apart from basic earnings
per share, diluted earnings per
share must also be reported if the
assumed conversion and exercise
of outstanding share options,
unvested deferred share awards
and convertible debt and certain
forward contracts could increase
the number of shares.

Equity Capital Markets (ECM)
Primarily, activities connected with
a company's IPO or the placement
of new shares. It also covers the
privatization of state-owned com-
panies.

Euro Commercial Paper
Program

Instrument allowing the flexible
issuance of unsecured, short-term
debt by an issuer. A program may
comprise several bond issues over
a period of time.

Fair value

Amount at which assets or liabili-
ties would be exchanged between
knowledgeable, willing and inde-
pendent counterparties. Fair value
is often identical to market price.

Family office

Financial services which are
designed for families with very
large and complex portfolios of
assets and which protect custom-
ers’ interests on the basis of
absolute independence through
optimal management and compre-
hensive coordination of individual
wealth components.

Financial supply chain
management

Optimization of financial payments
along the supply chain.

Futures

Forward contracts standardized with
respect to quantity, quality and
delivery date, in which an instru-
ment traded on the money, capital,
precious metal or foreign exchange
markets is to be delivered or taken
receipt of at an agreed price at a
certain future time. Cash settlement
is often stipulated for such contracts
(e.g. futures based on equity indi-
ces) to meet the obligation (instead
of delivery or receipt of securities).

Goodwill

The amount which the buyer of a
company pays, taking account of
future earnings, over and above the
> Fair value of the company'’s
individually identifiable assets and
liabilities.
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Hedge fund

A fund whose investors are gener-
ally institutions and wealthy individ-
uals. Hedge funds can employ
strategies which mutual funds are
not permitted to use. Examples
include short selling, leveraging
and > Derivatives. Hedge fund
returns are often uncorrelated with
traditional investment returns.

IFRS

International Financial
Reporting Standards

Financial Reporting Rules of the
International Accounting Standards
Board to ensure globally transpar-
ent and comparable accounting
and disclosure. Main objective is to
present information that is useful in
making economic decisions, mainly
for investors.

Institutional equity registered
direct transaction

A negotiated sale by an issuer to
institutional investor(s) of securities
that have been registered pursuant
to an effective shelf registration
statement.

Investment banking

Generic term for capital market-
oriented business. This primarily
includes the issuing and trading of
securities and their » Derivatives,
interest and currency management,
> Corporate finance, M&A advisory,
structured finance and > Private

equity.
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Investor relations

Investor relations describes the sys-
tematic and continuous two-way
communication between compa-
nies and both current and potential
providers of capital. Information is
supplied on major corporate events,
financial results, business strategy
and the capital market's expecta-
tions of management. One objec-
tive of investor relations activities is
to ensure that a company’s equity is
appropriately valued by the market.

Leveraged buyout

Debt-financed purchase of all or
parts of a company or specific
activities of a company. Interest and
principal payments are financed
from the acquired company’s
future revenues.

Management buyout

Purchase of a company’s entire
outstanding shares by its manage-
ment, thereby ending the compa-
ny's listing.

Mezzanine

Flexible, mixed form of financing
comprising equity and debt capital.
Here: long-term subordinated
financing instrument used to
finance growth while at the same
time strengthening the borrower’s
economic equity capital base.

Mortgage-backed securities
(MBS)

Securities backed by mortgage
loans.

Option

Right to purchase (call option) or
sell (put option) a specific asset
(e.g. security or foreign exchange)
from or to a counterparty (option
seller) at a predetermined price on
or before a specific future date.

OTC derivatives
Nonstandardized financial instru-
ments (> Derivatives) not traded on
a stock exchange, but directly
between market participants (over
the counter).

Portfolio

In general: part or all of one or all
categories of asset (e.g. securities,
loans, equity investments or real
estate). Portfolios are formed pri-
marily to diversify risk.

Here: combination of similar trans-
actions, especially in securities and/
or » Derivatives, under price risk
considerations.

Portfolio management
Management and administration
of a » Portfolio of securities for a
client. This can involve the contin-
ous review of the portfolio and, if
agreed with the client, purchases
and sales.

Pre-tax return on average
active equity

Income before income tax
expense attributable to Deutsche
Bank shareholders (annualized),
which is defined as income
before income taxes less minority
interest, as a percentage of

> Average active equity.



Prime services/brokerage
Suite of products including >
Clearing and settlement, > Cus-
tody, reporting, and financing of
positions for institutional inves-
tors.

Private equity

Equity investment in non-listed
companies. Examples are venture
capital and buyout funds.

Quantitative investments

> Portfolios of equities, bonds as
well as » Hedge funds. Portfolios
are managed in a systematic and
regulated framework applying fun-
damental investment principles.
The choice of investment is deter-
mined by the processing of large
data volumes while applying quan-
titative methods and techniques.

Rating

External: standardized evaluation of
issuers’ credit standing and debt
instruments, carried out by special-
ized agencies.

Internal: detailed risk assessment of
every exposure associated with an
obligor.

Registered shares

Shares registered in a person’s
name. As required under joint stock
company law, that person is regis-
tered in the share register with sev-
eral personal details and the num-
ber of shares owned. Only those
persons entered in the share regis-
ter are deemed to be shareholders
of the company and are entitled, for
instance, to exercise rights at the
General Meeting.

Glossary

Repo (repurchase agreement)
An agreement to repurchase secu-
rities sold (genuine repurchase
agreement where the asset
remains the seller’s property). From
the buyer’s viewpoint, the transac-
tion is a reverse repo.

Residential mortgage-backed
securities (RMBS)

- Mortgage-backed securities
(MBS), which are backed by resi-
dential mortgage loans.

Sale and lease back

Transaction in which one party sells
assets such as real estate to anoth-
er party and at the same time
enters into an agreement to lease
the assets for a pre-determined
period of time.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX)
U.S. capital market law passed in
2002 to strengthen corporate
governance and restore investor
confidence in response to major

corporate and accounting scandals.

Legislation establishes new or
enhanced standards ranging from
additional Corporate Board respon-
sibilities to criminal penalties for all
companies that have listed their
shares on a U.S. stock exchange.

Securitization

In general: rights evidenced by
securities (e.g. shares or bonds).
Here: replacing loans or financing
of various kinds of claims by issu-
ing securities (such as bonds or
commercial paper).

Shareholder Value

Management concept that focuses
strategic and operational decision-
making on the steady growth of a
company'’s value. The guiding prin-
ciple is that only returns above the
cost of capital add value for share-
holders.

Sharia compliant
In accordance with Islamic Law.

SPAC (special purpose acquisi-
tion company)

Publicly traded buyout company
that raises money in order to pur-
sue the acquisition of an existing
company.

Subprime

Used as a term to categorize U.S.
mortgages representing loans with
a higher expectation of risk.

Sustainability

Denotes the interplay of economy,
ecology and social responsibility
with the objective of sustainably
advancing the basis for human life
while preparing it for the future.

Swaps

In general: exchange of one pay-
ment flow for another. Interest rate
swap: exchange of interest pay-
ment flows in the same currency
with different terms and conditions
(e.g. fixed or floating).Currency
swap: exchange of interest pay-
ment flows and principal amounts
in different currencies.

Trust Preferred Securities
Hybrid capital instruments charac-
terized by profit-related interest
payments. Under banking supervi-
sory regulations they are part of
Tier1 capital if interest payments
are not accumulated in case of
losses (noncumulative trust
preferred securities) and if the
instruments do not have a stated
maturity date of if they are not
redeemable at the option of the
holder. Otherwise they are included
in Tier2 capital (for example cumu-
lative trust preferred securities).
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Trust & Securities Services
Broad range of administrative serv-
ices for securities. They include, for
example, securities custody, trust
administration, issuing and paying
agent services, depositary bank
function for » American Depositary
Receipts (ADRs).

U.S. GAAP (United States
Generally Accepted Account-
ing Principles)

U.S. accounting principles drawn
up by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) and the
American Institute of Certified Pub-
lic Accountants (AICPA). In addi-
tion, the interpretations and expla-
nations furnished by the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC)
are particularly relevant for compa-
nies listed on the stock exchange.
As in the case of IFRS, the main
objective is to provide information
useful for making decisions, espe-
cially for investors.
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Cautionary statement

regarding forward-looking statements:

This report contains forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are statements that
are not historical facts; they include statements
about our beliefs and expectations and the as-
sumptions underlying them. These statements
are based on plans, estimates and projections
as they are currently available to the manage-
ment of Deutsche Bank. Forward-looking state-
ments therefore speak only as of the date they
are made, and we undertake no obligation to
update publicly any of them in light of new in-
formation or future events.

By their very nature, forward-looking state-
ments involve risks and uncertainties. A number
of important factors could therefore cause actu-
al results to differ materially from those con-
tained in any forward-looking statement. Such
factors include the conditions in the financial
markets in Germany, in Europe, in the United
States and elsewhere from which we derive a
substantial portion of our trading revenues, po-
tential defaults of borrowers or trading counter-
parties, the implementation of our management
agenda, the reliability of our risk management
policies, procedures and methods, and other
risks referenced in our filings with the U.S. Se-
curities and Exchange Commission. Such fac-
tors are described in detail in our SEC Form 20-F
of 24 March 2009 in the section “Risk Factors”.
Copies of this document are available upon re-
quest or can be downloaded from www.
deutsche-bank.com/ir.
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The future will show whether the global financial system is able
to learn from the experiences of the last few years, draw the right
lessons, and put these lessons into practice.

This process must embrace all parts of the global financial sys-
tem, and the global economy, which have been touched by recent
events. We can only bring about effective reform of the financial
system if we work together in a spirit of partnership. Conviction
and insight will produce lasting solutions. For us at Deutsche Bank,
these changes — far-reaching as they may be — offer new oppor-
tunities. And that means new opportunities for our customers,
shareholders and staff. This is in the spirit of our duty, to provide
first-class financial services tailored to our clients’ needs.

As a global bank, we commit ourselves to fulfilling this mission.
Today and in the future. Crisis is also opportunity.
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Financial Calendar

2009
Apr 28, 2009
May 26, 2009

May 27, 2009
Jul 29, 2009
Oct 29, 2009

2010

Feb 4, 2010
Mar 12, 2010
Apr 27, 2010
May 27, 2010

May 28, 2010
Jul 28, 2010
Oct 28, 2010

Interim Report as of March 31, 2009

Annual General Meeting
in the Festhalle Frankfurt am Main (Exhibition Center)

Dividend payment
Interim Report as of June 30, 2009
Interim Report as of September 30, 2009

Preliminary results for the 2009 financial year
Annual Report 2009 and Form 20-F
Interim Report as of March 31, 2010

Annual General Meeting
in the Festhalle Frankfurt am Main (Exhibition Center)

Dividend payment
Interim Report as of June 30, 2010
Interim Report as of September 30, 2010



We are a leading global investment bank with a strong
and profitable private clients franchise. Our businesses
are mutually reinforcing. A leader in Germany and
Europe, we are powerful and growing in North America,
Asia and key emerging markets.

We compete to be the leading global provider of finan-
cial solutions for demanding clients creating exceptional
value for our shareholders and people.

This is the way we do business. We pursue
leverage , deliver
and build long-term

Annual Review 2008

Deutsche Bank !
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Deutsche Bank

The Group at a Glance

2008 2007
Share price at period end €27.83 €89.40
Share price high € 89.80 €118.51
Share price low €18.59 €81.33
Basic earnings per share €(7.61) €13.65
Diluted earnings per share' € (7.61) €13.05
Average shares outstanding, in m., basic 504 474
Average shares outstanding, in m., diluted 504 496
Return on average shareholders’ equity (post tax) (11.1) % 17.9 %
Pre-tax return on average shareholders’ equity (16.5) % 241 %
Pre-tax return on average active equity2 (17.7) % 29.0 %
Book value per basic share outstanding® €52.59 €79.32
Cost/income ratio* 134.6 % 69.6 %
Compensation ratio® 712 % 42.7 %
Noncompensation ratio® 63.4 % 26.9 %
in€m. in€m.
Total net revenues 13,490 30,745
Provision for credit losses 1,076 612
Total noninterest expenses 18,155 21,384
Income (loss) before income taxes (5,741) 8,749
Net income (loss) (3,896) 6,510
Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
in € bn. in € bn.
Total assets 2,202 1,925
Shareholders’ equity 30.7 37.9
Tier 1 capital ratio” 10.1 % 8.6 %
Number Number
Branches 1,981 1,889
thereof in Germany 981 989
Employees (full-time equivalent) 80,456 78,291
thereof in Germany 27,942 27,779
Long-term rating
Moody’s Investors Service Aa1l Aa1
Standard & Poor’s A+ AA
Fitch Ratings AA- AA-
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Including numerator effect of assumed conversions.

We calculate this adjusted measure of our return on average shareholders equity to make it easier to compare us to our competitors. We refer to this
adjusted measure as our “Pre-tax return on average active equity”. However, this is not a measure of performance under IFRS and you should not com-
pare our ratio to other companies’ ratios without considering the difference in calculation of the ratios. The item for which we adjust the average share-
holders’ equity of € 34,442 million for 2008 and € 36,134 million for 2007 are the average unrealized net gains on assets available for sale/average fair
value adjustment on cash flow hedges, net of applicable tax of € 619 million for 2008 and € 3,841 million for 2007 and the average dividend accruals of
€ 1,743 million for 2008 and € 2,200 million for 2007. The dividend payment is paid once a year following its approval by the general shareholders’ meet-
ing.

Book value per basic share outstanding is defined as shareholders’ equity divided by the number of basic shares outstanding (both at period end).

Total noninterest expenses as a percentage of total net interest income before provision for credit losses plus noninterest income.

Compensation and benefits as a percentage of total net interest income before provision for credit losses plus noninterest income.

Noncompensation noninterest expenses which is defined as total noninterest expenses less compensation and benefits, as a percentage of total net
interest income before provision for credit losses plus noninterest income.

The Tier 1 capital ratio shown for 2008 is pursuant to the German Banking Act (“KWG”) and the Solvency Regulation (“Solvabilitdtsverordnung”) which
adopted the revised capital framework presented by the Basel Committee in 2004 (“Basel II”) into German law, while the ratio presented for 2007 is
based on the Basel | framework. Basel |l Tier 1 capital excludes transitional items pursuant to KWG section 64h (3).

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this document may not add up precisely to the totals provided and percentages may not precisely reflect
the absolute figures.
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Management Report

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the
related notes to them. Our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 have
been audited by KPMG AG Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft that issued an unqualified opinion.

Business and Operating Environment

Our Organization

Headquartered in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, we are the largest bank in Germany, and one of the largest financial
institutions in Europe and the world, as measured by total assets of € 2,202 billion as of December 31, 2008. As of that
date, we employed 80,456 people on a full-time equivalent basis and operated in 72 countries out of 1,981 branches
worldwide, of which 50 % were in Germany. We offer a wide variety of investment, financial and related products and
services to private individuals, corporate entities and institutional clients around the world.

Group Divisions
We are organized into the Group Divisions Corporate and Investment Bank (CIB), Private Clients and Asset Manage-
ment (PCAM) and Corporate Investments (Cl).

Corporate and Investment Bank

In CIB, we carry out our capital markets business including our origination, sales and trading activities in debt, equity
and other securities, as well as our advisory, credit and transaction banking businesses. CIB’s institutional clients are
public sector clients like sovereign countries and multinational organizations, and private sector clients like medium-
sized companies and multinational corporations.

CIB is further sub-divided into the Corporate Divisions Corporate Banking & Securities (CB&S) and Global Transaction
Banking (GTB).

CBA&S includes the Corporate Divisions Global Markets and Corporate Finance, which globally carry out our securities
origination, sales and trading businesses, as well as our mergers and acquisitions advisory and corporate finance
businesses.

GTB includes our product offerings in trade finance, cash management and trust & securities services for financial
institutions and other companies.

Private Clients and Asset Management
PCAM is further sub-divided into the Corporate Divisions Asset and Wealth Management (AWM) and Private & Busi-
ness Clients (PBC).

AWM consists of the Asset Management Business Division (AM) and the Private Wealth Management Business
Division (PWM). The global retail mutual fund business of our subsidiary DWS forms part of AM. Furthermore, AM
offers a variety of products to institutional clients like pension funds and insurance companies, including traditional
investments, hedge funds as well as specific real estate investments. PWM offers its products globally to high net
worth clients and families. PWM offers its demanding clients an integrated approach to wealth management, including
succession planning and philanthropic advisory services.
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PBC offers retail clients as well as small and medium sized business customers a variety of products including
accounts, loan and deposit services as well as investment advice. Besides Germany, PBC has operated for a long
time in Italy, Spain, Belgium and Portugal, and for several years in Poland. Furthermore, we make focused invest-
ments in emerging markets in Asia, for instance in China and India.

Corporate Investments
The CI Group Division comprises mainly our industrial holdings and other investments.

Executive Summary

In 2008 the banking industry experienced its most serious financial crisis in decades. The near breakdown of the
global financial system could only be avoided through massive intervention from governments and central banks.
Trust in the stability of the national and international financial system was in particular shaken by the insolvency of
a U.S. investment bank in September 2008, which started an accelerated downward spiral in an already extremely
volatile financial market environment. The markets late in the year were characterized by unprecedented levels of
volatility and the breakdown of historically observed correlations across asset classes, compounded by extreme illig-
uidity. Operating in such an exceptionally turbulent market environment throughout 2008, particularly in the fourth
quarter, we recorded a net loss of € 3.9 billion for the full year. Some weaknesses in our business model were
exposed while operating in this environment and we are repositioning our platforms in some core businesses in
consequence. We have also taken and continue to take steps to reduce our overall risk positions in CB&S, particularly
in areas most impacted by the market conditions, by managing and reducing costs and by reducing our leverage while
maintaining a strong Tier 1 capital ratio.

We recorded a loss before income taxes of €5.7 billion for 2008, compared with income before income taxes of
€ 8.7 billion for 2007. Net revenues of € 13.5 billion in 2008 were € 17.3 billion, or 56 %, below net revenues in 2007.
Our pre-tax return on average active equity was negative 18 % in 2008 versus positive 29 % in 2007. Our pre-tax
return on average shareholders’ equity was negative 16 % in 2008 and positive 24 % in 2007. Our net loss was
€ 3.9 billion in 2008, compared with net income of €6.5 billion in 2007. Diluted earnings per share were negative
€ 7.61 in 2008 and positive € 13.05 in 2007.

CIB’s net revenues declined 84 %, from € 19.1 billion in 2007 to € 3.1 billion in 2008. Overall Sales & Trading net reve-
nues for 2008 were negative € 506 million compared with positive € 13.0 billion in 2007. This reflects the impact of
unprecedented market turmoil, especially late in the year, on some of our trading businesses, particularly Credit Trad-
ing (including proprietary trading activities), Equity Derivatives and Equity Proprietary Trading. Strong client business
flows and favorable positioning generated record revenues in the Foreign Exchange and Money Market businesses,
which partially offset our weak results in other trading areas. The dislocations in the financial markets also impacted
revenues in our Origination and Advisory businesses, which decreased by € 2.5 billion to € 212 million in 2008, from
€ 2.7 billion in 2007, due to significant mark-downs of € 1.7 billion, net of recoveries, against leveraged finance loans
and loan commitments, and as volumes of business combinations and capital market transactions fell. PCAM’s net
revenues were € 9.0 billion, a decrease of € 1.1 billion, largely driven by the negative effect of market conditions on our
performance and asset-based fees in the portfolio fund management business and on our brokerage business, as well
as certain specific significant items, including mark-downs on seed capital and other investments.
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Our noninterest expenses were € 18.2 billion in 2008 and € 21.4 billion in 2007, a decline of € 3.2 billion, or 15 %.
Compensation and benefits, driven by significantly lower performance-related compensation in line with the lower
operating results, was the most important factor in the overall decrease.

In 2008, the provision for credit losses of € 1.1 billion was € 464 million, or 76 %, higher than in 2007. The increase
was due largely to provisions on loans reclassified according to amendments to IAS 39 and higher provisions in PBC

attributable to the deteriorating credit environment and business growth.

The following table presents our condensed consolidated statement of income for 2008 and 2007.

2008 increase (decrease)

in€m. from 2007

(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007 in€m. in%
Net interest income 12,453 8,849 3,604 41

Provision for credit losses 1,076 612 464 76

Net interest income after provision for credit losses 11,377 8,237 3,140 38

Commissions and fee income 9,749 12,289 (2,540) (21)
Net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through

profit or loss (9,992) 7,175 (17,167) N/M

Net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale 666 793 (127) (16)
Net income (loss) from equity method investments 46 353 (307) (87)
Other income 568 1,286 (718) (56)
Total noninterest income 1,037 21,896 (20,859) (95)
Total net revenues 12,414 30,133 (17,719) (59)
Compensation and benefits 9,606 13,122 (3,516) (27)
General and administrative expenses 8,216 7,954 262 3

Policyholder benefits and claims (252) 193 (445) N/M

Impairment of intangible assets 585 128 457 N/M

Restructuring activities - (13) 13 N/M

Total noninterest expenses 18,155 21,384 (3,229) (15)
Income (loss) before income taxes (5,741) 8,749 (14,490) N/M

Income tax expense (benefit) (1,845) 2,239 (4,084) N/M

Net income (loss) (3,896) 6,510 (10,406) N/M

Net income (loss) attributable to minority interest (61) 36 97) N/M

Net income (loss) attributable to Deutsche Bank shareholders (3,835) 6,474 (10,309) N/M

N/M — Not meaningful
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Operating Results

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements.

Net Interest Income
The following table sets forth data related to our net interest income.

2008 increase (decrease)

in €m. from 2007

(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007 in€m. in %
Total interest and similar income 54,549 64,675 (10,126) (16)
Total interest expenses 42,096 55,826 (13,730) (25)
Net interest income 12,453 8,849 3,604 41

Average interest-earning assets’ 1,216,666 1,226,191 (9,525) (1)
Average interest-bearing liabilities' 1,179,631 1,150,051 29,580 3
Gross interest yield2 4.48 % 5.27 % (0.79) ppt (15)
Gross interest rate paid3 3.57 % 4.85 % (1.28) ppt (26)
Net interest spread” 0.91 % 0.42 % 0.49 ppt 117
Net interest margin® 1.02 % 0.72 % 0.30 ppt 42

ppt — Percentage points

1 Average balances for each year are calculated in general based upon month-end balances.

2 Gross interest yield is the average interest rate earned on our average interest-earning assets.

3 Gross interest rate paid is the average interest rate paid on our average interest-bearing liabilities.
4

Net interest spread is the difference between the average interest rate earned on average interest-earning assets and the average interest rate paid on
average interest-bearing liabilities.

5 Net interest margin is net interest income expressed as a percentage of average interest-earning assets.

Net interest income in 2008 was € 12.5 billion, an increase of € 3.6 billion, or 41 %, from 2007. Both total interest and
similar income and total interest expenses were significantly down versus 2007, mainly reflecting the overall declining
interest levels as central banks globally cut rates during 2008 in response to the credit crunch. The decrease in inter-
est expenses was more pronounced than the decrease in interest income. Although our average interest-bearing
liabilities volume increased by € 29.6 billion, or 3 %, in 2008, our ability to fund at significantly lower rates compared to
2007 was the main reason for the widening of our net interest spread by 49 basis points and of our net interest margin
by 30 basis points.

The development of our net interest income is also impacted by the accounting treatment of some of our hedging-
related derivative transactions. We enter into nontrading derivative transactions primarily as economic hedges of the
interest rate risks of our nontrading interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. Some of these derivatives
qualify as hedges for accounting purposes while others do not. When derivative transactions qualify as hedges of
interest rate risks for accounting purposes, the interest arising from the derivatives is reported in interest income and
expense, where it offsets interest flows from the hedged items. When derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment, the interest flows that arise from those derivatives will appear in trading income.
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Net Gains (Losses) on Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
The following table sets forth data related to our Net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss.

2008 increase (decrease)

from 2007
in€m.
(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007 in€m. in %
CIB — Sales & Trading (equity) (1,513) 3,335 (4,848) N/M
CIB - Sales & Trading (debt and other products) (6,647) 3,858 (10,505) N/M
Other (1,832) (18) (1,814) N/M
Total net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (9,992) 7,175 (17,167) N/M

N/M — Not meaningful

Net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss from CIB — Sales & Trading (debt and
other products) were a loss of € 6.6 billion in 2008, compared to a gain of € 3.9 billion in 2007. This development was
mainly driven by mark-downs relating to reserves against monoline insurers, provisions against residential mortgage-
backed securities and commercial real estate loans and significant losses in our credit trading businesses, including
our proprietary trading businesses in the third and fourth quarter of 2008, which are described in more detail in the
discussion of the results in CB&S. Net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
from Sales & Trading (equity) were losses of € 1.5 billion, mainly generated in Equity Derivatives and Equity Proprie-
tary Trading, compared to net gains of € 3.3 billion in 2007. The main contributor to the net loss of € 1.8 billion on
financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss from Other products were net mark-downs of € 1.7 billion
on leveraged finance loans and loan commitments during 2008.

Net Interest Income and Net Gains (Losses) on Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss

Our trading and risk management businesses include significant activities in interest rate instruments and related
derivatives. Under IFRS, interest and similar income earned from trading instruments and financial instruments desig-
nated at fair value through profit or loss (e.g. coupon and dividend income), and the costs of funding net trading posi-
tions are part of net interest income. Our trading activities can periodically shift income between net interest income
and net gains (losses) of financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss depending on a variety of factors,
including risk management strategies.
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In order to provide a more business-focused commentary, the following table presents net interest income and net
gains (losses) of financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss by group division and by product within the
Corporate and Investment Bank, rather than by type of income generated.

2008 increase (decrease)

in€m. from 2007
(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007 in€m. in%
Net interest income 12,453 8,849 3,604 41

Total net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss (9,992) 7,175 (17,167) N/M

Total net interest income and net gains (losses) on

financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2,461 16,024 (13,563) (85)

Breakdown by Group Division/CIB product1:

Sales & Trading (equity) (1,895) 3,117 (5,012) N/M
Sales & Trading (debt and other products) 317 7,483 (7,166) (96)
Total Sales & Trading (1,578) 10,600 (12,178) N/M
Loan produc:ts2 1,014 499 515 103
Transaction services 1,358 1,297 61 5
Remaining products3 (1,821) (118) (1,703) N/M
Total Corporate and Investment Bank (1,027) 12,278 (13,305) N/M
Private Clients and Asset Management 3,871 3,529 342 10
Corporate Investments (172) 157 (329) N/M
Consolidation & Adjustments (211) 61 (272) N/M
Total net interest income and net gains (losses) on
financial assetsl/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2,461 16,024 (13,563) (85)

N/M — Not meaningful

1 This breakdown reflects net interest income and net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss only. For a discussion
of the group divisions’ total revenues by product please refer to “Results of Operations by Segment”.

2 Includes the net interest spread on loans as well as the fair value changes of credit default swaps and loans designated at fair value through profit or
loss.

3 Includes net interest income and net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss of origination, advisory and other
products.

Corporate and Investment Bank (CIB). Combined net interest income and net gains (losses) on financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss from Sales & Trading were negative € 1.6 billion in 2008, compared to posi-
tive € 10.6 billion in 2007. The main drivers for the decrease were the aforementioned mark-downs on credit-related
exposures, as well as losses in Equity Derivatives and Proprietary Trading. The increase in Loan products was driven
by interest income on assets transferred from Origination (Debt) to Loan Products as a result of reclassifications in
accordance with the amendments to IAS 39 and mark-to-market hedge gains. The decrease of € 1.7 billion in Remain-
ing products resulted mainly from net mark-downs on leveraged loans and loan commitments.

Private Clients and Asset Management (PCAM). Combined net interest income and net gains (losses) on financial
assetsl/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss were € 3.9 billion in 2008, an increase of € 342 million, or 10 %,
compared to 2007. The main contributor to the increase was higher net interest income following the consolidation
of several money market funds in the first half of 2008, which are described in more detail under “Special Purpose
Entities” on page 33. Higher loan and deposit volumes from growth in PBC also contributed to the increase.
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Corporate Investments (Cl). Combined net interest income and net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss were negative € 172 million in 2008, compared to positive € 157 million in 2007, primarily
reflecting mark-to-market losses from our option to increase our share in Hua Xia Bank in China.

Consolidation & Adjustments. Combined net interest income and net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss were negative € 211 million in 2008 compared to positive € 61 million in 2007. The
main reasons for the decrease were higher funding expenses and lower net interest income related to tax refunds.

Provision for Credit Losses

Provision for credit losses was € 1.1 billion in 2008, up 76 %, compared to € 612 million in 2007. This increase reflects
net charges of €408 million in CIB, compared to € 109 million in the prior year, and a 33 % increase in PCAM’s provi-
sions to €668 million, primarily in PBC. The increase in CIB included € 257 million of provisions related to loans
reclassified in accordance with amendments to IAS 39 and additional provisions, mainly on European loans, reflecting
the deterioration in credit conditions.

For further information on the provision for loan losses see the Risk Report.

Remaining Noninterest Income
The following table sets forth information on our Remaining noninterest income.

2008 increase (decrease)

in€m. from 2007
(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007 in€m. in %
Commissions and fee income' 9,749 12,289 (2,540) (21)
Net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale 666 793 (127) (16)
Net income (loss) from equity method investments 46 353 (307) (87)
Other income 568 1,286 (718) (56)
Total remaining noninterest income 11,029 14,721 (3,692) (25)
1 Includes:
2008 2007 in € m. in %
Commissions and fees from fiduciary activities:
Commissions for administration 384 427 (43) (10)
Commissions for assets under management 2,815 3,376 (561) 17)
Commissions for other securities business 215 162 53 33
Total 3,414 3,965 (551) (14)

Commissions, broker’s fees, mark-ups on securities underwriting and other
securities activities:

Underwriting and advisory fees 1,341 2,515 (1,175) (47)
Brokerage fees 2,457 2,982 (525) (18)
Total 3,798 5,497 (1,700) (31)
Fees for other customer services 2,537 2,827 (289) (10)
Total commissions and fee income 9,749 12,289 (2,540) (21)
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Commissions and fee income. Total 2008 commissions and fee income was € 9.7 billion, a decrease of € 2.5 billion,
or 21 %, compared with 2007. Commissions and fees from fiduciary activities decreased € 551 million compared to the
prior year, mainly driven by lower performance and asset-based fees in PCAM. Underwriting and advisory fees
decreased by € 1.2 billion, or 47 %, and Brokerage fees by € 525 million, or 18 %, mainly driven by CB&S, as business
volumes decreased in line with market developments. Fees for other customer services also decreased € 289 million.

Net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale. Total net gains on financial assets available for sale were
€666 million in 2008, down € 127 million, or 16 %, compared to 2007. The 2008 result was driven mainly by net gains
of € 1.3 billion from the sale of industrial holdings in CI (mainly related to reductions of our holdings in Daimler AG and
Linde AG and the sale of our remaining holding in Allianz SE), partly offset by impairment charges in CIB’s sales and
trading areas, including mainly a € 490 million impairment loss on our available for sale positions. The 2007 result was
primarily attributable to disposal gains of € 626 million related to CI's industrial holdings portfolio, of which the most
significant were gains from the reduction of our stakes in Allianz SE and Linde AG, and from the disposal of our
investment in Fiat S.p.A. Gains in CIB’s sales and trading areas were entirely offset by impairment charges.

Net income (loss) from equity method investments. Net income from our equity method investments was € 46 million
and € 353 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively. There were no significant individual items included in 2008. The key
contributors in 2007 were Cl and the RREEF Alternative Investments business in AM. CI's income in 2007 was driven
by a gain of € 178 million from our investment in Deutsche Interhotel Holding GmbH & Co. KG (which also triggered an
impairment charge of CI’'s goodwill of € 54 million).

Other income. Total other income was € 568 million in 2008. The decrease of €718 million compared to 2007
reflected specific items in the prior period including the sale and leaseback transaction of our premises at 60 Wall
Street in 2007, and lower gains from the disposal of consolidated subsidiaries in 2008. Charges related to certain
consolidated money market funds, which were offset in other revenue categories, further contributed to this develop-
ment. The reduction was partly offset by higher insurance premiums, primarily from the acquisition of Abbey Life
Assurance Company Limited in the fourth quarter 2007.

10
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Noninterest Expenses
The following table sets forth information on our noninterest expenses.

2008 increase (decrease)

in€m. from 2007
(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007 in€m. in %
Compensation and benefits 9,606 13,122 (3,516) (27)
General and administrative expenses1 8,216 7,954 262 3
Policyholder benefits and claims (252) 193 (445) N/M
Impairment of intangible assets 585 128 457 N/M
Restructuring activities - (13) 13 N/M
Total noninterest expenses 18,155 21,384 (3,229) (15)
N/M — Not meaningful
1 Includes:
2008 2007 in € m. in %
IT costs 1,820 1,867 (47) (3)
Occupancy, furniture and equipment expenses 1,434 1,347 87 6
Professional service fees 1,164 1,257 (93) (7)
Communication and data services 700 680 20 3
Travel and representation expenses 492 539 (47) (9)
Payment, clearing and custodian services 418 437 (19) (4)
Marketing expenses 373 411 (38) (9)
Other expenses 1,815 1,416 399 28
Total general and administrative expenses 8,216 7,954 262 3

Compensation and benefits. The decrease of € 3.5 billion, or 27 %, in 2008 compared to 2007 reflected significantly
lower performance-related compensation, in line with lower operating results. This was partly offset by higher sever-
ance charges in CB&S and PBC, in connection with employee reductions resulting from repositioning and efficiency
programs.

General and administrative expenses. The increase of € 262 million, or 3 %, in 2008 compared to 2007 was due
mainly to additional litigation-related charges in the current year after net releases of provisions in the prior year, and
higher expenses related to consolidated investments in AM, both reflected in "Other expenses”. In addition, the
increase of € 399 million in Other expenses includes a provision of € 98 million related to the obligation to repurchase
Auction Rate Preferred (“ARP”) securities/Auction Rate Securities (“ARS”) at par from retail clients following a settle-
ment in the U.S.

Policyholder benefits and claims. The credit of € 252 million in the current year, compared to a charge of € 193 million
in 2007, resulted primarily from the aforementioned acquisition of Abbey Life Assurance Company Limited. These
insurance-related credits are mainly offset by related net losses on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss.

Impairment of intangible assets. 2008 included impairments of € 310 million on DWS Scudder intangible assets and a
goodwill impairment of € 270 million in a consolidated investment, both in AM. An impairment charge of € 74 million on
unamortized intangible assets in AM and a goodwill impairment charge of € 54 million in CI were recorded in 2007.
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Restructuring activities. There were no restructuring charges in 2008. In 2007, the Business Realignment Program
was completed and remaining provisions of € 13 million were released.

Income Tax Expense

A tax benefit of € 1.8 billion was recorded in 2008, compared to income tax expense of € 2.2 billion in 2007. The net
benefit in 2008 was favorably driven by the geographic mix of income/loss, successful resolution of outstanding tax
matters and a € 79 million policyholder tax credit related to the Abbey Life business. These beneficial impacts were
partly offset by an increase in our unrecognized deferred tax assets through losses incurred by certain U.S. entities
since the third quarter and a tax charge related to share based compensation as a result of the decline in our share
price. The actual effective tax rates were 32.1 % in 2008 and 25.6 % in 2007.

Results of Operations by Segment

The following is a discussion of the results of our business segments. See Note [2] to the consolidated financial state-
ments for information regarding

— our organizational structure;

— effects of significant acquisitions and divestitures on segmental results;

— changes in the format of our segment disclosure;

— the framework of our management reporting systems;

— consolidating and other adjustments to the total results of operations of our business segments;
— definitions of non-GAAP financial measures that are used with respect to each segment, and
— the rationale for including or excluding items in deriving the measures.

12
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The criterion for segmentation into divisions is our organizational structure as it existed at December 31, 2008.

Segment results were prepared in accordance with our management reporting systems.

2008 Corporate Private Corporate Total Consoli- Total
and Clients and Investments Management dation & Consolidated
in€m. Investment Asset Reporting Adjustments
(unless stated otherwise) Bank Management
Net revenues 3,078 9,041 1,290 13,408 82 13,4901
Provision for credit losses 408 668 1) 1,075 1 1,076
Total noninterest expenses 10,090 7,972 95 18,156 (0) 18,155
therein:
Policyholder benefits and claims (273) 18 - (256) 4 (252)
Impairment of intangible assets 5 580 - 585 - 585
Restructuring activities - - - - - -
Minority interest (48) (20) 2 (66) 66 -
Income (loss) before income taxes (7,371) 420 1,194 (5,756) 15 (5,741)
Cost/income ratio N/M 88 % 7% 135 % N/M 135 %
Assets’ 2,047,181 188,785 18,297 2,189,313 13,110 2,202,423
Average active equity® 20,262 8,315 403 28,979 3,100 32,079
Pre-tax return on average active equity4 (36) % 5% N/M (20) % N/M (18) %

N/M — Not meaningful

1 Includes gains from the sale of industrial holdings (Daimler AG, Allianz SE and Linde AG) of € 1,228 million and a gain from the sale of the investment in Arcor AG & Co. KG of

€ 97 million, which are excluded from our target definition.

2 The sum of corporate divisions does not necessarily equal the total of the corresponding group division because of consolidation items between corporate divisions, which are to be
eliminated on group division level. The same approach holds true for the sum of group divisions compared to ‘Total Consolidated’.

3 For management reporting purposes goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are explicitly assigned to the respective divisions. Average active equity is first allocated
to divisions according to goodwill and intangible assets; remaining average active equity is allocated to divisions in proportion to the economic capital calculated for them.

4 For the calculation of pre-tax return on average active equity please refer to Note [2]. For ‘Total consolidated’, pre-tax return on average shareholders’ equity is (16) %.

2007 Corporate Private Corporate Total Consoli- Total
and Clients and Investments Management dation & Consolidated
in€m. Investment Asset Reporting Adjustments
(unless stated otherwise) Bank Management
Net revenues 19,092 10,129 1,517 30,738 7 30,7451
Provision for credit losses 109 501 3 613 (1) 612
Total noninterest expenses 13,802 7,560 220 21,583 (199) 21,384
therein:
Policyholder benefits and claims 116 73 - 188 5 193
Impairment of intangible assets - 74 54 128 - 128
Restructuring activities 4) 9) 0) (13) (0) (13)
Minority interest 34 8 (5) 37 (37) -
Income (loss) before income taxes 5,147 2,059 1,299 8,505 243 8,749
Cost/income ratio 72 % 75 % 15 % 70 % N/M 70 %
Assets’ 1,800,027 156,767 13,005 1,916,304 8,699 1,925,003
Average active equity® 20,714 8,539 473 29,725 368 30,093
Pre-tax return on average active equity4 25 % 24 % N/M 29 % N/M 29 %

N/M — Not meaningful

1 Includes gains from the sale of industrial holdings (Fiat S.p.A., Linde AG and Allianz SE) of € 514 million, income from equity method investments (Deutsche Interhotel Holding GmbH
& Co. KG) of € 178 million, net of goodwill impairment charge of € 54 million and a gain from the sale of premises (sale/leaseback transaction of 60 Wall Street) of € 317 million, which

are excluded from our target definition.

2 The sum of corporate divisions does not necessarily equal the total of the corresponding group division because of consolidation items between corporate divisions, which are to be
eliminated on group division level. The same approach holds true for the sum of group divisions compared to ‘Total Consolidated’.

3 For management reporting purposes goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are explicitly assigned to the respective divisions. Average active equity is first allocated
to divisions according to goodwill and intangible assets; remaining average active equity is allocated to divisions in proportion to the economic capital calculated for them.

4 For the calculation of pre-tax return on average active equity please refer to Note [2]. For ‘Total consolidated’, pre-tax return on average shareholders’ equity is 24 %.
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Group Divisions

Corporate and Investment Bank Group Division
The following table sets forth the results of our Corporate and Investment Bank Group Division for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, in accordance with our management reporting systems.

in€m.
(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007
Net revenues:
Sales & Trading (equity) (630) 4,613
Sales & Trading (debt and other products) 124 8,407
Origination (equity) 336 861
Origination (debt) (713) 714
Advisory 589 1,089
Loan products 1,260 974
Transaction services 2,774 2,585
Other products (661) (151)
Total net revenues 3,078 19,092
therein:

Net interest income and net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (1,027) 12,278
Provision for credit losses 408 109
Total noninterest expenses 10,090 13,802

therein:

Policyholder benefits and claims (273) 116

Impairment of intangible assets 5 -

Restructuring activities - (4)
Minority interest (48) 34
Income (loss) before income taxes (7,371) 5,147
Cost/income ratio N/M 72 %
Assets 2,047,181 1,800,027
Average active equity1 20,262 20,714
Pre-tax return on average active equity (36) % 25%

N/M — Not meaningful
1 See Note [2] to the consolidated financial statements for a description of how average active equity is allocated to the divisions.

The following paragraphs discuss the contribution of the individual corporate divisions to the overall results of the
Corporate and Investment Bank Group Division.
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Corporate Banking & Securities Corporate Division
The following table sets forth the results of our Corporate Banking & Securities Corporate Division for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, in accordance with our management reporting systems.

in€m.
(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007
Net revenues:
Sales & Trading (equity) (630) 4,613
Sales & Trading (debt and other products) 124 8,407
Origination (equity) 336 861
Origination (debt) (713) 714
Advisory 589 1,089
Loan products 1,260 974
Other products (661) (151)
Total net revenues 304 16,507
Provision for credit losses 402 102
Total noninterest expenses 8,427 12,169
therein:
Policyholder benefits and claims (273) 116
Impairment of intangible assets 5 -
Restructuring activities - (4)
Minority interest (48) 34
Income (loss) before income taxes (8,476) 4,202
Cost/income ratio N/M 74 %
Assets 2,012,427 1,785,876
Average active equity’ 19,181 19,619
Pre-tax return on average active equity (44) % 21 %

N/M — Not meaningful
1 See Note [2] to the consolidated financial statements for a description of how average active equity is allocated to the divisions.

Net revenues in 2008 were € 304 million, compared to € 16.5 billion in 2007. This development reflected mark-downs
on credit market related assets of € 7.5 billion, compared to € 2.3 billion in the prior year, significant losses in key Sales
& Trading businesses, particularly in the fourth quarter of 2008, and lower levels of Origination and Advisory revenues.
The Corporate Banking & Securities Corporate Division recorded a loss before income taxes of € 8.5 billion in 2008,
compared to income before income taxes of € 4.2 billion in 2007.

These losses reflect the impact on our business model of unprecedented levels of market volatility and correlation
across asset classes during 2008 and particularly following the financial collapse of an U.S. investment bank in
September. In response CB&S reduced its trading exposures in Equity and Credit Proprietary Trading. The Credit
Proprietary Trading business has now been closed and legacy positions moved under different internal management.
We continue to be exposed to further deterioration in prices for the remaining positions. The aforementioned losses
more than offset significant year-on-year revenue growth in our customer-oriented money market and foreign
exchange flow businesses.
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Sales & Trading (debt and other products) revenues for the year were € 124 million, compared to € 8.4 billion in 2007.
Key drivers of the decline were mark-downs of € 5.8 billion, relating to additional reserves against monoline insurers
(€ 2.2 billion), further mark-downs on residential mortgage-backed securities (€ 2.1 billion) and commercial real estate
loans (€ 1.1 billion), and impairment losses on available for sale positions (€490 million), compared to a total
of € 1.6 billion in 2007. If reclassifications, in accordance with the amendments to IAS 39, had not been made, the
income statement for the year would have included additional negative fair value adjustments of € 2.3 billion in Sales &
Trading (debt and other products).

In Credit Trading, we incurred further losses of € 3.2 billion, predominantly in the fourth quarter, of which € 1.7 billion
related to Credit Proprietary Trading. The losses in the Credit Proprietary Trading business were mainly driven by
losses on long positions in the U.S. automotive sector and by falling corporate and convertible bond prices, as well as
basis widening on significant other debt trading inventory versus the credit default swaps (CDS) established to hedge
them. The remaining losses in our Credit Trading business were incurred across many sectors, as bonds were sold off
and basis spreads widened, driven by significant market de-leveraging and low levels of liquidity. These losses were
partially offset by record results in Foreign Exchange, Money Markets and Commodities, where customer activity
remained strong.

Sales & Trading (equity) revenues were negative €630 million, compared to positive €4.6 billion in 2007. The
decrease was mainly driven by losses in our Equity Derivatives and Equity Proprietary Trading businesses. In an
environment characterized by severely dislocated equity markets, with unprecedented levels of volatility and very low
levels of liquidity, Equity Derivatives incurred losses of € 1.4 billion, mainly in the fourth quarter. Significant increases in
the levels of equity market volatility and in correlations between both individual equity securities and indices combined
with the rapid downward repricing of dividend expectations negatively impacted the overall value of the structural
positions we held from our significant client related trading activities in the European and other equity derivatives mar-
kets. Equity Proprietary Trading losses of € 742 million were driven by market-wide de-leveraging, which drove down
convertible values and widened basis risk. However, the prime brokerage business continued to attract net new secu-
rities balances and generated revenues that were marginally lower than in 2007.

Revenues of €212 million from Origination and Advisory were € 2.5 billion below 2007. The revenue decrease was
caused primarily by mark-downs of € 1.7 billion, net of recoveries, against leveraged finance loans and loan commit-
ments, compared to € 759million in 2007. In addition, revenues were affected by the turbulent conditions in the
financial markets which led to lower issuances and new business volume compared to 2007. If reclassifications, in
accordance with the amendments to IAS 39, had not been made, the income statement for the year would have
included additional negative fair value adjustments from Origination and Advisory of € 1.1 billion.
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Loan products revenues were € 1.3 billion, an increase of € 287 million, or 29 %, compared to 2007. The increase was
largely driven by mark-to-market hedge gains and interest income on assets transferred from Origination (debt) to
Loan Products as a result of reclassifications in accordance with the amendments to IAS 39.

Other products revenues were negative € 661 million, a decrease of € 510 million compared to 2007. The decrease
primarily resulted from mark-to-market losses on investments held to back insurance policyholder claims in Abbey Life
Assurance Company Limited, which was acquired in the fourth quarter 2007. This effect is offset in noninterest
expenses and has no impact on net income (loss).

The provision for credit losses was a net charge of € 402 million in 2008, compared to a net charge of € 102 million in
2007. The increase was driven by a provision for credit losses of € 257 million related to assets which had been
reclassified in accordance with the amendments to IAS 39, together with additional provisions, mainly on European
loans, reflecting the deterioration in credit conditions.

Noninterest expenses decreased € 3.7 billion, or 31 %, to €8.4 billion in 2008. This decrease was primarily due to
lower performance-related compensation in line with business results, as well as the aforementioned effects from
Abbey Life which resulted in cost decreases of € 389 million. Savings from cost containment measures and lower staff
levels were offset by higher severance charges.

Amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7, “Reclassification of Financial Assets”

The results for 2008 were significantly positively impacted by the application of the amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS
7, “Reclassification of Financial Assets” which were approved by the IASB and endorsed by the EU in October 2008.
Under these amendments it is permissible to reclassify certain financial assets out of financial assets as at fair value
through profit or loss and the available for sale classifications into the loans classification. For assets to be reclassified
there must be a clear change in management intent with respect to the assets since initial recognition and the financial
asset must meet the definition of a loan at the reclassification date. Additionally, there must be an intent and ability to
hold the asset for the foreseeable future at the reclassification date.

In the third quarter, we identified assets, eligible under the amendments, for which we had a clear change of intent to
hold for the foreseeable future. These assets were reclassified with effect from July 1, 2008 at fair value as of that
date. In the fourth quarter 2008, we made additional reclassifications, at fair value at the date of reclassification.
Where the decision to reclassify was made by November 1, 2008, the reclassifications were made with effect from
October 1, 2008, at fair value on that date. Reclassifications made after November 1, 2008 were made on a pro-
spective basis at fair value on the date of reclassification. All reclassifications were to loans. In these instances, man-
agement believed the intrinsic values of the assets exceeded their estimated fair values, which has been significantly
adversely impacted by the reduced liquidity in the financial markets, and returns on these assets would be optimized
by holding them for the foreseeable future. Where this clear change of intent existed and was supported by an ability
to hold and fund the underlying positions, we concluded that the reclassifications aligned more closely the accounting
with the business intent.
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The impacts of these reclassifications for CB&S are summarized in the following table and their consequential effect
on credit market risk disclosures is provided in “Key Credit Market Exposures”.

Dec 31, 2008 Period ended Dec 31, 2008

Carrying value Fair value Impact on Impact on net
income before  gains (losses) not

income taxes recognized in the

income statement

in € bn. in € bn. in€m. in€m.

Sales & Trading — Debt

Trading assets reclassified to loans 16.2 14.3 2,073 -

Financial assets available for sale reclassified to loans 10.5 8.5 121 1,712
Origination and Advisory

Trading assets reclassified to loans 7.4 6.4 1,101 -
Loan products

Financial assets available for sale reclassified to loans 0.3 0.1 - 114
Total 34.4 29.3 3,295' 1,826

1 In addition to the impact in CB&S, income before income taxes increased by € 32 million in PBC.

The assets reclassified included funded leveraged finance loans with a fair value on the date of reclassification of
€ 7.5 billion which were entered into as part of an “originate to distribute” strategy. Assets with a fair value on the date
of reclassification of € 9.4 billion were contained within consolidated asset backed commercial paper conduits at
reclassification date. Commercial real estate loans were reclassified with a fair value on the date of reclassification of
€ 9.1 billion. These loans were intended for securitization at their origination or purchase date. The remaining reclassi-
fied assets, which comprised other assets principally acquired or originated for the purpose of securitization, had a fair
value of € 9.0 billion on the reclassification date.
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Key Credit Market Exposures

The following is an update on the development of certain key credit positions exposed to fair value movements
through the profit and loss account (“P&L”) (including protection purchased from monoline insurers) of those CB&S
businesses that have been impacted throughout the global credit crisis and on which we have previously provided
additional risk disclosures.

Assets reclassified from trading or available for sale to loans and receivables under the amendments to IAS 39 have
been excluded from the 2008 figures as they no longer create fair value movements through P&L.

CDO Trading and Origination Businesses: The following table outlines the overall U.S. subprime residential mort-
gage-related exposures in our CDO trading businesses as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

CDO subprime exposure — Trading Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Subprime Hedges and Subprime Subprime Hedges and Subprime
ABS CDO other ABS CDO ABS CDO other ABS CDO

gross protection net gross protection net

in€m. exposure purchased exposure exposure purchased exposure

Super Senior tranches 640 (182) 458 1,778 (938) 840

Mezzanine tranches 228 (195) 33 1,086 (922) 164

Total Super Senior

and Mezzanine tranches 868 (377) 491 2,864 (1,860) 1,004

Other net subprime-related exposure

held by CDO businesses (6) 186

Total net subprime exposure in

CDO businesses 485 1,190

In the above table, exposure represents our potential loss in the event of a 100 % default of subprime securities and
subprime-related ABS CDO, assuming zero recovery. It is not an indication of net delta adjusted trading risk (the net
delta adjusted trading risk measure is used to ensure comparability between different ABS CDO and other subprime
exposures; for each subprime position the delta represents the change of the position in the related security which
would have the same sensitivity to a given change in the market).

The various gross components of the overall net exposure shown above represent different vintages, locations, credit
ratings and other market-sensitive factors. Therefore, while the overall numbers above provide a view of the absolute
levels of our exposure to an extreme market movement, actual future profit and losses will depend on actual market
movements, basis movements between different components of our positions, and our ability to adjust hedges in
these circumstances. As of December 31, 2008, the Super Senior and Mezzanine gross exposures and hedges
consisted of approximately 1 % 2007, 30 % 2006, 35 % 2005 and 34 % 2004 and earlier vintages.

ABS CDO valuations are driven by parameters which can be separated into primary and secondary. Primary parame-
ters are quantitative inputs into the pricing model. Secondary parameters can be qualitative (geographical concen-
tration) or quantitative (historical default rates), and are used to determine the appropriate values for the primary
parameters. Secondary parameters are used as guidelines to support the reasonable estimates for primary para-
meters. Key primary parameters driving valuation for CDO assets include forward rates, credit spreads, prepayment
speeds, and correlation, default and recovery rates.
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Our assumptions are benchmarked against market transactions to the extent possible. We have also classified ABS
CDO as subprime if 50 % or more of the underlying collateral are home equity loans.

In addition to subprime-related CDO exposure, we also have exposure to ABS CDO positions backed by U.S. Alt-A
mortgage collateral. The table below summarizes our exposure for these positions on an equivalent basis to the

above.

CDO Alt-A exposure - Trading Exposure

in€m. Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007

Total gross Alt-A exposure 201 603

Hedges and other protection purchased (147) (442)
Total net Alt-A exposure in CDO businesses 54 161

Our CDO businesses also have exposure to CDOs backed by other asset classes, including commercial mortgages,
trust preferred securities and collateralized loan obligations. These exposures are typically hedged through transac-
tions arranged with other market participants or through other related market instruments. Actual future profits and
losses will depend on actual market movements, basis movements between different components of our positions,
and our ability to adjust hedges in these circumstances.

In addition to the exposure classified as “trading”, the table below summarizes our exposure to U.S. subprime ABS
CDOs classified as “Available for Sale”. These exposures arise from activities with Group sponsored consolidated
asset-backed commercial paper conduits. While changes in the fair value of available for sale securities generally are
recorded in equity, certain reductions in fair value are reflected in profit or loss. In the 2008 results, we recorded
charges in profit or loss of € 448 million against these available for sale positions which have been previously recorded
in equity. As of December 31, 2008, the remaining amount recorded in equity against these positions was € 15 million.

CDO subprime exposure — Available for sale and short positions on trading book Exposure
in€m. Dec 31,2008 Dec 31, 2007
Available for sale 86 499
Short positions on trading book - (446)
Total net CDO subprime exposure 86 53

Residential Mortgage Trading Businesses: We also have ongoing exposure to the U.S. residential mortgage market
through our trading, origination and securitization business in residential mortgages. The credit sensitive exposures
are summarized below. Our analysis excludes both agency mortgage backed securities and agency eligible loans,
which we do not consider to be credit sensitive products. Agency mortgage backed securities are not considered to be
credit sensitive products as the timely payment of principal and interest on the underlying loans is guaranteed by
government sponsored entities (“GSEs”). Agency eligible loans are not considered to be credit sensitive products as
they are underwritten to meet agency guidelines, which allow them to be sold to GSEs.
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Our analysis also excludes interest-only and inverse interest-only positions which are negatively correlated to deterio-
rating markets.

Other U.S. residential mortgage business exposure Exposure
in€m. Dec 31,2008 Dec 31, 2007
Alt-A 3,406 7,848
Subprime 84 214
Other 1,359 1,666
Total other U.S. residential mortgage gross assets 4,849 9,729
Hedges and other protection purchased (3,993) (6,921)
Other trading-related net positions 403 803
Total net other U.S. residential mortgage business exposure 1,259 3,611

In the above table, exposure represents our potential loss in the event of a 100 % default of RMBS bonds, loans and
associated hedges, assuming a zero recovery. It is not an indication of net delta adjusted trading risk (the net delta
adjusted trading risk measure is used to ensure comparability between different residential mortgage-backed securi-
ties and other exposures; for each synthetic position the delta represents the position in the related security which
would have the same sensitivity to a given change in the market).

The various gross components of the overall net exposure shown above represent different vintages, locations, credit
ratings and other market-sensitive factors. Therefore, while the overall numbers above provide a view of the absolute
levels of our exposure to an extreme market movement, actual future profits and losses will depend on actual market
movements, basis movements between different components of our positions and our ability to adjust hedges in these
circumstances. On December 31, 2008, the Alt-A and subprime gross assets, and hedges and other protection pur-
chased, consisted of approximately 89 % 2007, 9 % 2006 and 2 % 2005 and earlier vintages. The credit ratings on the
total Alt-A and subprime gross assets, and hedges and other protection purchased, were approximately 90 % AAA.

Hedges consist of a number of different market instruments, including protection provided by monoline insurers,
single-name CDS contracts with market counterparties and index-based contracts.

During 2008 we recorded losses of € 1.8 billion, excluding impacts of monoline provisions which are included in the

monoline disclosure, in our U.S. residential mortgage business, primarily relating to the Alt-A exposures that are
disclosed in the table above.
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CB&S’s European “originate to distribute” mortgage business has remaining exposures to residential mortgages
in trading assets which are summarized in the table below. During 2008, we incurred losses of €277 million on
mark-downs of these trading assets.

European residential mortgage business exposure (fair value basis) Exposure
in€m. Dec 31,2008 Dec 31, 2007
United Kingdom 188 1,545
Italy 56 423
Germany 13 148
Spain - 83
Total European residential mortgage business exposure 257 2,200

In the above table, our exposure excludes assets that were reclassified from trading to loans and receivables under
the provisions of the amended IAS 39, “Reclassification of Financial Assets”, with an effective transfer date
of July 1, 2008 or later. The impact of the transfer was to reduce our P&L exposure to fair value movements as of
December 31, 2008 by € 1.1 billion (thereof UK € 699 million, Italy € 198 million, Germany € 146 million and Spain
€ 65 million).

Exposure to Monoline Insurers: The deterioration of the U.S. subprime mortgage and related markets has generated
large exposures to financial guarantors, such as monoline insurers, that have insured or guaranteed the value of pools
of collateral referenced by CDOs and other market-traded securities. Actual claims against monoline insurers will only
become due if actual defaults occur in the underlying assets (or collateral). There is ongoing uncertainty as to whether
some monoline insurers will be able to meet all their liabilities to banks and other buyers of protection. Under certain
conditions (e.g. liquidation) we can accelerate claims regardless of actual losses on the underlying assets.

The following table summarizes the fair value of our counterparty exposures to monoline insurers with respect to
U.S. residential mortgage-related activity, on the basis of the fair value of the assets compared with the notional value
guaranteed or underwritten by monoline insurers. The table shows the associated credit valuation adjustments
(“CVA”) that we have recorded against the exposures.
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The credit valuation adjustments are assessed name-by-name based on internally determined credit ratings and, in
the case of those deemed unlikely to be able to meet their liabilities in full, an in-depth analysis of the facts and
circumstances by our Credit Risk Management function.

Monoline exposure related to U.S. residential Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007

mortgages Notional Fair CVA' Fair  Notional Fair CVA' Fair

amount value value amount value value

prior to after prior to after

in€m. CVA' CVA' CVA' CVA'
AA/AAA Monolines:

Super Senior ABS CDO - - - - 1,087 615 (25) 590

Other subprime 76 40 - 39 461 44 - 44

Alt-A 5,063 1,573 (37) 1,536 6,318 229 - 229

Total AA/AAA Monolines® 5,139 1,613 (37) 1,576 7,866 888 (25) 863

Non AA/AAA Investment Grade Monolines:
Super Senior ABS CDO - - - = - - - —
Other subprime - - - - - - — _
Alt-A - = - - - — — _
Total Non AA/AAA Investment Grade Monolines - - - - - - - -

Non Investment Grade Monolines:

Super Senior ABS CDO 1,110 1,031 (918) 113 69 57 (57) -
Other subprime 258 80 (24) 56 - - - -
Alt-A 1,293 336 (346) (10) - - - -
Total Non Investment Grade Monolines 2,660 1,447 (1,288) 159 69 57 (57) -
Total 7,799 3,060 (1,325) 1,735 7,935 945 (82) 863

1 Credit valuation adjustment
2 Fair value prior to CVA 2008: 100 % rated “AA*; 2007: 72 % rated “AAA” and 28 % “AA*

The ratings in the table above are based on external ratings. We have applied the lower of Standard & Poor’s and
Moody'’s credit ratings as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

The table above excludes counterparty exposure to monoline insurers that relates to wrapped bonds. A wrapped bond
is one that is insured or guaranteed by a third party. As of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the exposure
on wrapped bonds related to U.S. residential mortgages was € 58 million and € 159 million, respectively, which repre-
sents an estimate of the potential mark-downs of wrapped assets in the event of monoline defaults.

A proportion of this mark-to-market monoline exposure has been mitigated with CDS protection arranged with other
market counterparties and other economic hedge activity.

In addition to the residential mortgage-related activities shown in the table above, we have other exposures to mono-
line insurers, based on the mark-to-market value of other protected assets. These arise from a range of client and
trading activity, including collateralized loan obligations, commercial mortgage-backed securities, trust preferred secu-
rities, student loans and public sector or municipal debt. The following table summarizes the fair value of our other
counterparty exposures to monoline insurers, on the basis of the fair value of the assets compared with the notional
value guaranteed or underwritten by monoline insurers.
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The table shows the associated credit valuation adjustments that we have recorded against the exposures which are
assessed and calculated on the basis set out above.

Other Monoline exposure Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Notional Fair CVA' Fair  Notional Fair CVA' Fair
amount value value amount value value
prior to after prior to after
in €m. CVA' CVA' CVA' CVA'
AA/AAA Monolines:
TPS-CLO 3,019 1,241 (29) 1,213 3,606 192 - 192
CMBS 1,018 117 3) 115 7,798 122 - 122
Corporate single name/Corporate CDO 6,273 222 (2) 219 13,133 45 - 45
Student loan 277 105 2) 103 1,687 135 - 135
Other 587 288 (5) 283 2,607 136 - 136
Public sector / Municipal - - - - 1,027 2 - 2
Total AA/AAA Monolines® 11,174 1,974 (41) 1,933 29,858 632 - 632
Non AA/AAA Investment Grade Monolines:
TPS-CLO 416 215 (59) 156 - - - -
CMBS 5,537 882 (111) 771 - - - -
Corporate single name/Corporate CDO 5,525 272 (38) 234 - - - -
Student loan 53 20 3) 17 - - - -
Other 498 94 (16) 78 - - - -
Public sector/Municipal - - - - - - - -
Total Non AA/AAA Investment Grade Monolines 12,029 1,484 (228) 1,256 - - - -
Non Investment Grade Monolines:
TPS-CLO 831 244 (74) 169 - - - -
CMBS 672 125 (56) 69 - - - -
Corporate single name/Corporate CDO 787 9 (2) 6 - - - -
Student loan 1,185 906 (227) 680 - - - -
Other 1,244 504 (229) 275 - - - -
Public sector/Municipal - - - - - - - -
Total Non Investment Grade Monolines 4,719 1,787 (588) 1,199 - - - -
Total 27,922 5,245 (857) 4,388 29,858 632 - 632

1 Credit valuation adjustment

2 Fair value prior to CVA 2008: 100 % rated “AA*; 2007: 96 % rated “AAA” and 4 % “AA*

The ratings in the table above are based on external ratings. We have applied the lower of Standard & Poor’'s and
Moody’s credit ratings as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

24



01 Management Report  Results of Operations by Segment

The table above excludes counterparty exposure to monoline insurers that relates to wrapped bonds. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the exposure on wrapped bonds other than those related to U.S. residential
mortgages was € 136 million and € 612 million, respectively, which represents an estimate of the potential mark-downs
of wrapped assets in the event of monoline defaults.

A proportion of this mark-to-market monoline exposure has been mitigated with CDS protection arranged with other
market counterparties and other economic hedge activity.

As of December 31, 2008, our total CVA for monoline exposures was € 2.2 billion (thereof U.S. residential mortgage-
related € 1.3 billion, other exposures € 857 million), compared to € 82 million (all U.S. residential mortgage-related)
as of December 31, 2007.

Commercial Real Estate Business: Our Commercial Real Estate business takes positions in commercial mortgage

whole loans which are originated and either held with the intent to sell, syndicate, securitize or otherwise distribute to
third party investors, or held on an amortized cost basis.
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The following is a summary of our exposure to commercial mortgage whole loans which are held on a fair value basis
as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007. This excludes our portfolio of secondary market commercial mort-
gage-backed securities which are actively traded and priced.

Commercial Real Estate traded whole loan exposure (fair value basis) Gross exposure
in€m. Dec 31,2008  Dec 31, 2007
Funded positions 4,600 16,044
Unfunded commitments - 1,218
Total gross traded whole loan exposure [A] 4,600 17,262
Net risk reduction? [B] (1,367) (1,215)
Total net traded whole loan exposure 3,233 16,047

Gross exposure by region:

Germany 1,347 6,873
North America 2,609 8,366
Other Europe 593 1,926
Asia/Pacific' 51 97
Gross exposure by loan type:
Office 1,554 4,086
Hotel 1,079 4,717
Retail 1,076 3,199
Multi-Family 214 2,899
Leisure 415 1,000
Mixed Use 31 800
Other 231 561

Mark-to-market losses against loans and loan commitments

in€m. 2008 2007
Net mark-downs excluding hedges (857) (386)
Gain (loss) on specific hedges (270) 171
Net mark-downs including specific hedges (1,127) (215)

Dec 31,2008 Dec 31, 2007

Life-to-date gross mark-downs excluding fees and specific hedges on remaining exposure [C] (628) (558)
Fees on remaining exposure 95 172
Life-to-date net mark-downs excluding specific hedges on remaining exposure (533) (386)
Carrying value of loans and loan commitments held on a fair value basis, gross of risk reduction [A-C] 3,972 16,704
Carrying value of loans and loan commitments held on a fair value basis, net of risk reduction [A-B-C] 2,605 15,489

1 Gross exposure as of December 31, 2007 has been restated by € 97 million to include traded whole loans in Asia/Pacific.
2 Risk reduction trades represent a series of derivative or other transactions entered into in order to mitigate risk on specific whole loans.

In the above table, our exposure excludes assets that were reclassified from trading to loans and receivables under
the provisions of the amended IAS 39, “Reclassification of Financial Assets”, with an effective transfer date of
July 1, 2008 or later. The impact of the transfer was to reduce our trading loans subject to fair value movements
through the P&L as of December 31, 2008 by € 6.9 billion and to increase our loans accounted for on an amortized
cost basis by a corresponding amount.
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The above table also excludes our previous loan exposure to The Cosmopolitan Resort and Casino. In Septem-
ber 2008, we foreclosed on the property. The fair value of the loan at the date of transfer was € 799 million. The prop-
erty is now carried as an investment property under construction and is included in Property and equipment, with
a carrying value as of December 31, 2008 of € 1.1 billion. For further information on this asset see section “Events
after the balance sheet date” on page 61.

Leveraged Finance Business: The following is a summary of our exposures to leveraged loan and other financing
commitments arising from the activities of our Leveraged Finance business as of December 31, 2008 and Decem-
ber 31, 2007. These activities include private equity transactions and other buyout arrangements. Also shown are the
mark-downs taken against these loans and loan commitments as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

Leveraged Finance exposure (fair value basis) Gross exposure
in€m. Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Funded positions 851 14,492
Unfunded commitments = 20,415
Total Leveraged Finance exposure [A] 851 34,908
Gross exposure by region:
North America 812 25,766
Europe 39 8,667
Asia/Pacific - 475
Gross exposure by industry sector:
Telecommunications 74 7,486
Chemicals - 5,403
Pharmaceuticals - 4,554
Media 481 2,797
Hospitality & Gaming 106 4,192
Leasing - 1,386
Services 109 2,319
Healthcare 19 328
Retail - 2,455
Technology 16 1,345
Utilities 47 1,498
Other - 1,145

Mark-to-market losses against loans and loan commitments

in€m. 2008 2007
Net mark-downs excluding hedges (1,683) (759)

Dec 31,2008 Dec 31, 2007

Life-to-date gross mark-downs excluding fees and hedges on remaining exposure [B] (326) (1,351)
Fees on remaining exposure 17 642
Life-to-date net mark-downs excluding hedges on remaining exposure (309) (709)
Exposure to loans and loan commitments (fair value basis) [A-B] 525 33,558

The table above excludes both new exposures entered into in 2008, which were transacted at market rates and have
a fair value of € 558 million as of December 31, 2008, and loans, entered into after January 1, 2007, accounted for on
an amortized cost basis of € 9.9 billion, compared to € 1.3 billion as of December 31, 2007. Included in the loans
accounted for on an amortized cost basis are assets that were reclassified from trading to loans and receivables under
the provisions of the amended IAS 39, “Reclassification of Financial Assets”, with an effective transfer date of
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July 1, 2008 or later. The impact of the transfers was to reduce our trading loans subject to fair value movements
through the P&L as of December 31, 2008 by € 8.5 billion and to increase our loans accounted for on an amortized
cost basis by a corresponding amount.

During 2008, we entered into transactions with four special purpose entities to derecognize certain loans, predomi-
nantly U.S. leveraged loans and commercial real estate loans that were held at fair value through profit or loss. Please
refer to “Special Purpose Entities” on page 33 for more information.

Global Transaction Banking Corporate Division
The following table sets forth the results of our Global Transaction Banking Corporate Division for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, in accordance with our management reporting systems.

in€m.

(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007
Net revenues:

Transaction services 2,774 2,585
Other products - -
Total net revenues 2,774 2,585
Provision for credit losses 5 7
Total noninterest expenses 1,663 1,633

therein:

Restructuring activities - 1)
Minority interest - -
Income (loss) before income taxes 1,106 945
Cost/income ratio 60 % 63 %
Assets 49,487 32,117
Average active equity’ 1,081 1,095
Pre-tax return on average active equity 102 % 86 %

1 See Note [2] to the consolidated financial statements for a description of how average active equity is allocated to the divisions.

Income before income taxes increased by € 160 million, or 17 %, to a record € 1.1 billion for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2008. This development reflected record revenues combined with sustained cost discipline.

Net revenues increased by 7 % to € 2.8 billion in 2008. The increase of € 189 million compared to 2007 was mainly
driven by an improved business flow in documentary credit services and export finance solutions for clients’ cross-
border trade transactions in the Trade Finance business. Cash Management also generated higher revenues as
a result of significantly increased transaction volumes in both the euro and U.S. dollar clearing business. Despite the
market turmoil in 2008, there was a solid growth in deposit balances of 8 % as compared to December 31, 2007.

The provision for credit losses was a net charge of € 5 million, compared to a net charge of € 7 million in 2007.
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Noninterest expenses of € 1.7 billion remained stable compared to 2007. Expenses related to investments, including

the acquisitions of HedgeWorks LLC in the U.S. and the operating platform of Pago eTransaction Services

GmbH, were mostly offset by cost containment measures, efficiency improvements and lower performance-related

compensation.

Private Clients and Asset Management Group Division

The following table sets forth the results of our Private Clients and Asset Management Group Division for the years

ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, in accordance with our management reporting systems.

in€m.

(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007
Net revenues:

Portfolio/fund management 2,457 3,017
Brokerage 1,891 2,172
Loan/deposit 3,251 3,145
Payments, account & remaining financial services 1,066 1,039
Other products 376 756
Total net revenues 9,041 10,129

therein:

Net interest income and net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 3,871 3,529
Provision for credit losses 668 501
Total noninterest expenses 7,972 7,560

therein:

Policyholder benefits and claims 18 73

Impairment of intangible assets 580 74

Restructuring activities = (9)
Minority interest (20) 8
Income (loss) before income taxes 420 2,059
Cost/lincome ratio 88 % 75 %
Assets 188,785 156,767
Average active equity’ 8,315 8,539
Pre-tax return on average active equity 5% 24 %
Invested assets? (in € bn.) 816 952

1 See Note [2] to the consolidated financial statements for a description of how average active equity is allocated to the divisions.

2 We define invested assets as (a) assets we hold on behalf of customers for investment purposes and/or (b) client assets that are managed by us. We

manage invested assets on a discretionary or advisory basis, or these assets are deposited with us.

The following paragraphs discuss the contribution of the individual corporate divisions to the overall results of Private

Clients and Asset Management Group Division.
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Asset and Wealth Management Corporate Division
The following table sets forth the results of our Asset and Wealth Management Corporate Division for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, in accordance with our management reporting systems.

in€m.
(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007
Net revenues:
Portfolio/fund management (AM) 1,840 2,351
Portfolio/fund management (PWM) 361 414
Total portfolio/fund management 2,201 2,765
Brokerage 908 964
Loan/deposit 266 223
Payments, account & remaining financial services 26 22
Other products (137) 401
Total net revenues 3,264 4,374
Provision for credit losses 15 1
Total noninterest expenses 3,794 3,453
therein:
Policyholder benefits and claims 18 73
Impairment of intangible assets 580 74
Restructuring activities = (8)
Minority interest (20) 7
Income (loss) before income taxes (525) 913
Cost/income ratio 116 % 79 %
Assets 50,473 39,180
Average active equity’ 4,870 5,109
Pre-tax return on average active equity (11) % 18 %
Invested assets® (in€bn.) 628 749

1 See Note [2] to the consolidated financial statements for a description of how average active equity is allocated to the divisions.

2 We define invested assets as (a) assets we hold on behalf of customers for investment purposes and/or (b) client assets that are managed by us. We
manage invested assets on a discretionary or advisory basis, or these assets are deposited with us.

For the year 2008, AWM reported net revenues of € 3.3 billion, a decrease of € 1.1 billion, or 25 %, compared to 2007.
Portfolio/fund management revenues in Asset Management (AM) decreased by € 510 million, or 22 %, and in Private
Wealth Management (PWM) by €53 million, or 13 %. Both business divisions were significantly and negatively
impacted by market developments in 2008, especially in the fourth quarter, as well as from the strong euro. The
deterioration of performance and asset-based fees reflected the sharp decline of asset valuations and the related
development of assets under management, especially with regard to equity products. Brokerage revenues decreased
by € 56 million, or 6 %, compared to 2007, reflecting limited client activity in the challenging market environment and
the impact of the stronger euro. Loan/deposit revenues were up € 43 million, or 20 %, due to a significant growth of
loan and deposit volumes. Revenues from Other products were negative € 137 million for 2008 compared to positive
revenues of € 401 million last year. The negative revenues for the current year were composed of a number of signifi-
cant specific items due to the market dislocations, including mark-downs on seed capital and other investments
of approximately € 230 million and injections of € 150 million into certain consolidated money market funds.
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Noninterest expenses in 2008 were € 3.8 billion, an increase of € 341 million, or 10 %, compared to 2007. The
increase was primarily due to an impairment of € 310 million related to DWS Scudder intangible assets (compared to
€ 74 million in 2007) and a goodwill impairment of € 270 million in a consolidated investment, both in AM. In PWM,
a provision of € 98 million was taken related to the obligation to repurchase Auction Rate Preferred (“ARP”) securities/
Auction Rate Securities (“ARS”) at par from retail clients following a settlement in the U.S.

AWM’s full year 2008 resulted in a loss before income taxes of € 525 million, compared to an income before income
taxes of € 913 million in 2007.

Invested assets in AWM were € 628 billion at December 31, 2008, a decrease of € 121 billion compared to Decem-
ber 31, 2007. Of this decrease, asset value declines accounted for € 109 billion. For the full year 2008, AM recorded
net outflows of € 22 billion while PWM attracted net new assets of € 10 billion.

Private & Business Clients Corporate Division
The following table sets forth the results of our Private & Business Clients Corporate Division for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, in accordance with our management reporting systems.

in€m.

(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007
Net revenues:

Portfolio/fund management 256 253
Brokerage 983 1,207
Loan/deposit 2,985 2,923
Payments, account & remaining financial services 1,040 1,017
Other products 513 355
Total net revenues 5,777 5,755
Provision for credit losses 653 501
Total noninterest expenses 4,178 4,108

therein:

Restructuring activities - (1)
Minority interest 0 0
Income (loss) before income taxes 945 1,146
Cost/lincome ratio 72 % 71 %
Assets 138,350 117,809
Average active equity1 3,445 3,430
Pre-tax return on average active equity 27 % 33 %
Invested assets? (in € bn.) 189 203
Loan volume (in € bn.) 91 87
Deposit volume (in € bn.) 118 96

1 See Note [2] to the consolidated financial statements for a description of how average active equity is allocated to the divisions.

2 We define invested assets as (a) assets we hold on behalf of customers for investment purposes and/or (b) client assets that are managed by us. We
manage invested assets on a discretionary or advisory basis, or these assets are deposited with us.

Net revenues of € 5.8 billion were essentially unchanged compared with 2007. Portfolio/fund management revenues
increased by € 3 million, or 1 %, driven by a successful portfolio management product campaign in the third quarter of
2008. Brokerage revenues decreased by € 224 million, or 19 %, mainly reflecting low client activity in a difficult market
environment. Loan/deposit revenues increased by € 62 million, or 2 %, mainly driven by growth in both loan and de-
posit volumes, partly offset by lower margins, especially in deposit products. Payment, account & remaining financial
services revenues increased by € 23 million, or 2 %, mainly driven by higher revenues from the credit card business.
Revenues from Other products of € 513 million in 2008 increased by € 158 million, or 44 %, mainly driven by PBC’s
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asset and liability management function, dividend income from a cooperation partner after an IPO and subsequent
gains related to a business sale closed in a prior period.

Provision for credit losses increased by € 152 million, or 30 %, mainly reflecting the deteriorating credit conditions in
Spain, higher delinquencies in Germany and ltaly, as well as organic growth in Poland.

Noninterest expenses of €4.2 billion were € 70 million, or 2 %, higher than in 2007. Higher severance and staffing
costs were offset by lower performance-related compensation and tight cost management.

Invested assets of € 189 billion at the end of 2008 decreased by € 15 billion. Market depreciation of € 30 billion was
partly offset by net new assets inflows of € 15 billion.

The number of clients in PBC reached 14.6 million at year end 2008, an increase of approximately 800,000 net new
clients, mainly in Germany, Italy and Poland.

Corporate Investments Group Division
The following table sets forth the results of our Corporate Investments Group Division for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and 2007, in accordance with our management reporting systems.

in€m.

(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007

Net revenues 1,290 1,517
therein:

Net interest income and net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (172) 157
Provision for credit losses 1) 3
Total noninterest expenses 95 220

therein:

Impairment of intangible assets - 54

Restructuring activities - (0)
Minority interest 2 (5)
Income (loss) before income taxes 1,194 1,299
Cost/income ratio 7% 15 %
Assets 18,297 13,005
Average active equity1 403 473
Pre-tax return on average active equity N/M N/M

N/M — Not meaningful
1 See Note [2] to the consolidated financial statements for a description of how average active equity is allocated to the divisions.

In 2008 CI's income before income taxes was € 1.2 billion compared to € 1.3 billion in 2007.
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Net revenues were € 1.3 billion, a decrease of € 227 million compared to 2007. Net revenues in 2008 included net
gains of € 1.3 billion from the sale of industrial holdings (mainly related to Daimler AG, Allianz SE and Linde AG),
a gain of € 96 million from the disposal of our investment in Arcor AG & Co. KG, dividend income of € 114 million, as
well as mark-downs, including the impact from our option to increase our share in Hua Xia Bank Co. Ltd.

Net revenues in 2007 included net gains of € 626 million from selling some of our industrial holdings (mainly Allianz
SE, Linde AG and Fiat S.p.A.), a gain of € 178 million from our equity method investment in Deutsche Interhotel Hold-
ing GmbH & Co. KG (which also triggered an impairment charge of € 54 million of CI's goodwill), dividend income of
€ 141 million and mark-ups from our option to increase our share in Hua Xia Bank Co. Ltd. In addition, net revenues
included a gain of € 313 million from the sale and leaseback transaction of our premises at 60 Wall Street.

Total noninterest expenses were €95 million, a decrease of €126 million compared to the previous year. This
decrease was mainly the result of lower costs from consolidated investments in 2008 and the aforementioned goodwiill
impairment charge in 2007.

At year end 2008, the alternative assets portfolio of Cl had a carrying value of € 434 million (down 31 % compared to
2007), of which 72 % was real estate investments, 23 % was private equity direct investments and 5 % was private
equity indirect and other investments. This compares to a carrying value of € 631 million at year end 2007.

Consolidation & Adjustments
For a discussion of Consolidation & Adjustments to our business segment results see Note [2] to the consolidated
financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

For a detailed discussion of our liquidity risk management, see our Risk Report and Note [36] to the consolidated
financial statements.

Special Purpose Entities

We engage in various business activities with certain entities, referred to as special purpose entities (SPEs), which are
designed to achieve a specific business purpose. The principal uses of SPEs are to provide clients with access to
specific portfolios of assets and risk and to provide market liquidity for clients through securitizing financial assets.
SPEs may be established as corporations, trusts or partnerships.

We may or may not consolidate SPEs that we have set up or sponsored or with which we have a contractual relation-
ship. We will consolidate an SPE when we have the power to govern its financial and operating policies, generally
accompanying a shareholding, either directly or indirectly, of more than one half of the voting rights. When the activi-
ties are narrowly defined or it is not evident who controls the financial and operating policies of the SPE, a range of
other factors are considered. These factors include whether (1) the activities of the SPE are being conducted on
our behalf according to our specific business needs so that we obtain the benefits from the SPE’s operations, (2) we
have decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits, (3) we will obtain the majority of the benefits of
the activities of the SPE, and (4) we retain the majority of the residual ownership risks related to the assets in order
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to obtain the benefits from its activities. We consolidate an SPE if an assessment of the relevant factors indicates that
we control it.

We reassess our treatment of SPEs for consolidation when there is a change in the SPE’s arrangements or the
substance of the relationship between us and an SPE changes. For further detail on our accounting policies regarding
consolidation and reassessment of consolidation of SPEs please refer to Note [1] in our consolidated financial
statements.

In limited situations we consolidate some SPEs for both financial reporting and German regulatory purposes.
However, in all other cases we hold regulatory capital, as appropriate, against all SPE-related transactions and related
exposures, such as derivative transactions and lending-related commitments and guarantees. To date, our exposures
to non-consolidated SPEs have not had a material impact on our debt covenants, capital ratios, credit ratings or
dividends.

Total Assets in Consolidated SPEs

Dec 31, 2008 Asset type
Financial Financial Loans’ Cash and Other assets Total assets
assets at assets cash
fair value available equivalents

through for sale

in€m. profit or loss'

Category:

Group sponsored ABCP conduits® - 30 24,523 6 132 24,691

Group sponsored securitizations

u.s. 6,792 - - - 277 7,069
non-U.S.2 1,655 - 1,324 41 30 3,050
Third party sponsored
securitizations
u.s. 546 - - - 125 671
non-U.S. - - 533 1 23 557

Repackaging and investment

products 9,012 1,847 101 935 2,224 14,119

Mutual funds 7,005 - - 3,328 45 10,378

Structured transactions 3,327 202 5,066 22 416 9,033

Operating entities? 1,810 3,497 1,986 600 1,472 9,365

Other 415 307 926 485 839 2,972

Total 30,562 5,883 34,459 5,418 5,583 81,905

1 Fair value of derivative positions is € 391 million.

2 Certain positions have been reclassified from trading and available for sale into loans in accordance with IAS 39, “Reclassification of Financial Assets”
which became effective on July 1, 2008. For an explanation of the impact of the reclassification please see Note [10] and “Results of Operations by
Segment — Corporate Banking & Securities Corporate Division, Amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7, “Reclassification of Financial Assets”.
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Dec 31, 2007 Asset type
Financial Financial Loans Cash and Other assets Total assets
assets at fair assets avail- cash
value able for sale equivalents
through

in€m. profit or loss'
Category:
Group sponsored ABCP conduits 5 10,558 16,897 3 139 27,602
Group sponsored securitizations

u.s. 24,720 - - - 569 25,289

non-U.S. 2,957 - 383 33 4 3,377
Third party sponsored
securitizations

u.s. 13,781 - - - 24 13,805

non-U.S. - - - - - -
Repackaging and investment
products 12,543 1,825 - 1,012 1,453 16,833
Mutual funds 256 - - 424 1 681
Structured transactions 4,449 4,672 2,664 604 314 12,703
Operating entities 2,576 3,458 216 17 337 6,604
Other 616 302 583 306 472 2,279
Total 61,903 20,815 20,743 2,399 3,313 109,173

1 Fair value of derivative positions is € 489 million.

These tables provide detail about the assets (after consolidation eliminations) in our consolidated SPEs. Further
details follow regarding the purpose of the SPEs, the nature of our relationship with the SPEs and the associated
risks. These tables should be read in conjunction with Key Credit Market Exposures which is included in “Results of
Operations by Segment — Corporate Banking & Securities Corporate Division.”

Group Sponsored ABCP Conduits

We set up, sponsor and administer our own asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP) programs. These programs
provide our customers with access to liquidity in the commercial paper market and create investment products for
our clients. As an administrative agent for the commercial paper programs, we facilitate the purchase of
non-Deutsche Bank Group loans, securities and other receivables by the commercial paper conduit (conduit), which
then issues to the market high-grade, short-term commercial paper, collateralized by the underlying assets, to fund the
purchase. The conduits require sufficient collateral, credit enhancements and liquidity support to maintain an invest-
ment grade rating for the commercial paper. We are the liquidity provider to these conduits and therefore exposed to
changes in the carrying value of their assets.

Our liquidity exposure to these conduits is to the entire commercial paper issued of € 25.2 billion and € 26.6 billion as
of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, of which we held € 5.1 billion and € 8.8 billion, respectively.
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The collateral in the conduits includes a range of asset-backed loans and securities, including aircraft leasing, student
loans, trust preferred securities and residential- and commercial-mortgage-backed securities. The collateral in the
conduits decreased € 2.9 billion from December 31, 2007 to December 31, 2008 as a result of the maturity of
€ 1.3 billion liquidity facilities, € 0.7 billion general decline in the fair value of financial assets available for sale which
were then reclassified to loans in the third quarter of 2008 and the transfer of € 0.9 billion assets from the conduits to
another consolidated entity to facilitate collateral management.

We consolidate the majority of our sponsored conduit programs because we have the controlling interest.

Group Sponsored Securitizations

We sponsor SPEs for which we originate or purchase assets. These assets are predominantly commercial and
residential whole loans or mortgage-backed securities. The SPEs fund these purchases by issuing multiple tranches
of securities, the repayment of which is linked to the performance of the assets in the SPE. When we retain a subordi-
nated interest in the assets that have been securitized, an assessment of the relevant factors is performed and, if
SPEs are controlled by us, they are consolidated. The fair value of our retained exposure in these securitizations as
of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 was € 4.4 billion and € 8.6 billion, respectively. During 2008 we actively
sold the subordinated interests in these SPEs, which resulted in the deconsolidation of some of the SPEs and a
reduction in our consolidated assets.

Third Party Sponsored Securitizations

In connection with our securities trading and underwriting activities, we acquire securities issued by third party securiti-
zation vehicles that purchase diversified pools of commercial and residential whole loans or mortgage-backed securi-
ties. The vehicles fund these purchases by issuing multiple tranches of securities, the repayment of which is linked to
the performance of the assets in the vehicles. When we hold a subordinated interest in the SPE, an assessment of the
relevant factors is performed and if SPEs are controlled by us, they are consolidated. As of December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007 the fair value of our retained exposure in these securitizations was € 0.8 billion and € 1.1 billion,
respectively. During 2008 we actively sold the subordinated interests in these SPEs, which resulted in the deconsoli-
dation of some of the SPEs and a reduction in our consolidated assets.

Repackaging and Investment Products

Repackaging is a similar concept to securitization. The primary difference is that the components of the repackaging
SPE are generally securities and derivatives, rather than non-security financial assets, which are then “repackaged”
into a different product to meet specific individual investor needs. We consolidate these SPEs when we have the
majority of risks and rewards. As we are the swap counterparty to notes issued by the SPEs and held by us, we are
exposed to changes in market values of collateral held against these notes, the fair value of which was € 1.9 billion as
of December 31, 2008 and € 2.6 billion as of December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007
the total assets held in these SPEs were € 2.3 billion and € 2.8 billion, respectively.
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Investment products offer clients the ability to become exposed to specific portfolios of assets and risks through pur-
chasing our structured notes. We hedge this exposure by purchasing interests in SPEs that match the return specified
in the notes. We consolidate the SPEs when we hold the controlling interest or have the majority of risks and rewards.
Assets in the consolidated SPEs as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 totaled € 9.8 billion and
€ 13.5 billion, respectively. The reduction in consolidated assets was generally a result of a decrease in the fair value
of the assets, € 2.1 billion, and € 1.6 billion from the redemption of notes, deconsolidation and the liquidation of assets
held in the SPEs. These assets typically include bonds, equities and real estate assets, of which a significant portion
of the risk is transferred to the note holders. In addition, we also consolidate RREEF funds with real estate and infra-
structure assets totaling € 2.0 billion and € 0.5 billion as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.
The increase in consolidated RREEF funds is due to the consolidation of funds holding our investments in Maher
Terminals LLC and Maher Terminals of Canada Corp. with assets totaling € 1.4 billion at December 31, 2008. As we
own all issued interests in these funds, we are exposed to the entire performance of these assets.

Mutual Funds

We offer clients mutual fund and mutual fund-related products which pay returns linked to the performance of the
assets held in the funds. We provide a guarantee feature to certain funds in which we guarantee certain levels of the
net asset value to be returned to investors at certain dates. The risk for us as guarantor is that we have to compensate
the investors if the market values of such products at their respective guarantee dates are lower than the guaranteed
levels. For our investment management service in relation to such products, we earn management fees and, on occa-
sion, performance-based fees.

For all funds we determine a projected yield based on current money market rates. However, no guarantee or assur-
ance is given that these yields will actually be achieved. Though we are not contractually obliged to support these
funds, we made a decision, in a number of cases in which actual yields were lower than originally projected (although
still above any guaranteed thresholds), to support the funds’ target yields by injecting cash of € 49 million in 2007 and
€207 million in 2008. This action was on a discretionary basis, and was taken to protect our market position. Initially
such support was seen as temporary action. However, when we continued to make cash injections through the
second quarter of 2008, we concluded that we could not preclude future discretionary cash injections being made to
support the yield and reassessed the consolidation requirement. We concluded that the majority of the risk lies with us
and that it was appropriate to consolidate eight funds effective June 30, 2008.
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During 2008, one of these funds (provided with a guarantee) was liquidated; there was no additional income statement
impact to us other than the cash injected at liquidation, which is included in the amount detailed above. The consoli-
dated funds held assets of € 10.4 billion as of December 31, 2008.

Structured Transactions

We enter into certain structures which offer clients funding opportunities at favorable rates. The funding is predomi-
nantly provided on a collateralized basis. These structures are individually tailored to the needs of our clients. We
consolidate these SPEs when we hold the controlling interest or we have the majority of the risks and rewards through
a residual interest holding and/or a related liquidity facility. The composition of the SPEs that we consolidate is influ-
enced by the execution of new transactions and the maturing, restructuring and exercise of early termination options
with respect to existing transactions.

Operating Entities

We establish SPEs to conduct some of our operating business when we benefit from the use of an SPE. These in-
clude direct holdings in certain proprietary investments and the issuance of credit default swaps where our exposure
has been limited to our investment in the SPE. We consolidate these entities when we hold the controlling interest or
are exposed to the majority of risks and rewards of the SPE. Included within Other assets of the exposure detailed in
the table is U.S. real estate taken upon the foreclosure of a loan in the third quarter of 2008. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2008, the carrying value of the property was € 1.1 billion. Generally, the remaining increase in value of these
assets is a result of our increased investments in U.S. municipal bonds.

Exposure to Non-consolidated SPEs

Maximum unfunded exposure remaining

in € bn. Dec 31,2008  Dec 31, 2007"
Category:
Group sponsored ABCP conduits &3 5.3
Third party ABCP conduits
u.s. 21 3.2
non-U.S. 0.0 7.3
Third party sponsored securitizations
u.s. B& 10.4
non-U.S. 4.0 4.6
Guaranteed mutual funds 10.9 23.0
Real estate leasing funds 0.8 0.8

1 Prior year amounts have been adjusted.

This table details the maximum unfunded exposure remaining to certain non-consolidated SPEs. Further detail on our
significant exposure to non-consolidated SPEs follows, including the purpose of the SPEs, the nature of our relation-
ship with the SPEs, the associated risks and any associated positions. This table should be read in conjunction with
the Key Credit Market Exposures included in “Results of Operations by Segment — Corporate Banking & Securities
Corporate Division.”
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Group Sponsored ABCP Conduits

We sponsor and administer five ABCP conduits, established in Australia, which are not consolidated because we do
not hold the majority of risks and rewards. These conduits provide our clients with access to liquidity in the commercial
paper market in Australia. As of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 they had assets totaling € 2.8 billion and
€4.8billion respectively, consisting of securities backed by non-U.S. residential mortgages issued by warehouse
SPEs set up by the clients to facilitate the purchase of the assets by the conduits. The minimum credit rating for these
securities is AA—. The credit enhancement necessary to achieve the required credit ratings is ordinarily provided by
mortgage insurance extended by third-party insurers to the SPEs.

The weighted average life of the assets held in the conduits is five years. The average life of the commercial paper
issued by these off-balance sheet conduits is one to three months.

No material difficulties were experienced by these conduits during 2008 although a general widening in credit spreads
was experienced on the conduits’ issued commercial paper, the cost of which was passed on to the original asset
sellers. Our exposure to these entities is limited to the committed liquidity facilities entered into by us to provide fund-
ing to the conduits in the event of market disruption. The committed liquidity facilities to these conduits totaled
€ 3.3 billion as of December 31, 2008 and € 5.3 billion as of December 31, 2007. We reduced the lines of credit avail-
able to the clients in 2008, which resulted in a decline in commercial paper issued by the conduits and the amount of
assets held. None of these liquidity facilities have been drawn. Advances against the liquidity facilities are collateral-
ized by the underlying assets held in the conduits, and thus a drawn facility will be exposed to volatility in the value of
the underlying assets. Should the assets decline sufficiently in value, there may not be sufficient funds to repay the
advance.

As of December 31, 2008, we held € 0.6 billion of commercial paper issued by these non-consolidated entities. We
purchased the paper voluntarily as a dealer in commercial paper on standard commercial terms. In addition, we held
€ 0.3 billion in term notes issued by one SPE whose notes were ordinarily purchased by the conduits and € 0.2 billion
in commercial paper issued by a conduit. As this represents 100 % of the SPE’s issued debt, this caused us to
consolidate the SPE and conduit respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, we held € 1.4 billion of the commercial paper issued by these non-consolidated entities. We
purchased the paper voluntarily as a dealer in the commercial paper on standard commercial terms. In addition, we
purchased € 0.5 billion in asset-backed securities from one conduit representing 100 % of its asset holdings, which has
caused us to consolidate that entity.
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Third Party ABCP Conduits

In addition to sponsoring our commercial paper programs, we also assist third parties with the formation and ongoing
risk management of their commercial paper programs. We do not consolidate any third party ABCP conduits as we do
not control them.

Our assistance to third party conduits is primarily financing-related in the form of unfunded committed liquidity facilities
and unfunded committed repurchase agreements in the event of disruption in the commercial paper market. The
liquidity facilities and committed repurchase agreements are recorded off-balance sheet unless a contingent payment
is deemed probable and estimable, in which case a liability is recorded. The notional amount of undrawn facilities
provided by us is € 2.1 billion. These facilities are collateralized by the assets in the SPEs and therefore the movement
in the fair value of these assets will affect the recoverability of the amount drawn.

We are a swap counterparty to certain Canadian asset-backed commercial paper conduits that experienced liquidity
problems in August 2007. The assets and liabilities of these conduits were restructured pursuant to a plan of compro-
mise and arrangement under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada), which was completed on Janu-
ary 21, 2009. In accordance with the terms of the restructuring, the conduits were merged into three newly formed
SPEs. We are purchasing leveraged CDS protection from two of the SPEs. Additional collateral was provided to these
two SPEs through senior note purchase facilities of € 2 billion in the aggregate and margin facilities of €8.3 billion in the
aggregate. The senior note purchase facilities will be provided primarily by the Government of Canada and three
provincial governments for an interim period of 19 months from the closing of the restructuring. The margin facilities
will be provided over the life of the two SPEs concerned by a consortium of financial institutions; we will provide
€ 0.8 billion of these margin facilities. In addition to the increase in collateral in the SPEs, the collateral triggers were
amended to be linked to spread/loss matrices based on credit indices rather than mark-to-market determinations,
thereby making the possibility of collateral calls more remote. A moratorium on collateral calls was imposed with
respect to the 18 months immediately following the closing of the restructuring. The terms of the restructuring will not
have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Third Party Sponsored Securitizations

The third party securitization vehicles to which we, and in some instances other parties, provide financing are third
party-managed investment vehicles that purchase diversified pools of assets, including fixed income securities, cor-
porate loans, asset-backed securities (predominantly commercial mortgage-backed securities, residential mortgage-
backed securities and credit card receivables) and film rights receivables. The vehicles fund these purchases by
issuing multiple tranches of debt and equity securities, the repayment of which is linked to the performance of the
assets in the vehicles.

The notional amount of liquidity facilities with an undrawn component provided by us as of December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007 was € 20.1 billion and € 28.8 billion, respectively, of which € 10.8 billion and € 13.8 billion had been
drawn and € 9.3 billion and € 15.0 billion were still available to be drawn as detailed in the table. All facilities are avail-
able to be drawn if the assets meet certain eligibility criteria and performance triggers are not reached. These facilities
are collateralized by the assets in the SPEs and therefore the movement in the fair value of these assets affects the
recoverability of the amount drawn.
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Mutual Funds

We provide guarantees to funds whereby we guarantee certain levels of the net asset value to be returned to inves-
tors at certain dates. These guarantees do not result in us consolidating the funds; they are recorded on-balance
sheet as derivatives at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statement of income. The fair
value of the guarantees was € 13.2 million as of December 31, 2008 and € 4.7 million as of December 31, 2007. As of
December 31, 2008, these non-consolidated funds had € 11.8 billion assets under management and provided guaran-
tees of € 10.9 billion. As of December 31, 2007, assets of € 23.6 billion and guarantees of € 23.0 billion were reported.
The significant decrease in 2008 was mainly driven by the consolidation of four funds as discussed previously.

Real Estate Leasing Funds

We provide guarantees to SPEs that hold real estate assets (commercial and residential land and buildings and infra-
structure assets located in Germany) that are financed by third parties and leased to our clients. These guarantees are
only drawn upon in the event the asset is destroyed and the insurance company does not pay for the loss. If the
guarantee is drawn we hold a claim against the insurance company. To date no guarantee has been drawn. The
notional amount of guarantees provided by us was € 535 million and € 547 million as of December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007, respectively. They have an immaterial fair value. We do not consolidate these SPEs as we do
not hold the majority of their risks and rewards.

We also write put options to closed-end real estate funds set up by us, which purchase commercial or infrastructure
assets located in Germany and which are then leased to third parties. The put options allow the shareholders to put
the real estate asset or their shares to us at the end of the lease term for a fixed price in the event that the lessee does
not exercise its option to purchase the asset. As the lessees hold a bargain purchase option, we believe those options
will generally be exercised by the lessees. The notional value of the written puts was € 222 million and € 300 million as
of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. They have an immaterial fair value. We do not consoli-
date these SPEs as we do not hold the majority of their risks and rewards.

Relationships with Other Non-consolidated SPEs

Group Sponsored Securitizations

During 2008 we entered into transactions with SPEs to derecognize € 10.4 billion of U.S. leveraged loans and
commercial real estate loans that were held at fair value through profit or loss. We continue to recognize € 0.7 billion of
these loans, as the derecognition criteria were not met. The SPEs issued tranched notes, and the junior (equity) notes
are substantially held by third parties. We hold all the debt notes issued by the SPEs, which are reported as loan
assets measured at amortized cost and assessed for impairment periodically. We do not consolidate the SPEs as we
do not control them.
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These SPEs were structured with event of default triggers which provide additional protection to the debt note holders
if the market value of the loans is less than, or the actual losses are greater than, a specified threshold. If an event of
default is triggered and not rectified within an agreed period, we will need to reassess consolidation status of the SPE.
In two SPEs, market value default events were triggered in the fourth quarter 2008. This resulted in the third party
equity holders consenting to invest additional equity of € 0.7 billion to rectify the default. As of December 31, 2008,
€ 0.5 billion of the additional equity was contributed to one SPE. The equity contribution payable to the other SPE is
still outstanding pending further review. Subsequently, our contractual arrangements with these SPEs were redefined
so that default events would be based on the actual defaults of the underlying assets for the next twelve months and
then revert to being based on the market value of these assets. We believe the carrying value of the loans in the SPE
will be fully recovered if held to maturity.

Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

The table below shows the cash payment requirements from contractual obligations outstanding as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008.

Contractual obligations Payment due by period
Total Less than 1-3 years 3-5 years More than
in€m. 1 year 5 years
Long-term debt obligations 133,856 22,225 37,132 33,487 41,012
Trust preferred securities 9,729 983 1,711 2,378 4,657
Long-term financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss' 19,270 1,748 4,995 4,110 8,417
Finance lease obligations 352 32 61 57 202
Operating lease obligations 5,749 765 1,242 945 2,797
Purchase obligations 2,457 496 1,225 492 244
Long-term deposits 35,255 - 12,322 8,601 14,332
Other long-term liabilities 2,852 4 - - 2,848
Total 209,520 26,253 58,688 50,070 74,509

1 Mainly long-term debt and long-term deposits designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Figures above do not include the benefit of noncancelable sublease rentals of € 245 million on operating leases. Pur-
chase obligations for goods and services include future payments for, among other things, processing, information
technology and custodian services. Some figures above for purchase obligations represent minimum contractual
payments and actual future payments may be higher. Long-term deposits exclude contracts with a remaining maturity
of less than one year. Under certain conditions future payments for some long-term financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss may occur earlier. See the following notes to the consolidated financial statements for
further information: Note [9] regarding financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, Note [20] regarding lease
obligations, Note [24] regarding deposits, Note [27] regarding long-term debt and trust preferred securities, and
Note [28] regarding obligation to purchase common shares.
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Long-term Credit Ratings

We believe that maintaining a strong credit quality is a key part of the value we offer to our clients, bondholders and
shareholders. Below are our long-term credit ratings.

Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007

Moody’s Investors Service, New York' Aa1l Aa1l
Standard & Poor’s, New York? A+ AA
Fitch Ratings, New York® AA- AA—

1 Moody’s defines the Aa1 rating as denoting bonds that are judged to be high quality by all standards. Moody’s rates Aa bonds lower than the best bonds
(which it rates Aaa) because margins of protection may not be as large as in Aaa securities or fluctuation of protective elements may be of greater ampli-
tude or there may be other elements present which make the long-term risk appear somewhat greater than Aaa securities. The numerical modifier 1 indi-
cates that Moody’s ranks the obligation in the upper end of the Aa category.

2 Standard and Poor’s defines its A rating as somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions
than obligations in higher-rated categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is still strong.

3 Fitch Ratings defines its AA rating as very high credit quality. Fitch Ratings uses the AA rating to denote a very low expectation of credit risk. According
to Fitch Ratings, AA-ratings indicate very strong capacity for timely payment of financial commitments. This capacity is not significantly vulnerable to
foreseeable events. Category AA is Fitch Ratings second-highest rating category; the minus indicates a ranking in the lower end of the AA category.

As of the date of this document, there has been no change in any of the above ratings.

Each rating reflects the view of the rating agency only at the time it gave us the rating, and you should evaluate each
rating separately and look to the rating agencies for any explanations of the significance of their ratings. The rating
agencies can change their ratings at any time if they believe that circumstances so warrant. You should not view these
long-term credit ratings as recommendations to buy, hold or sell our securities.
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Balance Sheet Development

The table below shows information on the balance sheet development.

in€m. Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Total assets 2,202,423 1,925,003
Central bank funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements 9,267 13,597
Securities borrowed 35,022 55,961
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,623,811 1,378,011

therein: Positive market values from derivative financial instruments 1,224,493 506,967
Financial assets available for sale 24,835 42,294
Loans 269,281 198,892
Total liabilities 2,170,509 1,885,688
Deposits 395,553 457,946
Central bank funds purchased and securities sold under repurchase agreements 87,117 178,741
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1,333,765 870,085

therein: Negative market values from derivative financial instruments 1,181,617 512,435
Long-term debt 133,856 126,703
Total equity 31,914 39,315
Tier 1 capital1 31,094 28,320
Tier 2 c:apital1 6,302 9,729

1 2007 based on "Basel I"; 2008 based on "Basel II".

Assets and Liabilities

Our total assets as of December 31, 2008 were € 2,202 billion, an increase of € 277 billion, or 14 %, versus Decem-
ber 31, 2007 (€ 1,925 billion). Total liabilites were €2,171 billion as of December 31, 2008, € 285 billion, or 15 %,
higher than on December 31, 2007 (€ 1,886 billion). Total assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2007 have been
revised to be consistent with current presentation, for more details please refer to Note [1].

The development of both assets and liabilities during 2008 was significantly impacted by the shift in foreign exchange
rates between the U.S. dollar and the euro. In the first half of 2008 the strengthening of the euro led to lower euro
equivalents for our U.S. dollar denominated assets and liabilities. The weakening of the euro since the third quarter of
2008 largely inverted this development, so that the balance sheet development in the full year 2008 was only slightly
affected by foreign exchange movements.

The primary drivers for the increase in both total assets and total liabilities compared to December 31, 2007 were
positive and negative market values from derivatives, which increased € 718 billion and € 669 billion, respectively. This
growth was attributable to our credit trading, FX and rates businesses, driven by significant market volatility and
interest rate movements. Additionally, loans increased by € 70 billion to € 269 billion as of December 31, 2008, primar-
ily in CIB with the majority related to reclassifications in accordance with amendments to IAS 39, “Reclassification of
Financial Assets”.
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The aforementioned increases were partly counterbalanced by decreases in most other balance sheet categories.
These reflected primarily our activities started in the second quarter 2008 to reduce the size of our balance sheet and
impacted mainly Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss excluding positive and negative
market values from derivative financial instruments.

Equity

As of December 31, 2008, total equity was € 31.9 billion, a decrease of € 7.4 billion, or 19 %, compared to Decem-
ber 31, 2007 (€ 39.3 billion). The main factors contributing to this decline were a reduction of unrealized net gains
(losses) on financial assets available for sale of € 4.5 billion (of which € 0.7 billion are related to net realized gains from
both equity and debt securities with no impact on total equity), the net loss attributable to Deutsche Bank shareholders
of € 3.8 billion, the May 2008 dividend payment for the financial year 2007 of € 2.3 billion, the realized net loss of
€ 1.2 billion on treasury shares sold and negative effects from exchange rate changes of € 1.1 billion (especially in the
U.S. dollar and the British pound). These factors were partly offset by the capital increase of € 2.2 billion from the issu-
ance of shares in September 2008, a positive impact of € 1.9 billion from the reduction of common shares in treasury
and a net positive effect of € 0.9 billion resulting from the amendment of the settlement method for existing forward
purchase contracts on Deutsche Bank shares.

The majority of the € 4.5 billion decline in unrealized net gains (losses) from financial assets available for sale related
to equity securities (€ 3.9 billion, reflecting both realized gains from the reduction of industrial holdings and unrealized
losses due to decreased market values). The remaining decline of € 0.6 billion was attributable to realized and unreal-
ized losses from debt securities. The majority of the latter reflected a general decline in the fair value of debt securities
in Group sponsored asset-backed commercial paper (“ABCP”) conduits in the first half of 2008. Following the
amendments to IAS 39, “Reclassification of Financial Assets”, the majority of these assets was reclassified out of
financial assets available for sale to the loans category as of July 1, 2008. The associated unrealized losses which
occurred prior to the reclassification date are amortized through profit or loss until maturity of the assets based on the
effective interest rate method. They determine the negative balance of € 882 million in total equity as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008, which is recorded in the component “Unrealized net gains (losses) from financial assets available for
sale”.

Total regulatory capital (Tier 1 and 2 capital) reported under Basel I, was € 37.4 billion at the end of 2008 compared to
€ 38.0 billion reported under Basel | at the end of 2007. While Tier 1 capital increased by € 2.8 billion, Tier 2 capital
declined by € 3.4 billion. Both Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital reduced by € 1.5 billion each as a result of the inclusion of new
Basel-ll-related deduction items. In September 2008, Tier 1 capital increased by € 2.2 billion with the issuance of
40 million new shares. On the other hand, Tier 1 capital was negatively impacted by the net loss attributable to
Deutsche Bank shareholders of € 3.8 billion, which was counterbalanced by several measures, including the conver-
sion of contingent capital, revisions to pension plan accounting and reduction of shares in treasury. The remaining
decline in Tier 2 was largely the result of the decline of € 1.5billion in unrealized gains on listed securities and the
conversion of € 0.5 billion Tier 2 capital into Hybrid Tier 1 capital.
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Significant Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Estimates

Our significant accounting policies, as described in Note [1] to the consolidated financial statements, are essential to
understanding our reported results of operations and financial condition. Certain of these accounting policies require
critical accounting estimates that involve complex and subjective judgments and the use of assumptions, some of
which may be for matters that are inherently uncertain and susceptible to change. Such critical accounting estimates
could change from period to period and have a material impact on our financial condition, changes in financial condi-
tion or results of operations. Critical accounting estimates could also involve estimates where management could have
reasonably used another estimate in the current accounting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates if
conditions or underlying circumstances were to change.

We have identified the following significant accounting policies that involve critical accounting estimates:

— Fair value estimates

— Impairment of financial assets

— Impairment of non-financial assets

— Unrecognized deferred tax assets

— Legal, regulatory contingencies and tax risks
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Information pursuant to Section 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code and Explanatory Report

Structure of the Share Capital

As of December 31, 2008, Deutsche Bank’s issued share capital amounted to € 1,461,399,078.40 consisting of
570,859,015 ordinary shares without par value. The shares are fully paid up and in registered form. Each share
confers one vote.

Restrictions on Voting Rights or the Transfer of Shares

Under Section 136 AktG the voting right of the affected shares is excluded by law. As far as the bank held own shares
as of December 31, 2008 in its portfolio according to Section 71b AktG no rights could be exercised. We are not
aware of any other restrictions on voting rights or the transfer of shares.

Shareholdings which Exceed 10 Per Cent of the Voting Rights

The German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz) requires any investor whose share of voting rights
reaches, exceeds or falls below certain thresholds as the result of purchases, disposals or otherwise, must notify us
and the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) thereof. The lowest threshold is 3 per cent. We are
not aware of any shareholder holding directly or indirectly 10 per cent or more of the voting rights.

Shares with Special Control Rights
Shares which confer special control rights have not been issued.

System of Control of any Employee Share Scheme where the Control Rights are not Exercised Di-
rectly by the Employees

The employees, who hold Deutsche Bank shares, exercise their control rights directly in accordance with applicable
law and the Articles of Association (Satzung).

Rules Governing the Appointment and Replacement of Members of the Management Board

Pursuant to the German Stock Corporation Act (Section 84) and the Articles of Association of Deutsche Bank
(Section 6) the members of the Management Board are appointed by the Supervisory Board. The number of Man-
agement Board members is determined by the Supervisory Board. According to the articles of Association, the Man-
agement Board has at least three members. The Supervisory Board may appoint one member of the Management
Board as Chairperson of the Management Board. Members of the Management Board may be appointed for a maxi-
mum term of up to five years. They may be re-appointed or have their term extended for one or more terms of up to
a maximum of five years each. The German Co-Determination Act (Mitbestimmungsgesetz; Section 31) requires a
majority of at least two thirds of the members of the Supervisory Board to appoint members of the Management
Board. If such majority is not achieved, the Mediation Committee shall give, within one month, a recommendation for
the appointment to the Management Board. The Supervisory Board will then appoint the members of the Manage-
ment Board with the majority of its members. If such appointment fails, the Chairperson of the Supervisory Board shall
have two votes in a new vote. If a required member of the Management Board has not been appointed, the Local
Court (Amtsgericht) in Frankfurt am Main shall, in urgent cases, make the necessary appointments upon motion by
any party concerned (Section 85 of the German Stock Corporation Act).
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Pursuant to the German Banking Act (Kreditwesengesetz) evidence must be provided to the Federal Financial Super-
visory Authority (BaFin) and the Deutsche Bundesbank that the member of the Management Board has adequate
theoretical and practical experience of the businesses of the Bank as well as managerial experience before the
member is appointed (Sections 24 (1) No. 1 and 33 (2) of the Banking Act).

The Supervisory Board may revoke the appointment of an individual as member of the Management Board or as
Chairperson of the Management Board for good cause. Such cause includes in particular a gross breach of duties, the
inability to manage the Bank properly or a vote of no-confidence by the shareholders’ meeting (Hauptversammiung,
referred to as the General Meeting), unless such vote of no-confidence was made for obviously arbitrary reasons.

If the discharge of a bank’s obligations to its creditors is endangered or if there are valid concerns that effective super-
vision of the bank is not possible, the BaFin may take temporary measures to avert that risk. It may also prohibit
members of the Management Board from carrying out their activities or impose limitations on such activities
(Section 46 (1) of the Banking Act). In such case, the Local Court Frankfurt am Main shall, at the request of the BaFin
appoint the necessary members of the Management Board, if, as a result of such prohibition, the Management Board
does no longer have the necessary number of members in order to conduct the business (Section 46 (2) of the Bank-
ing Act).

Rules Governing the Amendment of the Articles of Association

Any amendment of the Articles of Association requires a resolution of the General Meeting (Section 179 of the Stock
Corporation Act). The authority to amend the Atrticles of Association in so far as such amendments merely relate to the
wording, such as changes of the share capital as a result of the issuance of authorized capital, has been assigned to
the Supervisory Board by the Articles of Association of Deutsche Bank (Section 20 (3)). Pursuant to the Articles
of Association, the resolutions of the General Meeting are taken by a simple majority of votes and, in so far as a ma-
jority of capital stock is required, by a simple majority of capital stock, except where law or the Articles of Association
determine otherwise (Section 20 (1)). Amendments to the Articles of Association become effective upon their entry in
the Commercial Register (Section 181 (3) of the Stock Corporation Act).

Powers of the Management Board to Issue or Buy Back Shares

Deutsche Bank’s share capital may be increased by issuing new shares for cash and in some circumstances for non-
cash consideration. As of December 31, 2008, Deutsche Bank had authorized but unissued capital of € 308,600,000
which may be issued at various dates through April 30, 2012 as follows.

Authorized capital Expiration date

€ 150,000,000 April 30, 2009
€ 128,000,000' April 30, 2011
€ 30,600,000 April 30, 2012

1 Capital increase may be affected for noncash contributions with the intent of acquiring a company or holdings in companies.

The Annual General Meeting on May 29, 2008 authorized the Management Board to increase the share capital by up
to a total of € 140,000,000 against cash payment or contributions in kind. This additional authorized capital is subject
of an ongoing lawsuit (summary proceeding according to Sec. 246a Stock Corporation Act), not yet entered into the
Commercial Register and thereby has not yet become effective. The expiration date will be April 30, 2013.
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The Annual General Meeting on June 2, 2004 authorized the Management Board to issue once or more than once,
bearer or registered participatory notes with bearer warrants and/or convertible participatory notes, bonds with war-
rants, and/or convertible bonds on or before April 30, 2009. For this purpose share capital was increased conditionally
by up to € 150,000,000.

The Annual General Meeting on May 29, 2008 authorized the Management Board to issue once or more than once,
bearer or registered participatory notes with bearer warrants and/or convertible participatory notes, bonds with war-
rants, and/or convertible bonds on or before April 30, 2013. For this purpose share capital was increased conditionally
by up to € 150,000,000. This conditional capital as well has not yet been entered into the Commercial Register and
thereby has not yet become effective.

The Annual General Meeting of May 29, 2008 authorized the Management Board pursuant to Section 71 (1) No. 7 of
the Stock Corporation Act to buy and sell, for the purpose of securities trading, own shares of Deutsche Bank AG on
or before October 31, 2009, at prices which do not exceed or fall short of the average of the share prices (closing
auction prices of the Deutsche Bank share in Xetra trading and/or in a comparable successor system on the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange) on the respective three preceding stock exchange trading days by more than 10 per cent. In this
context, the shares acquired for this purpose may not, at the end of any day, exceed 5 per cent of the share capital of
Deutsche Bank AG.

The Annual General Meeting of May 29, 2008 authorized the Management Board pursuant to Section 71 (1) No. 8 of
the Stock Corporation Act to buy, on or before October 31, 2009, own shares of Deutsche Bank AG in a total volume
of up to 10 per cent of the present share capital. Together with own shares acquired for trading purposes and/or for
other reasons and which are from time to time in the company’s possession or attributable to the company pursuant to
Sections 71a sq. of the Stock Corporation Act, the own shares purchased on the basis of this authorization may not at
any time exceed 10 per cent of the company’s share capital. The own shares may be bought through the stock
exchange or by means of a public purchase offer to all shareholders. The countervalue for the purchase of shares
(excluding ancillary purchase costs) through the stock exchange may not be more than 10 per cent higher or more
than 20 per cent lower than the average of the share prices (closing auction prices of the Deutsche Bank share in
Xetra trading and/or in a comparable successor system on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) on the last three stock
exchange trading days before the obligation to purchase. In the case of a public purchase offer, it may not be more
than 15 per cent higher or more than 10 per cent lower than the average of the share prices (closing auction prices of
the Deutsche Bank share in Xetra trading and/or in a comparable successor system on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange)
on the last three stock exchange trading days before the day of publication of the offer. If the volume of shares offered
in a public purchase offer exceeds the planned buyback volume, acceptance must be in proportion to the shares
offered in each case. The preferred acceptance of small quantities of up to 50 of the company’s shares offered for
purchase per shareholder may be provided for.

The Management Board has also been authorized to dispose, with the Supervisory Board’s consent, of the purchased
shares and of any shares purchased on the basis of previous authorizations pursuant to Section 71 (1) No. 8 of the
Stock Corporation Act in a way other than through the stock exchange or by an offer to all shareholders, provided this
is done against contribution in kind and excluding shareholders’ pre-emptive rights for the purpose of acquiring com-
panies or shareholdings in companies. In addition, the Management Board is authorized, in case it disposes of
acquired own shares by offer to all shareholders, to grant to the holders of the warrants, convertible bonds and
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convertible participatory rights issued by the company pre-emptive rights to the extent that they would be entitled to
such rights if they exercised their option and/or conversion rights. Shareholders’ pre-emptive rights are excluded for
these cases and to this extent.

The Management Board has also been authorized to exclude shareholders’ pre-emptive rights in so far as the shares
are to be used for the issue of staff shares to employees and retired employees of the company and of companies
related to it, or in so far as they are to be used to service option rights on and/or rights or duties to purchase shares of
the company granted to employees of the company and of companies related to it.

Furthermore, the Management Board has been authorized to sell the shares to third parties against cash payment
with the exclusion of shareholders’ pre-emptive rights if the purchase price is not substantially lower than the price of
the shares on the stock exchange at the time of sale. Use may only be made of this authorization if it has been
ensured that the number of shares sold on the basis of this authorization together with shares issued from authorized
capital with the exclusion of shareholders’ pre-emptive rights pursuant to Section 186 (3) sentence 4 of the Stock
Corporation Act does not exceed 10 per cent of the company’s share capital at the time of the issue and/or sale of
shares.

The Management Board has also been authorized to cancel shares acquired on the basis of this authorization without
the execution of this cancellation process requiring a further resolution by the General Meeting.

The Annual General Meeting of May 29, 2008 authorized the Management Board pursuant to Section 71 (1) No. 8 of
the Stock Corporation Act to execute the purchase of shares under the resolved authorization also with the use of put
and call options. The company may accordingly sell to third parties put options based on physical delivery and buy
call options from third parties if it is ensured by the option conditions that these options are fulfilled only with shares
which themselves were acquired subject to compliance with the principle of equal treatment. All share purchases
based on put or call options are limited to shares in a maximum volume of 5 per cent of the actual share capital at the
time of the resolution by the General Meeting on this authorization. The maturities of the options must end no later
than on October 31, 2009.

The purchase price to be paid for the shares upon exercise of the options may not exceed by more than 10 per cent or
fall short by more than 10 per cent of the average of the share prices (closing auction prices of the Deutsche Bank
share in Xetra trading and/or in a comparable successor system on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) on the last three
stock exchange trading days before conclusion of the respective option transaction in each case excluding ancillary
purchase costs, but taking into account the option premium received or paid.

To the sale and cancellation of shares acquired with the use of derivatives the general rules established by the
General Meeting apply.

Significant Agreements which Take Effect, Alter or Terminate upon a Change of Control of the
Company Following a Takeover Bid

Significant agreements which take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the company following a take-
over bid have not been entered into.
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Agreements for Compensation in Case of a Takeover Bid
If a member of the Management Board leaves the bank within the scope of a change of control, he receives a one-off
compensation payment described in greater detail in the following Compensation Report.

If the employment relationship with certain executives with global or strategically important responsibility is terminated
within a defined period within the scope of a change of control, without a reason for which the executives are respon-
sible, or if these executives terminate their employment relationship because the company has taken certain meas-
ures leading to reduced responsibilities, the executives are entitled to a severance payment. The calculation of the
severance payment is, in principle, based on 1.5 times to 2.5 times the total annual remuneration (base salary as well
as variable — cash and equity-based — compensation) granted before change of control. Here, the development of
total remuneration in the three calendar years before change of control is taken into consideration accordingly.

Compensation Report

The Compensation Report explains the principles applied in determining the compensation of the members of the
Management Board and Supervisory Board of Deutsche Bank AG as well as the structure and amount of the
Management Board and Supervisory Board members’ compensation. This Compensation Report has been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of Section 314 (1) No. 6 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), German
Accounting Standard (GAS) 17 “Reporting on Executive Body Remuneration”, as well as the recommendations of the
German Corporate Governance Code.

Principles of the Compensation System for Management Board Members

The Supervisory Board in plenum resolves the compensation system, including the main contract elements, for the
members of the Management Board on the recommendation of the Chairman’s Committee of the Supervisory Board
and reviews the compensation system including the main contract elements regularly. The Chairman’s Committee
determines the details and size of the compensation for the members of the Management Board.

For the 2008 financial year, the members of the Management Board received compensation for their service on the
Management Board in a total amount of € 4,476,684 (2007: € 33,182,395). This aggregate compensation consisted of
the following components (for 2007 financial year primarily performance-related):

in€ 2008 2007
Non-performance-related components:
Salary 3,950,000 3,883,333
Other benefits 526,684 466,977
Performance-related components:
without long-term incentives - 17,360,731
with long-term incentives - 11,471,354
Total compensation 4,476,684 33,182,395

Figures relate to Management Board members active in the respective financial year.
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We have entered into service agreements with members of our Management Board. These agreements established
the following principal elements of compensation:

Non-Performance-Related Components. The non-performance-related components comprise the salary and other
benefits.

The members of the Management Board receive a salary which is determined on the basis of an analysis of salaries
paid to executive directors at a selected group of comparable international companies. The salary is disbursed in
monthly installments.

Other benefits comprise reimbursement of taxable expenses and the monetary value of non-cash benefits such as
company cars and driver services, insurance premiums, expenses for company-related social functions and security
measures, including payments, if applicable, of taxes on these benefits.

Performance-Related Components. The performance-related components comprise a cash bonus payment and the
mid-term incentive (“MTI”). The annual cash bonus payment is based primarily on the achievement of our planned
return on equity. As further part of the variable compensation, Management Board members receive a performance-
related mid-term incentive which reflects, for a rolling two year period, the ratio between our total shareholder return
and the corresponding average figure for a selected group of comparable companies. The MTI payment consists of
a cash payment (approximately one third) and equity-based compensation elements (approximately two thirds), which
contain long-term risk components and are discussed in the following paragraph.

Components with Long-Term Incentives. As part of their mid-term incentives, members of the Management Board
receive equity-based compensation elements (DB Equity Units) under the DB Global Partnership Plan. The ultimate
value of the equity-based compensation elements of the members of the Management Board will depend on the price
of Deutsche Bank shares upon their delivery, so that these have a long-term incentive effect.

For further information on the terms of our DB Global Partnership Plan, pursuant to which these equity rights (DB
Equity Units) are issued, see Note [31] to the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Board Compensation

The Management Board members active in 2008 have irrevocably waived any entitlements to payment of variable
compensation (bonus and MTI) for the 2008 financial year. They received the following compensation components for
their service on the Management Board for the years 2008 and 2007:

Members of the Non-performance-related Performance-related Total
Management Board components components Compensation
Salary Other benefits without long-  with long-term
in€ term incentives incentives'
Dr. Josef Ackermann 2008 1,150,000 239,586 - - 1,389,586
2007 1,150,000 151,517 8,148,725 4,531,250 13,981,492
Dr. Hugo Béanziger 2008 800,000 62,160 - - 862,160
2007 800,000 73,451 2,713,368 2,031,250 5,618,069
Anthony Di lorio® 2008 600,000 24,739 - - 624,739
2007 800,000 50,806 2,713,368 2,031,250 5,595,424
Stefan Krause® 2008 600,000 107,306 - - 707,306
2007 - - - - -
Hermann-Josef Lamberti 2008 800,000 92,893 - - 892,893
2007 800,000 130,058 2,713,368 2,031,250 5,674,676

1 The number of DB Equity Units granted in 2008 for the year 2007 to each member was determined by dividing such euro amounts by € 76.47, the
average Xetra closing price of the DB share during the last 10 trading days prior to February 5, 2008. As a result, the number of DB Equity Units granted
to each member was as follows: Dr. Ackermann: 59,255, Dr. Banziger: 26,562, Mr. Di lorio: 26,562, and Mr. Lamberti: 26,562.

2 Member of the Management Board until September 30, 2008.
3 Member of the Management Board since April 1, 2008.

Management Board members did not receive any compensation for mandates on boards of our Group’s own compa-
nies.

The active members of the Management Board are entitled to a contribution-oriented pension plan which in its struc-
ture corresponds to the general pension plan for our employees. Under this contribution-oriented pension plan,
a personal pension account has been set up for each member of the Management Board. A contribution is made
annually by us into this pension account. This annual contribution is calculated using an individual contribution rate on
the basis of each member’s base salary and bonus up to a defined ceiling and accrues advance interest, determined
by means of an age-related factor, at an average rate of 6 % up to the age of 60. From the age of 61 on, the pension
account is credited with an annual interest payment of 6 % up to the date of retirement. The annual payments, taken
together, form the pension amount which is available to pay the future pension benefit. The pension may fall due for
payment after a member has left the Management Board, but before a pension event (age limit, disability or death)
has occurred. The pension right is vested from the start.

In 2008, service cost for the aforementioned pensions was € 317,893 for Dr. Ackermann, € 429,167 for Dr. Banziger,
€ 239,973 for Mr. Di lorio, € 100,691 for Mr. Krause and € 273,192 for Mr. Lamberti. In 2007, service cost for the
aforementioned pensions was € 354,291 for Dr. Ackermann, € 501,906 for Dr. Banziger, € 345,271 for Mr. Di lorio, € 0
for Mr. Krause (was appointed in 2008 only) and € 307,905 for Mr. Lamberti.
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As of December 31, 2008, the pension accounts of the current Management Board members had the following
balances: € 4,098,838 for Dr. Ackermann, € 1,379,668 for Dr. Banziger, € 216,000 for Mr. Krause and € 4,166,174
for Mr. Lamberti. As of December 31, 2007, the pension accounts had the following balances: € 3,782,588 for
Dr. Ackermann, € 785,668 for Dr. Banziger, € 0 for Mr. Krause (was appointed in 2008 only) and € 3,770,174 for
Mr. Lamberti. The different sizes of the balances are due to the different length of services on the Management Board,
the respective age-related factors, the different contribution rates and the individual pensionable compensation
amounts. Dr. Ackermann and Mr. Lamberti are also entitled, in principle, after they have left the Management Board,
to a monthly pension payment of € 29,400 each under a discharged prior pension entitlement.

If a current Management Board member, whose appointment was in effect at the beginning of 2008, leaves office, he
is entitled, for a period of six months, to a transition payment. Exceptions to this arrangement exist where, for instance,
the Management Board member gives cause for summary dismissal. The transition payment a Management Board
member would have received over this six months period, if he had left on December 31, 2008 or on Decem-
ber 31, 2007, was for Dr. Ackermann € 2,825,000 and for each of Dr. Banziger and Mr. Lamberti € 1,150,000.

If a current Management Board member, whose appointment was in effect at the beginning of 2006, leaves office after
reaching the age of 60, he is subsequently entitled, in principle, directly after the end of the six-month transition period,
to payment of first 75 % and then 50 % of the sum of his salary and last target bonus, each for a period of 24 months.
This payment ends no later than six months after the end of the Annual General Meeting in the year in which the
Board member reaches his 65th birthday.

Pursuant to the service agreements concluded with each of the Management Board members, they are entitled to
receive a severance payment upon a premature termination of their appointment at our initiative, without us having
been entitled to revoke the appointment or give notice under the service agreement for cause. The severance pay-
ment will be fixed by the Chairman’s Committee according to its reasonable discretion and, as a rule, will not exceed
the lesser of two annual compensation amounts and the claims to compensation for the remaining term of the contract
(compensation calculated on the basis of the annual compensation (salary, bonus and MTI) for the previous financial
year).

If a Management Board member’s departure is in connection with a change of control, he is entitled to a severance
payment. The severance payment will be fixed by the Chairman’s Committee according to its reasonable discretion
and, as a rule, will not exceed the lesser of three annual compensation amounts and the claims to compensation for
the remaining term of the contract (compensation calculated on the basis of the annual compensation (salary, bonus
and MTI) for the previous financial year).
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Management Board Share Ownership
As of February 27, 2009 and February 29, 2008, respectively, the current members of our Management Board held
the following numbers of our shares and DB Equity Units.

Members of the Management Board Number of Number of
shares DB Equity
Units'

Dr. Josef Ackermann 2009 334,577 133,789
2008 275,421 192,945

Dr. Hugo Banziger 2009 24,101 77,441
2008 31,219 103,881

Stefan Krause 2009 - -
2008 - -

Hermann-Josef Lamberti 2009 88,373 59,973
2008 74,445 86,491

Total 2009 447,051 271,203
Total 2008 381,085 383,317

1 Including the Restricted Equity Units Dr. Banziger received in connection with his employment by us prior to his appointment as member of the Manage-
ment Board. The DB Equity Units and Restricted Equity Units listed in the table have different vesting and allocation dates. As a result, the last equity
rights will mature and be allocated on August 1, 2011.

The current members of our Management Board held an aggregate of 447,051 of our shares on February 27, 2009,
amounting to approximately 0.08 % of our shares issued on that date. They held an aggregate of 381,085 of our
shares on February 29, 2008, amounting to approximately 0.07 % of our shares issued on that date.

In 2008, compensation expense for long-term incentive components of compensation granted for their service in prior
years on the Management Board was € 3,368,011 for Dr. Ackermann, € 1,103,939 for Dr. Banziger, € 2,143,050 for
Mr. Di lorio and € 1,509,798 for Mr. Lamberti. In 2007, the corresponding compensation expense for these compo-
nents was € 3,199,221 for Dr. Ackermann, € 403,758 for Dr. Banziger, € 403,758 for Mr. Di lorio and € 1,434,133 for
Mr. Lamberti. Mr. Krause joined the Management Board only in April 2008 and no expense was therefore recognized
for long-term incentives granted for service on the Management Board in 2008.

For more information on DB Equity Units, which are granted under the DB Global Partnership Plan, see Note [31] to
the consolidated financial statements.

Principles of the Compensation System for Supervisory Board Members

The principles of the compensation of the Supervisory Board members are set forth in our Articles of Association,
which our shareholders amend from time to time at their annual meetings. Such compensation provisions were last
amended at our Annual General Meeting on May 24, 2007.

The following provisions apply to the 2008 financial year: compensation consists of a fixed compensation of € 60,000
per year and a dividend-based bonus of € 100 per year for every full or fractional € 0.01 increment by which the divi-
dend we distribute to our shareholders exceeds € 1.00 per share. The members of the Supervisory Board also receive
annual remuneration linked to our long-term profit in the amount of € 100 each for each € 0.01 by which the average
earnings per share (diluted), reported in the Bank’s Financial Report in accordance with the accounting principles to
be applied in each case on the basis of the net income figures for the three previous financial years, exceed the
amount of € 4.00.
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These amounts increase by 100 % for each membership in a committee of the Supervisory Board. For the chairper-
son of a committee the rate of increment is 200 %. These provisions do not apply to the Mediation Committee formed
pursuant to Section 27 (3) of the Co-determination Act. We pay the Supervisory Board Chairman four times the total
compensation of a regular member, without any such increment for committee work, and we pay his deputy one and
a half times the total compensation of a regular member. In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board receive a
meeting fee of € 1,000 for each Supervisory Board and committee meeting in which they attend. Furthermore, in our
interest, the members of the Supervisory Board will be included in any financial liability insurance policy held in an
appropriate amount by us, with the corresponding premiums being paid by us.

We also reimburse members of the Supervisory Board for all cash expenses and any value added tax (Umsatzsteuer
at present 19 %) they incur in connection with their roles as members of the Supervisory Board. Employee representa-
tives of the Supervisory Board also continue to receive their employee benefits. For Supervisory Board members who
served on the board for only part of the year, we pay a part of their total compensation based on the number of
months they served, rounding up to whole months.

The members of the Nomination Committee, which has been newly formed after the Annual General Meeting 2008,
waived all remuneration, including the meeting fee, for such Nomination Committee work for 2008 and the following
years, as in the previous year.

Supervisory Board Compensation for Fiscal Year 2008

We compensate our Supervisory Board members after the end of each fiscal year. In January 2009, we paid each
Supervisory Board member the fixed portion of their remuneration for their services in 2008 and their meeting fees. In
addition, we would normally pay each Supervisory Board member a remuneration linked to our long-term performance
as well as a dividend-based bonus, as described below. Due to the crisis in the financial markets, the Supervisory
Board unanimously resolved to forgo any variable compensation for the financial year 2008. This waiver affects all
current members of the Supervisory Board and includes the variable compensation as well as any additional variable
remuneration for the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, the deputy chairperson of the Supervisory Board and all
members of the committees as redefined in Section 14 of our Articles of Association. This waiver was also adopted by
all former members of the Supervisory Board, who, with effect from the Annual General Meeting of May 29, 2008,
terminated their service on the Supervisory Board, and therefore still have a claim to remuneration for the first five
months of the 2008 financial year.
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Accordingly, the Supervisory Board will receive a total remuneration of € 2,478,500 (2007: € 6,022,084). Individual
members of the Supervisory Board received the following compensation for the 2008 financial year (excluding statu-
tory value added tax):

Members of the Supervisory Board Compensation for fiscal year 2008 Compensation for fiscal year 2007
Fixed Variable Meeting Total Fixed Variable Meeting Total
in € fee fee
Dr. Clemens Borsig 240,000 - 24,000 264,000 240,000 400,667 22,000 662,667
Karin Ruck 160,000 - 12,000 172,000 60,000 100,167 5,000 165,167
Wolfgang Bohr® 40,000 - 4,000 44,000 - - - -
Dr. Karl-Gerhard Eick 180,000 - 10,000 190,000 180,000 300,500 11,000 491,500
Heidrun Forster 157,500 - 15,000 172,500 210,000 350,583 16,000 576,583
Ulrich Hartmann' 50,000 - 6,000 56,000 120,000 200,333 9,000 329,333
Alfred Herling® 40,000 - 4,000 44,000 - - - -
Gerd Herzberg 60,000 - 6,000 66,000 60,000 100,167 5,000 165,167
Sabine Horn' 50,000 - 6,000 56,000 120,000 200,333 10,000 330,333
Rolf Hunck' 50,000 - 6,000 56,000 120,000 200,333 12,000 332,333
Sir Peter Job 180,000 - 15,000 195,000 180,000 300,500 16,000 496,500
Prof. Dr. Henning Kagermann 120,000 - 13,000 133,000 120,000 200,333 8,000 328,333
Ulrich Kaufmann' 50,000 - 6,000 56,000 120,000 200,333 9,000 329,333
Peter Kazmierczak' 25,000 - 3,000 28,000 60,000 100,167 5,000 165,167
Martina Klee? 40,000 - 4,000 44,000 - - - -
Suzanne Labarge2 80,000 - 8,000 88,000 - - - -
Maurice Lévy 60,000 - 6,000 66,000 60,000 100,167 4,000 164,167
Henriette Mark 100,000 - 10,000 110,000 60,000 100,167 5,000 165,167
Prof. Dr. jur. Dr.-Ing. E. h.
Heinrich von Pierer’ 50,000 - 5,000 55,000 120,000 200,333 10,000 330,333
Gabriele Platscher 60,000 - 7,000 67,000 60,000 100,167 5,000 165,167
Dr. Theo Siegert 100,000 - 11,000 111,000 60,000 100,167 5,000 165,167
Dr. Johannes Teyssen2 40,000 - 4,000 44,000 - - - -
Marlehn Thieme? 80,000 - 7,000 87,000 - - - -
Tilman Todenhofer 125,000 - 11,000 136,000 120,000 200,333 10,000 330,333
Dipl.-Ing. Dr.-Ing. E. h. Jiirgen Weber' 25,000 - 3,000 28,000 60,000 100,167 4,000 164,167
Werner Wenning2 40,000 - 3,000 43,000 - - - -
Leo Wunderlich 60,000 - 7,000 67,000 60,000 100,167 5,000 165,167
Total 2,262,500 - 216,000 2,478,500 2,190,000 3,656,084 176,000 6,022,084

1 Member until May 29, 2008.
2 New member since May 29, 2008.
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Employees and Social Responsibility

Employees

As of December 31, 2008, we employed a total of 80,456 staff members as compared to 78,291 as of Decem-
ber 31, 2007. We calculate our employee figures on a full-time equivalent basis, meaning we include proportionate
numbers of part-time employees.

The following table shows our numbers of full-time equivalent employees as of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Employees1 Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 Dec 31, 2006
Germany 27,942 27,779 26,401
Europe (outside Germany), Middle East and Africa 23,067 21,989 20,025
Asia/Pacific 17,126 15,080 10,723
North America® 11,947 13,088 11,369
Central and South America 374 355 331
Total employees 80,456 78,291 68,849

1 Full-time equivalent employees.
2 Primarily the United States.

The number of our employees increased in 2008 by 2,165 or 2.8 %, to 80,456. This development was driven by the
following factors:

— We added 1,114 staff in our Private Clients and Asset Management Group Division, most notably in Poland and
India.

— The number of Corporate and Investment Bank Group Division staff was reduced by 1,476, mainly in those
business areas in the UK and U.S. whose near-term recovery can not currently be foreseen.

— In Infrastructure, the establishment of larger Operations Centers was a major contributor to the increase of 2,535
employees, mainly in Asia.

Post-Employment Benefit Plans

We have a number of post-employment benefit plans. In addition to defined contribution plans, there are plans
accounted for as defined benefit plans.

As a matter of principle all defined benefit plans with a benefit obligation exceeding € 1 million are included in our
globally coordinated accounting process. Reviewed by our global actuary, the plans in each country are evaluated by

locally appointed actuaries.

By applying our global policy for determining the financial and demographic assumptions we ensure that the assump-
tions are unbiased and mutually compatible and that they follow the best estimate and ongoing plan principles.

For a further discussion on our employee benefit plans see Note [32] to our consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

More than Money: Building Social Capital

Deutsche Bank implemented the realignment of its Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) program in 2008. Its objec-
tive is to integrate social responsibility into Deutsche Bank’s day-to-day operations and to make it part and parcel of
the way we do business. It becomes particularly clear in difficult times that corporate responsibility and business
success belong together.

At Deutsche Bank, we view corporate social responsibility as an investment in society and our own future. Our goal as
a responsible corporate citizen is to build social capital. To us, our foremost social responsibility is to be internationally
competitive, to be profitable, to earn our money in the most socially responsible way possible and to grow as a company.

Sustainability: Ensuring Viability

The principles of the UN Global Compact have been firmly anchored in our corporate guidelines for years. Within the
framework of our Sustainability Management System, certified in 1999, we always take account of environmental,
social and ethical considerations in our business activities. Certification according to ISO 14001 was extended until
2011, during the year under review.

Climate change was a high priority for us in 2008. Currently, we are modernizing our headquarters in Frankfurt and
creating the “greenest” skyscrapers in the world. We also launched a program to reduce the bank’s carbon dioxide
emissions by 20 percent annually. Our goal is to be carbon neutral by 2012.

Corporate Volunteering: Committing Ourselves

Employee volunteering is one of the foundations of our CSR activities. We continued to expand our corporate volun-
teering program in 2008. As part of our global program Deutsche Bank specialists spent several weeks advising
microfinance institutions. Our employees have demonstrated “A Passion to Perform” in all areas: in the year under
review, they dedicated 35,738 days to volunteer work around the world, an increase of more than 80 % within just a year.

Social Investments: Creating Opportunity

With our social initiatives, we primarily aim to help people mobilize their own strengths. For more than 10 years, we
have been developing microfinance instruments that enable people in developing countries to improve their quality
of life. To this end, an aggregate loan volume of more than U.S.$ 1 billion has been granted to 2.2 million people so
far. Furthermore, we are committed to improving the infrastructure of low-income communities and fast-growing
mega-cities worldwide. The U.S. government has been rating our community development initiatives in the U.S. as
“outstanding” since 1992. And in 2008, the Alfred Herrhausen Society presented the “Deutsche Bank Urban Age
Award” to a housing project for low-income sections of the population in Sdo Paulo.

In 2008, Deutsche Bank established the Deutsche Bank Middle East Foundation in order to create an independent
anchor for its commitment in the Middle East/North Africa region.
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Art: Fostering Creativity

Deutsche Bank’s art collection ranks as one of the world’s largest and most significant corporate art collections and
focuses on contemporary artworks on paper. Under the motto “Art Works”, we made our collection even more easily
accessible to the general public in 2008. We signed a contract for a permanent long-term loan of 600 pieces from our
collection to the Staedel Museum in Frankfurt, which will exhibit them in its new extension to be opened in 2011. Both
in the United States and the United Kingdom, Deutsche Bank was honored for its commitment to art. And in 2009, the
Ethiopian artist, Julie Mehretu, will be featured throughout the year as a prototypical representative for all the young
artists we support worldwide.

Education: Enabling Talent

The core focus of our education program is to promote equal opportunities and remove barriers. The “Compass of
Studies” (Studienkompass) program, jointly launched by Deutsche Bank Foundation, Accenture Foundation and the
Foundation of German Business, meanwhile helps to pave the way to university for 375 young people whose parents
did not receive college education. Our cooperation with Deutsche Sporthilfe contributes to further strengthening the
spirit of fair competition in today’s society.

The exclusive partnership with the Berliner Philharmoniker will be lifted to a new dimension in 2009: due to our
support, the orchestra will be enabled to launch the “Digital Concert Hall”, bringing a unique, global dimension to
classical music: live-concerts will be broadcast and recorded for worldwide transmission in HD quality on the Internet
(www.berliner-philharmoniker.de).

In 2008 Deutsche Bank again presented “365 Selected Landmarks in the Land of Ideas” that showcase Germany’s
innovative, scientific, social and cultural potential. The initiative focuses on individuals who challenge the status quo,

dare the new, and demonstrate leadership.

For more information on our corporate social responsibility program please see the CSR Report 2008.
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Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Postbank. On January 14, 2009, Deutsche Bank AG and Deutsche Post AG agreed on an amended transaction struc-
ture for Deutsche Bank’s acquisition of Deutsche Postbank AG shares based on the purchase price agreed in Sep-
tember 2008. The contract comprises three tranches and closed on February 25,2009. As a first step,
Deutsche Bank AG acquired 50 million Postbank shares — corresponding to a stake of 22.9 % — in a capital increase
of 50 million Deutsche Bank shares against a contribution in kind excluding subscription rights. Therefore, upon clos-
ing of the new structure the Group’s Tier 1 capital consumption was reduced compared to the previous structure. The
Deutsche Bank shares will be issued from authorized capital. As a result, Deutsche Post will acquire a shareholding of
approximately 8 % in Deutsche Bank AG, over half of which it can dispose of from the end of April 2009, with the other
half disposable from mid-June 2009. At closing, Deutsche Bank AG acquired mandatory exchangeable bonds issued
by Deutsche Post. After three years, these bonds will be exchanged for 60 million Postbank shares, or a 27.4 % stake.
Put and call options are in place for the remaining 26.4 million shares, equal to a 12.1 % stake in Deutsche Postbank.
In addition, Deutsche Bank AG paid cash collateral of € 1.1 billion for the options which are exercisable between the
36" and 48™ month after closing.

Cosmopolitan Resort and Casino. As disclosed in Note [19] Property and Equipment, in September 2008 we fore-
closed on the Cosmopolitan Resort and Casino property and have continued to develop the project. The property is
classified as investment property under construction in Premises and equipment, and had a carrying value of
€ 1.1 billion as of December 31, 2008.

In the first quarter of 2009, there was evidence of a significant deterioration of condominium, hotel and casino market
conditions in Las Vegas. In light of this, we are currently considering various alternatives for the future development
and execution of the Cosmopolitan Resort and Casino project. The recoverable value of the asset is dependent on the
developing market conditions and the course of action taken by us. As a result it is possible that an impairment to the
carrying value may be required in 2009 which cannot be reliably quantified at this time.
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Outlook

The Global Economy

The global economy is currently experiencing its steepest decline in post-war history and is expected to suffer its first
net decline since World War Il in the current year, after having expanded by 3.5 % in 2008. The global economy may
start to stabilize by year-end 2009 before returning to moderate growth in 2010.

The United States economy is the driver of the global contraction. After slipping into recession in early 2008, U.S.
economic output appears set to contract by as much as 3 % in the course of the year, notwithstanding an economic
stimulus package worth almost U.S.$ 800 billion and despite the Fed’s zero-interest-rate policy. Only in 2010 is it likely
to return to a growth trajectory, albeit much below its potential.

Emerging markets have been unable to decouple themselves from the United States economy’s strong downturn.
Growth in Asia will probably decline to below 4 % in 2009, less than half the rate of 2007. Latin America will likely
stagnate and Eastern Europe may even shrink slightly in the current year.

The eurozone economies have followed the U.S. into recession. A noticeable improvement is unlikely before late 2009
or early 2010. Germany, with its pronounced dependence on exports, is hit particularly hard by the slump in global
demand. We expect real Gross Domestic Product in Germany to shrink by 3.5 %, despite supportive factors including
lower oil and commodity prices, the ECB’s relaxation of monetary policy and the government’s extensive economic
stimulus packages. The German economy may see a slight recovery in 2010, with GDP growth of around 1 %.

Economic output in the eurozone as a whole is likely to experience a decline in 2009 of more or less the same magni-
tude as Germany’'s. While some member states of the eurozone are less dependent on foreign demand than
Germany, corrections in the real estate markets of countries such as Spain, Ireland and the United Kingdom will likely
weigh on the GDP growth of those nations.

Driven by oil and commodities prices, inflation reached multi-year highs in industrial countries during 2008. As the
recession set in commodities prices declined steeply, substantially alleviating inflation pressures. In the U.S., con-
sumer prices have already stagnated in year-on-year terms in January 2009 and could in fact fall by close to 1% in
2009 on average. Core inflation, however, which excludes fuel and food prices, is likely to come in at around 1.5 %.
Inflation may also temporarily turn negative in Germany in 2009.

Additional risks for the global economy could result from a heightening of geopolitical tensions, political instability,
potential terrorist activities or regional outbreaks of armed conflict. A further deepening or substantial exacerbation of
the financial crisis, particularly when combined with a failure of government intervention to control the impact, could
result in significant disruptions in the financial sector, lead to the collapse of financial institutions, and cause the global
economy to slide into a long-lasting economic depression.
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The Banking Industry and the Deutsche Bank Group

The outlook for the banking industry and the Deutsche Bank Group has been profoundly influenced by the financial
crisis which began in 2007, and particularly by the events of the last quarter of 2008. During this quarter, financial
markets underwent a period of exceptionally turbulent and difficult conditions. Following the insolvency of a large U.S.
investment bank in September, capital markets faced conditions of acute stress, with interbank lending severely
reduced, extreme illiquidity in credit and other markets, and exceptional volatility, including sharp falls, in major equity
markets. These developments also put pressure on bank balance sheets, and their liquidity and funding arrange-
ments. Central banks and governments intervened on a scale unprecedented in recent years, injecting liquidity in key
markets and recapitalizing banks through direct equity stakes.

In 2009, very difficult conditions are likely to persist for the banking industry, although government and central bank
interventions continue in an effort to stabilize the markets and restore confidence. The industry will likely face several
significant challenges. Balance sheets will continue to face pressure from exposure to legacy problem assets, and
from a deterioration of the credit environment as the crisis increasingly impacts the wider economy. Loan books will
come under pressure from rising default rates as conditions deteriorate for both corporate and private customers.
These and other factors will, in turn, put pressure on capital ratios. Revenues will be adversely impacted by softening
demand from clients in some product areas as a result of slower economic activity, restrictions on credit availability,
and wariness on the part of both private and institutional investors.

The banking industry will also face political, regulatory and organizational challenges. In 2008, the banking sector
witnessed substantial consolidation and merger activity. This will likely result in significant upheavals from post-merger
integration, restructurings, or internal reorganizations in the institutions concerned. Strategy, lending policy, profit
distributions and executive compensation practices, among other areas, will also likely be influenced by increased
government intervention, notably in those banks in which governments have taken direct shareholdings, and by the
prospect of tighter regulation.

In 2010, some degree of recovery in the banking industry is foreseeable, driven by several factors: the impact of gov-
ernment and central bank measures to stabilize both financial markets and financial institutions; the gradual recovery
of the global economy mentioned above, in part aided by the economic stimulus measures taken by governments
around the world; corrective measures already taken or currently being taken by the banking industry itself; and
a gradual stabilization of the real estate market in the U.S. and some other major economies. However, in some
particular product areas, including certain illiquid, structured credit products and leveraged finance, market volumes
are unlikely to return to the levels of 2006 and the first half of 2007. Ineffectiveness of the above-mentioned stimulative
and corrective measures, or further deterioration of the global economy and financial markets despite these meas-
ures, would negatively impact the outlook for the banking industry.
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The Deutsche Bank Group

This environment will create substantial challenges for all Deutsche Bank’s businesses, and these are described in
detail below. In 2008, the Bank took significant steps to mitigate these challenges including strengthening capital
ratios, reducing legacy trading-book exposures in key areas such as leveraged finance and commercial real estate,
making reductions in non-derivative trading assets, reducing costs in certain areas, and maintaining a substantial
funding base. All of these factors will likely contribute positively to the bank’s financial strength in 2009. Reductions in
balance sheet, while lowering risk profile, may entail some ‘opportunity cost’ in respect of 2009 revenues.

Continuing adverse market conditions may also affect revenues in Deutsche Bank’s core businesses, thus creating
the need for cost-saving measures in addition to those already implemented. Such cost-saving measures could poten-
tially include headcount reductions, which could in turn create the need for severance or other related costs in the near
term.

Deutsche Bank will also be affected by the political, regulatory and organizational challenges described above. In
some areas, the impact on Deutsche Bank will be less than on some peers, since Deutsche Bank did not undergo
major merger activity, nor did it receive direct government funds. Organizational disruptions from merger integration or
restructuring at other banks, or restrictions placed on the activities of other banks which have received direct govern-
ment aid, may therefore present an opportunity for Deutsche Bank to gain market share in key businesses, or to invest
selectively in its business either by attracting new talent or by making bolt-on acquisitions, subject to managing its
capital and key ratios in line with market conditions and requirements. Conversely, Deutsche Bank will be impacted by
any future regulatory changes, and has already initiated a review of its compensation procedures.

If the global economy, financial markets, legal and regulatory environment, and competitive environment develop as
foreseen, Deutsche Bank expects to return to profitability in 2009.

In 2010, Deutsche Bank is positioned to benefit from the above-mentioned positive impact of measures taken by
governments and central banks to stabilize the global financial system and stimulate economic recovery in major
industrialized nations. Deutsche Bank will also likely experience the benefit of measures taken by Deutsche Bank
management in response to the financial crisis, which are discussed in detail elsewhere in this report. On the other
hand, further deterioration of the global economy and/or financial markets, or ineffectiveness of the above-mentioned
corrective and stimulative measures, would negatively impact the outlook for Deutsche Bank in 2010.

Investment Banking

The investment banking business will face significant challenges in 2009. Capital markets will likely continue to be
affected by illiquidity, volatility, and a lack of overall direction, all of which are likely to undermine investor sentiment.
Investment banking revenue pools are likely to remain below pre-crisis levels. Certain highly structured, securitized or
illiquid trading businesses, which were severely affected by the developments of 2008, are unlikely to return to their
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previous levels in the near term. By contrast, volumes in liquid, flow’ trading products, such as foreign exchange or
money market trading, have remained robust even in very difficult conditions. Business volumes in leveraged finance
are also likely to continue at considerably lower levels than before the crisis began, and the reduced availability of
financial leverage will impact M&A and buy-out activity, both in terms of transaction volume and the size of individual
transactions. Commercial real estate activity is also likely to be substantially below pre-crisis levels. The level of IPO
activity is likely to remain below that of 2006 and early 2007, given uncertain equity markets, although the corporate
sector’s need for recapitalization and restructuring advice is likely to be positive for demand.

This environment will present both challenges and opportunities for Deutsche Bank’s Corporate Banking and Securi-
ties (CB&S) business. In certain structured trading products, including securitizations and structured credit, CB&S’s
revenues will be negatively impacted by the lower levels of market activity in these areas. CB&S’s corporate finance
activity will also likely be faced with lower market activity in primary market origination and M&A advisory. New activity
in the leveraged finance and commercial real estate businesses will also likely remain significantly below pre-crisis
levels. However, in sales and trading, CB&S’s leadership position, as measured by revenues and industry surveys, in
certain ‘flow’ trading businesses should benefit from continued solid volumes in these areas, while the need for recapi-
talization and restructuring advice on the part of corporate clients presents a revenue opportunity for the corporate
finance business, both in advisory and secondary capital raisings. CB&S will also be positively impacted by a widening
of margins in some trading products compared to pre-crisis levels, and has the opportunity to gain market share in the
wake of recent consolidation activity, as some investment banking competitors restructure, reorganize, reduce their
activity in or withdraw entirely from certain businesses.

Transaction Banking

The outlook for transaction banking will likely be influenced by both negative and positive factors. 2008 and 2009 have
seen and will likely continue to see reductions in interest rates in the Eurozone and other major economies, and this
will adversely affect the outlook for net interest income. Exchange rate trends may also be unfavorable for transaction
banking, while a more general economic slowdown in major markets will likely adversely impact international trade,
and thus reduce the scope for growth in trade finance. On the other hand, stabilization of the U.S. economy, strength-
ening of the U.S. dollar and an upturn in U.S. interest rates would favorably impact the outlook for revenue generation,
as would any stabilization of the housing market in the U.S.

Deutsche Bank’s Global Transaction Banking (GTB) business will likely be adversely impacted by the environmental

challenges outlined above. Conversely, GTB’s outlook may be positively influenced by the sustained momentum of
profitable growth and client acquisition in recent years, together with its leading position in major markets, which
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leaves it well-placed to attract new clients in challenging conditions. The business is positioned to benefit from expan-
sion into new markets and increased penetration of the client base in existing core markets. GTB is also well-
positioned to leverage existing technologies in order to expand its offering to clients, and to penetrate client groups in
the lower mid-cap segment. Developments in GTB’s product offering, such as ‘FX4Cash'’ (a platform for high-volume,
low value foreign exchange payments), contribute favorably to the outlook.

Investment Management

The outlook for the investment management business will be negatively influenced by several factors in 2009. The
decline in equity market valuations during 2008, and lower market activity on the part of both private and institutional
clients, will likely reduce revenues from performance fees and commissions, while the very difficult conditions for the
hedge fund industry in the second half of 2008, together with declines in the real estate market in major economies
around the world, will negatively impact the prospects for alternative investments. Infrastructure investments will likely
come under pressure from slower domestic and international trade against the backdrop of a slower global economy.
Revenues will likely also come under pressure if investors retreat to the perceived safety of cash or to simpler, lower-
margin products. Conversely, the outlook would be positively impacted by any stabilization or rally in equity markets,
and by increasing customer interest in defensive investment products. Furthermore, certain fundamental long-term
trends will likely continue to support the investment management business: increasing demand for privately-funded
retirement savings against a backdrop of rising longevity and ageing populations in mature economies, together with
sustained wealth creation, albeit at a lower pace than in recent years, in emerging economies.

As a leading and diversified service provider with a global presence, Deutsche Bank’s Asset and Wealth Management
(AWM) business may be adversely impacted by the environmental challenges outlined above. In Asset Management,
the retail mutual funds business is exposed to weakness in equity markets and to difficulties in money market funds
witnessed during 2008, while the alternative assets business is exposed to weakness in the hedge fund segment, to
continued difficult conditions in real estate markets, and to the above-mentioned pressure on infrastructure invest-
ments. Conversely, both Asset Management and Private Wealth Management are likely to be positively impacted by
the results of productivity and cost efficiency measures, and reengineering efforts aimed at restoring operating lever-
age in Asset Management, initiated in 2008, as well as by the fundamental long-term trends described above. Private
Wealth Management will also likely gain from recent and planned selective investments in its platform, from the net
money inflows of 2008 and earlier years, and from the development and introduction of new products and wealth
advisory services.

Private and Business Banking

In 2009, the private and business banking environment will likely be adversely impacted by several factors, and
Deutsche Bank management has put in place initiatives in response to these factors. Revenues from brokerage and
portfolio management will continue to come under pressure, as was the case in the fourth quarter of 2008, from lower
valuations in equity markets and from a reduction in customer brokerage activity reflecting the more negative senti-
ment in equity markets. Cash deposits, and simpler investment products, are likely to remain in demand from private
investors. Deposit margins are likely to come under pressure from lower interest rates and from intense competition
between banks to attract and retain customers. Provisions for loan losses are likely to rise in a more challenging and,
in some cases, recessionary environment. In some markets, including Germany, the retail banking landscape will
also likely be impacted by post-merger integration activity following the consolidations which occurred in 2008.
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The outlook for Deutsche Bank’s Private & Business Clients (PBC) business will be substantially influenced by these
factors. Revenues will be negatively impacted by lower levels of activity in brokerage and portfolio management, and
by tighter margins on deposits; however, this impact will be counterbalanced by PBC’s addition of 800,000 net new
clients and € 19 billion of deposits during 2008. Provisions for loan losses, in a more difficult economic climate, are
also likely to negatively impact profitability in 2009; on the other hand, this effect will likely be counterbalanced by risk
management measures taken during 2008. The efficiency measures contained in PBC’s Growth and Efficiency
Program, launched in 2008, which includes both cost savings and selective investments in the platform, will also likely
positively impact the business. PBC will also aim to benefit from its co-operation agreement with Deutsche Postbank,
which involves collaboration in IT and sourcing as well as marketing of complementary products.
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Risk Report

Risk and Capital Management

The wide variety of our businesses requires us to identify, measure, aggregate and manage our risks effectively, and
to allocate our capital among our businesses appropriately. We manage risk and capital through a framework of prin-
ciples, organizational structures as well as measurement and monitoring processes that are closely aligned with the
activities of our group divisions. The importance of a strong focus on risk management and the continuous need to
refine risk management practice has become particularly evident during the financial market crisis that began in 2007
and continues through the date of this report. While our risk and capital management continuously evolves and
improves, there can be no assurance that all market developments, in particular those of extreme nature, can be fully
anticipated at all times.

Risk and Capital Management Principles
The following key principles underpin our approach to risk and capital management:

— Our Management Board provides overall risk and capital management supervision for our consolidated Group.
Our Supervisory Board regularly monitors our risk and capital profile.

— We manage credit, market, liquidity, operational, business, legal and reputational risks as well as our capital in a
coordinated manner at all relevant levels within our organization. This also holds true for complex products which
we typically manage within our framework established for trading exposures.

— The structure of our integrated legal, risk & capital function is closely aligned with the structure of our group
divisions.

— The legal, risk & capital function is independent of our group divisions.

Risk and Capital Management Organization

Our Chief Risk Officer, who is a member of our Management Board, is responsible for our credit, market, liquidity,
operational, business, legal and reputational risk management as well as capital management activities within our
consolidated Group and heads our integrated legal, risk & capital function.

Two functional committees are central to the legal, risk & capital function. The Capital and Risk Committee is chaired
by our Chief Risk Officer, with the Chief Financial Officer being Vice-Chairman. The responsibilities of the Capital and
Risk Committee include risk profile and capital planning, capital capacity monitoring and optimization of funding. In
addition, the Chief Risk Officer chairs our Risk Executive Committee, which is responsible for management and
control of the aforementioned risks across our consolidated Group. The Deputy Chief Risk Officer reports directly to
the Chief Risk Officer and is among the voting members of our Risk Executive Committee.
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Dedicated legal, risk & capital units are established with the mandate to:

— Ensure that the business conducted within each division is consistent with the risk appetite that the Capital and
Risk Committee has set;

— Formulate and implement risk and capital management policies, procedures and methodologies that are appropri-
ate to the businesses within each division;

— Approve credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk limits;

— Conduct periodic portfolio reviews to ensure that the portfolio of risks is within acceptable parameters; and

— Develop and implement risk and capital management infrastructures and systems that are appropriate for each
division.

The Group Reputational Risk Committee (GRRC) is an official sub-committee of the Risk Executive Committee and is
chaired by the Chief Risk Officer. The GRRC reviews and makes final determinations on all reputational risk issues,
where escalation of such issues is deemed necessary by senior business and regional management, or required
under other Group policies and procedures.

Our finance and audit departments support our legal, risk & capital function. They operate independently of both the
group divisions and of the legal, risk & capital function. The role of the finance department is to help quantify and verify
the risk that we assume and ensure the quality and integrity of our risk-related data. Our audit department performs
risk-oriented reviews of the design and operating effectiveness of our internal control procedures and provides inde-
pendent assessments to the Management Board and the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board.

Categories of Risk

The most important risks we assume are specific banking risks and reputational risks, as well as risks arising from the
general business environment.

Specific Banking Risks
Our risk management processes distinguish among four kinds of specific banking risks: credit risk, market risk, liquidity
risk and operational risk.

— Credit risk arises from all transactions that give rise to actual, contingent or potential claims against any counter-
party, borrower or obligor (which we refer to collectively as “counterparties”). We distinguish among three kinds of
credit risk:

— Default risk is the risk that counterparties fail to meet contractual payment obligations.

— Country risk is the risk that we may suffer a loss, in any given country, due to any of the following reasons:
a possible deterioration of economic conditions, political and social upheaval, nationalization and expropriation
of assets, government repudiation of indebtedness, exchange controls and disruptive currency depreciation or
devaluation. Country risk includes transfer risk which arises when debtors are unable to meet their obligations
owing to an inability to transfer assets to nonresidents due to direct sovereign intervention.
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— Settlement risk is the risk that the settlement or clearance of transactions will fail. It arises whenever the
exchange of cash, securities and/or other assets is not simultaneous.

— Market risk arises from the uncertainty concerning changes in market prices and rates (including interest rates,
equity prices, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices), the correlations among them and their levels of
volatility.

— Liquidity risk is the risk arising from our potential inability to meet all payment obligations when they come due or
only being able to meet these obligations at excessive costs.

— Operational risk is the potential for incurring losses in relation to employees, contractual specifications and docu-
mentation, technology, infrastructure failure and disasters, projects, external influences and customer relation-
ships. This definition includes legal and regulatory risk, but excludes business and reputational risk.

Reputational Risk
Within our risk management processes, we define reputational risk as the risk that publicity concerning a transaction,
counterparty or business practice involving a client will negatively impact the public’s trust in our organization.

Business Risk

Business risk describes the risk we assume due to potential changes in general business conditions, such as our
market environment, client behavior and technological progress. This can affect our results if we fail to adjust quickly
to these changing conditions.

Insurance Specific Risk

Our exposure to insurance risk increased upon our 2007 acquisition of Abbey Life Assurance Company Limited and
our 2006 acquisition of a stake in Paternoster Limited, a regulated insurance company. We are primarily exposed to
the following insurance-related risks.

— Mortality and morbidity risks — the risks of a higher or lower than expected number of death claims on assurance
products and of an occurrence of one or more large claims, and the risk of a higher or lower than expected number
of disability claims, respectively. We aim to mitigate these risks by the use of reinsurance and the application of
discretionary charges. We investigate rates of mortality and morbidity annually.

— Longevity risk — the risk of faster or slower than expected improvements in life expectancy on immediate and
deferred annuity products. We monitor this risk carefully against the latest external industry data and emerging
trends.

— Expenses risk— the risk that policies cost more or less to administer than expected. We monitor these expenses
by an analysis of our actual expenses relative to our budget. We investigate reasons for any significant divergence
from expectations and take remedial action. We reduce the expense risk by having in place (until 2010 with the
option of renewal for two more years) an outsourcing agreement which covers the administration of the policies.

— Persistency risk— the risk of a higher or lower than expected percentage of lapsed policies. We assess our persis-
tency rates annually by reference to appropriate risk factors.
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Risk Management Tools

We use a comprehensive range of quantitative tools and metrics for monitoring and managing risks. As a matter of

policy, we continually assess the appropriateness and the reliability of our quantitative tools and metrics in light of our

changing risk environment. Some of these tools are common to a number of risk categories, while others are tailored

to the particular features of specific risk categories. The following are the most important quantitative tools and metrics

we currently use to measure, manage and report our risk:

— Economic capital. Economic capital measures the amount of capital we need to absorb very severe unexpected

losses arising from our exposures. “Very severe” in this context means that economic capital is set at a level to
cover with a probability of 99.98 % the aggregated unexpected losses within one year. We calculate economic
capital for the default risk, transfer risk and settlement risk elements of credit risk, for market risk, for operational
risk and for general business risk. In 2008, we refined our economic capital modeling in particular by completing a
Group-wide roll-out of our “multi-state” model for credit risk, which is intended to more comprehensively capture
the effects of rating migration. We further modified our economic capital framework to capture more comprehen-
sively profit and loss effects due to fair value accounting. As part of this model adjustment, we now report eco-
nomic capital for traded default risk and all assets which are fair valued through profit and loss within market risk
rather than credit risk. This enables us to also measure the price volatility of these assets within our economic
capital. We use economic capital to show an aggregated view of our risk position from individual business lines up
to our consolidated Group level. We also use economic capital (as well as goodwill and other nonamortizing intan-
gibles) in order to allocate our book capital among our businesses. This enables us to assess each business unit's
risk-adjusted profitability, which is a key metric in managing our financial resources. In addition, we consider eco-
nomic capital, in particular for credit risk, when we measure the risk-adjusted profitability of our client relationships.
See “Overall Risk Position” below for a quantitative summary of our economic capital usage.

Expected loss. We use expected loss as a measure of our credit and operational risk. Expected loss is a meas-
urement of the loss we can expect within a one-year period from these risks as of the respective reporting date,
based on our historical loss experience. When calculating expected loss for credit risk, we take into account credit
risk ratings, collateral, maturities and statistical averaging procedures to reflect the risk characteristics of our differ-
ent types of exposures and facilities. All parameter assumptions are based on statistical averages of our internal
default and loss history as well as external benchmarks. We use expected loss as a tool of our risk management
process and as part of our management reporting systems. We also consider the applicable results of the
expected loss calculations as a component of our collectively assessed allowance for credit losses included in our
financial statements. For operational risk we determine the expected loss from statistical averages of our internal
loss history, recent risk trends as well as forward looking expert estimates.
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— Value-at-Risk. We use the value-at-risk approach to derive quantitative measures for our trading book market

risks under normal market conditions. Our value-at-risk figures play a role in both internal and external (regulatory)
reporting. For a given portfolio, value-at-risk measures the potential future loss (in terms of market value) that,
under normal market conditions, will not be exceeded with a defined confidence level in a defined period. The
value-at-risk for a total portfolio represents a measure of our diversified market risk (aggregated using pre-
determined correlations) in that portfolio.

Stress testing. We supplement our analysis of credit, market, liquidity and operational risk with stress testing. For
market risk management purposes, we perform stress tests because value-at-risk calculations are based on rela-
tively recent historical data, only purport to estimate risk up to a defined confidence level and assume good asset
liquidity. Therefore, they only reflect possible losses under relatively normal market conditions. Stress tests help us
determine the effects of potentially extreme market developments on the value of our market risk sensitive expo-
sures, both on our highly liquid and less liquid trading positions as well as our investments. We use stress testing
to determine the amount of economic capital we need to allocate to cover our market risk exposure under the
scenarios of extreme market conditions we select for our simulations. Our 2008 experience in relation to these
stress tests is discussed further below. For credit risk management purposes, we perform stress tests to assess
the impact of changes in general economic conditions on our credit exposures or parts thereof as well as the
impact on the creditworthiness of our portfolio. For liquidity risk management purposes, we perform stress tests
and scenario analysis to evaluate the impact of sudden stress events on our liquidity position. For operational risk
management purposes, we perform stress tests on our economic capital model to assess its sensitivity to changes
in key model components, which include external losses. Among other things, the results of these stress tests
enable us to assess the impact of significant changes in the frequency and/or severity of operational risk events on
our operational risk economic capital.

Regulatory risk assessment. German banking regulators assess our capacity to assume risk in several ways,
which are described in more detail in Note [36] of the consolidated financial statements.

Credit Risk

We measure and manage our credit risk following the below principles:
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In all our group divisions consistent standards are applied in the respective credit decision processes.

The approval of credit limits for counterparties and the management of our individual credit exposures must fit
within our portfolio guidelines and our credit strategies.

Every extension of credit or material change to a credit facility (such as its tenor, collateral structure or major cove-
nants) to any counterparty requires credit approval at the appropriate authority level.

We assign credit approval authorities to individuals according to their qualifications, experience and training, and
we review these periodically.

We measure and consolidate all our credit exposures to each obligor on a global consolidated basis that applies
across our consolidated Group. We define an “obligor” as a group of individual borrowers that are linked to one
another by any of a number of criteria we have established, including capital ownership, voting rights, demonstra-
ble control, other indication of group affiliation; or are jointly and severally liable for all or significant portions of the
credit we have extended.
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Credit Risk Ratings

A primary element of the credit approval process is a detailed risk assessment of every credit exposure associated
with a counterparty. Our risk assessment procedures consider both the creditworthiness of the counterparty and the
risks related to the specific type of credit facility or exposure. This risk assessment not only affects the structuring of
the transaction and the outcome of the credit decision, but also influences the level of decision-making authority
required to extend or materially change the credit and the monitoring procedures we apply to the ongoing exposure.

We have our own in-house assessment methodologies, scorecards and rating scale for evaluating the creditworthi-
ness of our counterparties. Our granular 26-grade rating scale, which is calibrated on a probability of default measure
based upon a statistical analysis of historical defaults in our portfolio, enables us to compare our internal ratings with
common market practice and ensures comparability between different sub-portfolios of our institution. Several default
ratings therein enable us to incorporate the potential recovery rate of defaulted exposure. We generally rate our credit
exposures individually. When we assign our internal risk ratings, we compare them with external risk ratings assigned
to our counterparties by the major international rating agencies, where possible.

Credit Limits
Credit limits set forth maximum credit exposures we are willing to assume over specified periods. They relate to prod-
ucts, conditions of the exposure and other factors.

Monitoring Default Risk

We monitor all of our credit exposures on a continuing basis using the risk management tools described above. We
also have procedures in place intended to identify at an early stage credit exposures for which there may be an
increased risk of loss. We aim to identify counterparties that, on the basis of the application of our risk management
tools, demonstrate the likelihood of problems well in advance in order to effectively manage the credit exposure and
maximize the recovery. The objective of this early warning system is to address potential problems while adequate
alternatives for action are still available. This early risk detection is a tenet of our credit culture and is intended to
ensure that greater attention is paid to such exposures. In instances where we have identified counterparties where
problems might arise, the respective exposure is placed on a watchlist.

Monitoring Traded Default Risk

We monitor corporate default exposures in our developed markets’ trading book with a dedicated risk management
unit combining our credit and market risk expertise. We use appropriate portfolio limits and ratings-driven thresholds
on single-issuer basis, combined with our market risk management tools to risk manage such positions. Positions
outside of this scope continue to be risk managed by our respective credit and market risk units.

73



01 Management Report  Credit Risk

Loan Exposure Management Group

As part of our overall framework of risk management, the Loan Exposure Management Group (“LEMG”) focuses on
managing the credit risk of loans and lending-related commitments of the international investment-grade portfolio and
the medium-sized German companies’ portfolio within our Corporate and Investment Bank Group Division.

Acting as a central pricing reference, LEMG provides the respective Corporate and Investment Bank Group Division
businesses with an observed or derived capital market rate for loan applications; however, the decision of whether or
not the business can enter into the loan remains with Credit Risk Management.

LEMG is concentrating on two primary initiatives within the credit risk framework to further enhance risk management
discipline, improve returns and use capital more efficiently:

— to reduce single-name and industry credit risk concentrations within the credit portfolio, and
— to manage credit exposures actively by utilizing techniques including loan sales, securitization via collateralized
loan obligations, default insurance coverage and single-name and portfolio credit default swaps.

The notional amount of LEMG’s risk reduction activities increased by 21 % from €47.0 bilion as of Decem-
ber 31, 2007, to € 56.7 billion as of December 31, 2008.

As of year-end 2008, LEMG held credit derivatives with an underlying notional amount of € 36.5 billion. The position
totaled € 31.6 billion as of December 31, 2007.

The credit derivatives used for our portfolio management activities are accounted for at fair value.

LEMG also mitigated the credit risk of €20.1billion of loans and lending-related commitments as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008, by synthetic collateralized loan obligations supported predominantly by financial guarantees and, to a
lesser extent, credit derivatives for which the first loss piece has been sold. This position totaled € 15.3 billion as of
December 31, 2007. LEMG further mitigated the credit risk of € 70 million of loans and lending-related commitments
as of December 31, 2008 by way of credit-linked notes. This position totaled € 74 million as of December 31, 2007.
Credit risk mitigation by way of credit-linked notes or synthetic collateralized loan obligations supported by financial
guarantees addresses the credit risk of the less liquid underlying positions.

74



01 Management Report  Credit Risk

LEMG has elected to use the fair value option under IAS 39 to report loans and commitments at fair value, provided
the criteria for this option are met. The notional amount of loans and commitments reported at fair value increased
during the year to € 50.5 billion as of December 31, 2008, from € 44.7 billion as of December 31, 2007, as new loans
were originated and those that qualified were designated to be reported at fair value. By reporting loans and commit-
ments at fair value, LEMG has significantly reduced profit and loss volatility that resulted from the accounting
mismatch that existed when all loans and commitments were reported at historical cost while derivative hedges were
reported at fair value.

Credit Exposure

We define our credit exposure as all transactions where losses might occur due to the fact that counterparties may not
fulfill their contractual payment obligations. We calculate the gross amount of the exposure without taking into account
any collateral, other credit enhancement or credit risk mitigating transactions. In the tables below, we show details
about several of our main credit exposure categories, namely loans, irrevocable lending commitments, contingent
liabilities and over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivatives:

— “Loans” are net loans as reported on our balance sheet at amortized cost but before deduction of our allowance for
loan losses.

— “Irrevocable lending commitments” consist of the undrawn portion of irrevocable lending-related commitments.

— “Contingent liabilities” consist of financial and performance guarantees, standby letters of credit and indemnity
agreements.

— “OTC derivatives” are our credit exposures from over-the-counter derivative transactions that we have entered
into, after netting and cash collateral received. On our balance sheet, these are included in trading assets or, for
derivatives qualifying for hedge accounting, in other assets, in either case, before netting and cash collateral
received.

Although we consider them in monitoring our credit exposures, the following are not included in the tables below: cash
and due from banks, interest-earning deposits with banks, and accrued interest receivables, amounting to
€79.2billion at December 31, 2008 and € 37.8 billion at December 31, 2007, forward committed repurchase and
reverse repurchase agreements of € 38.4 billion at December 31, 2008 and € 56.3 billion at December 31, 2007,
“tradable assets”, which include bonds, loans and other fixed-income products that are in our trading assets and in
securities available for sale, of € 210.2 billion at December 31, 2008 and € 457.7 billion at December 31, 2007 as well
as loans designated at fair value, of € 18.7 billion at December 31, 2008 and € 21.5 billion at December 31, 2007.
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The following table breaks down several of our main credit exposure categories by geographical region. For this table,
we have allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of our counterparties, irrespective of any
affiliations the counterparties may have with corporate groups domiciled elsewhere. The increases in the below credit
exposure were primarily in loans and derivatives and for both within Western Europe and North America. The loan
increase was partly due to € 34.4 billion assets being reclassified under 1AS 39 while the derivative increase was
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driven by large interest rate moves and to a lesser extent by volatile markets.

Credit risk profile Loans’ Irrevocable lending Contingent liabilities OTC derivatives® Total
by region

Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31,
in€m. 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Eastern Europe 7,672 4,334 2,086 1,479 2,033 972 13,445 8,479
Western Europe 185,577 141,572 25,289 29,021 48,677 30,982 298,241 249,523
Africa 1,076 747 566 801 297 552 2,272 2,324
Asia/Pacific 16,887 15,006 6,223 5,672 13,225 8,371 42,491 38,737
North America 56,129 37,087 13,943 12,407 57,177 29,517 184,061 147,506
Central and South America 3,530 1,754 660 480 1,552 965 5,938 3,574
Other* 348 97 48 46 629 643 1,253 873
Total 271,219 200,597 48,815 49,905 123,590 72,002 547,701 451,015
1 Includes impaired loans amounting to € 3.7 billion as of December 31, 2008 and € 2.6 billion as of December 31, 2007.
2 Includes irrevocable lending commitments related to consumer credit exposure of € 2.8 billion as of December 31, 2008 and € 2.7 billion as December 31, 2007.
3 Includes the effect of master agreement netting and cash collateral received where applicable.
4 Includes supranational organizations and other exposures that we have not allocated to a single region.
The following table breaks down several of our main credit exposure categories according to the industry sectors of
our counterparties.
Credit risk profile Loans' Irrevocable lending Contingent liabilities OTC derivatives® Total
by industry sector

Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31,
in€m. 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Banks and insurance 26,998 12,850 11,568 11,005 68,641 36,048 132,177 88,189
Manufacturing 19,043 16,067 13,669 11,508 4,550 3,637 62,151 55,383
Households 83,376 70,863 1,768 1,724 791 1,497 89,797 77,867
Public sector 9,972 5,086 628 888 7,125 5,493 18,544 12,490
Wholesale and retail trade 11,761 8,916 3,423 3,496 1,264 839 22,825 19,090
Commercial real estate activities 27,083 16,476 2,403 1,902 3,213 455 34,938 21,977
Other*?® 92,986 70,339 15,356 19,383 38,006 24,134 187,269 176,018
Total 271,219 200,597 48,815 49,905 123,590 72,002 547,701 451,015

a s N =

Our loans, irrevocable lending commitments, contingent liabilities and OTC derivatives-related credit exposure to our
ten largest counterparties accounts for 7 % of our aggregated total credit exposure in these categories as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008. Our top ten counterparty exposures are typically with well-rated counterparties or relate to structured
trades which show high levels of collateralization.
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Includes impaired loans amounting to € 3.7 billion as of December 31, 2008 and € 2.6 billion as of December 31, 2007.
Includes irrevocable lending commitments related to consumer credit exposure of € 2.8 billion as of December 31, 2008 and € 2.7 billion as of December 31, 2007.

Includes the effect of master agreement netting and cash collateral received where applicable.
Loan exposures for Other include lease financing.

Included in the category “Other” is investment counseling and administration exposure of € 67.9 billion and € 54.8 billion as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007,

respectively.
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We also classify our credit exposure under two broad headings: corporate credit exposure and consumer credit expo-
sure.

— Our corporate credit exposure consists of all exposures not defined as consumer credit exposure.

— Our consumer credit exposure consists of our smaller-balance standardized homogeneous loans, primarily in
Germany, Italy and Spain, which include personal loans, residential and nonresidential mortgage loans, overdrafts
and loans to self-employed and small business customers of our private and retail business.

Corporate Credit Exposure
The following table breaks down several of our main corporate credit exposure categories according to the creditwor-
thiness categories of our counterparties.

This table reflects an increase in our corporate loan book, of which € 34.4 billion was due to assets reclassified to
loans according to IAS 39, as well as a continued good quality of our lending-related credit exposures. The portion of
our corporate loan book carrying an investment-grade rating decreased from 70 % at December 31, 2007 to 66 % at
December 31, 2008, reflecting the general credit deterioration in light of the market turbulence throughout 2008. How-
ever, as discussed above, the loan exposure shown in the table below does not take into account any collateral, other
credit enhancement or credit risk mitigating transactions. After consideration of such credit mitigants, we believe that
there is no undue concentration risk and our loan book is well-diversified. The increase in our OTC derivatives expo-
sure was substantially driven by interest and foreign exchange products, reflecting a substantial fall in yield curves,
especially in the second half of 2008, and took place mainly within the investment-grade rating band. OTC derivatives
exposure as shown below does not include credit risk mitigants (other than master agreement netting) or collateral
(other than cash). Taking these mitigants into account, the remaining current credit exposure is significantly lower and
in our judgment well-diversified and geared towards investment grade counterparties.

Corporate credit exposure Loans’ Irrevocable lending Contingent liabilities OTC derivatives® Total

credit risk profile

commitments?

by creditworthiness category

Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31,
in€m. 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
AAA-AA 40,749 22,765 20,373 28,969 5,926 7,467 65,598 39,168 132,646 98,370
A 29,752 30,064 30,338 31,087 11,976 15,052 22,231 13,230 94,297 89,432
BBB 53,360 30,839 26,510 35,051 15,375 13,380 15,762 8,008 111,007 87,277
BB 44,132 26,590 19,657 25,316 10,239 9,146 13,009 7,945 87,037 68,996
B 10,458 6,628 5,276 7,431 4,412 4,252 3,898 2,370 24,044 20,681
CCC and below 8,268 3,342 1,923 657 887 609 3,092 1,281 14,170 5,889
Total 186,719 120,228 104,077 128,511 48,815 49,905 123,590 72,002 463,201 370,646

1 Includes impaired loans mainly in category CCC and below amounting to € 2.3 billion as of December 31, 2008 and € 1.5 billion as of December 31, 2007.

2
3

Includes irrevocable lending commitments related to consumer credit exposure of € 2.8 billion as of December 31, 2008 and € 2.7 billion as of December 31, 2007.
Includes the effect of master agreement netting and cash collateral received where applicable.
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Consumer Credit Exposure

The table below presents our total consumer credit exposure, consumer loan delinquencies in terms of loans that are
90 days or more past due, and net credit costs, which are the net provisions charged during the period, after recover-
ies. Loans 90 days or more past due and net credit costs are both expressed as a percentage of total exposure.

Total exposure 90 days or more past due Net credit costs

in€m. as a % of total exposure as a % of total exposure

Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31,

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Consumer credit exposure Germany: 57,139 56,504 1.54 % 1.68 % 0.65 % 0.64 %
Consumer and small business financing 15,047 14,489 1.98 % 1.96 % 1.98 % 1.76 %
Mortgage lending 42,092 42,015 1.39 % 1.58 % 0.18 % 0.26 %
Consumer credit exposure outside Germany 27,361 23,864 1.92 % 1.24 % 0.94 % 0.55 %
Total consumer credit exposure1 84,500 80,368 1.67 % 1.55 % 0.74 % 0.62 %

1 Includes impaired loans amounting to € 1.4 billion as of December 31, 2008 and € 1.1 billion as of December 31, 2007.

The volume of our consumer credit exposure rose by € 4.1 billion, or 5 %, from 2007 to 2008, driven both by the vol-
ume growth of our portfolio outside Germany (up € 3.5 billion) with strong growth in Italy (up € 1.5 billion), Poland (up
€ 1.0 billion) and Spain (up €611 million) as well as in Germany (up € 635 million). Total net credit costs as a percent-
age of total exposure increased overall compared to 2007 reflecting our strategy to invest in higher margin consumer
finance business as well as the deteriorating credit conditions in Spain. In Germany the increase in net credit costs
was driven by the consumer finance business and only partially offset by a reduction in mortgage lending. Outside
Germany the increase in net credit costs was mainly driven by the exacerbating economic crisis in Spain which ad-
versely affected all our loan portfolios there and by our consumer finance business in Italy and Poland. The higher
percentage of delinquent loans outside Germany was predominantly driven by our mortgage business in Spain.
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Credit Exposure from Derivatives

To reduce our derivatives-related credit risk, we regularly seek the execution of master agreements (such as the Inter-
national Swaps and Derivatives Association’s master agreements for derivatives) with our clients. A master agreement
allows the netting of obligations arising under all of the derivatives transactions that the agreement covers upon the
counterparty’s default, resulting in a single net claim against the counterparty (called “close-out netting”). For parts of
our derivatives business we also enter into payment netting agreements under which we set off amounts payable on
the same day in the same currency and in respect to all transactions covered by these agreements, reducing our
principal risk.

For internal credit exposure measurement purposes, we only apply netting when we believe it is legally enforceable
for the relevant jurisdiction and counterparty. Also, we enter into collateral support agreements to reduce our deriva-
tives-related credit risk. These collateral arrangements generally provide risk mitigation through periodic (usually daily)
margining of the covered portfolio or transactions and termination of the master agreement if the counterparty fails to
honor a collateral call. As with netting, when we believe the collateral agreement is enforceable we reflect this in our
exposure measurement.

As the replacement values of our portfolios fluctuate with movements in market rates and with changes in the transac-
tions in the portfolios, we also estimate the potential future replacement costs of the portfolios over their lifetimes or, in
case of collateralized portfolios, over appropriate unwind periods. We measure our potential future exposure against
separate limits. We supplement our potential future exposure analysis with stress tests to estimate the immediate
impact of extreme market events on our exposures (such as event risk in our Emerging Markets portfolio).

Treatment of Default Situations under Derivatives

Unlike in the case of our standard loan assets, we generally have more options to manage the credit risk in our OTC
derivatives when movement in the current replacement costs of the transactions and the behavior of our counterparty
indicate that there is the risk that upcoming payment obligations under the transactions might not be honored. In these
situations, we are frequently able to obtain additional collateral or terminate the transactions or the related master
agreement.

When our decision to terminate transactions or the related master agreement results in a residual net obligation of the

counterparty, we restructure the obligation into a nonderivative claim and manage it through our regular workout proc-
ess. As a consequence, we do not show any nonperforming derivatives.
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The following table shows the notional amounts and gross market values of OTC and exchange-traded derivative

contracts we held for trading and nontrading purposes as of December 31, 2008.

Dec 31, 2008 Notional amount maturity distribution Positive Negative Net
Within one >1and  Afterfive Total market market market
in€m. year < 5years years value value value
Interest-rate-related transactions:
OTC products:
FRAs 4,246,883 240,762 2,327 4,489,972 11,195 (10,395) 799
Interest rate swaps (single currency) 11,420,341 11,453,935 9,251,828 32,126,104 570,204 (550,811) 19,393
Purchased interest rate options 396,285 567,857 280,663 1,244,806 71,120 - 71,120
Written interest rate options 459,646 601,245 297,014 1,357,905 - (76,643) (76,643)
Other interest rate trades - - - - - - -
Exchange-traded products:
Interest rate futures 217,707 126,822 685 345,214 - - -
Purchased interest rate options 104,754 16,737 - 121,491 357 - 357
Written interest rate options 77,180 9,783 - 86,964 - (216) (216)
Sub-total 16,922,796 13,017,141 9,832,517 39,772,456 652,876 (638,065) 14,810
Currency-related transactions:
OTC products:
Forward exchange trades 561,840 67,213 5,292 634,346 25,148 (25,329) (181)
Cross currency swaps 1,676,218 716,206 414,971 2,807,395 128,593 (127,225) 1,368
Purchased foreign currency options 324,102 110,820 34,698 469,621 28,083 - 28,083
Written foreign currency options 315,905 118,776 25,661 460,342 - (25,506) (25,506)
Exchange-traded products:
Foreign currency futures 8,309 749 36 9,095 - - -
Purchased foreign currency options 2,106 191 - 2,297 212 - 212
Written foreign currency options 2,674 18 - 2,692 - (198) (198)
Sub-total 2,891,154 1,013,973 480,658 4,385,788 182,036 (178,258) 3,778
Equity/index-related transactions:
OTC products:
Equity forward 938 1 489 1,427 200 (158) 42
Equity/index swaps 75,665 58,993 24,783 159,441 18,722 (14,780) 3,942
Purchased equity/index options 128,377 129,524 36,314 294,214 44,993 - 44,993
Written equity/index options 139,590 167,387 49,325 356,301 - (53,933) (53,933)
Exchange-traded products:
Equity/index futures 20,023 48 28 20,099 - - -
Equity/index purchased options 197,250 66,611 11,132 274,993 4,869 - 4,869
Equity/index written options 176,887 69,712 16,319 262,919 - (6,005) (6,005)
Sub-total 738,730 492,276 138,390 1,369,394 68,784 (74,876) (6,092)
Credit derivatives 315,693 3,088,619 1,045,121 4,449,432 295,383 (260,849) 34,534
Other transactions:
OTC products:
Precious metal trades 43,932 32,077 4,526 80,536 4,522 (4,234) 288
Other trades 82,195 169,726 5,855 257,776 24,805 (24,394) 411
Exchange-traded products:
Futures 32,728 16,062 564 49,354 302 (254) 49
Purchased options 20,483 13,774 422 34,679 5,318 - 5,318
Written options 19,435 12,309 1,044 32,788 - (5,403) (5,403)
Sub-total 198,773 243,948 12,411 455,133 34,947 (34,285) 663
Total OTC business 20,187,610 17,523,140 11,478,867 49,189,619 1,222,967 (1,174,257) 48,710
Total exchange-traded business 879,536 332,817 30,230 1,242,584 11,059 (12,076) (1,017)
Total 21,067,146 17,855,957 11,509,097 50,432,203 1,234,026 (1,186,333) 47,693
Positive market values including the effect of netting
and cash collateral received 130,375
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Distribution Risk

We frequently underwrite large commitments with the intention to sell down or distribute most of the risk to third par-
ties. These commitments include the undertaking to fund bank loans and to provide bridge loans for the issuance of
public bonds. The sell down or distribution is, under normal market conditions, typically accomplished within 90 days
after the closing date. However, due to the continued market dislocation in 2008, we experienced further delays in
distribution of our loan and bond commitments in the respective businesses. Our largest distribution risk during 2008
related to the businesses of Leveraged Finance and Real Estate (specifically, commercial mortgages).

For risk management purposes we treat the full amount of all such commitments as credit exposure requiring formal
credit approval. This approval also includes our intended final hold. Amounts which we intend to sell are classified as
trading assets and are subject to fair value accounting. The price volatility is monitored in our market risk process.
To protect us against a value deterioration of such amounts, we may enter into generic market risk hedges (most
commonly using related indices), which are also captured in our market risk process.

Country Risk
We manage country risk through a number of risk measures and limits, the most important being:

— Total counterparty exposure. All credit extended and OTC derivatives exposure to counterparties domiciled in a
given country that we view as being at risk due to economic or political events (“country risk event”). It includes
nonguaranteed subsidiaries of foreign entities and offshore subsidiaries of local clients.

— Transfer risk exposure. Credit risk arising where an otherwise solvent and willing debtor is unable to meet its
obligations due to the imposition of governmental or regulatory controls restricting its ability either to obtain foreign
exchange or to transfer assets to nonresidents (a “transfer risk event”). It includes all of our credit extended and
OTC derivatives exposure from one of our offices in one country to a counterparty in a different country.

— Highly-stressed event risk scenarios. We use stress testing to measure potential risks on our trading positions
and view these as market risk.

Country Risk Ratings
Our country risk ratings represent a key tool in our management of country risk. They are established by an independ-
ent country risk research function within our Credit Risk Management function and include:

— Sovereign rating. A measure of the probability of the sovereign defaulting on its foreign or local currency obligations.

— Transfer risk rating. A measure of the probability of a “transfer risk event.”
— Event risk rating. A measure of the probability of major disruptions in the market risk factors relating to a country.
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All sovereign and transfer risk ratings are reviewed, at least annually, by the Group Credit Policy Committee, a sub-
committee of our Risk Executive Committee. Our country risk research group also reviews, at least quarterly, our
ratings for the major Emerging Markets countries. Ratings for countries that we view as particularly volatile, as well as
all event risk ratings, are subject to continuous review.

We also regularly compare our internal risk ratings with the ratings of the major international rating agencies.

Country Risk Limits

We manage our exposure to country risk through a framework of limits. The bank specifically limits and monitors its
exposure to Emerging Markets. For this purpose, Emerging Markets are defined as Latin America (including the
Caribbean), Asia (excluding Japan), Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Africa. Limits are reviewed at least annually,
in conjunction with the review of country risk ratings. Country Risk limits are set by either our Management Board or by
our Group Credit Policy Committee, pursuant to delegated authority.

Monitoring Country Risk

We charge our group divisions with the responsibility of managing their country risk within the approved limits. The
regional units within Credit Risk Management monitor our country risk based on information provided by our finance
function. Our Group Credit Policy Committee also reviews data on transfer risk.

Country Risk Exposure
The following tables show the development of total Emerging Markets net counterparty exposure (net of collateral),
and the utilized Emerging Markets net transfer risk exposure (net of collateral) by region.

Emerging Markets net counterparty exposure

in€m. Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Total net counterparty exposure 26,214 22,000
Total net counterparty exposure (excluding OTC derivatives) 17,697 16,580

Excluding irrevocable commitments and exposures to non-Emerging Markets bank branches.

Emerging Markets net transfer risk exposure

in€m. Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Africa 914 508
Asia (excluding Japan) 5,472 3,277
Eastern Europe 3,364 1,856
Latin America 1,647 658
Middle East 3,402 2,931
Total emerging markets net transfer risk exposure 14,799 9,230

Excluding irrevocable commitments and exposures to non-Emerging Markets bank branches.
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As of December 31, 2008, our net transfer risk exposure to Emerging Markets (excluding irrevocable commitments
and exposures to non-Emerging Markets bank branches) amounted to € 14.8 billion, an increase of 60 %, or
€ 5.6 billion, from December 31, 2007. This development was largely a result of increased OTC derivatives exposure.

Impaired Loans

Under IFRS, we consider loans to be impaired when we recognize objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred. While we assess the impairment for our corporate credit exposure individually, we consider our
smaller-balance standardized homogeneous loans to be impaired once the credit contract with the customer has been
terminated.

As of December 31, 2008, our impaired loans totaled € 3.7 billion, representing a 39 % increase compared to Decem-
ber 31, 2007. The total €2.1 billion net increase of impaired loans was only partly offset by €990 million of gross
charge-offs and a € 36 million decrease as a result of exchange rate movements. The increase in impaired loans is
mainly attributable to our individually assessed impaired loans with net increases of € 1.2 billion, partly offset by gross
charge-offs of € 364 million and a € 36 million decrease as a result of exchange rate movements. This development
includes €753 million of loans reclassified according to IAS 39, which during 2008 showed a net increase of
€ 944 million, partly offset by € 138 million of gross charge-offs and a € 53 million decrease as a result of exchange rate
movements. The collectively assessed impaired loans increased by € 271 million, as net increases of € 896 million
were offset by charge-offs of € 625 million.

Problem Loans
In keeping with SEC industry guidance, we continue to monitor and report problem loans.

Our problem loans consist of our impaired loans and, additionally, € 873 million nonimpaired problem loans as of
December 31, 2008, where no impairment loss is expected but where known information about possible credit
problems of borrowers causes management to have serious doubts as to the ability of such borrowers to comply with
the present loan repayment terms or that are 90 days or more past due but for which the accrual of interest has not
been discontinued.

83



01 Management Report  Credit Risk

The following table presents the components of our December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 problem loans and
impaired loans.

Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Individually Collectively Total Individually Collectively Total

in€m. d d d d
Nonaccrual loans 2,810 1,400 4,210 1,702 1,129 2,831

Loans 90 days or more past due

and still accruing 13 188 201 30 191 220
Troubled debt restructurings 144 - 144 93 - 93
Total problem loans 2,967 1,588 4,555 1,824 1,320 3,144
thereof: IFRS impaired loans 2,282 1,400 3,682 1,516 1,129 2,645

The € 1.4 billion, or 45 %, increase in our total problem loans in 2008 was due to a € 2.4 billion net increase of problem
loans partly offset by €990 million of gross charge-offs and a € 17 million decrease as a result of exchange rate
movements. The increase in problem loans is mainly attributable to our individually assessed loans, with net increases
of € 1.5 billion, partly offset by gross charge-offs of € 364 million and a € 17 million decrease as a result of exchange
rate movements. These problem loans include € 840 million of new problem loans among the loans reclassified to the
banking book as permitted by the amendments to IAS 39, comprising net new problem loans of € 1.0 billion partly
offset by € 138 million of gross charge-offs and a € 65 million decrease as a result of exchange rate movements. For
collectively assessed problem loans, net increases of €893 million were partly offset by gross charge-offs of
€625 million. Included in the € 1.6 billion of collectively assessed problem loans as of December 31,2008 are
€ 1.4 billion of loans that are 90 days or more past due as well as € 143 million of loans that are less than 90 days past
due but for which, in the judgment of management, the accrual of interest should be ceased.

Our commitments to lend additional funds to debtors with problem loans amounted to € 71 million as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008, a decrease of € 58 million or 45 % compared to December 31, 2007. Of these commitments, € 6 million
had been committed to debtors whose loan terms have been modified in a troubled debt restructuring, an increase of
€ 5 million compared to December 31, 2007.

In addition, as of December 31, 2008, we had € 4 million of lease financing transactions that were nonperforming. This
amount is not included in our total problem loans.
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The following table illustrates our total problem loans split between German and non-German counterparties based on
the country of domicile of our counterparty for the last two years.

in €m. Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Nonaccrual loans:
German 1,738 1,913
Non-German 2,472 918
Total nonaccrual loans 4,210 2,831

Loans 90 days or more past due and still accruing:

German 183 199

Non-German 18 21
Total loans 90 days or more past due and still accruing 201 220
Troubled debt restructurings:

German 122 49

Non-German 22 44
Total troubled debt restructurings 144 93

Nonaccrual Loans
We place a loan on nonaccrual status if:

— the loan has been in default as to payment of principal or interest for 90 days or more and the loan is neither well
secured nor in the process of collection, or

— the accrual of interest should be ceased according to management’s judgment as to collectibility of contractual
cash flows.

When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, the accrual of interest in accordance with the contractual terms of the
loan is discontinued. However, the accretion of the net present value of the written down amount of the loan due to the
passage of time is recognized as interest income based on the original effective interest rate of the loan. Cash receipts
of interest on nonaccrual loans are recorded as a reduction of principal.

As of December 31, 2008, our nonaccrual loans totaled € 4.2 billion, an increase of € 1.4 billion, or 49 %, from 2007.
The increase in nonaccrual loans took place substantially in our individually assessed loans, driven by net increases,
mainly by € 1.0 billion of loans reclassified according to IAS 39, more than offsetting charge-offs and a decrease as a
result of exchange rate movements.

Loans Ninety Days or More Past Due and Still Accruing
These are loans in which contractual interest or principal payments are 90 days or more past due but on which we

continue to accrue interest. These loans are well secured and in the process of collection and are not impaired.

In 2008, our 90 days or more past due and still accruing loans decreased by € 20 million, or 9 %, to € 201 million as of
December 31, 2008.
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Troubled Debt Restructurings
Troubled debt restructurings are loans that we have restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial
position on terms that we would not otherwise consider.

If a borrower performs satisfactorily for one year under a restructured loan, we no longer consider that borrower’s loan
to be a troubled debt restructuring, unless at the time of restructuring the new interest rate was lower than the market
rate for similar credit risks. Impairment for Troubled Debt Restructurings is measured using the original effective inter-
est rate before modification of terms.

In 2008, the volume of our troubled debt restructurings increased by € 51 million, or 55 %, to € 144 million as of
December 31, 2008.

Credit Loss Experience and Allowance for Loan Losses
We regularly assess whether there is objective evidence that a loan or a group of loans is impaired. A loan or group of
loans is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if:

— there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of a loss event that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset and up to the balance sheet date (a “loss event”);

— the loss event had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial
assets; and

— areliable estimate of the loss amount can be made.

We establish an allowance for loan losses that represents our estimate of impairment losses in our loan portfolio. The
responsibility for determining our allowance for loan losses rests with Credit Risk Management. The components of
this allowance are the individually and the collectively assessed loss allowance. We first assess whether objective
evidence of impairment exists individually for loans that are significant. We then assess collectively impairment for
those loans that are not individually significant and loans which are significant but for which there is no objective
evidence of impairment under the individual assessment.

Individually Assessed Loss Allowance

To allow management to determine whether a loss event has occurred on an individual basis, all significant counter-
party relationships are reviewed periodically. This evaluation considers current information and events related to the
counterparty, such as the counterparty experiencing significant financial difficulty or a breach of contract, for example,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments.

If there is evidence of impairment leading to an impairment loss for an individual counterparty relationship, then the
amount of the loss is determined as the difference between the carrying amount of the loan(s), including accrued
interest, and the estimated recoverable amount. The estimated recoverable amount is measured as the present value
of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate, including cash flows that may
result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral. The carrying amounts of the loans are
reduced by the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the income statement as a
component of the provision for credit losses.
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We regularly re-evaluate all credit exposures that have already been individually provided for, as well as all credit
exposures that appear on our watchlist.

Collectively Assessed Loss Allowance

The collective assessment of impairment is principally to establish an allowance amount relating to loans that are
either individually significant but for which there is no objective evidence of impairment, or are not individually signifi-
cant, but for which there is, on a portfolio basis, a loss amount that is probable of having occurred and is reasonably
estimable. The collectively measured loss amount has three components:

— The first component is an amount for country risk and for transfer and currency convertibility risks for loan expo-
sures in countries where there are serious doubts about the ability of counterparties to comply with the repayment
terms due to the economic or political situation prevailing in the respective country of domicile. This amount is
calculated using ratings for country risk and transfer risk which are established and regularly reviewed for each
country in which we conduct business.

— The second component is an allowance amount representing the incurred losses on the portfolio of smaller-
balance homogeneous loans. The loans are grouped according to similar credit risk characteristics and the allow-
ance for each group is determined using statistical models based on historical experiences.

— The third component represents an estimate of incurred losses inherent in the group of loans that have not yet
been identified as individually impaired or measured as part of the smaller-balance homogeneous loans.

Once a loan is identified as impaired, although the accrual of interest in accordance with the contractual terms of the
loan is discontinued, the accretion of the net present value of the written down amount of the loan due to the passage
of time is recognized as interest income based on the original effective interest rate of the loan.

All impaired loans are reviewed for changes to the recoverable amount. Any change to the previously recognized
impairment loss is recognized as a change to the allowance account and recorded in the income statement as a
component of the provision for credit losses.

Charge-off Policy

When we consider that there is no realistic prospect of recovery and all collateral has been realized or transferred to
us, the loan together with the associated allowance is charged-off.
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Allowance for Loan Losses

The following table presents the components of our allowance for loan losses on the dates specified, including, with
respect to our German loan portfolio, a breakdown by industry of the borrower and the percentage of our total loan
portfolio accounted for by those industry classifications. The breakdown between German and non-German borrowers
is based on the country of domicile of our borrowers.

in€m.
(unless stated otherwise) Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007

German:

Individually assessed loan loss allowance:

Banks and insurance 1 5% - -
Manufacturing 165 3% 176 4%
Households (excluding mortgages) 21 5% 24 6 %
Households — mortgages 5 13 % 5 17 %
Public sector - 2% - 2%
Wholesale and retail trade 81 1% 88 2%
Commercial real estate activities 60 5% 127 5%
Other 146 5% 189 6 %

Individually assessed loan loss allowance German total 479 609

Collectively assessed loan loss allowance 464 481

German total 943 39 % 1,090 42 %

Non-German:

Individually assessed loan loss allowance 499 321

Collectively assessed loan loss allowance 496 294

Non-German total 995 61 % 615 58 %

Total allowance for loan losses 1,938 100 % 1,705 100 %

Total individually assessed loan loss allowance 977 930

Total collectively assessed loan loss allowance 961 775

Total allowance for loan losses 1,938 1,705
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Movements in the Allowance for Loan Losses

We record increases to our allowance for loan losses as an increase of the provision for loan losses in our income
statement. Charge-offs reduce our allowance while recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance account. If we
determine that we no longer require allowances which we have previously established, we decrease our allowance
and record the amount as a reduction of the provision for loan losses in our income statement.

The following table presents a breakdown of the movements in our allowance for loan losses for the periods specified.

2008 2007
Individually  Collectively Total Individually Collectively Total
in€m. d d d d

Balance, beginning of year 930 775 1,705 985 684 1,670
Provision for loan losses 382 702 1,084 146 505 651
Net charge-offs (301) (477) (778) (149) (378) (527)
Charge-offs (364) (626) (990) (244) (508) (752)
Recoveries 63 149 212 95 130 225
Changes in the group of consolidated companies - - - - - -
Exchange rate changes/other (34) (39) (74) (52) (36) (88)
Balance, end of year 977 961 1,938 930 775 1,705
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of the movements in our allowance for loan losses, including, with respect
to our German loan portfolio, by industry classifications for the periods specified. The breakdown between German
and non-German borrowers is based on the country of domicile of our borrowers.

in€m.
(unless stated otherwise) 2008 2007
Balance, beginning of year 1,705 1,670
Charge-offs:
German:
Banks and insurance 2) (1)
Manufacturing (53) (58)
Households (excluding mortgages) (330) (287)
Households — mortgages (32) (26)
Public sector - -
Wholesale and retail trade (41) (28)
Commercial real estate activities (19) (41)
Lease financing - -
Other (127) (76)
German total (604) (518)
Non-German:
Excluding lease financing (386) (232)
Lease financing only - (2)
Non-German total (386) (234)
Total charge-offs (990) (752)
Recoveries:
German:
Banks and insurance 1 1
Manufacturing 14 21
Households (excluding mortgages) 81 63
Households — mortgages 3 -

Public sector

Wholesale and retail trade 8 10

Commercial real estate activities 9

Lease financing - -

Other 41 49
German total 157 153
Non-German:

Excluding lease financing 55] 7

Lease financing only - 1
Non-German total 55] 72
Total recoveries 212 225
Net charge-offs (778) (527)
Provision for loan losses 1,084 651
Other changes (e.g. exchange rate changes, changes in the group of consolidated companies) (74) (88)
Balance, end of year 1,938 1,705
Percentage of total net charge-offs to average loans for the year 0.33 % 0.28 %

Our allowance for loan losses as of December 31, 2008 was € 1.9 billion, a 14 % increase from the € 1.7 billion re-
ported for the end of 2007. The increase in our allowance was principally due to provisions exceeding our charge-offs.
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Our gross charge-offs amounted to € 990 million in 2008. Of the charge-offs for 2008, € 626 million were related to our
consumer credit exposure and € 364 million were related to our corporate credit exposure, mainly driven by our
German and U.S. portfolios.

Our provision for loan losses in 2008 was € 1.1 billion, up € 433 million or 67 %, principally driven by our consumer
credit exposure, as a result of the deteriorating credit conditions in Spain, higher delinquencies in Germany and ltaly,
as well as organic growth in Poland. For our corporate exposures, new provisions of € 257 million were established in
the second half of 2008 relating to assets which had been reclassified in accordance with IAS 39. Additional loan loss
provisions within this portfolio were required, mainly on European loans, reflecting the deterioration in credit conditions.

Our individually assessed loan loss allowance was € 977 million as of December 31, 2008. The € 47 million increase in
2008 is comprised of net provisions of € 382 million (including the aforementioned impact from IAS 39 reclassifica-
tions), net charge-offs of € 301 million and a € 34 million decrease from currency translation and unwinding effects.

Our collectively assessed loan loss allowance totaled €961 million as of December 31, 2008, representing an
increase of € 186 million against the level at the end of 2007 (€ 775 million). Movements in this component include
€702 million provision being offset by € 477 million net charge-offs, and a € 39 million net reduction due to exchange
rate movements and unwinding effects. Given this increase, our collectively assessed loan loss allowance is almost at
the same level as our individually assessed loan loss allowance.

Our allowance for loan losses as of December 31, 2007 was € 1.7 billion, virtually unchanged from the level reported
for the end of 2006.

Our gross charge-offs amounted to € 752 million in 2007, an increase of € 20 million, or 3 %, from 2006. Of the charge-
offs for 2007, € 244 million were related to our corporate credit exposure, and € 508 million were related to our con-
sumer credit exposure.

Our provision for loan losses in 2007 was € 651 million, up € 299 million, or 85 %, primarily related to a single counter-
party relationship in our Corporate and Investment Bank Group Division and our consumer finance growth strategy. In
2007, our total loan loss provision was principally driven by our smaller-balance standardized homogeneous loan
portfolio.

Our individually assessed loan loss allowance was € 930 million as of December 31, 2007, a decrease of € 55 million,
or 6 %, from 2006. The change is comprised of net charge-offs of € 149 million, a decrease of € 52 million as a result of
exchange rate movements and unwinding effects and a provision of € 146 million, an increase of € 130 million over the
previous year. The individually assessed loan loss allowance was the largest component of our total allowance for
loan losses.
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Our collectively assessed loan loss allowance totaled € 775 million as of December 31, 2007, a € 91 million increase
from the level at the end of 2006, almost fully driven by our smaller-balance standardized homogeneous loan portfolio.

Non-German Component of the Allowance for Loan Losses
The following table presents an analysis of the changes in the non-German component of the allowance for loan
losses. As of December 31, 2008, 51 % of our total allowance was attributable to international clients.

in€m. 2008 2007
Balance, beginning of year 615 504
Provision for loan losses 752 316
Net charge-offs (330) (162)

Charge-offs (385) (234)

Recoveries 655 72
Other changes (e.g. exchange rate changes, changes in the group of consolidated companies) (42) (43)
Balance, end of year 995 615

Allowance for Off-balance Sheet Positions
The following table shows the activity in our allowance for off-balance sheet positions, which comprises contingent
liabilities and lending-related commitments.

2008 2007

Individually  Collectively Total Individually Collectively Total
in€m. d d d d
Balance, beginning of year 101 118 219 127 129 256
Provision for off-balance sheet positions (2) (6) (8) (32) (6) (38)
Changes in the group of consolidated
companies - - - 7 3 10
Exchange rate changes (1) - (1) (1) (8) (8)
Balance, end of year 98 112 210 101 118 219

Settlement Risk
Our trading activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of those trades. Settlement risk is the risk of loss

due to the failure of a counterparty to honor its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually
agreed.

For many types of transactions, we mitigate settlement risk by closing the transaction through a clearing agent, which
effectively acts as a stakeholder for both parties, only settling the trade once both parties have fulfilled their sides of
the bargain.

Where no such settlement system exists, the simultaneous commencement of the payment and the delivery parts of
the transaction is common practice between trading partners (free settlement). In these cases, we may seek to
mitigate our settlement risk through the execution of bilateral payment netting agreements. We are also an active
participant in industry initiatives to reduce settlement risks. Acceptance of settlement risk on free settlement trades
requires approval from our credit risk personnel, either in the form of pre-approved settlement risk limits, or through
transaction-specific approvals. We do not aggregate settlement risk limits with other credit exposures for credit
approval purposes, but we take the aggregate exposure into account when we consider whether a given settlement

risk would be acceptable.
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Market Risk

Substantially all of our businesses are subject to the risk that market prices and rates will move and result in profits or

losses for us. We distinguish among four types of market risk:

Interest rate risk;

Equity price risk;

Foreign exchange risk; and
Commodity price risk.

The interest rate and equity price risks consist of two components each. The general risk describes value changes

due to general market movements, while the specific risk has issuer-related causes (including credit spread risk).

We assume market risk in both our trading and our nontrading activities. We assume risk by making markets and

taking positions in debt, equity, foreign exchange, other securities and commodities as well as in equivalent derivatives.

Specifics of Market Risk Reporting under German Banking Regulations

German banking regulations stipulate specific rules for market risk reporting, which concern in particular the consolida-

tion of entities, the calculation of the overall market risk position, as well as the determination of which assets are

trading assets and which are nontrading assets:

— Consolidation. For German bank-regulatory purposes we consolidate all subsidiaries in the meaning of the Ger-

man Banking Act that are classified as banks, financial services institutions, investment management companies,
financial enterprises or ancillary services enterprises. We do not consolidate insurance companies or companies
outside the finance sector.

Overall market risk position. We do not include in our market risk disclosure the foreign exchange risk arising
from currency positions that German banking regulations permit us to exclude from market risk reporting. These
are currency positions which are fully deducted from, or covered by, equity capital recognized for regulatory report-
ing as well as participating interests, including shares in affiliated companies that we record in foreign currency and
value at historical cost (structural currency positions). Our largest structural currency positions arise from our
investments in entities located in the United States.

Definition of trading assets and nontrading assets. The regulatory definition of trading book and banking book
assets generally parallels the definition of trading and nontrading assets under IFRS. However, due to specific
differences between the regulatory and accounting framework, certain assets are classified as trading book for
market risk reporting purposes even though they are nontrading assets under IFRS. Conversely, we also have
assets that are assigned to the banking book even though they are trading assets under IFRS.
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Market Risk Management Framework
We use a combination of risk sensitivities, value-at-risk, stress testing and economic capital metrics to manage market
risks and establish limits.

Our Management Board, supported by Market Risk Management, which is part of our independent legal, risk & capital
function, sets a Group-wide value-at-risk limit for the market risks in the trading book. Market Risk Management sub-
allocates this overall limit to our group divisions. Below that, limits are allocated to specific business lines and trading
portfolio groups and geographical regions.

In addition to our main market risk value-at-risk limits, we also operate stress testing, economic capital and sensitivity
limits. We govern the default risk of single corporate issuers in our trading book through a specific limit structure man-
aged by our Traded Credit Products unit. We also use market value and default exposure position limits for selected
business units.

Our value-at-risk disclosure for the trading businesses is based on our own internal value-at-risk model. In Octo-
ber 1998, the German Banking Supervisory Authority (now the BaFin) approved our internal value-at-risk model for
calculating the regulatory market risk capital for our general and specific market risks. Since then the model has been
periodically refined and approval has been maintained. We continuously analyze potential weaknesses of our value-
at-risk model using statistical techniques such as back-testing but also rely on risk management expert opinion.
Improvements are implemented to those parts of the value-at-risk model that relate to the areas where losses have
been experienced in the recent past.

Our value-at-risk disclosure is intended to ensure consistency of market risk reporting for internal risk management,
for external disclosure and for regulatory purposes. The overall value-at-risk limit for our Corporate and Investment
Bank Group Division started 2008 at € 105 million and was amended on several occasions throughout the year to
€ 155 million at the end of 2008 (with a 99 % confidence level, as described below, and a one-day holding period). For
our consolidated Group trading positions the overall value-at-risk limit was € 110 million at the start of 2008 and was
amended on several occasions throughout the year to € 160 million at the end of 2008 (with a 99 % confidence level
and a one-day holding period). The increase in limits was needed to accommodate the impact of the observed market
data on our value-at-risk calculation.

Value-at-Risk Analysis

The value-at-risk approach derives a quantitative measure for our trading book market risks under normal market
conditions, estimating the potential future loss (in terms of market value) that will not be exceeded in a defined period
of time and with a defined confidence level. The value-at-risk measure enables us to apply a constant and uniform
measure across all of our trading businesses and products. It also facilitates comparisons of our market risk estimates
both over time and against our daily trading results.
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We calculate value-at-risk for both internal and regulatory reporting using a 99 % confidence level. For internal report-
ing, we use a holding period of one day. For regulatory reporting, the holding period is ten days.

Our value-at-risk model is designed to take into account the following risk factors: interest rates (including credit
spreads), equity prices, foreign exchange rates and commaodity prices, as well as their implied volatilities. The model
incorporates both linear and, especially for derivatives, nonlinear effects of the risk factors on the portfolio value. The
statistical parameters required for the value-at-risk calculation are based on a 261 trading day history (corresponding
to at least one calendar year of trading days) with equal weighting being given to each observation. We calculate
value-at-risk using the Monte Carlo simulation technique and assuming that changes in risk factors follow a normal or
logarithmic normal distribution.

To determine our aggregated value-at-risk, we use historically observed correlations between the different general
market risk factors. However, when aggregating general and specific market risks, we assume that there is a correla-
tion close to zero between these two categories. Within the general market risk category, we use historically observed
correlations. Within the specific risk category, zero or historically observed correlations are used for selected risks.

Back-Testing

We use back-testing in our trading units to verify the predictive power of the value-at-risk calculations. In back-testing,
we focus on the comparison of hypothetical daily profits and losses under the buy-and-hold assumption (in accor-
dance with German regulatory requirements) with the estimates from our value-at-risk model.

A committee chaired by Market Risk Management and with participation from Market Risk Operations and Finance
meets on a quarterly basis to discuss back-testing results of our Group as a whole and of individual businesses. The
committee analyzes performance fluctuations and assesses the predictive power of our value-at-risk model, which in
turn allows us to improve the risk estimation process. While updating volatilities and correlations will potentially reduce
the number of back-testing exceptions going forward, the updating in itself will not change the basic distribution
assumptions and their tail properties.

Stress Testing and Economic Capital

While value-at-risk, calculated on a daily basis, supplies forecasts for potential large losses under normal market con-
ditions, it is not adequate to measure the tail risks of our portfolios. We therefore also perform regular stress tests in
which we value our trading portfolios under severe market scenarios not covered by the confidence interval of our
value-at-risk model.

These stress tests form the basis of our assessment of the economic capital that we estimate is needed to cover the

market risk in our positions. The development of the economic capital methodology is governed by the Regulatory
Capital Steering Committee, which is chaired by our Chief Risk Officer.
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The quantification of economic capital, performed weekly, involves stressing underlying risk factors applicable to the
different products across our portfolios under severe stress and liquidity assumptions, according to pre-defined
scenarios. The resulting losses from these stress scenarios are then aggregated using correlations that are meant to
reflect stressed market conditions (rather than the normal market correlations used in the value-at-risk model).

We derive the scenarios from historically observed severe shocks in those risk factors, augmented by subjective
assessments where only limited historical data are available, or where market developments are viewed to make
historical data a poor indicator of possible future market scenarios. During the course of 2008 these shocks were
calibrated to reflect the market events experienced during 2007 and early 2008. Despite this recalibration, in several
cases the scenarios used in our economic capital still underestimated the extreme market moves observed in the
latter part of 2008 (for example the sharp moves in implied volatility observed in equity, interest rates and FX markets).
Moreover, the liquidity assumption used did not adequately predict the rapid market developments of that period that
severely impacted the ability to reduce risk by unwinding positions in the market or to dynamically hedge our derivative
portfolios. For example, the scenario did not contemplate the severe illiquidity observed in convertible bond, loan and
credit derivative markets.

As a result, the recalibration process is currently being repeated to capture the most recent market moves observed in
late 2008.

The economic capital usage for market risk arising from the trading units totaled € 5.5 billion at year-end 2008 com-
pared with € 3.2 billion at year-end 2007. The increase reflects not only the recalibration of the economic capital
shocks carried out during 2008 which contributed € 1.1 billion to the increase, but also the inclusion of default risk of
traded corporate credit assets of € 908 million (previously covered in the credit risk economic capital) and the inclusion
of banking book assets subjected to fair value accounting (€ 958 million). The contribution from banking book assets
was calculated for year-end 2008 for the first time.

Limitations of Our Proprietary Risk Models

We are committed to the ongoing development of our proprietary risk models and will make further significant
enhancements with the goal to better reflect risk issues highlighted during the 2008 crisis. We allocate substantial
resources to reviewing and improving them.

Our stress testing results and economic capital estimations are necessarily limited by the number of stress tests exe-
cuted and the fact that not all downside scenarios can be predicted and simulated. While our risk managers have used
their best judgment to define worst case scenarios based upon the knowledge of past extreme market moves, it is
possible for our market risk positions to lose more value than even our economic capital estimates. We also continu-
ously assess and refine our stress tests in an effort to ensure they capture material risks as well as reflect possible
extreme market moves.
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Our value-at-risk analyses should also be viewed in the context of the limitations of the methodology we use and are

therefore not maximum amounts that we can lose on our market risk positions. In particular, many of these limitations

manifested themselves in 2008, which resulted in the high number of outliers discussed below. The limitations of the

value-at-risk methodology include the following:

The use of historical data as a proxy for estimating future events may not capture all potential events, particularly
those that are extreme in nature.

The assumption that changes in risk factors follow a normal or logarithmic normal distribution. This may not be the
case in reality and may lead to an underestimation of the probability of extreme market movements.

The correlation assumptions used may not hold true, particularly during market events that are extreme in nature.
The use of a holding period of one day (or ten days for regulatory value-at-risk calculations) assumes that all posi-
tions can be liquidated or hedged in that period of time. This assumption does not fully capture the market risk aris-
ing during periods of illiquidity, when liquidation or hedging of positions in that period of time may not be possible.
This is particularly the case for the use of a one-day holding period.

The use of a 99 % confidence level does not take account of, nor makes any statement about, any losses that
might occur beyond this level of confidence.

We calculate value-at-risk at the close of business on each trading day. We do not subject intra-day exposures to
intra-day value-at-risk calculations.

Value-at-risk does not capture all of the complex effects of the risk factors on the value of positions and portfolios
and could, therefore, underestimate potential losses. For example, the way sensitivities are represented in our
value-at-risk model may only be exact for small changes in market parameters.

We acknowledge the limitations in the value-at-risk methodology by supplementing the value-at-risk limits with other

position and sensitivity limit structures, as well as with stress testing, both on individual portfolios and on a consoli-

dated basis.

97



01 Management Report

Market Risk

Value-at-Risk of the Trading Units of Our Corporate and Investment Bank Group Division

The following table shows the value-at-risk (with a 99 % confidence level and a one-day holding period) of the trading
units of our Corporate and Investment Bank Group Division. Our trading market risk outside of these units is immate-
rial. “Diversification effect” reflects the fact that the total value-at-risk on a given day will be lower than the sum of the
values-at-risk relating to the individual risk classes. Simply adding the value-at-risk figures of the individual risk classes
to arrive at an aggregate value-at-risk would imply the assumption that the losses in all risk categories occur simulta-

neously.

Value-at-risk of Total Diversification Interest rate risk Equity price risk Foreign exchange Commodity price
trading units effect risk risk
in €m. 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Average 122.0 85.6 (74.7) (57.7) 105.4 61.5 60.7 55.6 18.4 15.3 12.2 11.0
Maximum 172.9 118.8 (104.1) (76.8) 143.3 95.9 93.8 90.5 42.4 28.9 211 18.0
Minimum 97.5 66.5 (48.4) (40.4) 83.1 42.7 31.0 435 8.5 5.9 7.6 5.7
Year-end 131.4 100.6 (84.5) (59.7) 129.9 90.8 345 495 38.0 11.3 13.5 8.7

The following graph shows the daily aggregate value-at-risk of our trading units in 2008, including diversification

effects, and actual income of the trading units throughout the year.

INCOME OF TRADING UNITS AND VALUE-AT-RISK IN 2008
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value-at-risk in 2008 was € 122 million, which is 42 % above the 2007 average of € 86 million.
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The increase in the value-at-risk observed in 2008 was mainly driven by an increase in the market volatility and by
refinements to the value-at-risk measurement in 2008.

Our trading units achieved a positive actual income for over 57 % of the trading days in 2008 (over 87 % in 2007).

In our regulatory back-testing in 2008, we observed 35 outliers (as compared to 12 in 2007), which are hypothetical
buy-and-hold losses that exceeded our value-at-risk estimate for the trading units as a whole. While we believe that
the majority of these outliers were related to extreme market events, we are also re-evaluating our modeling assump-
tions and parameters for potential improvements. We are also working on the improvement of the granularity of our
risk measurement tools to better reflect some of the idiosyncratic nature of the exposures. We would expect a
99 percentile value-at-risk calculation to give rise to two to three outliers in any one year and, taking into account these
extreme events, we continue to believe that our value-at-risk model will remain an appropriate measure for our trading
market risk under normal market conditions.

The following histogram illustrates the distribution of actual daily income of our trading units in 2008. The histogram
displays the number of trading days on which we reached each level of trading income shown on the horizontal axis in
millions of euro. The histogram confirms the effect on income of some of the extreme market events experienced over
the month of March and during autumn of 2008.
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Market Risk Management Framework for Nontrading Activities
We hold and manage nontrading market risk, which arises primarily from fund activities and principal investments,
including private equity investments.

The Capital and Risk Committee supervises our nontrading asset activities. It has responsibility for the alignment of
our Group-wide risk appetite, capitalization requirements and funding needs based on Group-wide, divisional and sub-
divisional business strategies. Its responsibilities also include regular reviews of the exposures within the nontrading
asset portfolio and associated stress test results, performance reviews of acquisitions and investments, allocating risk
limits to the business divisions within the framework established by the Management Board and approval of policies in
relation to nontrading asset activities. The policies and procedures are ratified by the Risk Executive Committee.
Multiple members of the Capital and Risk Committee are also members of the Group Investment Committee, ensuring
a close link between both committees.

The Investment & Asset Risk Management team was restructured during the course of 2008 and is now called the
Principal Investments team. It was integrated into the Credit Risk Management function, is specialized in risk-related
aspects of our nontrading alternative asset activities and performs monthly reviews of the risk profile of the nontrading
alternative asset portfolios, including carrying values, economic capital estimates, limit usages, performance and pipe-
line activity.

During 2008, we formed a dedicated Asset Management Risk unit, combining existing teams and professionals. This
allowed us to leverage upon already existing knowledge and resulted in a higher degree of specialization and insight
into the risks related to our asset and fund management business. Noteworthy risks in this area arise, for example,
from performance and/or principal guarantees and reputational risk related to managing client funds.

Assessment of Market Risk in Our Nontrading Portfolios

Due to the nature of these positions as well as the lack of transparency of some of the pricing we do not use value-at-
risk to assess the market risk in our nontrading portfolios. Rather we assess the risk through the use of stress testing
procedures that are particular to each risk class and which consider, among other factors, large historically-observed
market moves as well as the liquidity of each asset class. This assessment forms the basis of our economic capital
estimates which enables us to actively monitor and manage our nontrading market risk.

Nontrading Market Risk by Risk Class

The majority of the interest rate and foreign exchange risks arising from our nontrading asset and liability positions has
been transferred through internal hedges to our Global Markets Business Division within our Corporate and Invest-
ment Bank Group Division and is thus managed on the basis of value-at-risk as reflected in our trading value-at-risk
numbers. For the remaining risks that have not been transferred through those hedges, in general foreign exchange
risk is mitigated through match funding the investment in the same currency and only residual risk remains in the
portfolios. Also, for these residual positions there is modest interest rate risk remaining from the mismatch between
the funding term and the expected maturity of the investment.
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Carrying Value and Economic Capital Usage for Our Nontrading Portfolios
The table below shows the carrying values and economic capital usages separately for our nontrading portfolios.

Major Industrial Holdings, Other Corporate Investments and Carrying value Economic capital usage
Alternative Assets
in € bn. Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Major industrial holdings 1.1 5.1 0.4 0.1
Other corporate investments 2.1 3.3 1.5 0.7
Alternative assets: 3.2 3.9 1.3 0.9
Principal investments 1.6 1.6 0.7 0.5
Real estate 1.3 2.0 0.6 0.3
Hedge funds’ 0.2 0.3 = -
Total 6.3 12.3 3.2 1.7

1 There is a small economic capital usage of € 42 million as of December 31, 2008 and € 46 million as of December 31, 2007.

Our economic capital usage for these nontrading asset portfolios totaled € 3.2 billion at year-end 2008, which is
€ 1.5 billion, or 89 %, above our economic capital usage at year-end 2007. This development reflects a significant
decrease in the capital buffer as a result of a reduction in market value across all portfolios. Since year-end 2008, our
existing economic capital process has been expanded to incorporate commitments made to Deutsche Asset
Management fund investors, which contributed a total of € 400 million in additional economic capital reported under
other corporate investments.

— Major industrial holdings. Our economic capital usage was € 439 million at December 31, 2008.

— Other corporate investments. Our economic capital usage of € 1.5 billion for our other corporate investments at
year-end 2008 was mainly driven by an increase of economic capital allocated to a strategic investment in the
PBC business division, our mutual fund investments and the new economic capital treatment for investor commit-
ments referred to above.

— Alternative assets. Our alternative assets include principal investments, real estate investments (including mezza-
nine debt) and small investments in hedge funds. Principal investments are composed of direct investments in
private equity, mezzanine debt, short-term investments in financial sponsor leveraged buy-out funds, bridge capital
to leveraged buy-out funds and private equity led transactions. The increase in the economic capital usage was
largely due to our Asset Management business division’s interest in an infrastructure asset and the larger size of
the private equity portfolio in our Global Markets business division. The alternative assets portfolio has some
concentration in infrastructure and real estate assets. Recent market conditions have limited the opportunities to
sell down the portfolio. Our intention remains to do so, provided suitable conditions allow it.

Our total economic capital figures do not currently take into account diversification benefits between the asset categories.

101



01 Management Report  Liquidity Risk

Major Industrial Holdings

The following table shows the percentage share of capital and the market values of our direct and/or indirect stakes in
major industrial holdings which were directly and/or indirectly attributable to us at year-end 2008, and the correspond-
ing holdings at year-end 2007. Our Corporate Investments Group Division currently plans to continue selling most of
its publicly listed holdings over the next few years, subject to the legal environment and market conditions.

Major Industrial Holdings Share of capital (in %) Market value (in € m.)
and Other Investments

Name Country of domicile Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007 Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Daimler AG Germany 2.7 4.4 692 2,967
Allianz SE Germany - 1.7 - 1,154
Linde AG Germany 24 5.2 250 789
EADS N.V. Netherlands 0.8 0.8 74 133
Other N/M N/M N/M 56 37
Total 1,071 5,081

N/M — Not meaningful

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk management safeguards the ability of the bank to meet all payment obligations when they come due.
Our liquidity risk management framework has been an important factor in maintaining adequate liquidity and in man-
aging our funding profile during 2008.

Liquidity Risk Management Framework

Treasury is responsible for the management of liquidity risk. Our liquidity risk management framework is designed to
identify, measure and manage the liquidity risk position. The underlying policies are reviewed and approved regularly
by the board member responsible for Treasury. The policies define the methodology which is applied to the Group.

Our liquidity risk management approach starts at the intraday level (operational liquidity) managing the daily payments
queue, forecasting cash flows and factoring in our access to Central Banks. It then covers tactical liquidity risk man-
agement dealing with the access to unsecured funding sources and the liquidity characteristics of our asset inventory
(asset liquidity). Finally, the strategic perspective comprises the maturity profile of all assets and liabilities (Funding
Matrix) on our balance sheet and our issuance strategy.

Our cash-flow based reporting system provides daily liquidity risk information to global and regional management.

Our liquidity position is subject to stress testing and scenario analysis to evaluate the impact of sudden stress events.
Our scenarios are based on historic events, case studies of liquidity crises and models using hypothetical events.
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Short-term Liquidity

Our reporting system tracks cash flows on a daily basis over an 18-month horizon. This system allows management to
assess our short-term liquidity position in each location, region and globally on a by-currency, by-product and by-
division basis. The system captures all of our cash flows from transactions on our balance sheet, as well as liquidity
risks resulting from off-balance sheet transactions. We model products that have no specific contractual maturities
using statistical methods to capture the behavior of their cash flows. Liquidity outflow limits (Maximum Cash Outflow
Limits), which have been set to limit cumulative global and local cash outflows, are monitored on a daily basis to safe-
guard our access to liquidity.

Unsecured Funding

Unsecured funding is a finite resource. Total unsecured funding represents the amount of external liabilities which we
take from the market irrespective of instrument, currency or tenor. Unsecured funding is measured on a regional basis
by currency and aggregated to a global utilization report. The Capital and Risk Committee approves limits to protect
our access to unsecured funding at attractive levels.

Asset Liquidity

The asset liquidity component tracks the volume and booking location within our consolidated inventory of unencum-
bered, liquid assets which we can use to raise liquidity via secured funding transactions. Securities inventories include
a wide variety of different securities. As a first step, we segregate illiquid and liquid securities in each inventory.
Subsequently we assign liquidity values to different classes of liquid securities.

The liquidity of these assets is an important element in protecting us against short-term liquidity squeezes. In addition,
we continue to keep liquidity reserves containing highly liquid securities in major currencies around the world to sup-
port our liquidity profile in case of potential deteriorating market conditions. The liquidity reserves have been increased
by €48.0 billion during 2008 and amount to € 57.6 billion as of December 31, 2008. This reserve does not include
collateral the bank needs to support its clearing activities in euro, U.S. dollars and other currencies which are held in
separate portfolios around the globe.

Funding Diversification

Diversification of our funding profile in terms of investor types, regions, products and instruments is an important ele-
ment of our liquidity risk management framework. Our core funding resources are retail deposits and long-term capital
markets issues and, to a lesser extent, small-midcap and fiduciary deposits. Other customer deposits, funds from
institutional investors and borrowing from other banks are additional sources of funding. We use interbank deposits
primarily to fund liquid assets.

In 2008 we continued our focus on increasing our stable core funding components and reducing our short-term
wholesale funds.
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The following chart shows the composition of our external unsecured liabilities that contribute to the liquidity risk posi-
tion (which excludes, for example, structured arrangements which are self-funding) as of December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007, both in euro billion and as a percentage of our total external unsecured liabilities.

EXTERNAL UNSECURED LIABILITIES BY PRODUCT*
in € bn.

W Dec 31, 2008: total € 493 billion
Dec 31, 2007: total € 524 billion
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* In 2008, we have refined our allocation of liabilities to funding sources to better reflect our funding profile. For comparison purposes, we have adjusted
our 2007 figures accordingly.

** Refers to deposits by small and medium-sized German corporates.
*** Commercial Paper/Certificates of Deposit with a maturity of one year or less.

Funding Matrix

We have mapped all funding-relevant assets and all liabilities into time buckets corresponding to their maturities to
compile a maturity profile (Funding Matrix). Given that trading assets are typically more liquid than their contractual
maturities suggest, we have determined individual liquidity profiles reflecting their relative liquidity value. We have
taken assets and liabilities from the retail bank that show a behavior of being renewed or prolonged regardless of
capital market conditions (mortgage loans and retail deposits) and assigned them to time buckets reflecting the
expected prolongation. Wholesale banking products are included with their contractual maturities.

The Funding Matrix identifies the excess or shortfall of assets over liabilities in each time bucket, facilitating manage-
ment of open liquidity exposures. The Funding Matrix is a key input parameter for our annual capital market issuance
plan, which, upon approval by the Capital and Risk Committee, establishes issuing targets for securities by tenor,
volume and instrument.
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In 2008, Treasury issued capital market instruments with a total value of approximately € 53.5 billion, € 15.5 billion
more than the original issuance plan. This increase was one of a series of precautionary measures taken in response
to the continuing difficulties in the financial markets.

For information regarding the maturity profile of our long-term debt, please refer to Note [27] of our consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Stress Testing and Scenario Analysis

We use stress testing and scenario analysis to evaluate the impact of sudden stress events on our liquidity position.
The scenarios have been based on historic events, such as the 1987 stock market crash, the 1990 U.S. liquidity
crunch and the September 2001 terrorist attacks, liquidity crisis case studies and hypothetical events. Also incorpo-
rated are new liquidity risk drivers revealed by the financial markets crisis: prolonged term money-market freeze, col-
lateral repudiation, nonfungibility of currencies and stranded syndications. The hypothetical events encompass internal
shocks, such as operational risk events and ratings downgrades, as well as external shocks, such as systemic market
risk events, emerging market crises and event shocks. Under each of these scenarios we assume that all maturing
loans to customers will need to be rolled over and require funding whereas rollover of liabilities will be partially
impaired resulting in a funding gap. We then model the steps we would take to counterbalance the resulting net short-
fall in funding. Action steps would include switching from unsecured to secured funding, selling assets and adjusting
the price we would pay on liabilities (gap closure).

This analysis is fully integrated in our liquidity risk management framework. We track contractual cash flows per
currency and product over an eight-week horizon (which we consider the most critical time span in a liquidity crisis)
and apply the relevant stress case to each product. Asset liquidity complements the analysis.

Our stress testing analysis assesses our ability to generate sufficient liquidity under critical conditions and has been a
valuable input when defining our target liquidity risk position. The analysis is performed monthly. The following table
shows stress testing results as of December 31, 2008. For each scenario, the table shows what our cumulative fund-
ing gap would be over an eight-week horizon after occurrence of the triggering event and how much counterbalancing
liquidity we could generate.

Scenario Funding gap' Gap closure® Liquidity impact®
in € bn. in € bn.
Market risk 3 97 Improves over time
Emerging markets 13 110 Improves over time
Systemic shock 12 92 Temporary disruption
Operational risk 7 100 Temporary disruption
1 notch downgrade 16 119 Improves over time
3 notch downgrade 65 119  Improves and stabilizes

1 Funding gap caused by impaired rollover of liabilities and other expected outflows.
2 Based on liquidity generation through counterbalancing and asset liquidity opportunities.
3 We analyze whether the risk to our liquidity would be temporary or longer-term in nature.
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Based on observations made during the financial crisis, we have reviewed our stress testing framework and amended
it in various aspects: The market risk scenario has been redefined and now reflects the systemic knock-on effects
seen since the fall of 2007. Across all scenarios, we have added liquidity risk drivers (e.g. FX-fungibility and secured
funding) to cover sources of liquidity risk not accounted for by the previous methodology but which became apparent
during the market disruptions. The downgrade scenarios have also been recalibrated to the most recent credit ratings
of the Bank. The following table is illustrative of our stress testing results as of December 31, 2008 based on the new
methodology, which will be reported going forward.

New scenario Funding gap1 Gap closure? Liquidity impact3
in € bn. in € bn.
Systemic market risk 57 115 Improves over time
Emerging markets 19 115 Improves over time
Event shock 26 99 Temporary disruption
Operational risk (DB specific) 20 120 Temporary disruption
1 notch downgrade (DB specific) 45 119 Permanent
Downgrade to A-2/P-2 (DB specific) 129 132 Permanent

1 Funding gap caused by impaired rollover of liabilities and other expected outflows.
2 Based on liquidity generation through counterbalancing and asset liquidity opportunities.
3 We analyze whether the risk to our liquidity would be temporary or longer-term in nature.

With the increasing importance of liquidity management in the financial industry, we consider it important to confer with
central banks, supervisors, rating agencies and market participants on liquidity risk-related topics. We participate in a
number of working groups regarding liquidity and participate in efforts to create industry-wide standards that are
appropriate to evaluate and manage liquidity risk at financial institutions.

In addition to our internal liquidity management systems, the liquidity exposure of German banks is regulated by the
Banking Act and regulations issued by the BaFin. For a further description of these regulations, see “ltem 4: Informa-
tion on the Company — Regulation and Supervision — Regulation and Supervision in Germany — Liquidity Require-
ments.” We are in compliance with all applicable liquidity regulations.

Capital Management

Treasury manages our capital at Group level and locally in each region. The allocation of financial resources, in
general, and capital, in particular, favors business portfolios with the highest positive impact on our profitability and
shareholder value. As a result, Treasury periodically reallocates capital among business portfolios.

Treasury implements our capital strategy, which itself is developed by the Capital and Risk Committee and approved
by the Management Board, including the issuance and repurchase of shares. We are committed to maintaining our
sound capitalization. Overall capital demand and supply are constantly monitored and adjusted, if necessary, to meet
the need for capital from various perspectives. These include book equity based on IFRS accounting standards, regu-
latory capital and economic capital. In October 2008, we revised our target for the Tier 1 capital ratio upwards to
approximately 10 % from an 8-9 % target range at the beginning of the year.
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The allocation of capital, determination of our funding plan and other resource issues are framed by the Capital and
Risk Committee.

Regional capital plans covering the capital needs of our branches and subsidiaries are prepared on a semi-annual
basis and presented to the Group Investment Committee. Most of our subsidiaries are subject to legal and regulatory
capital requirements. Local Asset and Liability Committees attend to those needs under the stewardship of regional
Treasury teams. Furthermore, they safeguard compliance with requirements such as restrictions on dividends allow-
able for remittance to Deutsche Bank AG or on the ability of our subsidiaries to make loans or advances to the parent
bank. In developing, implementing and testing our capital and liquidity, we take such legal and regulatory requirements
into account.

The 2007 Annual General Meeting granted our management the authority to repurchase up to 52.6 million shares
from the market before October 31, 2008. Based on this authorization, the share buy back program 2007/08 was
launched in May 2007 and completed in May 2008 when a new authority was granted.

During this period, 7.2 million shares were repurchased (6.33 million in 2007 and 0.82 million in 2008), thereof
4.1 million shares, or 57 %, were repurchased through the end of June 2007. With the start of the crisis in July 2007,
the share buy-back volume was significantly reduced and only 3.1 million shares were repurchased between July
2007 and May 2008.

The 2008 Annual General Meeting granted our management the authority to buy back up to 53.1 million shares before
the end of October 2009. As of year-end 2008, no shares have been repurchased under this authorization.

In September 2008, we issued 40 million new registered shares without par value to institutional investors in an offer-
ing conducted as an accelerated book-build. The placement price was € 55 per share. The aggregate gross proceeds
amounted to € 2.2 billion. The purpose of the capital increase was to generate the Tier 1 capital requirement for the
acquisition of a minority stake in Deutsche Postbank AG from Deutsche Post AG.

Capital management sold 16.3 million of our treasury shares (approximately 2.9 % of our share capital) in open-
market transactions from October to November 2008.

We issued U.S. $ 2.0 billion of hybrid Tier 1 capital and U.S. $ 800 million and € 200 million of contingent capital for the
year ended December 31, 2007. In 2008, we issued € 1.0 billion and U.S. $ 3.2 billion of contingent capital. These
contingent capital instruments issued in 2008 are Upper Tier 2 subordinated notes that can be converted into hybrid
Tier 1 capital at our sole discretion. In 2008, we converted € 1.0 billion and U.S. $ 4.0 billion of contingent capital into
hybrid Tier 1 capital leaving only the € 200 million issued in 2007 in its original form. Total outstanding hybrid Tier 1
capital (all noncumulative trust preferred securities) as of December 31, 2008, amounted to € 9.6 billion compared to
€ 5.6 billion as of December 31, 2007.
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Operational Risk

We define operational risk as the potential for incurring losses in relation to employees, contractual specifications and
documentation, technology, infrastructure failure and disasters, projects, external influences and customer relation-
ships. This definition includes legal and regulatory risk, but excludes business and reputational risk.

Organizational Set-up

Operational Risk Management is an independent risk management function within Deutsche Bank. The Global Head
of Operational Risk Management is a member of the Risk Executive Committee and reports to the Chief Risk Officer.
The Operational Risk Management Committee is a permanent sub-committee of the Risk Executive Committee and is
composed of representatives from Operational Risk Management, Operational Risk Officers from our Business Divi-
sions and our infrastructure functions. The Operational Risk Management Committee is the main decision-making
committee for all operational risk management matters and approves our Group standards for identification, assess-
ment, tracking, acceptance, reporting and monitoring of operational risk.

Operational Risk Management is responsible for defining the operational risk framework, related policies and the
management of cross divisional and cross regional operational risk while the responsibility for implementing the
framework as well as the day-to-day operational risk management lies with our business divisions and infrastructure
functions. Based on this business partnership model we ensure close monitoring and high awareness of operational
risk. Operational Risk Management is structured into global relationship teams and a central methodology team. The
global relationship teams, which are aligned with our divisional and regional structure, oversee and support the imple-
mentation of the operational risk framework within the Bank in an effort to ensure consistent management of opera-
tional risks across the business divisions, infrastructure functions and regions. This also includes the management of
cross divisional and cross regional operational risk, value-added analysis, group reporting and establishing loss
thresholds. The central methodology team develops, validates and implements the operational risk management and
reporting toolset, including the Advanced Measurement Approach (“AMA”) methodology and is responsible for the
monitoring of regulatory requirements.

Managing Our Operational Risk
We manage operational risk based on a Group-wide consistent framework that enables us to determine our opera-
tional risk profile in comparison to our risk appetite and to define risk mitigating measures and priorities.

We apply a number of techniques to efficiently manage the operational risk in our business, for example:

— We perform bottom-up “self-assessments” resulting in a specific operational risk profile for the business lines
highlighting the areas with high risk potential.

— We caollect losses arising from operational risk events in our “db-Incident Reporting System” database.

— We capture and monitor key operational risk indicators in our tool “db-Score”.

— We capture action points resulting from risk analysis, lessons learned, self-assessments, risk workshops or risk
indicators in “db-Track”. Within “db-Track” we monitor the progress of the operational risk action points on an
on-going basis.

— We document the residual operational risk after mitigation in “Risk Acceptances”.
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— We create additional loss scenarios and utilize external event data to supplement our operational risk profile
utilized in the capital calculation and in the day-to-day management of operational risk.

During 2008 we have maintained approval by the BaFin to use the Advanced Measurement Approach (“AMA”).

Based on the organizational set-up, the governance and systems in place to identify and manage the operational risk
and the support of control functions responsible for specific operational risk types (e.g., Compliance, Corporate Secu-
rity & Business Continuity) we seek to optimize the management of operational risk. Future operational risks, identified
through forward-looking analysis, are managed via mitigation strategies such as the development of back-up systems
and emergency plans. Where appropriate, we purchase insurance against operational risks.

Overall Risk Position
The table below shows our overall risk position at year-end 2008 and 2007 as measured by the economic capital

calculated for credit, market, business and operational risk; it does not include liquidity risk.

To determine our overall (nonregulatory) risk position, we generally consider diversification benefits across risk types
except for business risk, which we aggregate by simple addition.

Economic capital usage
Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007

in€m.
Credit risk' 8,986 7,043
Market risk' 8,794 4,944
Trading market risk 5,547 3,227
Nontrading market risk 3,247 1,718
Operational risk 4,147 3,974
Diversification benefit across credit, market and operational risk (3,134) (2,651)
Sub-total credit, market and operational risk 18,793 13,310
Business risk 513 301
Total economic capital usage 19,306 13,611

1 Traded default risk is reported under trading market risk beginning in 2008. It was reported previously under credit risk. Amounts above for 2007 have
been restated.
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As of December 31, 2008, our economic capital usage totaled € 19.3 billion, which is € 5.7 billion, or 42 %, above the
€ 13.6 billion economic capital usage as of December 31, 2007. This increase in economic capital principally reflects
the effects of various refinements made to our economic capital calculations during the year, as well as the effects of
higher market volatility, in particular,

— the completion of a Group-wide roll-out of our “multi-state” model for credit risk, which increased economic capital
by € 1.4 billion,

— the introduction of trading market risk economic capital calculations for banking book assets subject to fair value
accounting, which added € 958 million economic capital,

— the recalibration of stress test shocks used for calculating trading market risk economic capital, which increased
economic capital by € 1.1 billion, and

— higher market volatility resulting in increased internal exposure measures for derivatives, which contributed
€ 1.0 billion to the increase.

These refinements are also the key drivers for economic capital changes in most of our individual risk categories as
discussed below.

The € 1.9 billion increase in credit risk economic capital usage principally reflects higher market volatility resulting in
increased internal exposure measures for derivatives, which contributed € 1.0 billion to the increase, as well as the
completion of the roll-out of our “multi-state” model for credit risk, which increased economic capital by € 1.4 billion.
The aforementioned increases were partly off-set as economic capital of € 908 million for banking book assets subject
to fair value accounting were reclassified from credit risk to market risk. As of December 31, 2008, our economic capi-
tal usage for market risk totaled € 8.8 billion, an increase of € 3.8 billion from December 31, 2007.

Within trading market risk, € 1.1 billion of the € 2.3 billion increase resulted from a recalibration of stress test shocks to
take into account the unfavorable market developments of 2007 and early 2008, while the additional economic capital
on banking book assets subject to fair value accounting of € 908 million (from the above reclassification) and
€958 million (from the newly introduced calculation discussed above) was partially offset through lower economic
capital as a result of asset dispositions and hedging, among other factors.

Nontrading market risk economic capital increased by € 1.5 billion, primarily due to higher economic capital in our
major industrial holdings and other corporate investments of € 364 million and € 820 million respectively while eco-
nomic capital on our alternative asset portfolio also rose by € 344 million.

Our economic capital usage for operational risk increased by € 173 million, or 4 %, to €4.1billion as of Decem-

ber 31, 2008. The increase in operational risk economic capital is driven by an increased number of loss events exter-
nal to Deutsche Bank.
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Our economic capital for December 31, 2008 does not include any economic capital in relation to the transaction
structure for our acquisition of Deutsche Postbank AG shares as discussed above under “Events after the Balance
Sheet Date”.

The diversification effect of the economic capital usage across credit, market and operational risk increased by
€483 million, or 18 %, to € 3.1 billion as of December 31, 2008. This increase was driven by and is fully in line with the

increased economic capital usages of the aforementioned risk types.

The table below shows the economic capital usage of our business segments as of December 31, 2008.

Dec 31, 2008 Corporate and Investment Bank Private Clients and Asset Management Corporate Total DB2
Corporate Global Total Asset and Private & Total Invest- Group
Banking & Trans- Wealth Business ments
Securities' action Manage- Clients

in€m. Banking ment

Total economic capital usage 14,361 590 14,951 1,456 2,341 3,797 550 19,306

1 Central Areas & Support items allocated to CB&S.
2 Including € 8 million of Consolidation & Adjustments.

The allocation of economic capital may change to reflect refinements in our risk measurement methodology.
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Consolidated Statement of Income

in€m. [Notes] 2008 2007 2006
Interest and similar income [3] 54,549 64,675 58,275
Interest expense [3] 42,096 55,826 51,267
Net interest income [3] 12,453 8,849 7,008
Provision for credit losses [16] 1,076 612 298
Net interest income after provision for credit losses 11,377 8,237 6,710
Commissions and fee income [4] 9,749 12,289 11,195
Net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through

profit or loss [3] (9,992) 7,175 8,892
Net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale [5] 666 793 591
Net income (loss) from equity method investments [14] 46 353 419
Other income [6] 568 1,286 389
Total noninterest income 1,037 21,896 21,486
Compensation and benefits [31], [32] 9,606 13,122 12,498
General and administrative expenses [71 8,216 7,954 7,069
Policyholder benefits and claims [40] (252) 193 67
Impairment of intangible assets [21] 585 128 31
Restructuring activities [25] - (13) 192
Total noninterest expenses 18,155 21,384 19,857
Income (loss) before income taxes (5,741) 8,749 8,339
Income tax expense (benefit) [33] (1,845) 2,239 2,260
Net income (loss) (3,896) 6,510 6,079
Net income (loss) attributable to minority interest 61) 36 9
Net income (loss) attributable to Deutsche Bank shareholders (3,835) 6,474 6,070
Earnings per Common Share

in€ [Notes] 2008 2007 2006
Earnings per common share: [8]

Basic (7.61) 13.65 12.96
Diluted’ (7.61) 13.05 11.48
Number of shares in m.

Denominator for basic earnings per share —

weighted-average shares outstanding 504.1 474.2 468.3
Denominator for diluted earnings per share —

adjusted weighted-average shares after assumed conversions 504.2 496.1 521.2

1 Includes numerator effect of assumed conversions. For further detail please see Note [8].

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Recognized Income

and Expense

in€m. 2008 2007 2006
Net income (loss) recognized in the income statement (3,896) 6,510 6,079
Actuarial gains (losses) related to defined benefit plans, net of tax' 1) 486 84
Net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement, net of tax
Unrealized net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale:
Unrealized net gains (losses) arising during the period, before tax (4,549) 1,022 1,101
Net reclassification adjustment for realized net (gains) losses, before tax (666) (793) (651)
Unrealized net gains (losses) on derivatives hedging variability of cash flows:
Unrealized net gains (losses) arising during the period, before tax (265) (19) (68)
Net reclassification adjustment for realized net (gains) losses, before tax 2 13 (8)
Foreign currency translation:
Unrealized net gains (losses) arising during the period, before tax (1,124) (1,783) (779)
Net reclassification adjustment for realized net (gains) losses, before tax (3) (5) 8
Tax on net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement 731 215 (25)
Total net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement, net of tax (5,874) (1,350)° (422)*
Total recognized income and expense (9,771) 5,646 5,741
Attributable to:
Minority interest (37) 4 (27)
Deutsche Bank shareholders (9,734) 5,642 5,768

1 Due to a change in accounting policy, actuarial gains (losses) related to defined benefit plans were recognized directly in retained earnings with prior
periods adjusted in accordance with Note [1]. Included in these amounts are deferred taxes of € 1 million, € (192) million and € (65) million for the years

2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

2 Represents the change in the balance sheet in net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement (net of tax) between December 31, 2007 of
€ 1,047 million and December 31, 2008 of € (4,851) million, adjusted for changes in minority interest attributable to these components of € 24 million.

3 Represents the change in the balance sheet in net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement (net of tax) between December 31, 2006 of
€ 2,365 million and December 31, 2007 of € 1,047 million, adjusted for changes in minority interest attributable to these components of € (32) million.

4 Represents the change in the balance sheet in net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement (net of tax) between December 31, 2005 of
€ 2,751 million and December 31, 2006 of € 2,365 million, adjusted for changes in minority interest attributable to these components of € (36) million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

in€m. [Notes] Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2007
Assets:
Cash and due from banks 9,826 8,632
Interest-earning deposits with banks 64,739 21,615
Central bank funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements [17], [18] 9,267 13,597
Securities borrowed [17], [18] 35,022 55,961
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

of which € 62 billion and € 179 billion were pledged to creditors and can be sold or

repledged at December 31, 2008, and December 31, 2007, respectively [11], [18], [35] 1,623,811 1,378,011
Financial assets available for sale

of which € 464 million and € 17 million were pledged to creditors and can be sold or

repledged at December 31, 2008, and 2007, respectively [13], [17], [18] 24,835 42,294
Equity method investments [14] 2,242 3,366
Loans [15], [16], [37] 269,281 198,892
Property and equipment [19] 3,712 2,409
Goodwill and other intangible assets [21] 9,877 9,383
Other assets [22], [23] 137,829 183,638
Assets for current tax [33] 3,512 2,428
Deferred tax assets [33] 8,470 4,777
Total assets 2,202,423 1,925,003
Liabilities and equity:
Deposits [24] 395,553 457,946
Central bank funds purchased and securities sold under repurchase agreements [171], [18] 87,117 178,741
Securities loaned [17], [18] 3,216 9,565
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss [11], [35] 1,333,765 870,085
Other short-term borrowings [26] 39,115 53,410
Other liabilities [23] 160,598 171,444
Provisions [25] 1,418 1,295
Liabilities for current tax [33] 2,354 4,221
Deferred tax liabilities [33] 3,784 2,380
Long-term debt [27] 133,856 126,703
Trust preferred securities [27] 9,729 6,345
Obligation to purchase common shares [28] 4 3,553
Total liabilities 2,170,509 1,885,688
Common shares, no par value, nominal value of € 2.56 [29], [30] 1,461 1,358
Additional paid-in capital [30] 14,961 15,808
Retained earnings [30] 20,074 26,051
Common shares in treasury, at cost [29], [30] (939) (2,819)
Equity classified as obligation to purchase common shares [28], [30] (3) (3,552)
Net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement, net of tax

Unrealized net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale, net of applicable

tax and other [30] (882) 3,635

Unrealized net gains (losses) on derivatives hedging variability of cash flows, net of tax [30] (349) (52)

Foreign currency translation, net of tax [30] (3,620) (2,536)
Total net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement, net of tax [30] (4,851) 1,047
Total shareholders’ equity 30,703 37,893
Minority interest [30] 1,211 1,422
Total equity [30] 31,914 39,315
Total liabilities and equity 2,202,423 1,925,003

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

in€m. 2008 2007 2006

Net income (loss) (3,896) 6,510 6,079

Cash flows from operating activities:

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Provision for loan losses 1,084 651 352
Restructuring activities - (13) 30
Gain on sale of financial assets available for sale, equity method investments and
other (1,732) (1,907) (913)
Deferred income taxes, net (1,525) (918) 165
Impairment, depreciation and other amortization, and accretion 3,047 1,731 1,355
Share of net income from equity method investments (53) (358) (207)
Income (loss) adjusted for noncash charges and other items (3,075) 5,696 6,861
Adjustments for net increase/decrease/change in operating assets and liabilities:
Interest-earning time deposits with banks (3,964) 7,588 (3,318)
Central bank funds sold, securities purchased under resale
agreements, securities borrowed 24,363 5,146 (11,394)
Trading assets (472,203) (270,948) (23,301)
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 169,423 (75,775) (19,064)
Loans (37,981) (22,185) (14,403)
Other assets 38,573 (42,674) (30,083)
Deposits (56,918) 47,464 35,720
Trading liabilities 655,218 173,830 (38,865)
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (159,613) 70,232 41,518
Central bank funds purchased, securities sold under repurchase agreements,
securities loaned (97,009) 69,072 18,955
Other short-term borrowings (14,216) 6,531 7,452
Other liabilities (15,482) 21,133 30,079
Senior long-term debt 12,769 22,935 10,480
Other, net (2,768) (1,255) 527
Net cash provided by operating activities 37,117 16,790 11,164

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from:

Sale of financial assets available for sale 19,433 12,470 11,952

Maturities of financial assets available for sale 18,713 8,179 6,345

Sale of equity method investments 680 1,331 3,897

Sale of property and equipment 107 987 123
Purchase of:

Financial assets available for sale (37,819) (25,230) (22,707)

Equity method investments (881) (1,265) (1,668)

Property and equipment (939) (675) (606)
Net cash paid for business combinations/divestitures (24) (648) (1,120)
Other, net (39) 463 314
Net cash used in investing activities (769) (4,388) (3,470)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuances of subordinated long-term debt 523 429 976
Repayments and extinguishments of subordinated long-term debt (659) (2,809) (1,976)
Issuances of trust preferred securities 3,404 1,874 1,043
Repayments and extinguishments of trust preferred securities - (420) (390)
Common shares issued under share-based compensation plans 19 389 680
Capital increase 2,200 - -
Purchases of treasury shares (21,736) (41,128) (38,830)
Sales of treasury shares 21,426 39,729 36,380
Dividends paid to minority interests (14) (13) (26)
Increase in minority interests 331 585 130
Cash dividends paid (2,274) (2,005) (1,239)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 3,220 (3,369) (3,252)
Net effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (402) (289) (510)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 39,166 8,744 3,932
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 26,098 17,354 13,422
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 65,264 26,098 17,354
Net cash provided by operating activities includes

Income taxes paid (received), net (2,495) 2,806 3,102

Interest paid 43,724 55,066 49,921

Interest and dividends received 54,549 64,675 58,275
Cash and cash equivalents comprise

Cash and due from banks 9,826 8,632 7,008

Interest-earning demand deposits with banks (not included: time deposits of € 9,300 m. at

December 31, 2008, and € 4,149 m. and € 8,853 m. at December 31, 2007 and 2006) 55,438 17,466 10,346
Total 65,264 26,098 17,354

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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[1] Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft (‘Deutsche Bank” or the “Parent”) is a stock corporation organized under the laws
of the Federal Republic of Germany. Deutsche Bank together with all entities in which Deutsche Bank has a control-
ling financial interest (the “Group”) is a global provider of a full range of corporate and investment banking, private
clients and asset management products and services. For a discussion of the Group’s business segment information,
see Note [2].

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, the presentation currency of the Group,
and have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and endorsed by the European Union (“EU”). Since the Group
does not use the “carve-out” relating to hedge accounting included in IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement,” as endorsed by the EU, its financial statements fully comply with IFRS as issued by the IASB. In ac-
cordance with IFRS 4, “Insurance Contracts”, the Group has applied its previous accounting practices (U.S. GAAP) for
insurance contracts. The date of transition to IFRS for the Group was January 1, 2006.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and as-
sumptions for certain categories of assets and liabilities. Areas where this is required include the fair value of certain
financial assets and liabilities, the allowance for loan losses, the impairment of assets other than loans, goodwill and
intangibles, the recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets, provisions for uncertain income tax positions,
legal and regulatory contingencies, the reserves for insurance and investment contracts, reserves for pensions and
similar obligations. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclo-
sure of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from management’s estimates.

In preparation of the 2008 financial statements, the Group made a number of minor adjustments, with immaterial
effect, to prior year footnote disclosures. The Group has assessed the impact of errors on current and prior periods
and concluded that the following described adjustments are required to comparative amounts or the earliest opening
balance sheet. The Group also voluntarily elected to change its accounting policy for the recognition of actuarial gains
and losses related to post-employment benefits.
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Balance Change in Adjustments Balance
(as reported) accounting (adjusted)
policy
Defined LCH Interest Income tax
benefit plan Offsetting liabilities
in€m. accounting
December 31, 2006
Balance Sheet
Assets:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,104,650 (64,108) 1,040,542
Deferred tax assets 4,332 31 4,363
Other assets 139,021 164 139,185
Liabilities:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 694,619 (64,108) 630,511
Other liabilities 144,129 15 144,144
Liabilities for current tax 4,033 (327) 3,706
Deferred tax liabilities 2,285 96 2,381
Equity:
Retained earnings 20,451 84 365 20,900
Net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement:
Foreign currency translation, net of tax (760) (38) (798)
December 31, 2007
Income Statement
Interest and similar income 67,706 (3,031) 64,675
Interest expense 58,857 (3,031) 55,826
Balance Sheet
Assets:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,474,103 (96,092) 1,378,011
Deferred tax assets 4,772 5 4,777
Other assets 182,897 741 183,638
Liabilities:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 966,177 (96,092) 870,085
Other liabilities 171,509 (65) 171,444
Liabilities for current tax 4,515 (294) 4,221
Deferred tax liabilities 2,124 256 2,380
Equity:
Retained earnings 25,116 570 365 26,051
Net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement:
Foreign currency translation, net of tax (2,450) (15) (71) (2,536)

Employee Benefits: Defined Benefit Accounting

In the fourth quarter 2008, the Group changed its accounting policy for the recognition of actuarial gains and losses
related to post-employment benefits for defined benefit plans. On transition to IFRS, the Group elected to recognize all
cumulative actuarial gains and losses as an opening retained earnings adjustment in accordance with the transition
provisions of IFRS 1, “First-Time Adoption of IFRS”. The Group’s accounting policy for future recognition of actuarial
gains and losses was to defer and amortize to earnings based on the 10 % “corridor approach”. The Group has
elected to voluntarily change its accounting policy from the corridor approach to immediate recognition of actuarial
gains and losses in shareholders’ equity in the period in which they arise. In accordance with IFRS, the change was
applied retrospectively. The change in accounting policy is considered to provide more relevant information about the
Group’s financial position, as it recognizes economic events in the period in which they occur. The retrospective
adjustments had an impact on the consolidated balance sheet and the consolidated statement of recognized income
and expense but not on the consolidated statement of income or consolidated cash flow statement.
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Offsetting

In second quarter 2008, the Group concluded that it meets the criteria required to offset the positive and negative
market values of OTC interest rate swaps transacted with the London Clearing House (“‘LCH”). Under IFRS, positions
are netted by currency and across maturities. The application of offsetting had no impact on the consolidated income
statement or shareholder’s equity.

The presentation of interest and similar income and interest expense was adjusted with no impact on net interest
income.

Adjustment of Current Tax Liability

In the fourth quarter 2008, the Group determined that it had continued to report tax liabilities for periods prior to 2006
which were not required. Current tax liabilities were retrospectively adjusted by the amounts in the table above,
with related adjustments to opening retained earnings and opening foreign currency translation reserves where
appropriate.

The following is a description of the significant accounting policies of the Group. Other than as previously and other-
wise described, these policies have been consistently applied for 2006, 2007 and 2008.

Principles of Consolidation

The financial information in the consolidated financial statements includes that for the parent company,
Deutsche Bank AG, together with its subsidiaries, including certain special purpose entities (“SPESs”), presented as
a single economic unit.

Subsidiaries

The Group’s subsidiaries are those entities which it controls. The Group controls entities when it has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of the entity, generally accompanying a shareholding, either directly or
indirectly, of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered in assessing whether the Group controls an entity.

The Group sponsors the formation of SPEs and interacts with non-sponsored SPEs for a variety of reasons, including
allowing clients to hold investments in separate legal entities, allowing clients to invest jointly in alternative assets, for
asset securitization transactions, and for buying or selling credit protection. When assessing whether to consolidate an
SPE, the Group evaluates a range of factors, including whether (1) the activities of the SPE are being conducted on
behalf of the Group according to its specific business needs so that the Group obtains the benefits from the SPE’s
operations, (2) the Group has decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits, (3) the Group obtains the
majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE, and (4) the Group retains the majority of the residual ownership
risks related to the assets in order to obtain the benefits from its activities. The Group consolidates an SPE if an
assessment of the relevant factors indicates that it controls the SPE.

120



02 Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consoli-
dated from the date that control ceases.

The Group reassesses consolidation status at least at every quarterly reporting date. Therefore, any changes in struc-
ture are considered when they occur. This includes changes to any contractual arrangements the Group has, includ-
ing those newly executed with the entity, and is not only limited to changes in ownership.

The Group reassesses its treatment of SPEs for consolidation when there is an overall change in the SPE’s arrange-
ments or when there has been a substantive change in the relationship between the Group and an SPE. The circum-
stances that would indicate that a reassessment for consolidation is necessary include, but are not limited to, the
following:

— substantive changes in ownership of the SPE, such as the purchase of more than an insignificant additional inter-
est or disposal of more than an insignificant interest in the SPE;

— changes in contractual or governance arrangements of the SPE;

— additional activities undertaken in the structure, such as providing a liquidity facility beyond the terms established
originally or entering into a transaction with an SPE that was not contemplated originally; and

— changes in the financing structure of the entity.

In addition, when the Group concludes that the SPE might require additional support to continue in business, and such
support was not contemplated originally, and, if required, the Group would provide such support for reputational or
other reasons, the Group reassesses the need to consolidate the SPE.

The reassessment of control over the existing SPEs does not automatically lead to consolidation or deconsolidation.
In making such a reassessment, the Group may need to change its assumptions with respect to loss probabilities, the
likelihood of additional liquidity facilities being drawn in the future and the likelihood of future actions being taken for
reputational or other purposes. All currently available information, including current market parameters and expecta-
tions (such as loss expectations on assets), which would incorporate any market changes since inception of the SPE,
is used in the reassessment of consolidation conclusions.
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The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed, plus any
costs directly related to the acquisition. The excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Group’s share of the fair
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the acquisition cost is below the fair value of the
identifiable net assets (negative goodwill), a gain may be reported in other income.

All intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are elimi-
nated on consolidation. Consistent accounting policies are applied throughout the Group for the purposes of consoli-
dation. Issuances of a subsidiary’s stock to third parties are treated as capital issuances.

Assets held in an agency or fiduciary capacity are not assets of the Group and are not included in the Group’s con-
solidated balance sheet.

Minority interests are shown in the consolidated balance sheet as a separate component of equity, which is distinct
from Deutsche Bank’s shareholders’ equity. The net income attributable to minority interests is separately disclosed on
the face of the consolidated income statement.

Associates and Jointly Controlled Entities

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not a controlling interest, over the operating
and financial management policy decisions of the entity. Significant influence is generally presumed when the Group
holds between 20 % and 50 % of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered in assessing whether the Group has significant influence. Among the other
factors that are considered in determining whether the Group has significant influence are representation on the board
of directors (supervisory board in the case of German stock corporations) and material intercompany transactions.
The existence of these factors could require the application of the equity method of accounting for a particular invest-
ment even though the Group’s investment is for less than 20 % of the voting stock.

A jointly controlled entity exists when the Group has a contractual arrangement with one or more parties to undertake
activities through entities which are subject to joint control.

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. The

Group’s share of the results of associates and jointly controlled entities is adjusted to conform to the accounting poli-
cies of the Group. Unrealized gains on transactions are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.
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Under the equity method of accounting, the Group’s investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are initially
recorded at cost, and subsequently increased (or decreased) to reflect both the Group’s pro-rata share of the post-
acquisition net income (or loss) of the associate or jointly controlled entity and other movements included directly in
the equity of the associate or jointly controlled entity. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate or a jointly-
controlled entity is included in the carrying value of the investment (net of any accumulated impairment loss). Equity
method losses in excess of the Group’s carrying value of the investment in the entity are charged against other assets
held by the Group related to the investee. If those assets are written down to zero, a determination is made whether to
report additional losses based on the Group’s obligation to fund such losses.

Foreign Currency Translation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, which is the presentation currency of the Group. Various
entities in the Group use a different functional currency, being the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates.

An entity records foreign currency revenues, expenses, gains and losses in its functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency are translated at
the period end closing rate. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the translation and settlement of these
items are recognized in the income statement as net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss.

Translation differences on non-monetary items classified as available for sale (for example, equity securities) are not
recognized in the income statement but are included in net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement
within shareholders’ equity until the sale of the asset when they are transferred to the income statement as part of the
overall gain or loss on sale of the item.

For purposes of translation into the presentation currency, assets, liabilities and equity of foreign operations are trans-
lated at the period end closing rate, and items of income and expense are translated into euro at the rates prevailing
on the dates of the transactions, or average rates of exchange where these approximate actual rates. The exchange
differences arising on the translation of a foreign operation are included in net gains (losses) not recognized in the
income statement within shareholders’ equity and subsequently included in the profit or loss on disposal or partial
disposal of the operation.
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Interest, Fees and Commissions

Revenue is recognized when the amount of revenue and associated costs can be reliably measured, it is probable
that economic benefits associated with the transaction will be realized, and the stage of completion of the transaction
can be reliably measured. This concept is applied to the key-revenue generating activities of the Group as follows.

Net Interest Income — Interest from all interest-bearing assets and liabilities is recognized as net interest income using
the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial
asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant period using the esti-
mated future cash flows. The estimated future cash flows used in this calculation include those determined by the
contractual terms of the asset or liability, all fees that are considered to be integral to the effective interest rate, direct
and incremental transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts.

Once an impairment loss has been recognized on a loan or available for sale debt security financial asset, although
the accrual of interest in accordance with the contractual terms of the instrument is discontinued, interest income is
recognized based on the rate of interest that was used to discount future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. For a loan this would be the original effective interest rate, but a new effective interest rate would
be established each time an available for sale debt security is impaired as impairment is measured to fair value and
would be based on a current market rate.

When financial assets are reclassified from trading or available for sale to loans a new effective interest rate is estab-
lished based on a best estimate of future expected cash flows.

Commission and Fee Income — The recognition of fee revenue (including commissions) is determined by the pur-
pose for the fees and the basis of accounting for any associated financial instruments. If there is an associated finan-
cial instrument, fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of that financial instrument are included within
the effective yield calculation. However, if the financial instrument is carried at fair value through profit or loss, any
associated fees are recognized in profit or loss when the instrument is initially recognized, provided there are no sig-
nificant unobservable inputs used in determining its fair value. Fees earned from services that are provided over a
specified service period are recognized over that service period. Fees earned for the completion of a specific service
or significant event are recognized when the service has been completed or the event has occurred.

Loan commitment fees related to commitments that are not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss are recog-
nized in commissions and fee income over the life of the commitment if it is unlikely that the Group will enter into a
specific lending arrangement. If it is probable that the Group will enter into a specific lending arrangement, the loan
commitment fee is deferred until the origination of a loan and recognized as an adjustment to the loan’s effective inter-
est rate.
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Performance-linked fees or fee components are recognized when the performance criteria are fulfilled.

The following fee income is predominantly earned from services that are provided over a period of time: investment
fund management fees, fiduciary fees, custodian fees, portfolio and other management and advisory fees, credit-
related fees and commission income. Fees predominantly earned from providing transaction-type services include
underwriting fees, corporate finance fees and brokerage fees.

Arrangements involving multiple services or products — If the Group contracts to provide multiple products, services
or rights to a counterparty, an evaluation is made as to whether an overall fee should be allocated to the different
components of the arrangement for revenue recognition purposes. Structured trades executed by the Group are the
principal example of such arrangements and are assessed on a transaction by transaction basis. The assessment
considers the value of items or services delivered to ensure that the Group’s continuing involvement in other aspects
of the arrangement are not essential to the items delivered. It also assesses the value of items not yet delivered and, if
there is a right of return on delivered items, the probability of future delivery of remaining items or services. If it is
determined that it is appropriate to look at the arrangements as separate components, the amounts received are allo-
cated based on the relative value of each component. If there is no objective and reliable evidence of the value of the
delivered item or an individual item is required to be recognized at fair value then the residual method is used. The
residual method calculates the amount to be recognized for the delivered component as being the amount remaining
after allocating an appropriate amount of revenue to all other components.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities into the following categories: financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss, loans, financial assets available for sale (“AFS”) and other financial liabilities. The Group
does not classify any financial instruments under the held-to-maturity category. Appropriate classification of financial
assets and liabilities is determined at the time of initial recognition or when reclassified in the balance sheet. Generally
the balance sheet captions are the classes of financial assets and liabilities except for those as described in this section.

Purchases and sales of financial assets and issuances and repurchases of financial liabilities classified at fair value
through profit or loss and financial assets classified as AFS are recognized on trade date, which is the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset or issue or repurchase the financial liability. All other financial instru-
ments are recognized on a settlement date basis.
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Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

The Group classifies certain financial assets and financial liabilities as either held for trading or designated at fair value
through profit or loss. They are carried at fair value and presented as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, respectively. Related realized and unrealized gains and
losses are included in net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Interest on
interest earning assets such as traded loans and debt securities and dividends on equity instruments are presented
in interest and similar income for financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

Trading Assets and Liabilities — Financial instruments are classified as held for trading if they have been originated,
acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing them in the near term, or they form part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking.

Financial Instruments Designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss — Certain financial assets and liabilities that
do not meet the definition of trading assets and liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss using the
fair value option. To be designated at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets and liabilities must meet one of
the following criteria: (1) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsis-
tency; (2) a group of financial assets or liabilities or both is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value
basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or (3) the instrument contains one or
more embedded derivatives unless: (a) the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows that
otherwise would be required by the contract; or (b) it is clear with little or no analysis that separation is prohibited.
In addition, the Group allows the fair value option to be designated only for those financial instruments for which a
reliable estimate of fair value can be obtained.

Loan Commitments

Certain loan commitments are designated at fair value through profit or loss under the fair value option. As indicated
under the discussion of ‘Derivatives and Hedge Accounting’, some loan commitments are classified as financial liabili-
ties at fair value through profit or loss. All other loan commitments remain off-balance sheet. Therefore, the Group
does not recognize and measure changes in fair value of these off-balance sheet loan commitments that result from
changes in market interest rates or credit spreads. However, as specified in the discussion “Impairment of loans and
provision for off-balance sheet positions” below, these off-balance sheet loan commitments are assessed for impair-
ment individually and, where appropriate, collectively.

Loans

Loans include originated and purchased non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and which are not classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or
financial assets available for sale.
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Loans are initially recognized at fair value. When the loan is issued at a market rate, fair value is represented by the
cash advanced to the borrower plus the net of direct and incremental transaction costs and fees. They are subse-
quently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less impairment.

Financial Assets Classified as Available for Sale

Financial assets that are not classified as at fair value through profit or loss or as loans are classified as AFS, as either
debt or equity securities. A financial asset classified as AFS is initially recognized at its fair value plus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. The amortization of premiums and accretion of
discount are recorded in net interest income. Financial assets classified as AFS are carried at fair value with the
changes in fair value reported in equity, in net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement, unless the asset
is subject to a fair value hedge, in which case changes in fair value resulting from the risk being hedged are recorded
in other income. For monetary financial assets classified as AFS (for example, debt instruments), changes in carrying
amounts relating to changes in foreign exchange rate are recognized in the income statement and other changes in
carrying amount are recognized in equity as indicated above. For financial assets classified as AFS that are not mone-
tary items (for example, equity instruments), the gain or loss that is recognized in equity includes any related foreign
exchange component.

Financial assets classified as AFS are assessed for impairment as discussed in the section of this Note ‘Impairment of
financial assets classified as Available for Sale’. Realized gains and losses are reported in net gains (losses) on finan-
cial assets available for sale. Generally, the weighted-average cost method is used to determine the cost of financial
assets. Gains and losses recorded in equity are transferred to the income statement on disposal of an available for
sale asset as part of the overall gain or loss on sale.

Financial Liabilities
Except for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities include long-term and short-term debt issued which are initially measured at fair value, which is the
consideration received, net of transaction costs incurred. Repurchases of issued debt in the market are treated as
extinguishments and any related gain or loss is recorded in the consolidated statement of income. A subsequent sale
of own bonds in the market is treated as a reissuance of debt.
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Reclassification of Certain Financial Assets

The Group may reclassify certain financial assets out of financial assets as at fair value through profit or loss and the
available for sale classification into the loans classification. For assets to be reclassified there must be a clear change
in management intent with respect to the assets since initial recognition and the financial asset must meet the defini-
tion of a loan at the reclassification date. Additionally, there must be an intent and ability to hold the asset for the fore-
seeable future at the reclassification date. There is no single specific period that defines foreseeable future. Rather, it
is a matter requiring management judgment. In exercising this judgment, the Group established the following minimum
guideline for what constitutes foreseeable future. At the time of reclassification, there must be:

— no intent to dispose of the asset through sale or securitization within one year and no internal or external require-
ment that would restrict the Group’s ability to hold or require sale; and
— the business plan going forward should not be to profit from short-term movements in price.

Financial assets proposed for reclassification which meet these criteria are considered based on the facts and circum-
stances of each financial asset under consideration. A positive management assertion is required after taking into
account the ability and plausibility to execute the strategy to hold.

Financial assets are reclassified at their fair value at the reclassification date. Any gain or loss already recognized in
the income statement is not reversed. The fair value of the instrument at reclassification date becomes the new amor-
tized cost of the instrument. The expected cash flows on the financial instruments are estimated at the reclassification
date and these estimates are used to calculate a new effective interest rate for the instruments. If there is a subse-
quent increase in expected future cash flows on reclassified assets as a result of increased recoverability, the effect of
that increase is recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate from the date of the change in estimate
rather than as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset at the date of the change in estimate. If there is a
subsequent decrease in expected future cash flows the asset would be assessed for impairment as discussed in the
section of this Note ‘Impairment of Loans and Provision for Off-Balance Sheet Positions’.

For instruments reclassified from available for sale to loans and receivables any unrealized gain or loss recognized in
shareholders’ equity is subsequently amortized into interest income using the effective interest rate of the instrument.
If the instrument is subsequently impaired any unrealized loss which is held in shareholders’ equity for that instrument
at that date is immediately recognized in the income statement as a loan loss provision.

Determination of Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset or liability could be exchanged in a current transaction between
knowledgeable, willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The fair value of instruments that are quoted
in active markets is determined using the quoted prices where they represent those at which regularly and recently
occurring transactions take place. The Group uses valuation techniques to establish the fair value of instruments
where prices quoted in active markets are not available. Therefore, where possible, parameter inputs to the valuation
techniques are based on observable data derived from prices of relevant instruments traded in an active market.
These valuation techniques involve some level of management estimation and judgment, the degree of which will
depend on the price transparency for the instrument or market and the instrument’s complexity. The valuation process
to determine fair value also includes making appropriate adjustments to the valuation model outputs to consider
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factors such as bid-offer spread valuation adjustments, liquidity and credit risk (both counterparty credit risk in relation
to financial assets and the non-performance in relation to financial liabilities).

Recognition of Trade Date Profit

If there are significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation technique, the financial instrument is recognized at
the transaction price and any profit implied from the valuation technique at trade date is deferred. Using systematic
methods, the deferred amount is recognized over the period between trade date and the date when the market is
expected to become observable, or over the life of the trade (whichever is shorter). Such methodology is used
because it reflects the changing economic and risk profiles of the instruments as the market develops or as the in-
struments themselves progress to maturity. Any remaining trade date deferred profit is recognized in the income state-
ment when the transaction becomes observable or the Group enters into offsetting transactions that substantially
eliminate the instrument’s risk. In the rare circumstances that a trade date loss arises, it would be recognized at incep-
tion of the transaction to the extent that it is probable that a loss has been incurred and a reliable estimate of the loss
amount can be made.

Derivatives and Hedge Accounting

Derivatives are used to manage exposures to interest rate, foreign currency, credit and other market price risks,
including exposures arising from forecast transactions. All freestanding contracts that are considered derivatives for
accounting purposes are carried at fair value on the balance sheet regardless of whether they are held for trading or
nontrading purposes.

Gains and losses on derivatives held for trading are included in gain (loss) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss.

The Group makes commitments to originate loans it intends to sell. Such positions are classified as financial
assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and related gains and losses are included in net gains (losses) on
financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Loan commitments that can be settled net in cash or by
delivering or issuing another financial instrument are classified as derivatives. Market value guarantees provided on
specific mutual fund products offered by the Group are also accounted for as derivatives and carried at fair value, with
changes in fair value recorded in net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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Certain derivatives entered into for nontrading purposes, which do not qualify for hedge accounting but are otherwise
effective in offsetting the effect of transactions on noninterest income and expenses, are recorded in other assets or
other liabilities with both realized and unrealized changes in fair value recorded in the same noninterest income and
expense captions as those affected by the transaction being offset. The changes in fair value of all other derivatives
not qualifying for hedge accounting are recorded in net gains and losses on financial assets/liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss.

Embedded Derivatives

Some hybrid contracts contain both a derivative and a non-derivative component. In such cases, the derivative com-
ponent is termed an embedded derivative, with the non-derivative component representing the host contract. If the
economic characteristics and risks of embedded derivatives are not closely related to those of the host contract, and
the hybrid contract itself is not carried at fair value through profit or loss, the embedded derivative is bifurcated and
reported at fair value, with gains and losses recognized in net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. The host contract will continue to be accounted for in accordance with the appropriate account-
ing standard. The carrying amount of an embedded derivative is reported in the same consolidated balance sheet line
item as the host contract. Certain hybrid instruments have been designated at fair value through profit or loss using
the fair value option.

Hedge Accounting

If derivatives are held for risk management purposes and the transactions meet specific criteria, the Group applies
hedge accounting. For accounting purposes there are three possible types of hedges: (1) hedges of changes in fair
value of assets, liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges); (2) hedges of variability of future cash flows from
highly probable forecast transactions and floating rate assets and liabilities (cash flow hedges); and (3) hedges of the
translation adjustments resulting from translating the functional currency financial statements of foreign operations into
the presentation currency of the parent (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

When hedge accounting is applied, the Group designates and documents the relationship between the hedging in-
strument and hedged item as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedging transac-
tions, and the nature of the risk being hedged. This documentation includes a description of how the Group will assess
the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash
flows attributable to the hedged risk. Hedge effectiveness is assessed at inception and throughout the term of each
hedging relationship. Hedge effectiveness is always calculated, even when the terms of the derivative and hedged
item are matched.

Hedging derivatives are reported as other assets and other liabilities. In the event that any derivative is subsequently
de-designated as a hedging derivative, it is transferred to financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in gain (loss) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss.
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For hedges of changes in fair value, the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability, or a portion thereof,
attributable to the risk being hedged are recognized in the income statement along with changes in the entire fair value
of the derivative. When hedging interest rate risk, any interest accrued or paid on both the derivative and the hedged
item is reported in interest income or expense and the unrealized gains and losses from the fair value adjustments are
reported in other income. When hedging the foreign exchange risk of an available for sale security, the fair value
adjustments related to the security’s foreign exchange exposures are also recorded in other income. Hedge ineffec-
tiveness is reported in other income and is measured as the net effect of changes in the fair value of the hedging
instrument and changes in the fair value of the hedged item arising from changes in the market rate or price related to
the risk being hedged.

If a fair value hedge of a debt instrument is discontinued prior to the instrument’s maturity because the derivative is
terminated or the relationship is de-designated, any remaining interest rate-related fair value adjustments made to the
carrying amount of the debt instrument (basis adjustments) are amortized to interest income or expense over the
remaining term of the original hedging relationship. For other types of fair value adjustments and whenever a hedged
asset or liability is sold or otherwise derecognized any basis adjustments are included in the calculation of the gain or
loss on derecognition.

For hedges of variability in cash flows, there is no change to the accounting for the hedged item and the derivative is
carried at fair value, with changes in value reported initially in net gains (losses) not recognized in the income state-
ment to the extent the hedge is effective. These amounts initially recorded in net gains (losses) not recognized in the
income statement are subsequently reclassified into the income statement in the same periods during which the fore-
cast transaction affects the income statement. Thus, for hedges of interest rate risk, the amounts are amortized into
interest income or expense at the same time as the interest is accrued on the hedged transaction. When hedging the
foreign exchange risk of a non-monetary financial asset classified as available for sale, such as an equity instrument,
the amounts initially recorded in net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement are subsequently reclassi-
fied and included in the calculation of the gain or loss on sale once the hedged asset is sold.

Hedge ineffectiveness is recorded in other income and is usually measured as the excess (if any) in the absolute
change in fair value of the actual hedging derivative over the absolute change in the fair value of the hypothetically
perfect hedge.

When hedges of variability in cash flows are discontinued, amounts remaining in net gains (losses) not recognized in
the income statement are amortized to interest income or expense over the remaining life of the original hedge rela-
tionship. When other types of hedges of variability in cash flows are discontinued, the related amounts in net gains
(losses) not recognized in the income statement are reclassified into either the same income statement caption and
period as profit or loss from the forecasted transaction, or in other income when the forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur.
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For hedges of the translation adjustments resulting from translating the functional currency financial statements of
foreign operations (hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation) into the presentation currency of the parent, the
portion of the change in fair value of the derivative due to changes in the spot foreign exchange rate is recorded as
a foreign currency translation adjustment in net gains (losses) not recognized in the income statement to the extent
the hedge is effective; the remainder is recorded as other income in the income statement.

The gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in profit or loss
on disposal of the foreign operation.

Impairment of Financial Assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred if there is:

— objective evidence of impairment as a result of a loss event that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
and up to the balance sheet date (“a loss event”);

— the loss event had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial
assets; and

— areliable estimate of the loss amount can be made.

Impairment of Loans and Provision for Off-Balance Sheet Positions

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for loans that are individually
significant. It then assesses collectively for loans that are not individually significant and loans which are significant but
for which there is no objective evidence of impairment under the individual assessment.

To allow management to determine whether a loss event has occurred on an individual basis, all significant counter-
party relationships are reviewed periodically. This evaluation considers current information and events related to the
counterparty, such as the counterparty experiencing significant financial difficulty or a breach of contract, for example,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments.

If there is evidence of impairment leading to an impairment loss for an individual counterparty relationship, then the
amount of the loss is determined as the difference between the carrying amount of the loan(s), including accrued
interest, and the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate or
the effective interest rate established upon reclassification to loans, including cash flows that may result from foreclo-
sure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral. The carrying amount of the loans is reduced by the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the income statement as a component of the provision
for credit losses.

The collective assessment of impairment is principally to establish an allowance amount relating to loans that are
either individually significant but for which there is no objective evidence of impairment, or are not individually signifi-
cant but for which there is, on a portfolio basis, a loss amount that is probable of having occurred and is reasonably
estimable. The loss amount has three components. The first component is an amount for transfer and currency con-
vertibility risks for loan exposures in countries where there are serious doubts about the ability of counterparties to
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comply with the repayment terms due to the economic or political situation prevailing in the respective country of
domicile. This amount is calculated using ratings for country risk and transfer risk which are established and regularly
reviewed for each country in which the Group does business. The second component is an allowance amount repre-
senting the incurred losses on the portfolio of smaller-balance homogeneous loans, which are loans to individuals and
small business customers of the private and retail business. The loans are grouped according to similar credit risk
characteristics and the allowance for each group is determined using statistical models based on historical experience.
The third component represents an estimate of incurred losses inherent in the group of loans that have not yet been
individually identified or measured as part of the smaller-balance homogenized loans. Loans that were found not to be
impaired when evaluated on an individual basis are included in the scope of this component of the allowance.

Once a loan is identified as impaired, although the accrual of interest in accordance with the contractual terms of the
loan is discontinued, the accretion of the net present value of the written down amount of the loan due to the passage
of time is recognized as interest income based on the original effective interest rate of the loan.

At each balance sheet date, all impaired loans are reviewed for changes to the present value of expected future cash
flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate. Any change to the previously recognized impairment loss
is recognized as a change to the allowance account and recorded in the income statement as a component of the
provision for credit losses.

When it is considered that there is no realistic prospect of recovery and all collateral has been realized or transferred
to the Group, the loan and any associated allowance is written off. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the
allowance account and recorded in the income statement as a component of the provision for credit losses.

The process to determine the provision for off-balance sheet positions is similar to the methodology used for loans.
Any loss amounts are recognized as an allowance in the balance sheet within other liabilities and charged to the
income statement as a component of the provision for credit losses.

If in a subsequent period the amount of a previously recognized impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the impairment loss is reversed
by reducing the allowance account accordingly. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss.

Impairment of Financial Assets Classified as Available for Sale

For financial assets classified as AFS, management assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective
evidence that an individual asset is impaired.

133



02  Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

In the case of equity investments classified as AFS, objective evidence includes a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of the investment below cost. In the case of debt securities classified as AFS, impairment is assessed
based on the same criteria as for loans.

If there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative unrealized loss previously recognized in equity, in net gains (losses)
not recognized in the income statement, is removed from equity and recognized in the income statement for the
period, reported in net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale. This amount is determined as the differ-
ence between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayments and amortization) and current fair value of the
asset less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in the income statement.

When an AFS debt security is impaired, subsequent measurement is on a fair value basis with changes reported in
the income statement. When the fair value of the AFS debt security recovers to at least amortized cost it is no longer
considered impaired and subsequent changes in fair value are reported in equity.

Reversals of impairment losses on equity investments classified as AFS are not reversed through the income state-
ment; increases in their fair value after impairment are recognized in equity.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial Asset Derecognition

A financial asset is considered for derecognition when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or the Group has either transferred the contractual right to receive the cash flows from that asset, or has
assumed an obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more recipients, subject to certain criteria.

The Group derecognizes a transferred financial asset if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

The Group enters into transactions in which it transfers previously recognized financial assets but retains substantially
all the associated risks and rewards of those assets; for example, a sale to a third party in which the Group enters into
a concurrent total return swap with the same counterparty. These types of transactions are accounted for as secured
financing transactions.

In transactions in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset are neither retained nor
transferred, the Group derecognizes the transferred asset if control over that asset, i.e. the practical ability to sell the
transferred asset, is relinquished. The rights and obligations retained in the transfer are recognized separately as
assets and liabilities, as appropriate. If control over the asset is retained, the Group continues to recognize the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement, which is determined by the extent to which it remains exposed to changes
in the value of the transferred asset.
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The derecognition criteria are also applied to the transfer of part of an asset, rather than the asset as a whole, or to a
group of similar financial assets in their entirety, when applicable. If transferring a part of an asset, such part must be a
specifically identified cash flow, a fully proportionate share of the asset, or a fully proportionate share of a specifically-
identified cash flow.

Securitization

The Group securitizes various consumer and commercial financial assets, which is achieved via the sale of these
assets to an SPE, which in turn issues securities to investors. The transferred assets may qualify for derecognition in
full or in part, under the policy on derecognition of financial assets. Synthetic securitization structures typically involve
derivative financial instruments for which the policies in the Derivatives and Hedge Accounting section would apply.
Those transfers that do not qualify for derecognition may be reported as secured financing or result in the recognition
of continuing involvement liabilities. The investors and the securitization vehicles generally have no recourse to the
Group’s other assets in cases where the issuers of the financial assets fail to perform under the original terms of those
assets.

Interests in the securitized financial assets may be retained in the form of senior or subordinated tranches, interest
only strips or other residual interests (collectively referred to as ‘retained interests’). Provided the Group’s retained
interests do not result in consolidation of an SPE, nor in continued recognition of the transferred assets, these inter-
ests are typically recorded in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and carried at fair value. Consistent
with the valuation of similar financial instruments, fair value of retained tranches or the financial assets is initially and
subsequently determined using market price quotations where available or internal pricing models that utilize variables
such as yield curves, prepayment speeds, default rates, loss severity, interest rate volatilities and spreads. The
assumptions used for pricing are based on observable transactions in similar securities and are verified by external
pricing sources, where available.

Gains or losses on securitization depend in part on the carrying amount of the transferred financial assets, allocated
between the financial assets derecognized and the retained interests based on their relative fair values at the date of
the transfer. Gains or losses on securitization are recorded in gain (loss) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss if the transferred assets were classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or canceled or expires. If an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
the existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recog-
nized in the income statement.

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements

Securities purchased under resale agreements (“reverse repurchase agreements”) and securities sold under agree-
ments to repurchase (“repurchase agreements”) are treated as collateralized financings and are recognized initially at
fair value, being the amount of cash disbursed and received, respectively. The party disbursing the cash takes pos-
session of the securities serving as collateral for the financing and having a market value equal to, or in excess of the
principal amount loaned. The securities received under reverse repurchase agreements and securities delivered
under repurchase agreements are not recognized on, or derecognized from, the balance sheet, unless the risks and
rewards of ownership are obtained or relinquished.

The Group has chosen to apply the fair value option to certain repurchase and reverse repurchase portfolios that are
managed on a fair value basis.

Interest earned on reverse repurchase agreements and interest incurred on repurchase agreements is reported as
interest income and interest expense, respectively.

Securities Borrowed and Securities Loaned

Securities borrowed transactions generally require the Group to deposit cash with the securities lender. In a securities
loaned transaction, the Group generally receives either cash collateral, in an amount equal to or in excess of the mar-
ket value of securities loaned, or securities. The Group monitors the fair value of securities borrowed and securities
loaned and additional collateral is disbursed or obtained, if necessary.

The amount of cash advanced or received is recorded as securities borrowed and securities loaned, respectively.

The securities borrowed are not themselves recognized in the financial statements. If they are sold to third parties, the
obligation to return the securities is recorded as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss and any subse-
quent gain or loss is included in the income statement in gain (loss) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss. Securities lent to counterparties are also retained on the balance sheet.

Fees received or paid are reported in interest income and interest expense, respectively. Securities owned and

pledged as collateral under securities lending agreements in which the counterparty has the right by contract or
custom to sell or repledge the collateral are disclosed as such on the face of the consolidated balance sheet.
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Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with the net amount reported in the balance sheet, only if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realize
an asset and settle the liability simultaneously. In all other situations they are presented gross.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment includes own-use properties, leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment and software
(operating systems only). Own-use properties are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is generally recognized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of the assets. The range of estimated useful lives is 25 to 50 years for property and 3 to 10 years for furniture and
equipment. Leasehold improvements are capitalized and subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the term of the lease and the estimated useful life of the improvement, which generally ranges from 3 to
15 years. Depreciation of property and equipment is included in general and administrative expenses. Maintenance
and repairs are also charged to general and administrative expenses. Gains and losses on disposals are included in
other income.

Property and equipment are tested for impairment at least annually and an impairment charge is recorded to the
extent the recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is less than its
carrying amount. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.
After the recognition of impairment of an asset, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to reflect the
asset’s revised carrying amount. If an impairment is later reversed, the depreciation charge is adjusted prospectively.

Properties leased under a finance lease are capitalized as assets in property and equipment and depreciated over the
terms of the leases.

Investment Property

The Group generally uses the cost model for valuation of investment property and the carrying value is included on the
balance sheet in other assets. When the Group issues liabilities that are backed by investment property, which pay a
return linked directly to the fair value of, or returns from, specified investment property assets, it has elected to apply
the fair value model to those specific investment property assets. The Group engages, as appropriate, external real
estate experts to determine the fair value of the investment property by using recognized valuation techniques.
In cases in which prices of recent market transactions of comparable properties are available, fair value is determined
by reference to these transactions.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, and represents the excess
of the fair value of the purchase consideration and costs directly attributable to the acquisition over the net fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed on the date
of the acquisition.
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For the purpose of calculating goodwill, fair values of acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are deter-
mined by reference to market values or by discounting expected future cash flows to present value. This discounting is
either performed using market rates or by using risk-free rates and risk-adjusted expected future cash flows.

Goodwill on the acquisition of subsidiaries is capitalized and reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if
there are indications that impairment may have occurred. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the pur-
pose of impairment testing considering the business level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. On this basis, the Group’s goodwill carrying cash-generating units are:

— Global Markets and Corporate Finance (within the Corporate Banking & Securities corporate division);

— Global Transaction Banking;

— Asset Management and Private Wealth Management (within the Asset and Wealth Management corporate divi-
sion);

— Private & Business Clients; and

— Corporate Investments.

Goodwill on the acquisitions of associates and jointly controlled entities is included in the cost of the investments and
is reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if there is an indication that impairment may have occurred.

If goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and an operation within that unit is disposed of, the attributable
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on its disposal.

Intangible assets are recognized separately from goodwill when they are separable or arise from contractual or other
legal rights and their fair value can be measured reliably. Intangible assets that have a finite useful life are stated at
cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Customer-related intangible assets that
have a finite useful life are amortized over periods of between 1 and 20 years on a straight-line basis based on their
expected useful life. Mortgage servicing rights are carried at cost and amortized in proportion to, and over the esti-
mated period of, net servicing revenue. The assets are tested for impairments and their useful lives reaffirmed at least
annually.
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Certain intangible assets have an indefinite useful life; these are primarily investment management agreements
related to retail mutual funds. These indefinite life intangibles are not amortized but are tested for impairment at least
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred.

Costs related to software developed or obtained for internal use are capitalized if it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group, and the cost can be measured reliably. Capitalized costs are depreciated using the
straight-line method over a period of 1 to 3 years. Eligible costs include external direct costs for materials and ser-
vices, as well as payroll and payroll-related costs for employees directly associated with an internal-use software
project. Overhead costs, as well as costs incurred during the research phase or after software is ready for use, are
expensed as incurred.

On acquisition of insurance businesses, the excess of the purchase price over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is accounted for as an intangible asset. This intangi-
ble asset represents the present value of future cash flows over the reported liability at the date of acquisition. This is
known as value of business acquired (“VOBA”).

The VOBA is amortized at a rate determined by considering the profile of the business acquired and the expected
depletion in its value. The VOBA acquired is reviewed regularly for any impairment in value and any reductions are
charged as an expense to the income statement.

Financial Guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and other parties on behalf of custom-
ers to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are recognized initially in the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee is given.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the
amount initially recognized, less cumulative amortization, and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
any financial obligation as of the balance sheet date. These estimates are determined based on experience with simi-
lar transactions and history of past losses, and management’s determination of the best estimate.

Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is recorded in the income statement under general and administra-
tive expenses.
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Leasing Transactions

Lessor

Assets leased to customers under agreements which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, with
or without ultimate legal title, are classified as finance leases. When assets held are subject to a finance lease, the
leased assets are derecognized and a receivable is recognized which is equal to the present value of the minimum
lease payments, discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging a finance lease are incorporated into the receivable through the discount rate applied to the lease. Finance
lease income is recognized over the lease term based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the
net investment in the finance lease.

Assets leased to customers under agreements which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of owner-
ship are classified as operating leases. The leased assets are included within premises and equipment on the Group's
balance sheet and depreciation is provided on the depreciable amount of these assets on a systematic basis over
their estimated useful economic lives. Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognized on the balance sheet at an amount equal to the fair value of
the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the
lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. The discount rate used in calculating the present
value of the minimum lease payments is either the interest rate implicit in the lease, if it is practicable to determine, or
the incremental borrowing rate. Contingent rentals are recognized as expense in the periods in which they are in-
curred.

Operating lease rentals payable are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, which
commences when the lessee controls the physical use of the property. Lease incentives are treated as a reduction of
rental expense and are also recognized over the lease term on a straight-line basis. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Sale-Leaseback Arrangements

If a sale-leaseback transaction results in a finance lease, any excess of sales proceeds over the carrying amount of
the asset is not immediately recognized as income by a seller-lessee but is deferred and amortized over the lease
term.
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If a sale-leaseback transaction results in an operating lease, the timing of profit recognition is a function of the differ-
ence between the sales price and fair value. When it is clear that sales price is at fair value, the profit (the difference
between the sales price and carrying value) is recognized immediately. If the sales price is below fair value, any profit
or loss is recognized immediately, except that if the loss is compensated for by future lease payments at below market
price, it is deferred and amortized in proportion to the lease payments over the period the asset is expected to be
used. If the sales price is above fair value, the excess over fair value is deferred and amortized over the period the
asset is expected to be used.

Employee Benefits

Pension Benefits

The Group provides a number of pension plans. In addition to defined contribution plans, there are retirement plans
accounted for as defined benefit plans. The assets of all the Group’s defined contribution plans are held in independ-
ently-administered funds. Contributions are generally determined as a percentage of salary and are expensed based
on employee services rendered, generally in the year of contribution.

All retirement benefit plans are valued using the projected unit-credit method to determine the present value of the
defined benefit obligation and the related service costs. Under this method, the determination is based on actuarial
calculations which include assumptions about demographics, salary increases and interest and inflation rates. Actuar-
ial gains and losses are recognized in shareholders’ equity and presented in the Statement of Recognized Income and
Expense in the period in which they occur. The Group’s benefit plans are usually funded.

Other Post-Employment Benefits

In addition, the Group maintains unfunded contributory post-employment medical plans for a number of current and
retired employees who are mainly located in the United States. These plans pay stated percentages of eligible medi-
cal and dental expenses of retirees after a stated deductible has been met. The Group funds these plans on a cash
basis as benefits are due. Analogous to retirement benefit plans these plans are valued using the projected unit-credit
method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the period in which they occur in shareholders’ equity and
presented in the Statement of Recognized Income and Expense.

Share-Based Compensation

Compensation expense for awards classified as equity instruments is measured at the grant date based on the fair
value of the share-based award. For share awards, the fair value is the quoted market price of the share reduced by
the present value of the expected dividends that will not be received by the employee and adjusted for the effect, if
any, of restrictions beyond the vesting date. In case an award is modified such that its fair value immediately after
modification exceeds its fair value immediately prior to modification, a remeasurement takes place and the resulting
increase in fair value is recognized as additional compensation expense.
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The Group records the offsetting amount to the recognized compensation expense in additional paid-in capital (APIC).
Compensation expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the period in which employees perform services to
which the awards relate or over the period of the tranches for those awards delivered in tranches. Estimates of
expected forfeitures are periodically adjusted in the event of actual forfeitures or for changes in expectations. The
timing of expense recognition relating to grants which, due to early retirement provisions, include a nominal but non-
substantive service period are accelerated by shortening the amortization period of the expense from the grant date to
the date when the employee meets the eligibility criteria for the award, and not the vesting date. For awards that are
delivered in tranches, each tranche is considered a separate award and amortized separately.

Compensation expense for share-based awards payable in cash is remeasured to fair value at each balance sheet
date, and the related obligations are included in other liabilities until paid.

Obligations to Purchase Common Shares

Forward purchases of Deutsche Bank shares, and written put options where Deutsche Bank shares are the underly-
ing, are reported as obligations to purchase common shares if the number of shares is fixed and physical settlement
for a fixed amount of cash is required. At inception the obligation is recorded at the present value of the settlement
amount of the forward or option. For forward purchases and written put options of Deutsche Bank shares, a corre-
sponding charge is made to shareholders’ equity and reported as equity classified as an obligation to purchase com-
mon shares. For forward purchases of minority interest shares, a corresponding reduction to equity is made.

The liabilities are accounted for on an accrual basis, and interest costs, which consist of time value of money and
dividends, on the liability are reported as interest expense. Upon settlement of such forward purchases and written put
options, the liability is extinguished and the charge to equity is reclassified to common shares in treasury.

Deutsche Bank common shares subject to such forward contracts are not considered to be outstanding for purposes
of basic earnings per share calculations, but are for dilutive earnings per share calculations to the extent that they are,
in fact, dilutive.

Put and call option contracts with Deutsche Bank shares as the underlying where the number of shares is fixed and
physical settlement is required are not classified as derivatives. They are transactions in the Group’s equity. All other
derivative contracts in which Deutsche Bank shares are the underlying are recorded as financial assets/liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss.
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Income Taxes

The Group recognizes the current and deferred tax consequences of transactions that have been included in the
consolidated financial statements using the provisions of the respective jurisdictions’ tax laws. Current and deferred
taxes are charged or credited to equity if the tax relates to items that are charged or credited directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits. Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available against which those unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period that
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when (1) they arise from the same tax reporting entity or tax group of
reporting entities, (2) they relate to the same tax authority, (3) the legally enforceable right to offset exists and (4) they
are intended to be settled net or realized simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
exists and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxing authority on either
the same tax reporting entity or tax group of reporting entities.

Deferred tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
branches and associates and interests in joint ventures except when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differ-
ence is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred income tax assets are provided on deductible temporary differences arising from such investments only to
the extent that it is probable that the differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and sufficient taxable income will
be available against which those temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax related to fair value remeasurement of available for sale investments, cash flow hedges, actuarial valua-

tions related to defined benefit plans and other items, which are charged or credited directly to equity, is also credited
or charged directly to equity and subsequently recognized in the income statement once the gain or loss is realized.
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For share-based payment transactions, the Group may receive a tax deduction related to the compensation paid in
shares. The amount deductible for tax purposes may differ from the cumulative compensation expense recorded.
At any reporting date, the Group must estimate the expected future tax deduction based on the current share price.
If the amount deductible, or expected to be deductible, for tax purposes exceeds the cumulative compensation ex-
pense, the excess tax benefit is recognized in equity. If the amount deductible, or expected to be deductible, for tax
purposes is less than the cumulative compensation expense, the shortfall is recognized in the Group’s income state-
ment for the period.

The Group’s insurance business in the United Kingdom (Abbey Life Assurance Company Limited) is subject to income
tax on the policyholder’s investment returns (policyholder tax). This tax is included in the Group’s income tax expense/
benefit even though it is economically the income tax expense/benefit of the policyholder, which reduces/increases the
Group’s liability to the policyholder.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, if it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obliga-
tion as of the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted and measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation, using a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market as-
sessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party (for example, because the obligation is covered by an insurance policy), a receivable is recognized if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received.

Statement of Cash Flows

For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
Such investments include cash and balances at central banks and demand deposits with banks.
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The Group’s assignment of cash flows to the operating, investing or financing category depends on the business
model (“management approach”). For the Group the primary operating activity is to manage financial assets and
financial liabilities. Therefore, the issuance and management of long-term borrowings is a core operating activity which
is different than for a non-financial company, where borrowing is not a principal revenue producing activity and thus is
part of the financing category.

The Group views the issuance of senior long-term debt as an operating activity. Senior long-term debt comprises
structured notes and asset backed securities, which are designed and executed by CIB business lines and which are
revenue generating activities and the other component is debt issued by Treasury, which is considered inter-
changeable with other funding sources; all of the funding costs are allocated to business activities to establish their
profitability.

Cash flows related to subordinated long-term debt and trust preferred securities are viewed differently than those
related to senior-long term debt because they are managed as an integral part of the Group’s capital, primarily to meet
regulatory capital requirements. As a result they are not interchangeable with other operating liabilities, but can only be
interchanged with equity and thus are considered part of the financing category.

The amounts shown in the statement of cash flows do not precisely match the movements in the balance sheet from
one period to the next as they exclude non-cash items such as movements due to foreign exchange translation and
movements due to changes in the group of consolidated companies.

Movements in balances carried at fair value through profit or loss represent all changes affecting the carrying value.
This includes the effects of market movements and cash inflows and outflows. The movements in balances carried at
fair value are usually presented in operating cash flows.

Insurance
The Group’s insurance business issues two types of contracts:

Insurance Contracts — These are annuity and universal life contracts under which the Group accepts significant
insurance risk from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specific uncertain
future event adversely affects the policyholder. Such contracts remain insurance contracts until all rights and obliga-
tions are extinguished or expire. All insurance contract liabilities are measured under the provisions of U.S. GAAP for
insurance contracts.

Non-Participating Investment Contracts (“Investment Contracts”) — These contracts do not contain significant insur-

ance risk or discretionary participation features. These are measured and reported consistently with other financial
liabilities, which are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial assets held to back annuity contracts have been classified as financial instruments available for sale. Finan-
cial assets held for other insurance and investment contracts have been designated as fair value through profit or loss
under the fair value option.

Insurance Contracts

Premiums on long-term insurance contracts are recognized as income when received. For single premium business,
this is the date from which the policy is effective. For regular premium contracts, receivables are recognized at the
date when payments are due. Premiums are shown before deduction of commissions. When policies lapse due to
non-receipt of premiums, all related premium income accrued but not received from the date they are deemed to have
lapsed, net of related expense, is offset against premiums.

Claims are recorded as an expense when they are incurred, and reflect the cost of all claims arising during the year,
including policyholder profit participations allocated in anticipation of a participation declaration.

The aggregate policy reserves for universal life insurance contracts are equal to the account balance, which repre-
sents premiums received and investment returns credited to the policy, less deductions for mortality costs and
expense charges. For other unit-linked insurance contracts the policy reserve represents the fair value of the under-
lying assets.

For annuity contracts, the liability is calculated by estimating the future cash flows over the duration of the in-force
contracts and discounting them back to the valuation date allowing for the probability of occurrence. The assumptions
are fixed at the date of acquisition with suitable provisions for adverse deviations (PADs). This calculated liability value
is tested against a value calculated using best estimate assumptions and interest rates based on the yield on the
amortized cost of the underlying assets. Should this test produce a higher value, the liability amount would be reset.

Aggregate policy reserves include liabilities for certain options attached to the Group’s unit-linked pension products.
These liabilities are calculated based on contractual obligations using actuarial assumptions.

Liability adequacy tests are performed for the insurance portfolios on the basis of estimated future claims, costs,
premiums earned and proportionate investment income. For long duration contracts, if actual experience regarding
investment yields, mortality, morbidity, terminations or expense indicate that existing contract liabilities, along with the
present value of future gross premiums, will not be sufficient to cover the present value of future benefits and to
recover deferred policy acquisition costs, then a premium deficiency is recognized.

For existing business, the deferred policy acquisition costs are immaterial to the insurance business.

146



02 Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Investment Contracts

All of the Group’s investment contracts are unit-linked. These contract liabilities are determined using current unit
prices multiplied by the number of units attributed to the contract holders as of the balance sheet date. As this amount
represents fair value, the liabilities have been classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Depos-
its collected under investment contracts are accounted for as an adjustment to the investment contract liabilities.
Investment income attributable to investment contracts is included in the income statement. Investment contract
claims reflect the excess of amounts paid over the account balance released. Investment contract policyholders are
charged fees for policy administration, investment management, surrenders or other contract services.

The financial assets for investment contracts are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value, and offsetting
changes in the fair value of the corresponding financial liabilities, recorded in profit or loss.

Reinsurance

Premiums ceded for reinsurance and reinsurance recoveries on policyholder benefits and claims incurred are reported
in income and expense as appropriate. Assets and liabilities related to reinsurance are reported on a gross basis
when material. Amounts ceded to reinsurers from reserves for insurance contracts are estimated in a manner consis-
tent with the reinsured risk. Accordingly, revenues and expenses related to reinsurance agreements are recognized in
a manner consistent with the underlying risk of the business reinsured.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

IAS 39 and IFRS 7

In October 2008, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”,
and IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, titled “Reclassification of Financial Assets”. The amendments to
IAS 39 permit (1) certain reclassifications of non-derivative financial assets (other than those designated under the fair
value option) out of the fair value through profit or loss category and (2) also allow the reclassification of financial
assets from the available for sale category to the loans and receivables category in particular circumstances. The
amendments to IFRS 7 introduce additional disclosure requirements if an entity has reclassified financial assets in
accordance with the amendments to IAS 39. In November 2008, the IASB issued another amendment to IAS 39 and
IFRS 7, “Reclassification of Financial Assets — Effective Date and Transition” to clarify the effective date of the
amendments. The amendments allowed retrospective application to July 1, 2008 for reclassifications made prior to
November 1, 2008. Any reclassification made on or after November 1, 2008 takes effect from the date of reclassifica-
tion. The impact of the reclassifications permissible under the IAS 39 amendments as of December 31, 2008, was to
increase income before income taxes by € 3.3 billion. For further information, please refer to Note [10].

147



02  Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRIC 14

In July 2007, the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) issued interpretation IFRIC 14,
“IAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction” (“IFRIC 14”).
IFRIC 14 provides general guidance on how to assess the limit in IAS 19, “Employee Benefits” on the amount of a
pension fund surplus that can be recognized as an asset. It also explains how the pension asset or liability may
be affected when there is a statutory or contractual minimum funding requirement. No additional liability need be
recognized by the employer under IFRIC 14 unless the contributions that are payable under the minimum funding
requirement cannot be returned to the company. IFRIC 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after Janu-
ary 1, 2008, with early application permitted. The adoption of IFRIC 14 had no impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Improvements to IFRS

In May 2008, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS, which resulted from the IASB’s annual improvements project.
They comprise amendments that result in accounting changes for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes
as well as terminology or editorial amendments related to a variety of individual IFRS standards. Most of the amend-
ments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009, with earlier application permitted. The
adoption of the amendments will not have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 3 and IAS 27

In January 2008, the IASB issued a revised version of IFRS 3, “Business Combinations” (“IFRS 3 R”), and an
amended version of IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” (“lIAS 27 R”). IFRS 3 R reconsiders
the application of acquisition accounting for business combinations and IAS 27 R mainly relates to changes in the
accounting for non-controlling interests and the loss of control of a subsidiary. Under IFRS 3 R, the acquirer can elect
to measure any non-controlling interest on a transaction-by-transaction basis, either at fair value as of the acquisition
date or at its proportionate interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree. When an
acquisition is achieved in successive share purchases (step acquisition), the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
acquiree are recognized at fair value when control is obtained. A gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss for the
difference between the fair value of the previously held equity interest in the acquiree and its carrying amount.
IAS 27 R also requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there is no
change in control. Transactions resulting in a loss of control result in a gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.
The gain or loss includes a remeasurement to fair value of any retained equity interest in the investee. In addition, all
items of consideration transferred by the acquirer are measured and recognized at fair value, including contingent
consideration, as of the acquisition date. Transaction costs incurred by the acquirer in connection with the business
combination do not form part of the cost of the business combination transaction but are expensed as incurred unless
they relate to the issuance of debt or equity securities, in which case they are accounted for under IAS 39, “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 3 R and IAS 27 R are effective for business combinations in
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009, with early application permitted provided that both Standards are
applied together. While approved by the IASB, the standards have yet to be endorsed by the EU.
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IAS 32 and IAS 1

In February 2008, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 32, “Financial Instruments: Presentation”, and IAS 1, “Presen-
tation of Financial Statements”, titled “Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation”. The
amendments provide for equity treatment, under certain circumstances, for financial instruments puttable at fair value
and obligations arising on liquidation only. They are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009,
with earlier application permitted. The adoption of the amendments will not have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

[2] Business Segments and Related Information

The following segment information has been prepared in accordance with the “management approach”, which
requires presentation of the segments on the basis of the internal reports about components of the entity which are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order to allocate resources to a segment and to assess its
performance.

Business Segments
The following business segments represent the Group’s organizational structure as reflected in its internal manage-
ment reporting systems.

The Group is organized into three group divisions, which are further subdivided into corporate divisions. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2008, the group divisions and corporate divisions were as follows:

The Corporate and Investment Bank (CIB), which combines the Group’s corporate banking and securities activities
(including sales and trading and corporate finance activities) with the Group’s transaction banking activities. CIB
serves corporate and institutional clients, ranging from medium-sized enterprises to multinational corporations, banks
and sovereign organizations. Within CIB, the Group manages these activities in two global corporate divisions: Corpo-
rate Banking & Securities (CB&S) and Global Transaction Banking (GTB).

— CB&S is made up of the Global Markets and Corporate Finance business divisions. These businesses offer finan-
cial products worldwide, ranging from the underwriting of stocks and bonds to the tailoring of structured solutions
for complex financial requirements.

— GTB is primarily engaged in the gathering, transferring, safeguarding and controlling of assets for its clients
throughout the world. It provides processing, fiduciary and trust services to corporations, financial institutions and
governments and their agencies.
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Private Clients and Asset Management (PCAM), which combines the Group’s asset management, private wealth
management and private and business client activities. Within PCAM, the Group manages these activities in two
global corporate divisions: Asset and Wealth Management (AWM) and Private & Business Clients (PBC).

— AWM is composed of the business divisions Asset Management (AM), which focuses on managing assets on
behalf of institutional clients and providing mutual funds and other retail investment vehicles, and Private Wealth
Management (PWM), which focuses on the specific needs of high net worth clients, their families and selected
institutions.

— PBC serves retail and affluent clients as well as small corporate customers with a full range of retail banking
products.

Corporate Investments (Cl), which manages certain alternative assets of the bank and other debt and equity posi-
tions.

Changes in the composition of segments can arise from either changes in management responsibility, for which prior
periods are restated to conform with the current year’s presentation, or from acquisitions and divestitures. There were
no changes in management responsibilities with a significant impact on segmental reporting during 2008.

The following describes acquisitions and divestitures which had a significant impact on the Group’s segment opera-
tions:

— In December 2008, RREEF Alternative Investments acquired a significant minority interest in Rosen Real Estate
Securities LLC (RRES), a long/short real estate investment advisor. The investment is included in the corporate
division AWM.

— In November 2008, the Group acquired a 40 % stake in UFG Invest, the Russian investment management com-
pany of UFG Asset Management, with an option to become a 100 % owner in the future. The business will be
branded Deutsche UFG Capital Management. The investment is included in the corporate division AWM.

— In October 2008, the Group completed the acquisition of the operating platform of Pago eTransaction GmbH into
the Deutsche Card Services GmbH, based in Germany. The investment is included in the corporate division GTB.

— In June 2008, the Group consolidated Maher Terminals LLC and Maher Terminals of Canada Corp, collectively
and hereafter referred to as Maher Terminals, a privately held operator of port terminal facilities in North America.
RREEF Infrastructure acquired all third party investors’ interests in the North America Infrastructure Fund, whose
sole underlying investment is Maher Terminals. The investment is included in the corporate division AWM.

— In June 2008, the Group sold DWS Investments Schweiz AG, comprising the Swiss fund administration business
of the corporate division AWM, to State Street Bank.

— Effective June 2008, the Group sold its Italian life insurance company DWS Vita S.p.A. to Zurich Financial
Services Group. The business was included within the corporate division AWM.

— Effective March 2008, the Group completed the acquisition of a 60 % interest in Far Eastern Alliance Asset Man-
agement Co. Limited, a Taiwanese investment management firm. This is included in the corporate division AWM.

— In February 2008, the 50 % interest in the management company of the Australia based DEXUS Property Group
was sold by RREEF Alternative Investments to DEXUS’ unitholders. The investment was included in the corporate
division AWM.
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In January 2008, the Group acquired HedgeWorks LLC, a hedge fund administrator based in the United States.
The investment is included in the corporate division GTB.

In January 2008, the Group increased its stake in Harvest Fund Management Company Limited to 30 %. Harvest
is a mutual fund manager in China. The investment is included in the corporate division AWM.

In October 2007, the Group acquired Abbey Life Assurance Company Limited, a UK company that consists
primarily of unit-linked life and pension policies and annuities. The business is included in the corporate division
CB&S.

In July 2007, AM completed the sale of its local Italian mutual fund business and established long term distribution
arrangements with the Group’s strategic partner, Anima S.G.R.p.A. The business is included in the corporate divi-
sion AWM.

In July 2007, RREEF Private Equity acquired a significant stake in Aldus Equity, an alternative asset management
and advisory boutique, which specializes in customized private equity investing for institutional and high net worth
investors. The business is included in the corporate division AWM.

In July 2007, the Group announced the completion of the acquisition of the institutional cross-border custody busi-
ness of Turkiye Garanti Bankasi A.S. The business is included in the corporate division GTB.

In July 2007, RREEF Infrastructure completed the acquisition of Maher Terminals. After a partial sale into the fund
for which it was acquired, Maher Terminals was deconsolidated in October 2007.

In June 2007, the Group completed the sale of the Australian Asset Management domestic manufacturing opera-
tions to Aberdeen Asset Management. The business was included in the corporate division AWM.

In January 2007, the Group sold the second tranche (41 %) of PBC’s Italian BankAmericard processing activities
to Istituto Centrale delle Banche Popolari Italiane (“ICBPI”), the central body of Italian cooperative banks. The
business was part of the corporate division PBC.

In January 2007, the Group completed the acquisition of MortgagelT Holdings, Inc., a residential mortgage real
estate investment trust (REIT) in the U.S. The business is included in the corporate division CB&S.

In January 2007, the Group completed the acquisition of Berliner Bank, which is included in the corporate division
PBC. The acquisition expands the Group’s market share in the retail banking sector of the German capital.

In December 2006 the Group closed the acquisition of the UK wealth manager, Tilney Group Limited. The acquisi-
tion is a key element in PWM'’s strategy to expand its on-shore presence in dedicated core markets and to expand
into various client segments, including the Independent Financial Advisors sector.

In November 2006, the Group acquired norisbank from DZ Bank Group. The business is included in the corporate
division PBC.

In October 2006, the Group sold 49 % of PBC’s ltalian BankAmericard processing and acquiring operation to
ICBPI.

In July 2006, the Group deconsolidated Deutsche Wohnen AG following the termination of the control agreement
with DB Real Estate Management GmbH. Deutsche Wohnen AG is a real estate investment company and was
included in the corporate division AWM.

In May 2006, the Group completed the acquisition of the UK Depository and Clearing Centre business from
JPMorgan Chase & Co. The business is included in the corporate division GTB.

In February 2006, the Group completed the acquisition of the remaining 60 % of United Financial Group (UFG), an
investment bank in Russia. The business is included in corporate division CB&S.

In the first quarter 2006, the Group completed its sale of EUROHYPO AG to Commerzbank AG. The business
was included in the corporate division ClI.
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Measurement of Segment Profit or Loss

Segment reporting requires a presentation of the segment results based on management reporting methods, including
a reconciliation between the results of the business segments and the consolidated financial statements, which is
presented in the “Consolidation and Adjustments” section. The information provided about each segment is based on
the internal reports about segment profit or loss, assets and other information which are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision-maker.

Management reporting for the Group is generally based on IFRS. Non-IFRS compliant accounting methods are rarely
used and represent either valuation or classification differences. The largest valuation differences relate to mark-to-
market accounting in management reporting versus accrual accounting under IFRS (for example, for certain financial
instruments in the Group’s treasury books in CB&S and PBC) and to the recognition of trading results from own
shares in revenues in management reporting (mainly in CB&S) and in equity under IFRS. The major classification
difference relates to minority interest, which represents the net share of minority shareholders in revenues, provision
for credit losses, noninterest expenses and income tax expenses. Minority interest is reported as a component of pre-
tax income for the businesses in management reporting (with a reversal in Consolidation & Adjustments) and a com-
ponent of net income appropriation under IFRS.

Revenues from transactions between the business segments are allocated on a mutually-agreed basis. Internal ser-
vice providers, which operate on a nonprofit basis, allocate their noninterest expenses to the recipient of the service.
The allocation criteria are generally based on service level agreements and are either determined based upon “price

per unit’, “fixed price” or “agreed percentages”. Since the Group’s business activities are diverse in nature and its
operations are integrated, certain estimates and judgments have been made to apportion revenue and expense items

among the business segments.

The management reporting systems follow a “matched transfer pricing concept” in which the Group’s external net
interest income is allocated to the business segments based on the assumption that all positions are funded or
in-vested via the money and capital markets. Therefore, to create comparability with competitors who have legally
independent units with their own equity funding, the Group allocates the notional interest credit on its consolidated
capital to the business segments, in proportion to each business segment’s allocated average active equity.
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Management uses certain measures for equity and related ratios as part of its internal reporting system because it

believes that these measures provide it with a more useful indication of the financial performance of the business

segments. The Group discloses such measures to provide investors and analysts with further insight into how

management operates the Group’s businesses and to enable them to better understand the Group’s results. These

include:

— Average active equity: The Group calculates active equity to facilitate comparison to its competitors and refers to

active equity in several ratios. Active equity is not a measure provided for in IFRS, however, the Group’s ratios
based on average active equity should not be compared to other companies’ ratios without considering the differ-
ences in the calculation. The items for which the Group adjusts the average shareholders’ equity are average
unrealized net gains (losses) on assets available for sale, average fair value adjustments on cash flow hedges
(both components net of applicable taxes), as well as average dividends, for which a proposal is accrued on a
quarterly basis and for which payments occur once a year following the approval at the general shareholders’
meeting. The Group’s average active equity is allocated to the business segments and to Consolidation & Adjust-
ments in proportion to their economic risk exposures, which consist of economic capital, goodwill and other
unamortized intangible assets. The total amount allocated is the higher of the Group’s overall economic risk expo-
sure or regulatory capital demand. In 2008 this demand for regulatory capital was derived by assuming a Tier 1 ratio
of 8.5 %. In 2009 the Group intends to derive its internal demand for regulatory capital assuming a Tier 1 ratio of
10.0 %. If the Group’s average active equity exceeds the higher of the overall economic risk exposure or the regu-
latory capital demand, this surplus is assigned to Consolidation & Adjustments.

Return on average active equity in % is defined as income before income taxes less minority interest as a
percentage of average active equity. These returns, which are based on average active equity, should not be com-
pared to those of other companies without considering the differences in the calculation of such ratios.
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The following tables present the results of the business segments, including the reconciliation to the consolidated
results under IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

2008 Corporate and Investment Bank Private Clients and Asset Management Corporate Total
Corporate Global Total Asset and Private & Total Invest- Manage-
Banking & Trans- Wealth Business ments ment_
in€m. Securities action Manage- Clients Reporting
(unless stated otherwise) Banking ment
Net revenues’ 304 2,774 3,078 3,264 5,777 9,041 1,290 13,408
Provision for credit losses 402 5 408 15 653 668 1) 1,075
Total noninterest expenses 8,427 1,663 10,090 3,794 4,178 7,972 95 18,156
therein:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 52 6 58 17 76 93 8 159
Severance payments 335 3 338 29 84 113 0 451
Policyholder benefits and claims (273) - (273) 18 - 18 - (256)
Impairment of intangible assets 5 - 5 580 - 580 - 585
Restructuring activities - - - - - - - -
Minority interest (48) - (48) (20) 0 (20) 2 (66)
Income (loss) before income taxes (8,476) 1,106 (7,371) (525) 945 420 1,194 (5,756)
Cost/income ratio N/M 60 % N/M 116 % 72 % 88 % 7% 135 %
Assets®? 2,012,427 49,487 2,047,181 50,473 138,350 188,785 18,297 2,189,313
Expenditures for additions to long-lived
assets 1,167 38 1,205 13 56 70 0 1,275
Total risk position 234,344 15,400 249,744 16,051 37,482 53,533 2,677 305,953
Average active equity4 19,181 1,081 20,262 4,870 3,445 8,315 403 28,979
Pre-tax return on average active equity (44) % 102 % (36) % 1) % 27 % 5% N/M (20) %
1 Includes:
Net interest income 7,683 1,157 8,840 496 3,249 3,746 7 12,592
Net revenues from external customers 423 2,814 3,236 3,418 5,463 8,881 1,259 13,376
Net intersegment revenues (118) (40) (158) (154) 314 160 31 33
Net income (loss) from
equity method investments (110) 2 (108) 87 2 88 62 42
2 Includes:
Equity method investments 1,687 40 1,727 321 44 365 71 2,163

N/M — Not meaningful

3 The sum of corporate divisions does not necessarily equal the total of the corresponding group division because of consolidation items between corporate divisions, which are elimi-
nated at the group division level. The same approach holds true for the sum of group divisions compared to Total Management Reporting.
4 For management reporting purposes goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are explicitly assigned to the respective divisions. The Group’s average active equity is
allocated to the business segments and to Consolidation & Adjustments in proportion to their economic risk exposures, which comprise economic capital, goodwill and other unamor-

tized intangible assets.

5 Includes gains from the sale of industrial holdings (Daimler AG, Allianz SE and Linde AG) of € 1,228 million and a gain from the sale of the investment in Arcor AG & Co. KG of
€ 97 million, which are excluded from the Group’s target definition.
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2007 Corporate and Investment Bank Private Clients and Asset Management Corporate Total
Corporate Global Total  Assetand Private & Total Invest- Manage-
Banking & Trans- Wealth Business ments ment_
in€m. Securities action Manage- Clients Reporting
(unless stated otherwise) Banking ment
Net revenues' 16,507 2,585 19,092 4,374 5,755 10,129 1,517 30,738
Provision for credit losses 102 7 109 1 501 501 3 613
Total noninterest expenses 12,169 1,633 13,802 3,453 4,108 7,560 220 21,583
therein:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 50 8 58 20 82 102 17 177
Severance payments 100 7 107 28 27 55 0 162
Policyholder benefits and claims 116 - 116 73 - 73 - 188
Impairment of intangible assets - - - 74 - 74 54 128
Restructuring activities (4) (1) (4) (8) (1) 9) (0) (13)
Minority interest 34 - 34 7 (1] 8 (5) 37
Income (loss) before income taxes 4,202 945 5,147 913 1,146 2,059 1,299 8,505
Cost/income ratio 74 % 63 % 72 % 79 % 1% 75 % 15 % 70 %
Assets®? 1,785,876 32,117 1,800,027 39,180 117,809 156,767 13,005 1,916,304
Expenditures for additions to long-lived
assets 351 87 438 2 62 65 0 503
Total risk position 218,663 18,363 237,026 15,864 69,722 85,586 4,891 327,503
Average active equity* 19,619 1,095 20,714 5,109 3,430 8,539 473 29,725
Pre-tax return on average active equity 21 % 86 % 25 % 18 % 33 % 24 % N/M 29 %
1 Includes:
Net interest income 4,362 1,106 5,467 165 3,083 3,248 (5) 8,710
Net revenues from external customers 16,691 2,498 19,189 4,615 5,408 10,023 1,492 30,704
Net intersegment revenues (184) 87 (97) (241) 347 106 25 34
Net income (loss) from
equity method investments 51 2 52 114 2 116 184 352
2 Includes:
Equity method investments 2,430 39 2,469 560 45 605 221 3,295

N/M — Not meaningful

3 The sum of corporate divisions does not necessarily equal the total of the corresponding group division because of consolidation items between corporate divisions, which are
eliminated at the group division level. The same approach holds true for the sum of group divisions compared to Total Management Reporting.
4 For management reporting purposes goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are explicitly assigned to the respective divisions. The Group’s average active equity is
allocated to the business segments and to Consolidation & Adjustments in proportion to their economic risk exposures, which comprise economic capital, goodwill and other

unamortized intangible assets.

5 Includes gains from the sale of industrial holdings (Fiat S.p.A., Linde AG and Allianz SE) of € 514 million, income from equity method investments (Deutsche Interhotel Holding GmbH
& Co. KG) of € 178 million, net of goodwill impairment charge of € 54 million and a gain from the sale of premises (sale/leaseback transaction of 60 Wall Street) of € 317 million, which

are excluded from the Group’s target definition.
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2006 Corporate and Investment Bank Private Clients and Asset Management Corporate Total
Corporate Global Total  Assetand Private & Total Invest- Manage-
Banking & Trans- Wealth Business ments ment_
in€m. Securities action Manage- Clients Reporting
(unless stated otherwise) Banking ment
Net revenues' 16,574 2,228 18,802 4,166 5,149 9,315 574 28,691
Provision for credit losses (65) (29) (94) (1) 391 391 2 298
Total noninterest expenses 11,236 1,552 12,789 3,284 3,716 7,000 214 20,003
therein:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 57 25 82 33 84 116 17 215
Severance payments 97 3 99 12 10 22 0 121
Policyholder benefits and claims - - - 63 - 63 - 63
Impairment of intangible assets - - - - - - 31 31
Restructuring activities 77 22 99 43 49 91 1 192
Minority interest 23 - 23 11) (1] (11) 3) 10
Income (loss) before income taxes 5,379 705 6,084 894 1,041 1,935 361 8,380
Cost/income ratio 68 % 70 % 68 % 79 % 72 % 75 % 37 % 70 %
Assets®? 1,395,115 25,655 1,404,256 35,939 94,853 130,753 17,783 1,512,759
Expenditures for additions to long-lived
assets 573 2 575 5 383 388 0 963
Total risk position 177,651 14,240 191,891 12,335 63,900 76,234 5,395 27